
1

Pwyllgor Cynllunio, Trwyddedu Tacsis a Hawliau 
Tramwy
Man Cyfarfod
Siambr y Cyngor - Neuadd y Sir, 
Llandrindod, Powys

Dyddiad y Cyfarfod
Dydd Iau, 6 Rhagfyr 2018

Amser y Cyfarfod
10.00 am

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch â

Neuadd Y Sir
Llandrindod

Powys
LD1 5LG

Carol Johnson
01597826206
carol.johnson@powys.gov.uk

Dyddiad Cyhoeddi

Mae croeso i’r rhai sy’n cymryd rhan ddefnyddio’r Gymraeg. Os hoffech chi siarad 
Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod, gofynnwn i chi roi gwybod i ni erbyn hanner dydd ddau 
ddiwrnod cyn y cyfarfod

AGENDA

1. YMDDIHEURIADAU 

Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.

2. COFNODION Y CYFARFOD BLAENOROL 

Awdurdodi’r Cadeirydd i lofnodi cofnodion cyfarfodydd blaenorol y Pwyllgor a 
gynhaliwyd ar 10 a 11 Hydref 2018 a 25 Hydref 2018 fel rhai cywir.
(Tudalennau 1 - 12)

Hawliau Tramwy

3. DATGANIADAU O DDIDDORDEB 

Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb mewn perthynas â’r eitem nesaf ar yr agenda.

4. CAIS GORCHYMYN ADDASU MAPIAU DIFFINIOL (DMMO) 

Pecyn Dogfennau Cyhoeddus



Ystyried cais Cyf Llanbrynmair DMMO 001: effeithio ar Lwybr Ceffyl rhif 6 (Cymuned 
Llanbrynmair) ar dir yn Barlings Barn, Cwm-Y-Ffynnon Farm a Cwm-Pen-Llydan, 
Pandy.

Aelodau o’r Pwyllgor – mae adroddiad y swyddog ac Atodiadau 1a-1c wedi’u 
cynnwys yn eich pecyn papur. Gallwch weld yr holl atodiadau eraill y mae adroddiad 
y swyddog yn cyfeirio atynt ar yr agenda a gyhoeddwyd ar wefan y Cyngor.
(Tudalennau 13 - 270)

Cynllunio

5. DATGANIADAU O DDIDDORDEB 

a) Derbyn unrhyw ddatganiadau o ddiddordeb gan aelodau mewn perthynas ag 
eitemau sydd i'w hystyried ar yr agenda. 
b) Derbyn ceisiadau gan aelodau i gofnodi eu haelodaeth ar gynghorau tref neu 
gymuned lle cafwyd trafodaeth ar faterion sydd i'w trafod gan y Pwyllgor hwn. 
c) Derbyn datganiadau gan Aelodau'r Pwyllgor y byddant yn gweithredu fel 
'Cynrychiolydd Lleol' mewn perthynas â chais unigol sy'n cael ei ystyried gan y 
Pwyllgor. 
d) Nodi manylion aelodau'r Cyngor Sir (sydd ddim yn aelodau'r Pwyllgor) a fydd 
yn gweithredu fel 'Cynrychiolydd Lleol' o ran cais unigol sy'n cael ei ystyried gan y 
Pwyllgor.

6. CEISIADAU CYNLLUNIO I'W HYSTYRIED GAN Y PWYLLGOR. 

Ystyried adroddiadau Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Adfywio a Rheoleiddio a llunio 
unrhyw benderfyniadau angenrheidiol ar sail y rheiny.

(Tudalennau 271 - 274)

6.1. Diweddariadau
Bydd unrhyw ddiweddariadau’n cael eu hychwanegu at yr Agenda fel 
Pecyn Atodol, lle bynnag y bo modd, cyn y cyfarfod.
(To Follow)

6.2. P/2018/0392 Tir gyferbyn â Byngalo Rhysgog Bungalow, 
Llanafanfawr, Llanfair-ym-Muallt, Powys, LD2 3LY
(Tudalennau 275 - 310)

6.3. 18/1019/DIS Parc Busnes Abermiwl, Abermiwl, Trefaldwyn, Powys
(Tudalennau 311 - 318)



6.4. 18/0339/REM Craignant, Castell-paen, Llanfair-ym-Muallt, LD2 3JQ
(Tudalennau 319 - 332)

6.5. 18/0200/FUL Ysgol Gynradd Wirfoddol Llanelwedd
(Tudalennau 333 - 350)

6.6. P/2018/0514 Cae Ysgiog, Llanfair-ym-Muallt, Powys, LD2 3YP
(Tudalennau 351 - 366)

6.7. 18/0712/DIS Tir yn Nol Y Garreg, Llanwrthwl, Llandrindod, Powys, 
LD1 6NU
(Tudalennau 367 - 374)

6.8. 18/0940/NMA Ysgol Gynradd Carreghofa, Llanymynech, SY22 6PA
(Tudalennau 375 - 382)

7. PENDERFYNIADAU PENNAETH Y GWASANAETHAU ADFYWIO A 
RHEOLEIDDIO AR GEISIADAU A DDIRPRWYWYD 

Derbyn er gwybodaeth restr o benderfyniadau a wnaed gan Bennaeth y 
Gwasanaethau Adfywio a Rheoleiddio dan bwerau a ddirprwywyd iddo.
(Tudalennau 383 - 396)

8. PENDERFYNIAD AR YR APÊL 

Derbyn llythyr penderfyniad Gweinidog Cymru ac adroddiad yr Arolygydd Cynllunio 
ynghylch apêl gan gwmni Hendy Wind Farm Limited.
(Tudalennau 397 - 552)

Tacsis a materion trwyddedu eraill

9. DATGANIADAU O DDIDDORDEB 

Derbyn datganiadau o fudd mewn perthynas â’r eitemau nesaf ar yr agenda.

10. FFIOEDD DIWYGIEDIG AR GYFER TACSIS  2019/20 

Cymeradwyo’r ffioedd diwygiedig ar gyfer tacsis 2019/20 at ddibenion ymgynghori. 
(Tudalennau 553 - 558)



11. DOGFEN GANLLAW DDIWYGIEDIG AR BENNU ADDASRWYDD 
YMGEISWYR /DEILIAID TRWYDDED AR GYFER TACSIS 

Cymeradwyo’r ddogfen Ganllaw ddiwygiedig ar bennu addasrwydd ymgeiswyr am 
drwydded tacsi/deiliaid trwyddedau tacsi.
(Tudalennau 559 - 612)

12. CERBYD HACNI A CHERBYDAU I'W LLOGI'N BREIFAT - AMODAU 
CERBYDAU 

Cymeradwyo adolygiad i’r Amodau ar gyfer Cerbydau er mwyn cyflwyno polisi oed ar 
gerbydau trwyddedig fel bod modd cynnal ymgynghoriad ar y newidiadau 
arfaethedig.
(Tudalennau 613 - 622)



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING & RIGHTS OF 
WAY COMMITTEE HELD AT TREFEGLWYS VILLAGE HALL, TREFEGLWYS, 

CAERSWS, POWYS SY17 5PH ON WEDNESDAY, 10 OCTOBER 2018

PRESENT
County Councillor K Lewis (Chair)

County Councillors E M Jones, L V Corfield, L George, M J Jones, F H Jump, 
K Laurie-Parry, H Lewis, I McIntosh, D R Price, K S Silk, D H Williams, J Williams and 
R Williams

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors David Selby, 
Elwyn Vaughan and Gwilym Williams. Councillors Gareth Pugh and Jonathan 
Wilkinson have not yet received the relevant training for village green 
applications so did not attend the hearing.  County Councillor H Hulme, being the 
local member, was not allowed to participate in the meeting.

Rights of Way

2. COMMONS REGISTRATION ACT 1965 / COMMONS ACT 2006 - 
APPLICATION 16-001VG TO REGISTER A NEW TOWN OR VILLAGE 
GREEN 

2.1 Day 1 – 10 October, 2018 - Welcome, fire arrangements and 
introductions

The Chair welcomed the public to the meeting and explained the fire 
arrangements and introduced the Committee and officers.

2.2 Declarations of interest

County Councillor Heulwen Hulme had declared an interest because she is the 
Local Member for the ward affected by this application and could not take part in 
the decision-making process.

2.3 Timetable for the hearing

The Committee received opening statements from the applicant and objector.  
The Committee heard from the applicant’s witnesses who were questioned by 
the objector, applicant and Committee.

2.4 Officer's report

2.5 Documentation

3. WELCOME, FIRE ARRANGEMENTS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Tudalen 1

2



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018

Day 2 – 11 October, 2018 - The Chair welcomed the public to the meeting and 
explained the fire arrangements and introduced the Committee and officers.

3.1 Timetable for the Hearing

The Committee heard from the objector who was questioned by the applicant 
and Committee.

The Committee received closing statements from the objector and applicant.  

3.2 Public Hearing closes at 11.00 a.m.

4. CLOSED SESSION FOR THE COMMITTEE TO DEBATE EVIDENCE 

The Committee considered the application in private.  The Definitive Map and 
Commons Registration Officer advised that the Committee needed to make a 
decision based on the legal criteria, namely whether:
(Section 15 (2) of the Commons Act 2006)

(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports 
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application.

      (herein referred to as “the statutory purpose”) 

The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that the applicant 
and objector would be provided with the Committee’s decision and reasons.  The 
Committee noted that in his closing statement, the applicant requested that the 
Committee refer to Council Tax records.  However, this was not possible, as the 
Committee had to consider only the information with which it had already been 
provided by the applicant and objector.

In response to Members’ questions the following advice was provided:
 The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that the 

Commons Act 2006 does not provide any specific guidance as to what 
“frequency” of usage is required, but usage does not have to be every 
day.  However, it does need to be enough to indicate general use of the 
land, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers. The 
Committee needs to consider the body of evidence over the 20 years, 
using the written statements and the individual testimonies at the hearing 
and then form a picture.  The Solicitor advised the Committee that due 
weight should be given to witnesses giving evidence at the Hearing and 
thus being available for cross-examination.

 The Solicitor advised that the comments made by the objector about 
people dumping rubbish and the alleged non-payment of sewerage 
charges were irrelevant and should be ignored by the Committee.

 The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that the 
bar for the burden of proof was that for a civil case, being ‘on the balance 

Tudalen 2



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018

of probabilities.’  The Solicitor advised that this meant that the Committee 
had to consider whether an issue was “more likely to be the case than 
not.”

 The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that the 
Committee needed to consider whether the users had established a use 
“as of right”, being without force, without secrecy and without permission. 
In deciding whether any permission might have been given, the 
Committee needed to consider what the users of the land would have 
understood from the owner’s actions.

 From the written and verbal evidence officers provided the Committee with 
a brief summary of usage over the 20 year period in question i.e. 
November 1996 – November 2016.  It was noted by the Committee that 
as the social gatherings by adults had been infrequent, the application 
was primarily based on use of the land by children. From October 1996 – 
2007 and from 2014-2016, the witnesses had identified specific children 
who had used the land.  For the period from 2007 - 2013 no names had 
been provided, but general statements had been made by a number of 
witnesses indicating usage by children during that time.  The Committee 
had to consider what impact this had on their view as to whether there had 
been continuous use of the land over this period.  The Committee noted 
that they had to consider whether it was “more likely than not” that the 
land was continually used over this period for the statutory purpose.

 The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that 
“significant” numbers using the area is not defined as being a specific 
number, or proportion of people in the neighbourhood or locality.  The 
Committee could take into account the defined area from which the 
witnesses came, the number of houses and the population of this area.  
The Solicitor referred the Committee to the judicial discussion in R (Alfred 
McAlpine Homes Ltd) vs Staffordshire County Council [2002] EWHC 76 
(Admin). This case clarified that ‘significant’ does not mean considerable 
or substantial. What matters is that the number of people using the land in 
question has to be sufficient to indicate that their use of the land signifies 
that it is in general use by the local community for informal recreation, 
rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers.

 The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that the 
Committee’s decision could be challenged in the High Court on legal 
grounds i.e. that procedures were not followed correctly or that the legal 
criteria were not considered correctly.  

 The Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer advised that 
toleration of usage by the owner could give rise to prescriptive rights. The 
Committee considered the grass cutting and queried whether this might 
imply permission to use the land.  The Definitive Map and Commons 
Registration Officer referred the Committee to the Beresford case (2004 
1AC 889).  This case clarified that permission can be implied, but ‘not by 
inaction or acts of encouragement by the landowner.’  Permission needs 

Tudalen 3



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018

to be revocable or time-limited and the landowner has to do something 
positive to communicate that permission to the users of the land.

The Committee then considered the legal criteria.

Locality and Neighbourhood
The site visit to the area enabled the Committee to consider the locality and 
neighbourhood.  The green was surrounded by houses and access was off the 
main road into the estate. 

RESOLVED that Reason for decision
the applicant has shown that the 
area to which use of the land relates 
is a “neighbourhood defined as 
Hillcrest within the “locality” being 
Aberhafesp community.

The cohesiveness of the area has 
been demonstrated.

The relevant 20-year period and the use of the land for lawful sports and 
pastimes
The Committee considered that the evidence showed a pattern of usage by 
children and that even though there were no named children or numbers using 
the green over the period 2007 – 2013, using the test of “balance of probabilities” 
there was a continuous pattern of use by children over the relevant 20-year 
period.

RESOLVED that Reason for decision
The land has been in continuous 
use over the 20-year period i.e. 
November 1996 – November 2016.

On the “balance of probabilities” 
there was a continuous pattern of 
use by children of the land over the 
relevant 20-year period.

The Committee noted the range of activities undertaken on the green by children 
and adults and considered whether they were ‘lawful sports and pastimes.’

RESOLVED that Reason for decision
the use of the land was for lawful 
sports and pastimes.

The range of activities identified by 
the applicant and witnesses 
constituted lawful sports and 
pastimes.

Use “as of right”
The Committee noted that there were no barriers to stop people accessing the 
green and that it was used openly.  Although permission was never sought to 
use the land, the owner did not stop usage and it was considered that there was 
clear use “as of right”.

RESOLVED that Reason for decision
the use of the land was “as of right”. The evidence demonstrated that use 

was made openly i.e. without force, 
without secrecy and without 
permission.

Tudalen 4



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Wednesday, 10 October 2018

Use by a significant number of inhabitants of the locality
The Committee noted that the applicant referred to 13.3% of the population of 
Hillcrest used the land at the end of the relevant period.  The Committee noted 
that usage levels over the 20-year period would have changed and they needed 
to consider the overall picture in deciding whether the usage was by a significant 
number of inhabitants.

RESOLVED that Reason for decision
the use was by a significant number 
of inhabitants of the locality.

Although the usage levels over the 
20-year period changed the overall 
usage was by a significant number 
of inhabitants.

On the basis that, the Committee considered that, the land in question satisfies 
all the statutory requirements for registration as a village green, the Committee 
then considered whether all or part of the land identified in the application should 
be registered as a village green.

The Committee considered that none of the land was unusable due to the type of 
land (for example bog) and that the slope of the land was not an impediment to 
usage. They noted that some witnesses had specifically referred to use of the 
slope e.g. on mountain bikes.

RESOLVED that Reason for decision
The application to register the whole 
of the parcel of land at Hillcrest, 
Aberhafesp as shown edged red on 
Notice Plan 16-001VG, be accepted 
and the land be registered as a ‘new’ 
town or village green.

On the basis of the available 
evidence and on the balance of 
probabilities the whole area subject 
of the application has been used for 
lawful sports and pastimes.

County Councillor K Lewis (Chair)

Tudalen 5



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 25 October 2018

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING & RIGHTS OF 
WAY COMMITTEE HELD AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL, 

LLANDRINDOD WELLS, POWYS ON THURSDAY, 25 OCTOBER 2018

PRESENT
County Councillor K Lewis (Chair)

County Councillors E M Jones, L George, H Hulme, M J Jones, F H Jump, H Lewis, 
I McIntosh, D R Price, G Pugh, D Selby, K S Silk, E Vaughan, G I S Williams, 
J Williams and R Williams

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors L Corfield and H 
Williams.  County Councillor J Wilkinson had not yet received the required 
training to participate in the Committee.

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The Chair was authorised to sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting 
held on 4 October, 2018.

Planning

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(a) County Councillor R Williams declared a prejudicial interest in application 
P/2014/0910 because he had been involved with the previous application.

County Councillor D R Price declared a prejudicial interest in application 
18/0553/FUL because the builder/agent is a friend.

 (b) County Councillor J Williams requested that a record be made of his 
membership of Llandrindod Town Council where discussion had taken place of 
matters for the consideration of this Committee.

(c) County Councillor J Williams (who is a member of the Committee) 
declared that she would be acting as ‘local representative’ in respect of 
application 18/0577/FUL.

(d) The Committee noted that County Councillor T Van-Rees (who is not a 
member of the Committee) would be speaking as the ‘local representative’ in 
respect of application 18/0553/FUL.

4. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE COMMITTEE 

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Regeneration, Property and 
Commissioning (copies filed with the signed minutes).

Tudalen 7



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 25 October 2018

4.1 Updates

The Members confirmed that they had received and had time to read the updates 
circulated the previous day and prior to the meeting.

County Councillor R Williams having declared a prejudicial interest left the 
meeting room for the following application.

4.2 P/2014/0910 Land at Llanthomas Lane, Llanigon, Hay-on-Wye, 
Hereford, Powys HR3 5PU

Grid Ref: 321147.53 240185.76

Valid Date: 05/09/2014

Officer: Tamsin Law

Community Council: Llanigon Community Council

Applicant: Mr John Price C/O Agent       

Location: Land at Llanthomas Lane, Llanigon, Hay-on-Wye, Hereford, 
Powys HR3 5PU

Proposal: Removal of condition 13 of planning approval P/2008/1607 
(in relation to removal of footbridge)

Application Type: Application for Removal or Variation of a Condition

The Principal Planning Officer advised that since the Agenda had been published 
the applicant had provided further information to address the concerns raised by 
Natural Resources Wales [NRW].  NRW had advised that it had not been able to 
consider this new information and the Principal Planning Officer therefore 
recommended the Committee to defer.

RESOLVED: Reason for decision:
that the application be deferred. To ensure that the new 

information submitted by the 
applicant is considered.

County Councillor R Williams returned to the meeting room.

County Councillor D R Price having declared a prejudicial interest left the 
meeting room for the following application.

G Davies, Professional Lead for Development Management left the meeting 
room for the next application, as he declared an interest.

4.3 18/0553/FUL Lake Hotel, Llangammarch Wells, Powys, LD4 4BS

Grid Ref: E: 294723 N: 247624

Valid Date: 23/08/2018
Tudalen 8



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 25 October 2018

Officer: Rhys Evans

Community Council: Llangammarch Wells Community Council

Applicant: Mr Pierre Misfud

Location: Lake Hotel, Llangammarch Wells, Powys, LD4 4BS

Proposal: Proposed managers dwelling for use in conjunction 
with the hotel (part retrospective).

Application Type: Full Application

The Principal Planning Officer advised that the address was incorrect on page 5 
of the papers.  She referred the Committee to the updates received the previous 
day and prior to the meeting.

County Councillor T Van-Rees spoke as local representative.
Councillor R Birchall spoke on behalf of Llangammarch Community Council.
Mr G Walker spoke as the Agent.

The Principal Planning Officer advised that the previous consent P/2014/0953 
was in respect of an amended plan.   The Principal Planning Officer advised that 
if the Committee was minded to approve this application a Section 106 legal 
agreement will be attached to this consent ensuring that it supersedes the 
previous consent P/2014/0953.

In response to questions the Principal Planning Officer advised that when 
Development Management had been made aware of the construction of the 
building in the wrong place in June 2018 officers visited the site.  Officers 
advised that an application should be made for the development and the 
developer was advised that they should cease all works and that to continue was 
at their own risk.  She advised that the developer had a right to seek approval by 
application.

The Solicitor advised that the Committee should consider this as a new 
application and should not be influenced by the fact that it is retrospective.  The 
Committee should consider whether the dwelling is acceptable in the current 
location.  

The Principal Planning Officer advised that the dwelling was some distance from 
other properties and it was not considered to directly overlook other properties 
and there was mature screening.  As a result, there was no loss of amenity or 
privacy.  Although the current location applied for is the same as the original plan 
the orientation of the building has changed and it is now considered to be 
acceptable.  The Principal Planning Officer advised that the dwelling was 
approximately 40 metres away from the nearest dwelling.

In response to comments the Principal Planning Officer advised that the 
appropriate consultation had been undertaken and responses had been received 
from the Community Council.

Tudalen 9



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 25 October 2018

It was moved and seconded to defer the application to allow officers to attain 
photographic evidence of the visual impact of the dwelling from all locations and 
to obtain information about the finish of the exterior of the building.  The motion 
was put to the vote and was defeated.  

 RESOLVED: Reason for decision:
that the application be granted 
consent, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report 
which is filed with the signed 
minutes and subject to a Section 
106 legal agreement ensuring that 
only the development proposed 
under this application 
(18/0553/FUL) can be 
implemented and that a condition 
be added that permitted 
development rights be removed.  

As officer’s recommendation as 
set out in the report which is 
filed with the signed minutes.

To ensure that only the 
development proposed under 
this application (18/0553/FUL) 
can be implemented.

In order to control further 
development which has the 
potential to have adverse effects 
on privacy and/or amenity in 
contradiction to policy DM13 of 
the Powys Local Development 
Plan

County Councillor D R Price and the Professional Lead for Development 
Management returned to the meeting room.

County Councillor J Williams moved to the public seating area for the next 
application.

4.4 18/0577/FUL Land At Eric Evans Car Sales, Station Crescent, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5BE

Grid Ref: E: 305987 N: 261472

Valid Date: 11/09/2018

Officer: Tamsin Law

Community Council: Llandrindod Wells Town Council

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Land At Eric Evans Car Sales, Station Crescent, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5BE

Proposal: Demolition of existing car sales building, construction 
of new bus interchange with shelters and cycle racks 
at south of site and change of use on the northern 
portion for private car parking

Application Type: Full Application

Tudalen 10



Planning, Taxi Licensing & Rights of Way Committee Thursday, 25 October 2018

County Councillor J Williams spoke as the local representative.

RESOLVED: Reason for decision:
that the application be granted 
consent, subject to the 
conditions set out in the report 
and that delegation be given to 
the Lead Professional for 
Development Management to 
approve the application subject 
to an additional condition to 
secure a photographic survey

As officer’s recommendation as 
set out in the report which is 
filed with the signed minutes.

County Councillor J Williams resumed his seat in the Committee.

5. APPEAL DECISION 

The Committee received a copy of the Planning Inspectorate’s letter regarding 
the appeal in respect of application P/2017/0044 - Land between Afon Carno and 
A470.  The Committee noted that the Inspector had dismissed the appeal.  

The Solicitor advised that the Judicial Review regarding Glascwm was heard on 
8 October and a decision was due in the next few weeks.  In respect of Hendy 
windfarm, the Inspector’s report was being considered by the Welsh 
Government, which had asked NRW for advice and a decision was awaited.

6. DECISIONS OF THE HEAD OF REGENERATION AND REGULATORY 
SERVICES ON DELEGATED APPLICATIONS 

The Committee received for information a list of decisions made by the Head of 
Regeneration and Regulatory Services during the period between 29 September, 
2018 and 18 October, 2018.

Taxi and other licensing

7. MINUTES OF TAXI REVIEW PANELS 

The Chair presiding at the Taxi Review Panel held on 13 August, 2018 was 
authorised to sign the minutes as a correct record.

County Councillor K Lewis (Chair)

Tudalen 11



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 39 

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
6th December 2018 

 
REPORT BY: SENIOR MANAGER, COUNTRYSIDE, CONTRACTED AND 

CULTURAL SERVICES  
 
SUBJECT:  Wildlife and Countryside Act, section 53 and Schedule 14 
 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order 
 

 
REPORT FOR: DECISION 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
DEFINITIVE MAP MODIFICATION ORDER (DMMO) APPLICATION  
 
APPLICATION REF LLANBRYNMAIR_DMMO_001:  
AFFECTING BRIDLEWAY 6 (COMMUNITY OF LLANBRYNMAIR) ON LAND AT 
BARLINGS BARN, CWM-Y-FFYNNON FARM AND CWM-PEN-LLYDAN, PANDY  
 
EFFECT OF APPLICATION, AS MADE:  
Downgrade of status of bridleway 6, Llanbrynmair from bridleway to footpath 
 
CONTENTS:  

The application  

Relevant legal background  

Documentary evidence 

Physical evidence – site survey 

User evidence  

Landowner evidence  

Assessment of the evidence  

Consultations 

Conclusions 
 
Officer recommendation 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 13

4



Page 2 of 39 

THE APPLICATION  
1. Application Llanbrynmair_DMMO_001 was made by Mr T Margolis, on 30th 

October 2013 (appendices 1a and 1b.) Mr and Mrs Margolis are the owners of 
land at Barling’s Barn, Pandy Rhiwsaeson; their land is crossed by part of the 
route recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement as bridleway 6, community of 
Llanbrynmair.  
 

2. The effect of this application, as made, would be to downgrade the status of the 
route, from bridleway to footpath status. The application route is shown on the 
plan at appendix 1c as route A-M. It should be noted that the property of Barling’s 
Barn was formerly named Caeaugleision; that is the name that appears on many 
of the documentary evidence sources described below. 

 
3. The application route also crosses land at Cwm-y-Ffynnon Farm and 

Cwm Pen Llydan. These properties are owned by Mr A Ashton and Mr RI Owen 
and by Mr and Mrs D Catterall respectively. 

 
4. The evidence accompanying the original application was as follows:  

• A typed schedule describing the application route; 

• A typed supporting statement, titled 'Reasons for application for Modification 
Order Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981' (appendix 2a): 

• A hand drawn plan, titled 'Sketch of Caeaugleision farmyard as at 1960 drawn 
by Mr A Ashton, resident at that time' (appendix 2b); 

• An extract from 1932 Rights of Way Act survey map, in colour; this shows the 
section of the application route from Caeaugleision Farm to Ffridd 
Caeaugleision (just north of Cwm-y-Ffynnon farm) (appendix 2c); 

• An extract from 1932 Rights of Way Act survey map, in black and white; this 
shows the application route around Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon 
(appendix 2d); 

• Extract from 1932 RWA survey written description titled 'List of public footpaths' 
and showing the path numbered as ‘6’ (appendix 2e); 

• Completed user witness forms were supplied from the following people: 
a. Mr Henry Hughes, Bodhyfryd, Pandy, Llanbrynmair; 
b. Mr RG Ashton, Pandy Rhos, Llanbrynmair; 
c. Mrs Helen Hughes,  Bodhyfryd, Pandy, Llanbrynmair; 
d. Mr R.I Owen, Cwm-y-Ffynnon, Llanbrynmair; 
e. Mrs Ashton, Cwm-y-Ffynnon, Llanbrynmair; 
f. Mr Ashton, Cwm-y-Ffynnon, Llanbrynmair. 

 
5. The documents supplied by the applicant (Mr Margolis) at later dates were: 

• Two aerial photographs, provided by the Woodland Trust and dated 1948 and 
1969 respectively (appendices 2f and 2g); 

• Three photographs of Caeaugleision farmyard, which were taken in 1982 
(appendices 2h, 2i and 2j.) 

 
 
 

Tudalen 14



Page 3 of 39 

6. Notice of application was served upon:  

• Mr RI Owen and Mr and Mrs RA Ashton, jointly as owners of Cwm-y-Ffynnon 
farm; 

• Mr and Mrs D Catterall, owners of Cwm Pen Llydan. 
 

7. Description of the application route:  
The route affected by this application is currently recorded on the Definitive Map 
and Statement as bridleway 6 Llanbrynmair. It is noted on the Definitive statement 
as starting at “Cwm Pen Llydan” and finishing at “End of unclassified Council road 
at Caeaugleision.” 
 
Bridleway 6 is recorded as linking with bridleway 3 and footpath 4 at Cwm Pen 
Llydan, at OS Grid reference SH 9289,0635. It follows a generally west-south-
westerly direction for approximately 1340 metres, leaving the yard at Cwm Pen 
Llydan, following the access track to the property and then leaving the track to 
ascend the hillside of Llechwedd Du. It then follows a well-defined track feature 
along the ridge between Fridd Caeugleision and the fields to the south of Esgair 
Gelynen. At OS Grid Reference SH 9173,0573 the route turns to descend the 
slope running roughly parallel with the stream in a generally south-westerly 
direction for approximately 286 metres, crossing an access track. At OS Grid 
Reference SH 9157,0550 it turns to follow a generally west-north-westerly 
direction for approximately 44 metres down a slope and across the stream. It then 
turns to run parallel with the stream in a generally west-south-westerly direction 
for approximately 460 metres, passing through Cwm-y-Ffynnon Farm. It crosses a 
field between the farmyard at Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Caeaugleision (now Barling’s 
Barn) following a generally west-south-westerly direction for approximately 124 
metres. It then enters the grounds of Caeaugleision and continues in a generally 
south-south-westerly direction for approximately 129 metres passing the buildings 
at Caeaugleision. It ends where it meets footpath 7 at the northern end of the 
access track to Caeaugleision at OS Grid Reference SH 9097,0514. 
 
The Definitive Statement records the path as having an average width of 5 feet. 
 

8. Although the bridleway is noted on the Statement as ending at the “unclassified 
Council road at Caeaugleision”, the List of Streets for Powys does not currently 
show any highway maintainable at public expense linking with this bridleway. It is 
recorded as a cul-de-sac for cyclists and equestrians, as it terminates on a 
footpath at its south-western end. The nearest county road to the south-western 
end of the bridleway is the U2313; this is shown on the List of Streets as ending 
at the fork between the ends of the access tracks to Caeaugleision and 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon.  

 
RELEVANT LEGAL BACKGROUND  
9. Evidence produced in connection with a Definitive Map Modification Order 

(DMMO), both presented in an application and discovered by the surveying 
authority, must be assessed according to the provisions of the relevant statutes, 
these being Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (WCA) and 
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 (HA.) They must also be assessed in the 
light of legal principles established by case law (Court judgements).  

 

Tudalen 15



Page 4 of 39 

10. Statute Law:   
Section 53 WCA imposes upon the County Council, as the surveying authority, 
the legal duty to keep the definitive map and statement under continuous review 
(s(2)(a) and s(2)(b)). If an event specified in s(3) has, on the balance of 
probabilities occurred, the authority is obliged to modify the definitive map and 
statement by means of a DMMO.  
 

11. The event relevant to this application is:  
 

s53(3)(c)(ii) – “the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when  
considered with all other relevant evidence available to them) shows  
that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular 
description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description.”  
 

12. Case Law  
Case law is the accumulated decisions of judges over time, the interpretation and 
applicability of which can sometimes be difficult to assess, and thus evolves with 
each subsequent decision.  

 
13. Decisions of “courts of record” are binding on all inferior courts and tribunals. In 

terms of domestic law, the principal courts of record are the High Court, the Court 
of Appeal and the House of Lords. A higher court of record binds the decisions of 
a lower court of record. Decisions have immediate effect. They apply during any 
period in which an appeal could be lodged or, having been lodged, is pending.  

 
14. Tribunals such as public inquiries are not normally bound by decisions of the 

County or Magistrates’ Courts (‘stopping up’ decisions are obvious exceptions). 
Whilst not binding though, decisions by courts other than those of record may be 
‘persuasive’. The weight to be attached to them will depend on the circumstances.  

 
15. The need for discovery of evidence was considered in the case of Burrows v 

SoSEFRA (2004.) The judge noted that an inquiry cannot simply re-examine 
evidence considered when the Definitive Map and Statement was first drawn up; 
there must be some new evidence, which, when considered together with all the 
other evidence available, justifies the modification. 
 

16. The nature of “discovered” evidence in s53(3)(c)(i) WCA is “the finding out of 
some information which was not known to the surveying authority when the earlier 
map (i.e. the first definitive map) was prepared” (Mayhew v. SoSE 1993). The 
evidence discovered can be either documentary, or evidence of use by the public, 
or both. This discovered evidence must be considered together with any other 
relevant evidence which is not newly "discovered".  

 
17. The case of Trevelyan v SoSE (2001) considered the evidence needed to modify 

the Definitive Map and Statement, to delete or downgrade a public right of way. 
Lord Phillips MR stated that: 

 
“Where the Secretary of State or an inspector appointed by him has to 
consider whether a right of way that is marked on a definitive map in fact exists, 
he must start with an initial presumption that it does. If there were no evidence 
which made it reasonably arguable that such a right of way existed, it should not 

Tudalen 16



Page 5 of 39 

have been marked on the map. In the absence of evidence to the contrary, it 
should be assumed that the proper procedures were followed and thus that such 
evidence existed. At the end of the day, when all the evidence has been 
considered, the standard of proof required to justify a finding that no right of way 
exists is no more than the balance of probabilities. But evidence of some 
substance must be put in the balance, if it is to outweigh the initial presumption 
that the right of way exists. Proof of a negative is seldom easy, and the more time 
that elapses, the more difficult will be the task of adducing the positive evidence 
that is necessary to establish that a right of way that has been marked on a 
definitive map has been marked there by mistake.” 

 
18.  Government circulars and advice  

From time to time, government publishes advice circulars that summarise the 
effects of important judicial decisions in courts of record, or give guidance about 
the practical interpretation of statutes. The circulars are intended to be 
authoritative guidance to surveying and highway authorities, but may be rendered 
less relevant by new case law or statute, which in turn will lead to a new circular 
being published to acknowledge a change in emphasis in the law.  

 
19. The Welsh Government’s ‘Guidance for Local Authorities on Public Rights of 

Way’ (August 2016) includes guidance on the recording of public rights of way. It 
outlines the procedures for assessing applications for Definitive Map Modification 
Orders. 
 

20. In relation to downgrading or deletion of public paths, paragraph 5.51 states that: 
 

“The evidence needed to remove what is shown as a public right from such an 
authoritative record as the Definitive Map and Statement – and this would equally 
apply to the downgrading of a way with “greater” rights to a way with “lesser” 
rights – will need to fulfil certain stringent requirements. These are that: 
 

• The evidence must be new – an order to remove a right of way cannot be 
founded simply on the re-examination of evidence known at the time the 
Definitive Map was surveyed and made or considered in a previous application. 

• The evidence must be of sufficient substance to displace the presumption that 
the Definitive Map is correct. 

• The evidence must be cogent. 

• There must be positive evidence of any erroneous recording.” 
 

21. In addition, paragraph 5.53 states that:  
 
“Applications may be made to an authority under s. 53(5) of the WCA 1981 to 
make an Order to delete or downgrade a right of way. Where there is such an 
application, it will be for those who contend that there is no right of way, or that a 
right of way is of a lower status than that shown, to prove that the Map requires 
amendment due to the discovery of evidence, which when considered with all 
other relevant evidence, clearly shows that the right of way should be 
downgraded or deleted. The authority is required, by paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 
to the Act, to investigate the matters stated in the application; however, it is not for 

Tudalen 17



Page 6 of 39 

the authority to demonstrate that the Map reflects the true rights, but for the 
applicant to show that the Definitive Map and Statement should be revised to 
delete or downgrade the way.” 
 

22.  Making a modification order  
If, having applied the above legal principles, it is considered on the balance of 
probabilities that the event in s53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 
has occurred, the definitive map and statement must be modified by making a 
definitive map modification order.  
 

DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE  
23. The following documentary evidence was submitted with the Mr Margolis’ 

application, reference Llanbrynmair_DMMO_001. (NB: The user witness forms 
that Mr Margolis supplied are described under the section titled ‘User evidence’)   

 
24.  'Reasons for application for Modification Order Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981.' (appendix 2a): This is a typed document and describes the applicant’s 
reasons for making this application.  

 
Amongst other points, the applicant has commented that: 

• The supporting statements accompanying his application indicate that “..even 
prior to January 1960, the route was not used by the public within living 
memory.”  

• He believes the route to have been used, but only by persons closely 
associated with the occupiers or working on the land in question. He comments 
that the bridleway is of no obvious use to the public as a through-route, leading 
only to private property.  

• In 1960, there were two stone walls directly in the line of the bridleway, one at 
the Cwm Pen (Llydan) end of the bridleway, the other adjacent to Caeaugleision 
barn farmyard. The wall at the Caeaugleision end of the path is described as 
having been a raised level, 4 feet high stone wall, which was in existence until 
August 1983, when it was demolished. He comments that the presence of the 
two walls means that it was impossible for the entire route to be a bridleway or 
cart track, or passable on horseback. 

• The recording of the route through Caeaugleision farmyard changed three times 
during the process of recording it on the Definitive Map, being different on each 
of the draft, provisional and first Definitive Maps. He states that none of the 
three routes could possibly have been correct, due to the stone wall and 
physical constraints of the topography. 

 
25. The date of January 1960 is significant in that it was the date of survey given on 

the parish survey card, completed under the provisions of the National Parks and 
Access to the Countryside Act 1949. Evidence of use or non-use before this date 
may be relevant to the consideration as to whether it was a highway or not, at that 
date. If the route was a highway at that date, then lack of use after that would not 
affect the status of the route. The legal maxim ‘Once a highway, always a 
highway’ would apply; non-use does not, in itself, remove highway rights. 
 

Tudalen 18



Page 7 of 39 

26. This path is recorded as a through-route for walkers, linking to public paths at 
both ends. As noted above, the south-western end of the route is currently 
recorded as a cul-de-sac for horse riders and equestrians, ending on a footpath. 
There are a number of possible reasons for this.  

 

• The bridleway may end at a location that is, or was once a ‘place of public 
resort’ for horse riders. The Courts recognised that culs-de-sac in rural areas 
can be highways in certain circumstances; one case in which this was 
considered is Eyre v New Forest Highway Board 1892.  

• Alternatively, it might reflect an issue with the recording of the status of the 
route now shown as bridleway 6, or it could reflect an issue with the recording of 
the route shown as footpath 7.  

• It is possible that there may be an unrecorded highway on a different alignment, 
linking to the south-western end of bridleway 6, carrying at least bridleway 
rights. 

• It is possible that both the footpath and bridleway are recorded in error.  

The effect of application Llanbrynmair_DMMO_001 would be to downgrade the 
status of bridleway 6 to that of footpath, as the applicant alleges that it has been 
recorded as a bridleway in error. As such, this report is focussed on the evidence 
in relation to that allegation, rather than assessing the status of any route linking 
to bridleway 6. Other, additional evidence would be needed to do that. 

 
27. There is a stone wall still in existence at Cwm Pen Llydan, located on bridleway 3, 

which joins bridleway 6. This is discussed further below. That might reflect an 
error in the recording of bridleway 3; however, that error could relate to the 
alignment of the bridleway, rather than its status or existence.  

 
28. The applicant refers to wall being shown in the sketch plan of Caeugleision 

farmyard in 1960, which is further described below. He comments that this 
illustrates that it is impossible for bridleway 6 to have followed the route shown on 
the Definitive Map through the farmyard and the only way through the would have 
been via a ‘distinctive and obvious S bend which a competent surveyor could not 
have failed to notice.’ 
 

29. 'Sketch of Caeaugleision farmyard as at 1960 drawn by Mr A Ashton, resident at 
that time' (appendix 2b): This is a hand drawn sketch; it is signed and dated by Mr 
Ashton as having been prepared on 26th October 2013. 

 
30. The hand drawn sketch of the farmyard at Caeaugleision gives personal 

recollections of a witness who has known the land for his whole life and so helps 
in understanding the other statements provided. However, it was not drawn until 
2013, so the accuracy may have been affected by the time that has elapsed since 
1960. Neither is any scale indicated on the map, which can present difficulties in 
interpretation. 

 
31. The sketch plan indicates the location of the stone wall at the south-western end 

of the path, as mentioned by the applicant in his supporting statement. This 
appears to run parallel with the feature labelled as a ‘track’ that leaves the 
northern end of the farmyard. There is a second feature labelled as ‘track field’ to 

Tudalen 19



Page 8 of 39 

the east of this. If this second ‘track field’ is the alignment of the bridleway as now 
recorded, then either the wall would lie across its line, or the bridleway was closer 
to the barn, along the feature labelled as ‘narrow track.’ The average width of the 
bridleway is given in the statement as being 5 feet, so that is possible as no width 
is given for the narrow track marked. To be described as a ‘track’, it seems likely 
that the corridor will have been at least wide enough to accommodate one person 
walking. 

 
32. The sketch includes a comment about the ‘road’ leading to Caeaugleision, being 

the access track from county road U2313. Mr Ashton notes this as having been 
no more than a stone track, maintained by his grandfather and uncle. That does 
not preclude there having been public rights over it. It may simply have been a 
route that was not maintained actively because it was not brought to the attention 
of the Parish Council or County Council as needing maintenance. 

 
33. Extract from 1932 Rights of Way Act survey map, in colour (appendix 2c): 

This is enlarged from the original. It shows the section of bridleway 6 from 
Caeaugleision to Ffridd Caeaugleision (just north of Cwm-y-Ffynnon.) 

 
34.  Extract from 1932 Rights of Way Act survey map, in black and white (appendix 

2d): 
This is enlarged from the original. It shows the section of bridleway 6 around 
Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon, including the 'S' to the east of 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon. 

 
35. Extract from 1932 RWA survey written description titled 'List of public footpaths' 

(appendix 2e): This includes 2 sheets, in black and white. These give descriptions 
of each of paths 1-4 and 9-13 in Llanbrynmair parish. 

 
36. The original Rights of Way Act 1932 survey map and the whole of the written 

schedule were examined as part of the research for this application and are 
described below. On inspection, it is apparent that all of the public paths included 
in the 1932 Rights of Way Act survey in Llanbrynmair parish are included in the 
written 'List of public footpaths'; there is no separate list of paths of any other 
status. The maps that accompany this survey show all of the paths as a red line; 
there is no difference in line style or colour to denote status. 

 
37. It should also be noted that more than one of the paths shown on the list 

accompanying the Rights of Way Act 1932 survey for Llanbrynmair is now 
recorded on the Definitive Map as a public path, of higher status than footpath. 
One example is the nearby route now recorded on the Definitive Map and 
Statement as being bridleway 52 through Pentre Celyn; this is shown on the 1932 
Rights of Way Act survey and like bridleway 6, it is included in the written 'List of 
public footpaths' and denoted on the survey map as a red line.  

 
38. Two aerial photographs, provided by the Woodland Trust, dated 1948 and 1969 

(appendices 2f and 2g): 
These are black and white photographs, supplied by the applicant at 200dpi. Both 
are annotated with the copyright text ‘Bing © 2016 Intermap, © Microsoft 

Tudalen 20



Page 9 of 39 

Corporation, TODO aerial attribution Earthstar Geographics SIO’, suggesting that 
they have come from a website source. 
 

39. The 1948 photograph shows Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon farms in one 
corner, with the access tracks leading to them. On the current alignment of the 
bridleway, leaving Caeaugleision farm yard and travelling towards 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon farm, there is a clear linear feature apparent on the aerial 
photograph. This suggests a worn, used route, which enters a large field that is 
pale in colour on the photograph.  
 

40. This worn route is not apparent immediately to the northeast of this field. 
However, a feature that appears to be a corridor between two hedgerows or lines 
of trees is apparent at the easternmost edge of the photograph, again 
corresponding with the current line of the bridleway beside the stream. 
 

41. It is apparent from the 1948 photograph that Cwm-y-Ffynnon farmyard was 
significantly smaller in 1948 than it is now and did not extend over the current line 
of the bridleway. 
 

42. The 1969 aerial photograph shows the same area, but is more granular and so 
less detail can be discerned. However, the same distinctive paler field to the north 
of Caeaugleision is apparent; so is the paler corridor of land, corresponding with 
the current line of the bridleway between Caeaugleision and the field.  

 
43. These photographs do confirm that in 1948 and 1969, there were no buildings 

over the alignment of the bridleway around Cwm-y-Ffynnon farm. They also 
confirm that there was a well-worn linear route in use, leaving Caeugleision 
farmyard and travelling northeast towards Cwm-y-Ffynnon. 

 
44. Three photographs of the barn in Caeaugleision farmyard, which were taken in 

1982 (appendices 2h, 2i and 2j): 
These were accompanied by an email, dated 29th November 2017 about a 
number of matters. The applicant explained the following about the photographs: 
 
“Further to my email of 26 October 2017 I thought it might be helpful to send you 
copies of three photographs I have unearthed of the original Barn at 
Caeaugleision, taken in 1982.  
 
South and East photograph - The East side of the Barn show the doors as 
depicted in Mr. Ashton's sketch of 26 October 2013 and was where the muck was 
stored. 
 
North and West photograph - The North face of the Barn shows the aperture 
through which the hay was stored from Caeaugleision field. You can also see on 
the corner the narrow wooden gate shown on Mr. Ashton's sketch. It would have 
been impossible for a horse to pass through here as indicated on "bridleway 6". 
One can just make out on the West face of the Barn the remains of the stone wall 
(other side of tall, thin trees) which the horses would have needed to clamber 
over to use the bridleway.....again impossible. This is also depicted on Mr. 
Ashton's sketch.” 

Tudalen 21



Page 10 of 39 

“South and West photograph - my wife and I are the two people shown in this 
photo. I am standing on the narrow track above the stone wall shown in Mr. 
Ashton's sketch.” 
 

45. It is useful to compare the photographs with the sketch provided by Mr Ashton, to 
understand which part of the farmyard is depicted. The barn is shown on the 
southern side of the yard, closest to the stream.  
 

46. The photograph of the south and west walls appears to have been taken from the 
farmyard, from a point at the corner of the building that would be roughly on the 
alignment of the bridleway as currently recorded. It shows the remains of a 
narrow corridor, with a wooden gate or door at one end. This appears to be on the 
southern end of the building, so not on the line shown as the ‘narrow track’ on Mr 
Ashton’s drawing. By comparison with the person in the foreground of the picture, 
it would appear to be around the same width as one person. The second person – 
Mr Margolis – is stood in an area that appears to be sunken below the 
surrounding ground and against the western wall of the barn. This is on the line 
shown as a ‘narrow track’ on Mr Ashton’s sketch. 

 
47. The photograph of the north and west walls  also appears to have been taken from 

the farmyard, from a point at the corner of the building that would be roughly on 
the alignment of the bridleway as currently recorded. Again, there is a narrow 
corridor of approximately one person wide, on the northern wall of the building.  

 
48. The photograph of the south and east walls appears to have been taken from a 

point between the barn and the stream, so on the opposite side of the building to 
the farmyard and alignment of bridleway 6. It shows that by 1982, the barn was 
derelict. The photograph confirms that there was a door for access to this side of 
the building. The end of a narrow corridor at the southern end of the building is 
also visible near the front of the picture, as an oblong opening immediately 
adjoining the main barn. 

 
49. Whilst these photographs do confirm the structures that were in place in 1982 

immediately adjoining the old barn, they unfortunately do not show what else was 
present within the main farmyard, between the barn and the house. Neither do 
they confirm what gates, walls or other features were in place at the northern end 
of the farmyard, where the bridleway leaves it. As such, they neither support nor 
contradict the evidence given in Mr Ashton’s sketch and do not, in themselves, 
prove that there was no feasible route for a bridleway through the yard. 
 

50. Documents subsequently researched: 
The documents that have been researched, in addition to those submitted with 
the application includes the full range of historical documents normally 
researched by County Council officers in the course of processing any evidential 
order. It is uncommon to find a single document that provides significant evidence 
that shapes how an application is determined. Rather, these documents vary in 
their usefulness and evidential value, both generically and individually; but can 
often help to build up a body of evidence either supporting or opposing a 
modification order claim, on a balance of probabilities.  
 

Tudalen 22



Page 11 of 39 

51. Ordnance Survey Editions: 
The value of any OS editions to public rights of way analysis is not in providing  
evidence of status, which they cannot normally do; but in showing that a particular  
way was shown as a cartographic feature at a given time when the survey for that  
edition was carried out. Extra information may be added such as fords, bridges,  
milestones, boundary stones and bench-marks, which may help to build up a  
picture of the physical nature of a route through time. The fact that a way is not  
shown on any particular edition is not evidence that it did not exist as a public 
right of way. Similarly, the depiction of a claimed route on an OS map, is not 
evidence that it is a public right of way.  
 

52. Before 1883, footpaths and bridleways were not normally distinguished as such 
on 1:10,560 and larger scale mapping. Foot and bridle ways, tracks and minor 
roads look very much the same. From 1883 to the late 1940s, Ordnance Survey 
recorded two types of path, being footpath and bridle path and were annotated 
F.P. and B.R respectively. From the late 1940s, Ordnance Survey abandoned the 
use of the B.R on maps.  
 

53. The guidance to surveyors was that ‘A path, made or unmade, is defined as an 
established way other than a road or track…Made paths are those whose 
surfaces are paved or metalled…Unmade paths [will only be shown] whose 
existence is indicated by the evidence of disturbance to the ground and are 
continuous between successive access points..’  

 
54. It should be noted that the terms ‘Bridle Road’ and ‘Footpath’ are physical 

descriptions. Bridle roads were regarded as passable on horseback. The object of 
describing footpaths was that ‘…the public would not mistake them for roads 
traversable by horses or wheeled traffic.’ From 1893 onwards, the footpaths to be 
shown included all of those over which there was a ‘well-known and undisputed 
public rights of way,’ but also included ‘private footpaths through fields (but not in 
gardens)…if they are of a permanent character.’ 
 

55. 1st Edition Ordnance Survey, 1836; 1 inch to the mile (appendices 3a and 3b.) 
Both a photograph of the full map sheet and a zoomed in extract can be found at 
appendices 3a and 3b. Cwm-y-Ffynnon is labelled in approximately the same 
location as the current farm. The text ‘Caeaugleision’ seems to be further to the 
west, closer to Pandy Rhiw Saeson village. This may simply be a result of the 
scale, as the buildings cannot be discerned. The Tithe Map of 1836 shows the 
buildings in their current location and in addition, the applicant advised that he 
believes the property to have been built in around 1762. 
 

56. The map does clearly depict the relief, with the ridges of Llechwedd Du and Ffridd 
Esgair Gelynen being very apparent. A number of connecting ways are shown as 
prominent white corridors. It is useful to compare the connecting ways around 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Caeaugleision with the current network of county roads and 
public rights of way in the area.  
 

• The 1836 map shows a linear route running from the current location of 
Caeaugleision over the Ffridd Esgair Gelynen ridge to Esgair Gelynen and then 
on to Cwm Pen Llydan. This not currently recorded as a public right of way, or 
shown on the List of Streets. 

Tudalen 23



Page 12 of 39 

• It also shows another connecting route circling round from Llechwedd Du to 
Ffridd Esgair Gelynen to the northeast of Cwm Pen Llydan. Likewise, this not 
currently recorded as a public right of way or shown on the List of Streets.  

• However, the routes now recorded as restricted byways 10 and 12 are also 
shown as linear connecting ways, as are the current county roads.  

 
57. The alignment now recorded as bridleway 6 is not shown as a feature at all on the 

1836 Ordnance Survey 1-inch map. 
 

58. 1st Edition Ordnance Survey, 1887; 25 inches to the mile (1:2500) (appendix 3c): 
The extract comes from Landmark GIS data and shows the whole application 
route and Esgair Gelynen. 
 

59. A double pecked line feature annotated ‘FP’ is clearly visible on this map, 
following a route from Caeaugleision to Cwm Pen Llydan that corresponds with 
the alignment of the route now recorded as bridleway 6. It joins to another similar 
route at the boundary of Cwm Pen Llydan; this second route runs from Esgair 
Gelynen and is also annotated ‘FP’. No public right of way is currently recorded 
over this connecting route.  
 

60. The route of the current bridleway 3 is apparent as another double pecked line 
feature leaving the grounds of Cwm Pen Llydan; this has no annotation. 
 

61. A number of other double pecked line features are apparent, crossing Ffridd 
Caeugleision and Llechwedd Du. None are annotated. 

 
62. Boundaries, trees and the barn at Caeugleision are apparent on this Ordnance 

Survey edition. There appears to be a physical corridor continuing through the 
farmyard from the point where footpath 7 enters it and bridleway 6 leaves it. The 
double pecked line track leaving the north end of the yard corresponds with the 
pale track noted on the aerial photography. The map indicates that this track did 
cross a boundary at the northern end of the farmyard, but does not confirm what 
structure was present e.g. a gate or stile. 

 
63. It is apparent that a physical route, along the alignment now recorded as 

bridleway 6 has existed since at least 1887. The annotation of ‘FP’ reflects the 
physical condition of the path at the time of survey. However, surveyors were not 
asked to differentiate between public and private use. The fact that the route was 
considered to be a ‘footpath’ in terms of its physical characteristics does not 
preclude that there may have been public rights to use it on horseback.  

 
64. 1st Edition Ordnance Survey, 1890; 6 inches to the mile (1:2500) (Appendix 3d): 

The extract at comes from Landmark GIS data. 
 

65. The double pecked line ‘FP’ feature corresponding with the current line of 
bridleway 6 is shown, as are the connecting double pecked line features. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 24



Page 13 of 39 

66. 2nd Edition Ordnance Survey, 1901; 25 inches to the mile (1:2500) (appendix 3e): 
This is an extract from Landmark GIS data, but the tile of data only extends just to 
the east of Cwm-y-Ffynnon. Having checked with Powys County Archives, the 
paper sheet for the missing area does not seem to have survived, unfortunately. 

  
67. Again, the double-pecked ‘FP’ feature corresponding with the line of bridleway 6 

is apparent, leaving the northern end of the farmyard at Caeugleision. It crosses a 
boundary at the exit of the farmyard and is annotated ‘FP.’ 
 

68. The northern end of the application route, at Cwm Pen Llydan is visible. The 
double pecked feature annotated ‘FP’ is apparent and on the same alignment as 
the earlier (1887) map. 

 
69. 2nd Edition Ordnance Survey, 1902; 6 inches to the mile (1:10,560) (appendix 3f): 

This is an extract from Landmark GIS data, but does extend to the east of 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon and so shows the whole application route. 
 

70. This again shows the double pecked line feature annotated ‘FP’ and there does 
not appear to be any change in the route when compared with the earlier maps of 
25 inches to the mile or 6 inches to the mile. 
 

71. 4th Edition Ordnance Survey, 1953; 6 inches to the mile (1:10,560) (appendix 3g): 
This is an extract from Landmark GIS data. 
 

72. No significant changes to the alignment of the double pecked line feature are 
apparent when compared with the earlier Ordnance Survey maps. The route is 
again annotated ‘FP.’ The farmyard of Cwm-y-Ffynnon had not been extended 
over it at that time. 
 

73. Summary of OS editions 
The Ordnance Survey editions from 1887 to 1953 in showing a clear, double 
pecked line feature on the current alignment of bridleway 6. This supports there 
having been a physical route between Caeugleision and Cwm Pen Llydan, which 
was apparent on the ground throughout that time; the alignment was consistent 
throughout this 66-year period. Given that the route is not paved or metalled, its 
depiction on Ordnance Survey maps indicates that it must have been apparent on 
the ground throughout that time as disturbance to the surface. 
 

74. As noted above, the path is annotated as ‘FP’, but that reflects the physical 
characteristics apparent to the surveyor. It does not reflect the extent of the public 
rights over the route; annotation as ‘FP’ would not, in itself, be sufficient to 
presume that there was no public right to use it on horseback. From 1888 
onwards, Ordnance Survey maps carried the disclaimer ‘The depiction on this 
map of a road, track or footpath is no evidence of the existence of a right of way’ 
and surveyors were instructed not to inquire into the existence of rights of way. 
 

75. Then, as now, routes fell out of use, as other more convenient routes became 
available to the public, or as there were changes in the local area that altered the 
destinations to which people would have walked, or ridden a horse.  
 

Tudalen 25



Page 14 of 39 

Other cartographers: 
76. Bartholomew’s half inch Map Sheet 16 (Aberystwyth), published 1921 (appendix 

3h) (National Library for Wales) 
These can also be found online, on the website of the National Library of 
Scotland. Bartholomew’s Maps focussed on the travelling public, including cyclists 
and tourists, whereas Ordnance Survey maps were produced as documents of 
record. Early editions of Bartholomew’s Maps did not include dates on the maps. 
However, they can give an indication of routes that may have been considered 
significant to travellers in the early 20th century. 

 
77. The village of Pandy Rhiwsaeson is annotated on sheet 16; the current county 

road from the village to Caeaugleision is indicated as a distinct enclosed route. 
Caeugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon farms are not noted on the map, but the 
enclosed route is shown as continuing to Esgair Gelynen, where it ends. This 
does not give evidence of public rights over the route, but does suggest a 
physical route of some significance past Caeugleision to Esgair Gelynen.  
 

78. Tithe Maps and Apportionments: 
Tithe maps were produced, largely in the period 1837-50, following the Tithe 
Commutation Act 1836. Their purpose, combined with the accompanying tithe 
apportionments, was to convert the longstanding duty of parishioners to pay the 
church a tax in the form of the produce of the land (a tithe), to a monetary 
payment.  
 

79. Surveys were originally required to be carried out for each parish, and a new map  
produced at a scale of not less than 3 chains per inch (1:2376), which combined  
with the apportionment (a book of reference) would show land-use, acreage,  
ownership and tenancy of all productive land in the parish, and apportion 
payments accordingly. Maps produced in this way, usually in the first few years 
after 1836, and sealed by the Tithe Commissioners, are known as “1st class 
awards”.  
 

80. A lesser survey, using existing maps or estate surveys of a variety of scales and 
proficiencies, was also permitted. These latter maps are known as “2nd class 
awards”, and usually have less evidential strength when produced at any sort of 
tribunal or court of law. The vast majority of tithe maps produced in Powys are 
2nd class awards, although the quality of their surveying and drafting can be very 
good, and give good indications of the status of a way.  
 

81. The relevance of tithe maps to public rights of way work is twofold: firstly, where  
public roads or (much less often) public paths are positively shown and described  
as such, and secondly (and much more commonly) where public ways of some 
sort may be inferred by being shown as linear areas of land not included in the 
survey of surrounding productive land. However, this is a form of “negative” 
evidence that needs to be supported by other stronger sources. 

 
82. The evidential value of tithe maps with respect to public rights of way has been 

the subject of a body of case law since the 19th century. The Planning 
Inspectorate Consistency Guidelines (4th Revision January 2015) notes that: 
 

Tudalen 26



Page 15 of 39 

 “..the absence of a route from a Tithe Map does not necessarily mean that no 
highway existed. It may simply mean that its existence had no effect on the 
tithable value of the land..” It is also noted that “It is unlikely that a tithe map will 
show public footpaths and bridleways as their effect on the tithe payable was 
likely to be negligible.” 
 

83. In relation to paths crossing land covered in herbage, the case of Stoney v 
Eastbourne Rural District Council [1927] is noted in the Consistency Guidelines. 
The judge commented that “..to say that an ordinary pasture or arable field, over 
which a right of public footpath exists, has its titheability confined to other parts of 
the field, not including the small strip of land covered by the footpath, seems to 
me quite contrary to common sense and to the documents which we have before 
us..” 
 

84. Apportionment of rent-charge in lieu of tithes in the parish of Llanbrynmair in the 
County of Montgomery (1841, William Parry of Morfodion) (Appendix 4a) 
Caeaugleision, Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Cwm Pen Llydan farms are named on the 
Tithe Map. Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon are noted as being in the 
ownership of Sir Watkin Williams Wynne, and occupied by tenants. Cwm Pen 
Llydan is noted as having been owned by Morris Jones and not tenanted. 
 

85. The access track to Caeaugleision is apparent as an enclosed corridor, numbered 
137; it is open to, and continuous with the current route of the county road. The 
land use is described as ‘Homestead.’ The current access track to 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon is not shown in this way. 
 

86. The current route of bridleway 6 crosses the enclosures numbered 138 and 140 
before emerging onto the area labelled ‘Sheepwalk’ on Ffridd Caeaugleision. 
There is no mention of the bridleway in the written award for enclosures 138 and 
140. The sheepwalk is un-numbered and outside the area of the award. 

 
87. At Cwm Pen Llydan, the route of the bridleway crosses enclosure 235. Again, this 

is noted as being pasture and there is no mention of a bridleway in text.  
 

88. Conclusion: 
In summary, the Tithe Map does not provide any information that either supports, 
or denies the existence of a public highway of bridleway status over the route now 
recorded as bridleway 6. This is perhaps not surprising, as the route of the 
bridleway crosses areas of land noted in the Tithe Apportionment as being 
pasture. A public way covered in herbage would have been productive land and 
so not exempt from Tithe.    
 

89. Inclosure Awards: 
No Inclosure Awards have been identified that include the area of land crossed by 
the application route. 

 
90. Finance Act Land Valuation Maps and Parish Field Books (1910): 

This survey was intended to give a value to land throughout the country, in order  
that a tax could be levied (incremental value duty) on every land holding, based 
on the increase in its value following public investment in infrastructure, at a 

Tudalen 27



Page 16 of 39 

change in ownership. Land occupied by public ways was exempt from duty, and 
land crossed by public paths was given a reduced value, although there was no 
obligation to declare the existence of public rights of way across the land.  
 

91. The survey maps, called Record Plans, were produced on Ordnance Survey base 
maps, of scale 1:2500. They show each land holding with a coloured boundary 
and a “hereditament” number; the hereditament numbers are listed in the 
accompanying Valuer’s Field Book. The Valuer’s Field Books give details of the 
owner and occupier of each hereditament at the time of survey, together with 
information about land use, any easements or restrictions over it and anything for 
which a deduction was being claimed for the purpose of the tax. This included the 
existence of any declared public right of way. 
 

92. Land remaining uncoloured, between numbered holdings, is assumed to be 
exempt from duty. One reason for that is because of public ownership or usage, 
as the highway authority was a rating authority; rating authorities were exempt 
from the duty. The survey is not faultless, but often provides good positive 
evidence for the existence of a public way. However, in a similar way to tithe 
maps, it cannot provide negative evidence for the non-existence of a public way, 
as landowners were not required to declare them. 
 

93. Record Plan: Welsh region, Wrexham (Welshpool) District, Sheet Mont XX 11 
(National Archives Kew, piece reference IR 131/11/185) (Appendices 5a – 5d): 
This plan includes hereditaments 72 (Cwm Pen Llydan) and a small part of 
hereditament 103 (Esgaircelyn) as well as the area crossed by bridleway 3, being 
hereditaments 104 (Rhydymeirch) and 105 (Clegyrnant.) 

 
94. The Ordnance Survey base map does show the double pecked line feature 

annotated ‘FP’, over which bridleway 6 is now recorded. This joins a second 
double pecked line track or way just to the west of Cwm Pen Llydan; both join the 
entrance to the yard at Cwm Pen Llydan. The way is included in the surrounding 
coloured hereditament, so was not considered to be exempt from duty. 
 

95. The double pecked-line features over which footpath 4 and bridleway 3 are now 
recorded are also apparent on the base map, leaving the farmyard at Cwm Pen 
Llydan and travelling in generally north-westerly and northerly directions 
respectively. The route over which footpath 4 runs is annotated ‘FP’; the route 
over which bridleway 3 runs is not annotated at all. 

 
96. Record Plan: Welsh region, Wrexham (Welshpool) District, Sheet Mont XX 14 

(National Archives, piece reference IR 131/11/188) (appendices 5e-5h): 
This plan includes part of hereditament 103 (Esgaircelyn), together with 
hereditament 108 (Caeaugleision) and hereditament 109 (Cwmffynnon.)  
 

97. At Caeaugleision Farm, the Ordnance Survey base map indicates a total of 5 
double pecked line features, four of which are annotated ‘FP.’ These include the 
routes over which footpaths 7 and 10 and bridleway 6 are now recorded.  
 

Tudalen 28



Page 17 of 39 

98. An enclosed way from Ty Newydd towards Pwll Melyn and Caeaugleision is 
shown as being included within the hereditament. This is the route now shown on 
the List of Streets as being county road U2313. 

 
99. At Cwmffynnon Farm, a double pecked line feature runs to the west of the 

farmyard and again, coincides with the route now recorded as bridleway 6. A spur 
track or way leaves this just to the south of the farmyard. It links with the track or 
way that is now the access track to Cwm-y-Ffynnon Farm.  

 
100. Interestingly, the northernmost section of the route now recorded on the List of 

Streets as being county road U2313 is shown as an unenclosed way for most of 
its length on the Ordnance Survey base map.  
 

101. On checking the National Archives’ Valuation Office map finder, the record plan 
would include part of hereditament 109 (Cwmffynnon) does not appear to have 
survived and so could not be examined. 
 

102. Valuer’s Field Book: Llanbrynmair Parish (National Archives Kew, piece reference 
IR 58/90072): Hereditaments 103, 104, 105, 108 and 109 were examined.  
 

103. Hereditament 103 (appendices 5i and 5j) is Esgaircelyn. The land is noted as 
being a farm, owned by Sir W.W. Wynne Bart Ruabon (so part of the Wynnstay 
Estate.) No deductions were noted for ‘Public rights of way or user’ and no other 
mention is made of any public way. This is of note, given that footpath 5 was later 
recorded as running along the double pecked line feature shown on the Ordnance 
Survey base map, then crossing into the Rhyd y Meirch farm hereditament.   

 
104. Hereditament 104 (appendices 5k and 5l) is Rhyd y Meirch, again noted as being 

a farm and owned by Sir W.W. Wynne. Again, there are no deductions claimed 
for ‘Public rights of way or user’ and no other mention is made of any public way; 
the route now recorded as public footpath 2 does cross the hereditament. 

 
105. Hereditament 105 (appendices 5m and 5n) is Clegyrnant, noted as being a farm 

and owned by Sir W.W. Wynne. There are no deductions claimed for ‘Public 
rights of way or user’ and no other mention is made of any public way, although 
the route now recorded as bridleway 3 does cross the hereditament and its route 
is shown on the Ordnance Survey base map used for the Finance Act survey. 

 
106. Hereditament 108 (appendices 5o and 5p) is Caeaugleision. It is noted as being a 

farm and owned by Sir W.W. Wynne. Under the section titled ‘Charges, 
easements and restrictions affecting market value of fee simple’, it is noted that 
there are ‘5 footpaths through land.’ However, no deduction is noted for ‘Public 
rights of way or user.’ 

 
107. Hereditament 109 (appendices 5q and 5r) is Cwmffynnon, noted as being a farm 

and owned by Sir W.W. Wynne. There are no deductions claimed for ‘Public 
rights of way or user’ and no other mention is made of any public way; the route 
now recorded as public footpath 2 does cross the hereditament. 

 
 

Tudalen 29



Page 18 of 39 

108. Montgomeryshire Inland Revenue Land Valuation Books (Powys County 
Archives, piece reference M/LVR/1/19): 
These contain a summary of the more detailed entries found in the Valuer’s Field 
Books that are held by the National Archives. As the Valuer’s Field Book for 
hereditament 72 could not be inspected at the time when the other hereditaments 
were viewed, being in a separate book, the summary entry in the Land Valuation 
Book at Powys County Archives was inspected instead. 

 
109. Hereditament 72 (appendices 5s and 5t) is Cwm Pen Llydan. It is noted as being 

owned and occupied by E.M. Jones, so not part of the Wynnstay Estate. No 
deductions are claimed for ‘Public Rights of Way or User 

 
110. Conclusion: 

It is of note that although all of hereditaments 103 to 109 were owned by the 
Wynnstay Estate (Sir W.W. Wynne) and all were in use as farms at the time of the 
Finance Act survey, the presence of ‘footpaths’ is only noted in one of them. 
Despite the fact that double-pecked line features were noted on the Ordnance 
Survey base maps, many of which were annotated ‘FP’ and over which public 
rights of way were later recorded on the Definitive Map, the owner did not choose 
to seek any deduction for ‘Public rights of way or user’ in respect of Esgaircelyn, 
Rhyd y Meirch, Clegyrnant or Cwmffynnon farms. 
 

111. Neither did the owner of Cwm Pen Llydan choose to declare any public rights of 
way and seek a deduction. However, they were not required to do so. 

 
112. The notable exception is in respect of Caeaugleision (hereditament 108); 

although no deduction for ‘Public rights of way or user’ has been claimed, the 
presence of 5 footpaths is noted as affecting the market value of the land. It is not 
explicitly stated that these paths were in use by the public. However, if the paths 
were considered to affect the value of the land, it seems reasonable to assume 
that there were rights over them that extended to use by people other than the 
Wynnstay Estate, their representatives and the tenants occupying the farms. 

 
113. This suggests that these ‘footpaths’ were seen as being significant, given that 

none were noted on the adjoining farms also owned by the Wynnstay Estate. Of 
the 5 double pecked line features on the Ordnance Survey base map crossing 
hereditament 108, four now have public rights of way recorded over them.  

 
114. Public Utility Plans: 

No public utility plans were identified that included the land crossed by the 
application route.  

 
115. Estate Plans: 

As noted above, much of the land in the area around the application route, 
including Cwmffynnon and Caeugleision farms were formerly owned by the 
Wynnstay Estate. It is understood that this was the case until the early to mid-20th 
century, when tenants of the farms were offered the opportunity to buy them from 
the Estate. The papers of the Wynnstay Estate were inspected for this area. 

 

Tudalen 30



Page 19 of 39 

116. Survey and valuation of the several estates of Sir Watkin Williams Wynn Bart: 
lying in the parishes of Llanwryn, Machynlleth, Darowen, Penegoes, Cemmaes 
and Llanbrynmair within the hundred of Cyfeiliog and county of Montgomery; also 
in the parish of Mallwyd in the county of Merioneth / by Sir Watkin's most obedt. 
servt. J. Probert. (National Library of Wales, MMS ID:  99262076402419) 
Plans and descriptions of the farms making up this part of the Wynnstay Estate, 
including Cwmffynnon and Caeaugleision farms are all held in a single bound 
volume. The surveys were carried by John Probert. The plans are at a scale of 6 
chains to an inch (1:4,752) and dated 1763. 

 
117. Estate surveys were not carried out for the purpose of identifying public highways. 

However, in some instances, highways were marked on Estate plans e.g. where 
they formed the boundary of the Estate.  
 

118. Map making was expensive and plans that were originally produced for a different 
purpose were sometimes used to produce estate surveys. However, the plans for 
the Wynnstay Estate appear to have been produced specifically for the purpose. 
The level of detail and condition of the plans is good; individual gates and stiles 
can be discerned on the maps. Each field or other enclosure is numbered. 

 
119. On the map and surveyor’s description of Caeaugleision farm (appendices 6a and 

6b), the application route crosses the enclosures numbered 7, 8 and 11. These 
are noted in the surveyor’s description as follows: 

 

• Enclosure 7 – Rhos Fach, Rough pasture; 

• Enclosure 8 - Wern Ucha, rough pasture; 

• Enclosure 11 – ‘A moiety of Ffridd Newydd of 33 acres with Mr Yeates’s 
tenant of Pen y Cribbion.’ 
 

120. It is noted that the farm benefits from ‘Also a proportion of the common adjoining 
of 517 acres belonging to 12 farms.’ The word ‘Common’ is marked on the plan of 
the farm, being immediately adjoining enclosure 11. This is the area now known 
as Llechwedd Du. 
 

121. Gates are marked on the plan at the southern end of enclosure 7, close to the 
farm buildings at Caeugleision and at the boundary between enclosures 7 and 8. 
It is less clear whether there was any gate or stile at the northern end of 
enclosure 8, where the application route exits the field, or at the point where it 
enters enclosure 11. 
 

122. There is also a map and description of Cwm Ffynnon farm (appendices 6c and 
6d.) At the time of this Wynnstay Estate survey, none of the land crossed by the 
application route formed part of the holding now known as Cwm-y-Ffynnon farm. 
The application route does not cross any of the enclosures shown on this plan of 
Cwm Ffynnon. However, the farm did benefit from ‘A proportional part of the 
common adjoining of 517 acres belonging to 12 farms.’ The word ‘common’ is not 
marked on this map, although ‘Sheepwalk’ is marked at the location of enclosure 
11 of Caeaugleision farm. 

 

Tudalen 31



Page 20 of 39 

123. The map of Rhiwsaeson farm (appendix 6e),  being the demesne farm for the 
Estate – indicates that the strip of land adjoining Caeaugleision, over which part 
of the application runs was owned by owned by John Yeates Esq. 
 

124. The route now recorded as footpath 8 past Pen Cae Du is shown as a hedged, 
enclosed lane of significant width. Other linear paths or tracks are indicated on 
the map, but none coincide with routes now recorded as public rights of way. 

 
125. Summary of Estate records: 

The plan of Caeaugleision farm indicates that there were gates in the fields 
immediately to the north of the farm buildings. This would have allowed for access 
on horseback, from the buildings at Caeaugleision as far as the point where the 
application route emerges onto John Yeates’ land. It is not clear what happened 
at the boundary between Caeaugleision and John Yeates’ land. 
 

126. The survey also suggests that there were 12 farms who would have needed 
access to move livestock onto the ‘common’ referred to in the survey. It is not 
clear what route was being used and at least some of the farms will have been 
directly abutting the common and so able to turn livestock out directly onto it. As 
the application route runs to and across Llechwedd Du, it is possible that some of 
the farms may have used it to move livestock onto and off the common. 

 
127. Highway authority records: 

These can encompass a wide variety of documents, but in the context of public  
rights of way investigation are normally confined to the parish survey records  
following the 1932 & 1949 Acts, the various maps and documents associated with  
the production of Definitive Map & Statement (DMS) stages, and any records kept  
by the Highways Department, including the List of Streets and maintenance 
maps. Parish Council, RDC and UDC minutes may also be helpful in some cases; 
but are often difficult to locate, if they still exist at all.  

 
128. Rights of Way Act 1932 Parish Survey: 

This was a non-statutory survey of public rights of way. Parish Councils were 
permitted to prepare maps and written statements of the routes that they believed 
to be public rights of way, but were not required to do so. Neither was there any 
statutory process that allowed for public scrutiny of the maps, or objection to 
them. As such, the Rights of Way Act 1932 surveys have less evidential weight 
than documents produced via a statutory process, that allowed for public scrutiny 
and objection and which were kept in the public domain. 

 
129. Maps and written descriptions of the public rights of way in Llanbrynmair parish 

were produced under the Rights of Way Act 1932. The documents have since 
been split up; Powys County Council holds the survey maps, whilst Llanbrynmair 
Community Council holds the written descriptions for the paths. 
 

130. There are two survey maps for the area crossed by the application route. The 
route is split across County Series sheets Montgomeryshire XX SE and 
Montgomeryshire XX SW (appendices 7a and 7b.) 
 

Tudalen 32



Page 21 of 39 

131. Routes that are now recorded on the List of Streets as county roads generally 
seem to have been colour washed in yellow on the maps. The section of road and 
access track to Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon has a grey shading. All of the 
other routes annotated onto both of these two maps are shown in red. No other 
colouration is used and there is no key to indicate whether the colour is significant 
in denoting status or not. 
 

132. The application route is shown as a red line, annotated ’10.’ The route is 
consistent with the alignment of the current footpath 7 and bridleway 6; the two 
paths are not split on this survey map.  
 

133. Route 10 is shown as ending at the entrance to Cwm Pen Llydan farmyard; no 
connection to any route is shown. The routes now recorded as bridleway 3 and 
footpath 4 at Cwm Pen Llydan are not shown at all. 
 

134. At Caeaugleision, there is an ‘S’ – which could indicate a stile – on the section of 
path now recorded as footpath 7. To the north of the farm buildings, the 
annotation ‘FG’ – which could be a field gate – next to the line marked ’10.’ Just to 
the northwest of Cwm-y-Ffynnon, another ‘S’ is marked and then further to the 
northwest, two more FG’s are noted, at the entrance and exit to the enclosure 
marked ‘Ffridd Caeaugleision.’ 
 

135. The written description that accompanies the survey is titled ‘Parish of 
Llanbrynmair (Rights of Way Act 1932) List of Public Footpaths’ (appendices 7c – 
7h.) It is perhaps first worth noting that this is followed by a list and description of 
all of the path numbers in the parish as shown on the maps; there is no separate 
list of paths of any status other than ‘footpath.’ 

 
136. The application route – path 10 – is recorded as follows: 

“Starts from no. 9 at Pencilin across meadow to a stile, across meadow to a Field 
Gate to Caeaugleision farm yard. Proceeds by Field Gate across pastures near 
Cwmffynnon to a stile, across two pastures and two Field Gates to hill and 
Cwmpenllydan.” 
 

137. Conclusions: 
This recording of the application route in the 1932 Rights of Way Act parish 
survey is a good indication that at the time of survey, the Parish Council regarded 
the route as being a public path. There do not appear to be any significant 
differences to the alignment of the route, when compared with the current 
Definitive Map. However, all of the routes in Llanbrynmair parish were noted as 
being ‘footpaths’, although many are now recorded as public bridleways or even 
restricted byways. Given that, the Rights of Way Act 1932 survey information for 
this parish needs to be regarded with caution, in relation to the status of the 
application route. Without other supporting evidence, this survey alone would not 
be sufficient to conclude that the status was footpath only.  

 
138. Definitive Map records: 

Under the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, parish 
councils were required to produce a survey of all of the known public rights of way 
in their area. That was made up of a map and written statements (survey cards) 

Tudalen 33



Page 22 of 39 

for each path. The former parish councils were required to record the paths as 
being of status footpath, bridleway, CRF (Cart Road Used as a Footpath) or CRB 
(Cart Road Used as a Bridleway), with the latter two categories collectively being 
RUPPs (Roads Used as Public Paths.) Detailed guidance was issued to the 
parish councils about how they should undertake their surveys. 
 

139. Following this, a Draft Map and Statement was produced and published, with a 
period for public objection. The council was required to show on this map those 
rights of way which in its’ opinion subsisted, or were reasonably alleged to have 
subsisted, at the ‘Relevant Date’ of the map. The relevant date was carried 
forward to the Provisional and First Definitive maps. 
 

140. Any objections to the content of the Draft Map were considered by an appointed 
panel, whose decisions were then incorporated into a Provisional Map and 
Statement. This was published with a further period for landowner objection in the 
Crown Court. Once any objections had been decided by the Court, a Definitive 
Map and Statement was produced and published. There were then only limited 
grounds for objection within a limited time period via judicial review in the High 
Court. 
 

141. At the time when the Draft Maps were produced, Llanbrynmair parish was within 
the Rural District of Machynlleth. The Relevant Date for the Draft, Provisional and 
Definitive Maps for this Rural District area is 1st April 1960.  

 
142. National Parks & Access to the Countryside Act, 1949 – parish survey: 

It should be noted that in Montgomeryshire, the County Council chose not to 
produce a dedicated Statement to accompany each of the Draft, Provisional and 
First Definitive Maps. Instead, they adopted the earlier parish survey cards as 
being the Statements for the paths and the cards were allocated a relevant date. 
For Llanbrynmair parish, that was 1st April 1960. 

 
143. The parish survey card for bridleway 6 (appendix 8a) is held by Powys County 

Council and is now the Statement for the path. It is not known what happened to 
the parish survey maps for Llanbrynmair; as for many areas of Montgomeryshire, 
the parish survey maps do not seem to have survived. 
 

144. The written survey card notes the path as being a ‘B.R.’, i.e. a Bridle Road. It is 
described as starting at Cwm Pen Llydan, “..following a green cart track across 
hill via F.G., movable rails and F.G. to join Cwm-y-Ffynnon farm lane at a F.G. 
and follow same through Caeau-gleision farm yard to join unclassified road.”  
 

145. This is interesting, as it does suggest that the parish council viewed the path as 
linking with a route of unclassified road status. No link to any route on the List of 
Streets is now recorded and the parish survey card is not conclusive evidence in 
itself of the existence of a highway of unclassified road status. However, it sheds 
some light on the apparent ‘cul-de-sac’ recording of the western end of the path, 
from the point of view of equestrians and cyclists.  

 
146. It is also interesting that the surveyor chose to record the presence of ‘movable 

rails’, given that the presence of a stile is noted on the earlier Rights of Way Act 

Tudalen 34



Page 23 of 39 

1932 survey map. It could be that the ‘Stile’ and the ‘movable rails’ are the same 
structure, described in different ways. Movable rails could have allowed access 
on horseback, whereas a traditional stile might not have done. Furthermore, the 
parish survey card qualifies that the obstructions on the path are ‘none’ and that it 
has an average width of 5 feet, so wide enough to accommodate a horse. 
 

147. The parish survey card also specifically states that the reason for believing the 
path to be public is that it is “Shewn on 1932 maps.” That presumably refers to 
the maps produced under the Rights of Way Act 1932. The date of the survey for 
the path is given as ‘1/60’ i.e. January 1960. 

 
148. The parish survey card for bridleway 3 simply records it as ending at Cwm Pen 

Llydan; no link to bridleway 6 is mentioned. 
 

149.  Draft Map (published on 11th April 1960): 
The path falls across two County Series Ordnance Survey map sheets, being 
Montgomery XX SW and Montgomery XX SE (appendices 8b and 8c). 1:2500 
scale mapping was used to produce the Draft Map, so a good level of detail can 
be seen. 
 

150. The alignment of the path is shown on the Draft Map on exactly the same 
alignment as on the Rights of Way Act 1932 survey map.  However, paths of 
different status are identified on the Draft Map using colour. Path 6 is indicated 
with a green line; the key inside the cover of the folder containing all of the Draft 
Maps for Montgomeryshire denotes as being a bridleway. Path 7 is shown in 
purple, denoting a footpath. 
 

151. The Parish Survey Map also shows a connection between bridleway 6 and 
bridleway 3 at Cwm pen Llydan, running to the south of the property.  
 

152. Provisional Map (published on 23rd September 1968) (appendix 8d): 
The coloured lines denoting the public rights of way have been drawn much less 
carefully on the Provisional Map than on the earlier Draft Map or Rights of Way 
Act 1932 survey maps; the edges of the lines are ragged in places. The base map 
is also much less detailed than that used for the Draft Map, being at a scale of 6 
inches to the mile (1:10.560.)  However, it is clear that the intention in relation to 
bridleway 6 is that the path follows the same double pecked line track feature, 
over which it shown on the earlier Rights of Way Act 1932 and Draft maps.  
 

153. This is the first map that shows an alignment through Caeaugleision farm yard 
that is not directly aligned with the track as it leaves the northern end of the 
farmyard. However, there are several other points where both the green line 
showing path 6 and the lines showing nearby paths 4 and 5 deviate from the 
underlying track or ‘FP’ features. It seems likely that this is due to poor drawing, 
rather than any intention that the paths should follow a different alignment. 
 

154. First Definitive Map & Statement (published on 10th February 1969) (appendix 
8e): 
This is produced on a base map of scale 1:10,560 and is in black and white; no 
colour is used. The line styles used to denote path status are those currently set 

Tudalen 35



Page 24 of 39 

out under the Wildlife and Countryside Act (Definitive Maps and Statements) 
Regulations 1993. Path 6 is shown using the bridleway line style. 
 

155. Again, bridleway 6 is shown as following the underlying double pecked line track 
feature. No significant deviations from the alignments shown on the Rights of Way 
Act 1932 and Draft Maps are apparent.  
 

156. It is notable that the line of the bridleway is not drawn following the track feature 
where it leaves the northern end of the farm yard at Caeaugleision; it is a short 
distance to the east and somewhat closer to the farm buildings. This could have 
resulted from the line being based on the poor drawing on the Provisional Map. 
Added to that, due to the scale of the base map – with the 1mm line representing 
a corridor of approximately 10 metres wide – there is a need to look at physical 
evidence and other contemporaneous historic documents, when interpreting the 
alignment of a public right of way within the 10 metre corridor. These may be the 
apparent changes of route noted by the applicant in his statement of reasons for 
making this application. 
 

157. No subsequent reviews or consolidations have been published for the 
Montgomeryshire Definitive Map. 

 
158. County Surveyors records: 

As noted above, the List of Streets does not currently show any highway 
maintainable at public expense that links to the south-western end of the 
application route. The current List of Streets data is held as a GIS table (appendix 
9a.) Unclassified county road U2313 runs from Pandy Rhiw Saeson village to the 
fork where the access tracks for Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Caeaugleision divide. It is 
maintained as part of the ordinary roads network. 
 

159. The following older, highways records have been examined:  

• Montgomeryshire ‘Green Book’ – dated 1941 (appendix 9b); 

• Montgomeryshire ‘Map chest’ map – undated (appendix 9c); 

• Montgomeryshire ‘Green Book’ – undated (appendix 9d); 

• Montgomeryshire ‘Brown Book’ – dated 1956 (appendix 9e); 

• The agricultural grants files for the Llanbrynmair area. 
 

160. The plan in the ‘Green Book’ of 1941 has been annotated with the text ‘Group 2.’ 
Over the route now recorded as county road U2313, there is a purple line on the 
map; the line is somewhat indistinct, but appears to end at Caeaugleision. 
However, there is a pencil cross at the junction of the tracks to Caeaugleision and 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon; there are no other similar crosses on this map. It may be that the 
extension of the line to Caeaugleision was considered to be an error. 
 

161. An uncoloured enclosed route continues beyond this, to Esgair Gelynen and Cwm 
Pen Llydan. The nearby route now recorded as restricted byway 12 is shown in a 
similar way, as an uncoloured enclosed route. 
 

162. County road C2017 to the south of Pandy Rhiw Saeson village is shown in yellow; 
the section north of the village is shown in purple, as is county road C2161 
running up the Clegyrnant valley. The western end of county road U2313 is 

Tudalen 36



Page 25 of 39 

shown in purple; the eastern end and the application route are unfortunately not 
shown at all, being off the edge of the map. 

 
163. Similarly, the undated ‘Map chest’ map shows the U2017 coloured in yellow as far 

north as Pandy Rhiwsaeson village. The section of the C2017 to the north of the 
village and the C2161 up the Clegyrnant valley are shown in purple. 
 

164. On the undated ‘Green Book’, the route of county road U2313 is shown 
uncoloured, from Pandy Rhiw Saeson to the fork at Caeugleision and 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon. Again, an uncoloured enclosed route continues beyond this, to 
Esgair Gelynen and Cwm Pen Llydan. 
 

165. The C2017 leading from Llanbrynmair to Pandy Rhiwsaeson village is indicated in 
yellow. The section of the C2017 to the north of the village and the C2161 up the 
Clegyrnant valley are also shown in yellow. 
 

166. On the plan in the ‘Brown Book’ of 1956, the number ‘11’ is annotated onto the 
base map in the area around Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Esgair Gelynen. 
 

167. The C2017 leading from Llanbrynmair to Pandy Rhiwsaeson village is indicated in 
yellow. The section of the C2017 to the north of the village and the C2161 up the 
Clegyrnant valley are also shown in yellow. The U2313 leading from the village to 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon is uncoloured. An uncoloured enclosed route continues through 
Caeaugleision to Esgair Gelynen and then on to Cwm Pen Llydan.  

 
168. Although the plans are not accompanied by any key, there does seem to be a 

correlation between the coloration used on the plans in the Green and Brown 
books and maintenance priority of each of the routes on the List of Streets.  
 

169. The current C class roads are distinctly coloured in yellow on all three maps. It is 
notable that the colouration of the northern section of the C2017 and the C2161 
changed with time, from purple to yellow. This suggests that these sections of 
highway may have been allocated increased maintenance priority between 1942 
and 1956.  
 

170. By contrast, the way U2313 was coloured as time progressed may indicate a 
decline in the priority given to its maintenance. On the earliest of these plans, it 
was shown a distinct purple line extending as far as Caeaugleision; surrounding 
routes of lower status, including restricted byways were shown uncoloured. By 
1956, it was shown uncoloured in the same way as restricted byway 12. 
 

171. The agricultural grants files show that an application was made to seek adoption 
of the section of agricultural track between the end of the U2313 and 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon. This application was made in the 1960s and was rejected. No 
such application seems to have been made in respect of the section of track from 
the U2313 to Caeaugleision. 
 

172. Highway surveyor’s records for the area have been checked in the Quarter 
Sessions records. The only document that was found that relates to this area was 
a plan showing the proposed route of the C2017. However, Caeaugleision and 

Tudalen 37



Page 26 of 39 

Cwm-y-Ffynnon are outside the limits of deviation of the plan and so no useful 
information can be gained from it.  

 
173. Highway Authority Records-Summary:  

The records described above certainly give positive evidence that the application 
route has been regarded as a public right of way since the Rights of Way Act 
1932 survey was carried out, if not earlier. Given that all of the routes on the 
Rights of Way Act 1932 survey for Llanbrynmair parish were shown in the same 
way, this survey alone would not be strong enough evidence to conclude that its 
status was only that of footpath.  
 

174. The County Surveyor’s records of 1941 to 1956, together with the information in 
the parish survey card produced under the National Parks and Countryside Act 
1949 do seem to suggest that the application route may, in fact have met with 
another highway running from the current end of the U2313 to Caeaugleision, or 
even through and beyond it. Whilst making a formal assessment of that is not the 
subject of this application, it is of relevance to explaining why the application route 
is now recorded as an apparent cul-de-sac for equestrians and cyclists. 
 

175. Other relevant documents researched: 
These include Parish Council records, the registers of section 31(6) deposits, 
local history books and guidebooks. 
 

176. Llanbrynmair Parish Council minutes (appendix 10:)  
These are held by Llanbrynmair Community Council and can be inspected on 
request. The original minutes are written in Welsh; the translations into English 
below have been prepared by Powys County Council’s Translation Unit. 
 

177. Seven extracts were identified as being of relevance to the area around the 
application route. These have been translated as follows: 
 
5th March 1908: 
“Footpath from the Pandy at Caeaugleision – On the proposal of Mr Richard 
Williams and seconded by Mr John Sho…. Jones it was unanimously passed for 
…… to be spent repairing the Footpath at Caeaugleision ……. This was 
considered to be cheap, Mr Richard Williams and Mr Rowland Edwards to take 
care of the work.” 
 
8th December 1908: 
“Caeaugleision Stile – It was stated that nothing had been done about this stile 
and it was agreed on the proposal put forward by Mr RH Davies and seconded by 
Mr D Davies that Mr R Williams should speak to Mr Rich Owen and to bring a 
report to the next meeting.” 

 
17 November 1928: 
“Caeaugleision Footpath – The Chairman drew attention to the footpath at 
Caeaugleision to Gromffynnon across which there was a fence without a stile.  It 
was passed on Mr R Williams’ proposal and seconded by Mr J M Morris for the 
clerk to write to Mr Rich Owen, Caeaugleision to ask him to place a stile across 
the footpath.” 

Tudalen 38



Page 27 of 39 

 
 
 

23rd March 1929: 
“Caeaugleision Stile – A report was received from Mr R Williams about this stile 
and Mr R Williams’ proposal was passed and seconded by Mr Fred Jones to write 
to Mr R Owen again to place a stile on the footpath.” 
 
17 April 1930:  
“Footpaths – it was passed to repair the following Footpaths: 
1. Pandy to Caeaugleision – One day’s labour” 

 
November 1932:  
“Cwmffynnon footpath – It was agreed to give three days of labour – the 
Chairman to take care of it.” 
 
20 December 1934 extract 
“Caeaugleision to Cwmpen pathway –  Mr Davies’ proposal was passed for two 
days of work to be given to clear the footpath.  Mr R H Davies to take care of it.” 
 

178. Some of these entries in the minute book may refer to footpath 7, as this crossed 
land at Caeaugleision, but it is difficult to be certain about that without any maps. 
However, others – notably the entries of 17th  November 1928 and 20th 
December 1934 are more specific in referring to a path north of Caeaugleision, 
running to Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Cwm Pen Llydan respectively. 
 

179. Again, they provide supportive evidence that a route from Caeaugleision to Cwm 
Pen Llydan was in use by the public on foot, at least. However, the fact that use 
by equestrians is not mentioned does not preclude the routes having been used 
by the public on horseback, prior to the dates of these minutes. The route may 
simply have fallen out of use by equestrians by this time. 

 
180. “A history of the parish of Llanbrynmair” – Richard Williams, 1889. 

This is held by the National Library of Wales (piece reference XDA1359 LL2 
W72.) Local history books are not legal records in themselves and can only 
represent the author’s interpretation of other sources. However, they can provide 
useful context to the general history of the area. Having been produced in 1889, 
this book gives some explanation of what was happening in the Llanbrynmair 
area in the period after the Tithe Survey and Wynnstay Estate survey and prior to 
the Finance Act 1910 records. Points of note in this history book are as follows. 
 

181. The author comments on the poor state of the roads in the area at that time and 
the distance of the area from ports and markets. He notes that lime and other 
manures had to be brought into the area on horseback from Derwenlas and 
Porthywaun on mountain paths. He notes that the road through Pandy Rhiw 
Saeson village (now the C2017) was built in around 1836, to assist the farmers of 
Nantcarfan and Clegyrnant to transport lime and other commodities to their farms 
and to market their own produce. 
 

Tudalen 39



Page 28 of 39 

182. Likewise, the author refers to the recollections of the (then late) Reverend Samuel 
Roberts, who described the roads in the area as being narrow and stony, slippery 
and steep, running through river rapids and being so deep and narrow that carts 
were not able to pass each other. 

183. In terms of the industry, the author notes that there were several fulling mills in 
the Llanbrynmair parish producing flannel; one of these was at Pandy Rhiw 
Saeson.  
 

184. This information is helpful in understanding the condition and likely usage of the 
highways in the area around the application route, in the period before 1889. Use 
of steep, narrow paths in poor condition with loaded horses does not seem to 
have been uncommon, for transporting all manner of goods including lime and 
farm produce. Whilst its fulling mill was in operation, Pandy Rhiw Saeson would 
have been a destination in itself for local farmers producing wool. 

 
185. Llanbrynmair in the 20th century – Llanbrynmair Local History Society 2005: 

A copy of this is held by the National Library of Wales (piece reference 
XDA1359.LL78.LL79) A copy is also held by Powys County Archives (piece 
reference R942.951.) 
 

186. This book includes notes about the recollections of Ceri Evans, née Roberts, who 
grew up at Cwm Pen Llydan. She recollects that there were two cart tracks 
leading to Cwmpen. One of these crossed the river at Rhyd y Meirch and followed 
the brook to Cwmpen. The other track came from the direction of Pandy, past 
Caeaugleision, over Esgair Gelynen and Cwmpen moorland. It continued over the 
open mountain, past Llyn Gwyddior to Cannon in Cwm Nant-yr-Eira. There is no 
plan in the book showing the alignment of the tracks. 
 

187. The roads are noted as having been very wet and muddy for most of the year. 
Ceri Evans also recollects going to Cannon by pony, over Nant yr Eira via the 
mountain road. Nant yr Eira is identified on the map in the front of the book, being 
the valley running between Capel Biwla and Cwmderwen. 
 

188. This indicates that there was a track in use by carts in the 20th century that linked 
Caeaugleision and Cwm Pen Llydan over the moorland. It does not confirm the 
exact alignment of the track referred to and nor does it confirm whether the track 
was used by the wider public. 
 

189. “Llanbrynmair – Images of yesterday” – Llanbrynmair Local History Society 
This is a collection of photographs, showing places and people in Llanbrynmair 
parish. The National Library of Wales holds a copy (piece reference Dyb 2013 
C268.) 

 
190. Whilst photographs cannot prove highway status in themselves, they do provide 

good evidence of any physical feature shown in them. They can provide useful 
information about the landscape and way of life in the area. Those of relevance to 
the application route are as follows. 
 

191. The photograph titled ‘Transporting food for shooters and beaters on Cwmpen 
Mountain on the Sir Watkin Estate’ is undated and it is difficult to tell exactly 

Tudalen 40



Page 29 of 39 

where it was taken, but it is on a hillside in the vicinity of Cwm Pen Llydan. There 
are horses in the picture, loaded with sacks. This indicates that horses were taken 
across this mountainside with loads. 
 

PHYSICAL EVIDENCE – SITE SURVEY: 
 

192. A site visit was made on 30th August 2017. There have been changes to the 
buildings, ground and boundaries around Barling’s Barn and Cwm-y-Ffynnon, 
which have changed the physical character of the application route since it was 
recorded on the Definitive Map. However, most of the application route crosses 
open pastureland that has not changed significantly in that time period. A plan 
showing the locations of the photographs is at appendix 11a; the photographs are 
at appendix 11b. 
 

193. Notably, there are a number of points along the application route where a defined, 
old track feature is still apparent on the ground. These are: 

 

• Between points 9 and 11, where two rows of old trees form an enclosed path 
or way. This enclosed path is in the location shown on earlier Ordnance 
Survey maps as being between two field boundaries, with the route annotated 
‘ FP’ running along it. The ground between the trees is level across its whole 
width, with the exception of the stream at one edge. The stream is not wide at 
this point, so can easily be stepped across by a person or horse. 
 

• Between points 15 and 20, where there is a wide, level track running up the 
slope to the boundary between Ffridd Caeaugleision and Llechwedd Du. At 
the point where it crosses the boundary between the two, the track has a width 
of approximately 5 metres between the banks on either side. It is markedly 
sunken relative to the old wall on the north side and the slope of Ffridd 
Caeaugleision to the south.  

 
194. There have been changes to the area between the buildings at Barlings Barn; 

as noted by the applicant, the property and outbuildings have been renovated 
since 1985. Evidence sources other than site survey need to be consulted, to 
ascertain the physical condition of the route at the time when it was recorded on 
the Definitive Map. The photographs provided by the applicant, aerial 
photography and Ordnance Survey records are described above. 
 

195. Between Barling’s Barn and Cwm-y-Ffynnon, the route crosses level ground on 
a gentle gradient, with no physical restrictions on the width.  

 
196. The farmyard at Cwm-y-Ffynnon has been extended over the line of the 

application route since 1949, so it is difficult to comment on any restrictions that 
might have been present before this. Again, aerial photography records are 
described above. 
 

197. To the northeast of Cwm-y-Ffynnon farmyard, the route ascends open pasture, 
then runs along a level platform immediately adjacent to the stream before 
entering the defined enclosed lane between points 9 and 11. The ground is 
boggy at point 9, but not impassable on foot.  

 

Tudalen 41



Page 30 of 39 

198. There is sufficient width to allow a horse to pass between the two rows of trees 
between points 9 and 11, where the ground is firm and even. The stream 
crossing is at a narrow point, so not impassable on foot or horseback.  

 
199. The ground between the stream crossing and point 14 is quite rough in 

character, but again, the gradients are not particularly steep. 
 

200. Above point 14, the ground is firm and the application route passes along a firm, 
well-defined level track for some distance, as described above. The width is 
approximately 5 metres between points 15 and 19. 

 
201. From point 19 to point 26, the application route crosses Llechwedd Du, where 

the terrain is much steeper and more difficult to navigate. However, the remains 
of a more level pathway can be seen; this is around 4-5 feet wide at its 
narrowest point. It is quite difficult to pick out amongst the surrounding 
vegetation, but once identified, is certainly passable on foot. The ground is firm 
and not waterlogged. 

 
202. Physical evidence - summary: 

From the site survey carried out on 30th August 2017, there have been changes 
to the physical character of the application route at Barlings Barn and 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon since 1949, which make it difficult to comment on whether it 
could physically have been used on horseback at these locations. However, the 
character and width of the rest of the route, as far as the entrance to Cwm Pen 
Llydan, is certainly not inconsistent with use on horseback. The remains of a 
defined trackway are still in evidence, albeit that the section across Llechwedd 
Du would require care, especially in poor weather. 
 

USER EVIDENCE  
203. The applicant submitted user witness evidence forms from a number of people 

who knew the route, and in some cases used parts of it. These are from: 
 

• Mr Henry Hughes of Bodhyfryd, Pandy; 

• Mrs Helen Hughes,  Bodhyfryd, Pandy; 

• Mr RG Ashton, Pandy Rhos, Llanbrynmair; 

• Mr R.I Owen, Cwm-y-Ffynnon, Llanbrynmair; 

• Mrs Ashton, Cwm-y-Ffynnon; 

• Mr Ashton, Cwm-y-Ffynnon. 
 

204. Mr Owen is the current owner of land crossed by the application route, and 
farms it in partnership with Mr and Mrs Ashton. As such, their evidence is 
described in more detail below, under the section titled ‘Landowner evidence.’ 

 
205. Mr and Mrs Hughes of Bodhyfryd were interviewed about their knowledge of the 

route; their user witness form and notes of their interview are at appendices 
12a, 12b and 12c. In her user witness form, Mrs Hughes states that she is not 
aware of the public having used the route and does not regard it as being 
public. She believes that route was for farming purposes and for delivery of mail 
on foot. 

 

Tudalen 42



Page 31 of 39 

206. Mr Hughes explained that he has lived in the Pandy Rhiwsaeson area since his 
childhood. His grandmother and then his father delivered post in the area and 
he accompanied them on occasions. As a child aged 9-10, Mr Hughes was 
involved in beating for the Wynnstay Estate shoot above Cwm-y-Ffynnon.  

 
207. Of particular note in Mr Hughes’ comments is that:  
 

• He does recall using part of footpath 7 when delivering post with his father. 
He also recalls there being a stile in the boundary between 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Caeaugleision. 
 

• He recalls that Esgair Gelynen farm had been abandoned by the time he 
was 5 or 6, when he delivered the post with his father in 1949-1950s. 
 

• Mr Hughes comments that he is not aware of the application route (now 
recorded as bridleway 6) being used by the general public. 

 

• He does recall using another route with his father, which was regarded 
locally as being a public bridleway and was used by horses. This started at 
a ford on opposite the former Wynnstay Estate keeper’s pond; the ford had 
a big distinctive boulder on one side. It then continued to Llyn Gwyddior via 
Cwm Pen Llydan, running onto the top of the mountain via the forestry. Mr 
Hughes recalls that Mr Roberts used to bring shire horses down this track 
when there was a shoot, to take food back up. This route is shown on the 
plan appended to his statement. 

 
208. In view of Mr Hughes’ comments about the route from the ford to Llyn 

Gwyddior, other evidence sources have been checked, to ascertain whether 
there is any information about the status of the route that he recalls using.  

 

• Ordnance Survey maps do show a track, which starts at the ford, runs to 
Esgair Gelynen and then continues to Cwm Pen Llydan. This route does 
not entirely coincide with the track noted by Mr Hughes; he indicates that 
he used a lower track with a zig-zag bend that also ran to Esgair Gelynen 
and which is indicated on Ordnance Survey maps. Further tracks are 
shown as running from Cwm Pen Llydan onto the mountain, although not 
as far as Llyn Gwyddior itself. 

 

• The Tithe Map of 1836 describe the enclosures across which this route 
runs as being ‘pasture’; no route is shown as being excluded from tithe 
payment. However, if the route was covered in herbage and grazed, then it 
would have been considered productive land and not exempt from Tithe. 

 

• The Wynnstay Estate records note the land as being partly within the 
demesne farm, being Rhiwsaeson. The map does show a track starting at 
roadside within the field noted as ‘Cae Ffram’, although this does not 
coincide with the location of the current ford and boulder. This joins a 
second track, to pass over the enclosure numbered 8 and labelled ‘Ffrydd 
Goeddog’, to the boundary with John Yeates’ land. The ‘quality’ of 
enclosure 8 is described in the text as being ‘Wood, arable, pasture.’  

 

• The track is shown on the Ordnance Survey base map used for the 
Finance Act 1910 survey. It passes through hereditaments 103 and 191. 
Hereditament 191 is noted as being owned and occupied by Sir Watkins 

Tudalen 43



Page 32 of 39 

Williams Wynn and described as ‘woodland.’ No deduction is claimed for 
‘public rights of way or user.’ Hereditament 103 is noted as being owned by 
Sir Watkins Williams Wynn and occupied by Luther Jones. It is described 
as being ‘Land and buildings’ and again, no deduction is claimed for ‘public 
rights of way or user.’ 

 

• No Inclosure Award has been identified which covers this area. 
 
It is possible that there may be public rights over the route indicated by Mr 
Hughes. However, the evidence described above is insufficient to draw any 
conclusion about its status. Without further, more positive evidence, it is not 
possible to assess this at the current time. 

 
209. Mr RG Ashton (appendix 12d) explains that he is the son of the owner of 

Cwm-y-Ffynnon. He states that he does regard the application route as being 
public and has observed public use of it. He also states that he has no 
knowledge of public asking permission to use it, or being turned back. He notes 
the status of the application route as being ‘footpath.’ 

 
210. Summary of the user evidence: 

Mr Hughes’ comments, with regard to the route that he used with his father, 
may point towards an error or omission on the Definitive Map and Statement. 
However, at the current time, it is not possible to draw any conclusion about 
this, without further, more positive documentary or user witness evidence. Both 
Mr and Mrs Hughes’ comments and those of Mr RG Ashton do indicate that 
they are not aware of any use of the application route as a bridleway in their 
lifetimes. However, that cannot preclude it having been used as a bridleway 
prior to that, but having subsequently fallen out of use on horseback. 

 
LANDOWNER EVIDENCE  
211. This consists of statements provided by Mr Margolis, Mr A Ashton and Mr R 

Owen, and Mr Catterall.  
 

212. Mr Margolis has provided the evidence described above and in addition, he 
provided a witness statement dated 19th December 2017 (appendix 13a.) It was 
accompanied by an extract from a 1901 map. This witness statement replaced 
the notes provided following an interview on 30th August 2017. 

 
213. Mr Margolis’ witness statement partly focusses on his correspondence with the 

Council since he bought Caeaugleision in 1982 and opened his holiday 
business as Barling’s Barn. These comments do not provide evidence in 
themselves of the status of the application route prior to the point when it was 
recorded of the Definitive Map. Points of note in respect of its status are that: 

 

• Mr Margolis comments that he has found no evidence that there was ever a 
stile in Caeaugleision field. He notes that this hay field is shown on historic 
maps (parcel 965 extract 1901 map attached to his witness statement), 
whereas the stile on the bridleway was in parcel 960, closer to Cwm-y-Ffynnon 
farm.  

• Prior to the mid-1960s, Caeaugleision field was in the tenancy of Caeaugleision 
farm and the hay in Caeaugleision field was stored in the Barn at 

Tudalen 44



Page 33 of 39 

Caeaugleision. After the mid-1960s, Caeaugleision field was in the tenancy of 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon and the hay in Caeaugleision field continued to be stored in the 
Barn at Caeaugleision up until Mr and Mrs Margolis purchased the property in 
1982. 

• He feels that all of the evidence from the extensive public records he has 
researched, and witness statements, point to the fact that bridleway 6 has 
always been a footpath. He comments that it is only the 1960s survey that says 
differently with no credible evidence to back this up. 

 
214. Mr Ashton and Mr Owen were interviewed together on 5th October 2018. Mr 

Owen is Mr Ashton’s uncle and they farm Cwm-y-Ffynnon in partnership. Their 
user witness forms and interview notes are at appendices 13b, 13c, 13d and 
13e. Some key points to note from their interview are that: 
 

• Mr Ashton and Mr Owen explained that Cwm-y-Ffynnon, Caeaugleision, Cwm 
Pen Llydan and Esgair Gelynen farms were all part of the Wynnstay Estate. As 
previous tenants left or abandoned the farms, their family were asked to take on 
the tenancies by the Estate. They did so and farmed the land.  

• In the early 1980s, the family bought Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Caeaugleision from 
the Wynnstay Estate. 

• Mr Owen was born at Caeaugleision. Mr Owen comments that the track along 
which the bridleway is recorded was used by the farm prior to the 1950s, to 
gather sheep using ponies. This would have been a few times per year. They 
travelled along the track and then left it to go onto the open hill.  

• Neither Mr Ashton nor Mr Owen recall other horse riders using bridleway 6 and 
Mr Owen does not recall it being used on foot by anyone other than Cwm-y-
Ffynnon farm. 

• Mr Owen thinks it likely that the track was used to carry peat down from the 
hillside on sledges to Esgair Gelynen. The track on the hillside, along which the 
route of the bridleway is shown and the wall beside it are very old, having been 
there since the time when the land was owned by the Wynnstay Estate.  

• He recalls that there was a stile on the path, in the same fence line as the new 
gate, near to the farm house at Cwm-y-Ffynnon. It had rails, steps and a plank. 

• Mr Owen does not recall anyone from Cwm Pen Llydan using the route to travel 
to Cwm-y-Ffynnon. Mr Ashton comments that in the 1960s, the family took on 
the tenancy for Cwm Pen Llydan. At that stage, the only access to the farm was 
on foot; he does not know how horses would have been taken up there. The 
current track to the property, from the river, was put in by Mr Ashton’s family in 
the mid-1980s. 

 
215. Mr Catterall was interviewed on 5th October 2017 (appendix 13f.)  He has 

carried out extensive research into the history of Cwm Pen Llydan. Amongst 
other comments, he notes that: 

 

• The property was built in the 1827. Before that, there was a longhouse dating 
back to the 1600s on the site, where there is now the remains of a stone barn. 

Tudalen 45



Page 34 of 39 

• Before the current access track was built, the only access to the farm from the 
county road was on foot along the route now recorded as footpath 4. The farm 
had a motor car in the 1930s, but this was left in a tin shed on the road, at the 
bottom of the footpath. 

• Mr Catterall understands that two Welsh Cobs were kept at the farm. They 
came in along the access track from Esgair Gelynen, but not on the route now 
recorded as bridleway 6. 

 
216. Mr Catterall has also provided a photograph of the water wheel at the back of 

Cwm Pen Llydan house, dating from the 1920s (appendix 13g.) He comments 
that “Clearly, there never was a bridleway (or even a footpath) as there was a 
permanent drive shaft from the wheel to the house.”  
 

217. Mr Catterall’s comments and the photograph from the 1920s do suggest that 
there may be an issue with the alignment of the bridleway as recorded. The 
wheel clearly predates the bridleway being recorded on the Definitive Map. 
However, Ceri Evans’ recollections (described above) do suggest that there 
was route used by horses, that passed through Cwm Pen Llydan and continued 
over the open mountain to Llyn Gwyddior. This does support the existence of a 
route through Cwm Pen Llydan that could be used by horses.  
 

218. Mr Catterall provided extracts from the Tithe Map and apportionment 
(appendices 13h, 13i and 13j) for the area around Cwm Pen Llydan; the 
contents are described above. 
 

219. He has also provided a leaflet by the Welsh Mills Society from October 2011 
(appendix 13k.) This includes a copy of the photograph that Mr Catterall 
provided of the water wheel. The text explains that the person in the picture is 
Dafydd Roberts, tenant farmer and father of Ceri Evans, née Roberts. It notes 
that Ceri Evans does not recollect seeing the wheel when she was growing up 
and explains that the wheel was used to turn the butter churn in the pantry. 
 

220. Landowner evidence-Conclusions: 
The landowner evidence is made up of a combination of personal recollections 
of the application route and research into its history. It does point towards 
horses having been taken to Cwm Pen Llydan from the direction of 
Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-Ffynnon. Mr Ashton’s evidence does indicate that 
horses were taken up the application route from Cwm-y-Ffynnon for farming 
purposes, at the very least.  

 
ASSESSMENT OF THE EVIDENCE  
 
221. The documentary evidence does support the existence of a public path between 

Caeaugleision and Cwm Pen Llydan and the applicant has not challenged this. 
The effect of the application would be to downgrade it, not to delete it. 
 

222. Ordnance Survey maps consistently show a route annotated ‘FP’, which 
coincides with the line now recorded as bridleway 6 that joins the two farms via 
Cwm-y-Ffynnon. The Finance Act 1910 survey does note 5 ‘footpaths’ as being 

Tudalen 46



Page 35 of 39 

an easement or restriction on Caeaugleision. Five paths annotated ‘FP’ are 
shown on the Ordnance Survey base map on which the survey has been 
produced, one of which is the application route. The parish council minutes and 
Rights of Way Act 1932 survey information also give a strong indication that the 
application route was in use on foot in the early 20th century.  

 
223. However, as described above, it seems that horses were able to travel along it 

and the physical character of the route would allow for that. The Wynnstay 
Estate survey for Caeaugleision indicates that at that time, there was a gate at 
the northern end of Caeaugleision farm yard. There also appears to have been 
a gate at the location where a stile is indicated on the Rights of Way Act 1932 
survey. This may reflect a change in the use of the route over time; the route 
may simply have fallen out of use by those on horseback by 1932.   
 

224. The landowner and user evidence does include personal recollections of the 
application route and surrounding area, which are valuable in understanding its 
more recent history. Those recollections do suggest that use by the public in the 
20th century has been on foot, although Mr Owen acknowledges that there was 
use of the route on horseback for farming purposes. 
 

225. Mr Hughes’ comments are interesting, as they point towards a different route 
that was used by horses and carts, from the ford on the road to Rhyd y Meirch. 
That would line up with the information given by Mr Catterall about the track 
from Esgair Gelynen, along which the cart horses were brought into Cwm Pen 
Llydan. However, without more positive documentary evidence, it is difficult to 
make any further assessment of this at the current time. Neither does is 
preclude the application route also having been used on horseback.  
 

226. It is also significant that the application route was included in the draft map as a 
bridleway and that was not challenged at the time. The parish survey card 
specifically refers to the 1932 Rights of Way Act survey, so that information was 
clearly considered by the surveyor. It is also significant that all of the routes on 
the 1932 survey are described under a ‘List of footpaths.’ It is highly unlikely 
that all of the public ways in the parish will only have been of footpath status 
and indeed, several other paths shown on the ‘List of footpaths’ are now 
recorded as public ways of higher status. 

 
CONSULTATIONS: 
227. The owners of the affected land, path user groups, Natural Resources Wales, 

Llanbrynmair Community Council, the Local Member and statutory undertakers 
were consulted about this application. The responses are described below.  
 

228. Mr Margolis has submitted detailed further comments (appendix 14a), 
referenced to each numbered paragraph in this report. In response to his 
comments: 
 

• In relation to paragraph 24, the applicant questions whether due process 
was followed, as he is not aware of any evidence that the (former) parish 
council of Llanbrynmair discussed bridleway 6 between the years 1958 and 
1970 and notes that Mr Owen has no recollection of any such discussion. In 
response to this, there is positive evidence that the statutory process was 

Tudalen 47



Page 36 of 39 

followed in relation to public rights of way in Llanbrynmair parish, including 
bridleway 6, because parish survey cards were produced on the form set by 
the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949; those forms 
survive to this date. Whilst some parishes noted discussions about individual 
paths in their minutes relating to the parish surveys, others did not. It is also 
of note that no objection appears to have been made to the inclusion of this 
bridleway on the Draft, Provisional or Definitive Maps. 
 

• In relation to paragraph 26, the reasons for which bridleway 6 might have 
been recorded as a cul-de-sac have been described because it cannot be 
assumed that the bridleway has been recorded at the wrong status, solely 
because it has been recorded as ending on a footpath. There are other 
possible reasons for this anomaly, although it is outside the scope of this 
report and the application made to formally assess them. 
 

• In relation to paragraph 30, the applicant provides a statement in support of 
the accuracy of Mr Ashton’s sketch. The accuracy is not being brought into 
question, but it is normal practice to note the potential limitations of every 
evidence source considered in researching these cases. 
 

• In relation to paragraphs 39 and 40 and 125, the applicant comments on the 
reason for and use of the worn, used route in the aerial photographs. He 
notes that the tenants of Caeaugleision farm at that time were working the 
field to and from Caeaugleision Barn. It is accepted that the tenants are 
more than likely to have been using this route, but that does not prove that 
other members of the public were not using the route as well. Aerial 
photographs provide good evidence of physical features at the time when 
the picture was taken. However, like Ordnance Survey maps, they can 
neither prove nor disprove the existence of public rights over a given route.  
 

• In relation to paragraph 43, the applicant points out an error in the 
description of the direction of the worn route; this is noted and the error has 
been corrected in paragraph 43 above, so that it now reads ‘northeast.’ 
 

• In relation to paragraph 55, the applicant’s assertion as to the location of 
Caeaugleision is accepted, but as noted above, it is normal to note any 
potential limitations in relation to each evidence source. 
 

• In relation to paragraph 145, the applicant questions the connection to a 
‘district road’ that is noted in the parish survey card. The parish survey cards 
are statutory documents and for Montgomeryshire, they were adopted as the 
Statements to accompany the Draft, Provisional and first Definitive Maps. As 
such, their content was made public and could have been challenged 
following the publication of the Draft or Provisional Maps. The note about the 
link to a ‘district road’ is not conclusive evidence of the existence of those 
rights in itself; a separate assessment would have to be made about that. 
However, the content of the Survey Card was put forward on behalf of the 
former Parish Council and does not seem to have been challenged by them; 
the inclusion of a note about the ‘District road’ is a matter of fact. 
 

• In relation to paragraphs 176 to 179, the applicant confirms that he is not 
contesting the existence of a public footpath but comments that he has yet 
to see any evidence that the route was used by equestrians other than those 

Tudalen 48



Page 37 of 39 

working for the farms. As noted above, the physical characteristics of the 
route certainly do not preclude use on horseback; the presence of a stile 
does not disprove that there were pre-existing rights to use the route on 
horseback. The Council is not required to provide evidence that there are 
rights for equestrians beyond that already contained in the Definitive Map 
and Statement; rather, it is for the applicant to provide cogent evidence that 
those rights do not exist. ‘Cogent’ is defined in the Oxford English Dictionary 
as being ‘clear, logical and convincing.’ 

229.  The applicant’s final comment is that he believes that the Council has 
“..researched all available evidence very thoroughly but – in my opinion – all the 
evidence they put forward as to the actual status of bridleway 6 (as opposed to 
the legal status), is full of supposition and “might have been” which is not 
backed up with hard fact.” In response to this, historic evidence can rarely 
provide such ‘hard facts’; whilst the text and features in a documentary 
evidence source are a matter of fact, assessing what they mean for highway 
research requires a great deal of interpretation. A knowledge is needed of the 
historic context of each document, so that reasonable inferences can be drawn 
about the meaning it intended to convey.  

 
230. Mr Catterall has also responded as an affected landowner (appendix 14b.) He 

feels that on balance, the evidence would suggest that the downgrading to a 
footpath would definitely be the right decision, not just on the “common sense 
must rule” basis but also on the historical perspective.  He has not provided any 
further evidence or commented on the individual evidence sources described 
above. 
 

231. Mr M Mosse has provided responses in two capacities; first, he has responded 
as the local representative for the Rambler’s Association (appendix 14c) and 
second, in his role as the British Horse Society representative (appendix 14d.)  

 
232. As the Rambler’s Association representative, he comments on some blockages 

on the bridleway and notes that these could be resolved by a diversion. These 
are practical management options that cannot be taken into account in 
assessing this application for a Definitive Map Modification Order.  

 
233. As the British Horse Society representative, he comments that he objects to the 

application and has previously suggested an alternative route for the bridleway. 
Again, this is a practical management option that cannot be taken into account 
in assessing this application for a Definitive Map Modification Order. 
 

234. The Open Spaces Society representative describes some points from an 
Inspector’s decision about another application for a Definitive Map Modification 
Order affecting a bridleway at Llanbadarn Fynydd (appendix 14e.) He has 
clarified that there is a typing error in his response; the reference to paragraph 5 
should read ‘52’ instead. He quotes the Inspector’s comments about the need 
for evidence, to demonstrate that proper procedures were not followed in 
connection with the 1949 Act when this bridleway was added to the Definitive 
Map and the need for cogent evidence. The Open Spaces Society 
representative comments that “Witness evidence about what use was made of 
the way is irrelevant; it is conceded that it is a footpath and the absence of 

Tudalen 49



Page 38 of 39 

regular use on horseback in the middle of the late C20 is also irrelevant. The 
question is what is the historic status. No reliable witness testimony can go back 
that far (only hearsay.)”  He then goes on to suggest that no case has been 
made out for downgrading and that the application should be turned down. 

 
235. The Byways and Bridleways Trust, Natural Resources Wales and Powys 

County Council’s Planning Services acknowledged receipt of the emailed 
consultation but provided no further response. 

 
236. The following statutory undertakers responded, but none objected: 

• BT Openreach; 

• Manweb; 

• Wales and West; 

• Severn Trent. 
 
CONCLUSIONS  
237. The body of evidence researched includes positive evidence of a highway of 

footpath status, at the very least, over the application route. This is not 
contested by the applicant. 
 

238. Overall, the physical characteristics of the application route do not preclude use 
of it on horseback. The route is sufficiently wide to allow for that and there are 
sections with the characteristics of an old enclosed lane. The issue at Cwm Pen 
Llydan may reflect an alignment error on this part of the bridleway, rather than 
an error in relation to the status, but that is not the subject of this application. 

 
239. The alignment of the route is consistent on Ordnance Survey maps from 1887 

to 1953; the line recorded on the Definitive Map is clearly intended to follow the 
route shown on the Ordnance Survey base map. The annotation of ‘FP’ on 
Ordnance Survey maps reflects the surveyor’s view about the physical 
character of the route only; they were instructed not to involve themselves in the 
extent of public rights.  

 
240. Local history records attest to the generally poor condition of highways in the 

area during the period prior to 1889 and even into the early 20th century. The 
presence of a stile at one location in the 20th century could reflect a change in 
the use of the route over time, but would not be enough, without other evidence, 
to draw the conclusion that the route cannot be of bridleway status. 

 
241. The parish survey card records the path at bridleway status. If the Parish 

Council had disagreed with the surveyor’s view that this route was a bridleway, 
they could have challenged that at a number of stages before the first Definitive 
Map was published. No evidence has been found to indicate that the status was 
challenged, following the publication of the Draft or Provisional Definitive Maps. 
Whilst the application route is listed on the Rights of Way Act survey records 
under the ‘Schedule of footpaths’, it must be noted that all of the paths in 
Llanbrynmair parish were listed on the same ‘Schedule of footpaths.’ There 
does not seem to have been a corresponding list of bridleways. 
 

Tudalen 50



Page 39 of 39 

242. As noted in the Welsh Government’s Guidance for Local Authorities on Public 
Rights of Way, “it is not for the authority to demonstrate that the Map reflects 
the true rights, but for the applicant to show that the Definitive Map and 
Statement should be revised to delete or downgrade the way.”  

 
243. The evidence to do that must be cogent, of sufficient substance to displace the 

presumption that the Definitive Map is correct and there must be positive 
evidence of any erroneous recording. Whilst the applicant’s comments on the 
evidence are noted, it is not considered that they have provided sufficient 
evidence to positively demonstrate that the application route has been 
incorrectly recorded. 

 
244. As noted above, the legal event relevant to this application is section 

s53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. Namely, this is “the 
discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other 
relevant evidence available to them) shows that a highway shown in the map 
and statement as a highway of a particular description ought to be there shown 
as a highway of a different description.”  

 
245. For the reasons described above, on the basis of the available evidence, it is 

not considered that, on the balance of probabilities that the legal criteria are met 
under section s53(3)(c)(ii.) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That a Definitive Map Modification Order should not be made in respect of application 
Llanbrynmair_DMMO_001 because it is considered that, on the balance of 
probabilities, the legal criteria under section s53(3)(c)(ii) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 are not met. 
 
 
 

Tudalen 51



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 1a

Tudalen 53



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 1b

T
udalen 55



Tudalen 56



Cyngor Sir County Council

A

B

C

D
E

I
J

F
G

H

K
L

M

R
e
st

ri
ct

e
d
 

b
yw

a
y 

1
2

F
ootpath 8

Bridleway 39

Footp
ath

 5

Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order Llanbrynmair_DMMO_001
to downgrade the status of bridleway 6, Llanbrynmair
OS Grid Ref SH 916,058                       Scale 1:10,000

290000

290000

290500

290500

291000

291000

291500

291500

292000

292000

292500

292500

293000

293000

293500

293500
3

0
6
5
0
0

3
0

6
5
0
0

3
0

6
0
0
0

3
0

6
0
0
0

3
0

5
5
0
0

3
0

5
5
0
0

3
0

5
0
0
0

3
0

5
0
0
0

3
0

4
5
0
0

3
0

4
5
0
0

T
udalen 57



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 2a

Tudalen 59



Tudalen 60



Appendix 2b

Tudalen 61



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 2c

T
udalen 63



Tudalen 64



Appendix 2d

T
udalen 65



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 2e

T
udalen 67



Tudalen 68



Appendix 2f

T
udalen 69



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 2g

T
udalen 71



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 2h

T
udalen 73



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 2i

Tudalen 75



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 2j

T
udalen 77



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 3a

T
udalen 79



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 3b

T
udalen 81



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



��������	� ��
������
��	

Appendix 3c

T
udalen 83



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



��������	� ��
������
��	

Appendix 3d

T
udalen 85



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



��������	� ��
������
��	

Appendix 3e

T
udalen 87



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



��������	� ��
������
��	

Appendix 3f

T
udalen 89



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



��������	� ��
������
��	

Appendix 3g

T
udalen 91



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 3h)

T
udalen 93



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5a

T
udalen 95



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 4a 

 

T
udalen 97



Appendix 4a 

 

T
udalen 98



Appendix 4a 

 

T
udalen 99



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5b

T
udalen 101



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5c

T
udalen 103



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5d

Tudalen 105



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 5e

T
udalen 107



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5f

Tudalen 109



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 
5g

Tudalen 111



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 
5h

Tudalen 113



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 5i

T
udalen 115



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5j

T
udalen 117



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5k

T
udalen 119



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5l

T
udalen 121



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5m

T
udalen 123



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5n

T
udalen 125



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5o

T
udalen 127



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5p

T
udalen 129



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5q

T
udalen 131



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 5r

T
udalen 133



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
s

Tudalen 135



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 5
t

Tudalen 137



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 6a

Tudalen 139



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 6b

Tudalen 141



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 6c

Tudalen 143



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 6d

Tudalen 145



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Ap
pe

nd
ix

 6
e

Tudalen 147



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 7a

T
udalen 149



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 7b

T
udalen 151



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 7c

Tudalen 153



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 7d

Tudalen 155



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 7e

Tudalen 157



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 7f

Tudalen 159



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 7g

Tudalen 161



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 7h

Tudalen 163



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 8a

Tudalen 165



Tudalen 166



Appendix 8b

Tudalen 167



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 8c

Tudalen 169



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 8d

T
udalen 171



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 8e

Tudalen 173



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 175



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 9b

Tudalen 177



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 9c

T
udalen 179



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 9d

Tudalen 181



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 10 

Llanbrynmair parish Council minutes, extracts: 
5th March 1908: 

 
8th December 1908: 

 

T
udalen 183



Appendix 10 

17th November 1928: 

 
 
23rd March 1929: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

T
udalen 184



Appendix 10 

17th April 1930: 

 
 
November 1932: 

 
 
20th December 1934: 

 
 
 

T
udalen 185



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Cyngor Sir County Council Photo location key - Site visit 30th August 2017, bridleway 6 Llanbrynmair

KEY

PUBLIC FOOTPATH

PUBLIC BRIDLEWAY

RESTRICTED BYWAY

BYWAY OPEN
TO ALL TRAFFIC

Appendix 11a

T
udalen 187



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Appendix 11b 
Site photographs taken 30th August 2017 – Bridleway 6 Llanbrynmair 
 
Location 1 – Looking southwest towards property at Barlings Barn 

 

Location 2 – Looking southwest, from boundary between Barlings Barn and Cwm-y-
Ffynnon 

 

 
 
 

Tudalen 189



Appendix 11b 
 
Location 3 – Looking northeast towards Cwm-y-Ffynnon farmyard, from boundary 
between Barlings Barn and Cwm-y-Ffynnon 

 

Location 4 – Looking southwest from Cwm-y-Ffynnon towards boundary with 
Barlings Barn 

 

 
 

Tudalen 190



Appendix 11b 
 
 
Location 5 – Looking southwest towards Cwm-y-Ffynnon farmyard 

 

Location 6 – Looking northwest 
 

 
 
 
 
 Tudalen 191



Appendix 11b 
 
 
Location 7 – Looking southwest, bridleway runs along right hand side of stream 

 

Location 8 – Looking northeast, bridleway runs along left hand side of stream 
 

 
 
 
 
 Tudalen 192



Appendix 11b 
 
 
Location 9 – Looking southwest, bridleway runs along right hand side of stream, 
along level platform 

 

Location 10 – Looking northeast; bridleway runs across fence line, between two 
rows of trees 

 

 
 
 Tudalen 193



Appendix 11b 
 
 
Location 11 – Looking northeast, along bridleway between two rows of trees 

 

Location 12 – Looking west-northwest down slope towards stream crossing point 
 

 
 
 
 
 Tudalen 194



Appendix 11b 
 
 
Location 13 – Looking northeast up slope, towards current access track 

 

Location 14 – Looking southwest from above corner of current access track 
 

 
 
 
 
 Tudalen 195



Appendix 11b 
 
 
Location 15 – Looking southwest from top of slope; bridleway passes through gate 
at bottom of slope and runs parallel with fence to top of slope, at location 15. 

 

Location 16 – Looking southwest; bridleway runs along track from gate at location 
15, beside boundary between Ffridd Caeaugleision and Ffridd Esgair Gelynen. 

 

 
 

Tudalen 196



Appendix 11b 
 
 
 
Location 17 – Looking northeast, along defined, sunken track 

 

Location 18 – Detail of old wall between Ffridd Caeaugleision and Ffridd Esgair 
Gelynen 

 

 
 
 Tudalen 197



Appendix 11b 
 
 
 
Location 19 – Looking southwest back along defined sunken track, from boundary 
between Ffridd Caeaugleision and Llechwedd Du 

 

Location 20 – Looking northeast across Llechwedd Du, from boundary with Ffridd 
Caeaugleision 

 

 

Tudalen 198



Appendix 11b 
Location 21 – Looking northeast across Llechwedd Du; old boundary wall apparent. 
Bridleway runs immediately to the right of this wall at this point.  

 

Location 22 – Looking northeast, from point where bridleway crosses stream 

 
 
 Tudalen 199



Appendix 11b 
 
Location 23 – Looking northeast across Llechwedd Du 

 

Location 24 – Looking southwest, from a point near boundary between Llechwedd 
Du and Pant ar Ty 

 

 
 
 
 Tudalen 200



Appendix 11b 
Location 25 – Looking northeast, towards boundary between Llechwedd Du and 
Pant ar Ty 

 

Location 26 – Looking northeast, towards current access track to Cwm Pen Llydan 
 

 

Tudalen 201



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 203



Tudalen 204



Tudalen 205



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 207



Tudalen 208



Tudalen 209



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 12c

T
udalen 211



T
udalen 212



Tudalen 213



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 215



Tudalen 216



Tudalen 217



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 13a 

1. This formal witness statement needs to be considered alongside the formal 

“Reasons for Application for Modification Order Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981” submitted with the Modification Order DATE?.  

 

2. My wife and I moved to the former farm known as Caeaugleision in May 1982 

and opened our holiday business as Barlings Barn, Caeaugleision in January 

1984. 

 

3. Around 2005/2006, Mr. Rab Jones, at that time employed by Powys County 

Council, visited my property and stated we were obstructing a bridleway. At a 

later visit to the property in July 2011, Mr. Martin Davies, Enforcement Officer 

for Powys Rights of Way team described as “de minimus” the few yards to the 

west that the Right of Way had been diverted by the construction of our 

swimming pool building.  

 

4. Since 2005/2006 I have been researching the facts behind the amendment of 

what was designated as a footpath in the 1932 Rights of Way Act, to a 

bridleway on the Definitive Map 1969.  

 

5. Since opening for business in January 1984, I estimate that over 20,000 visitors 

to Barlings Barn have walked all over our 22 acres of land – including parts of 

the bridleway. We have brought direct employment to local people and revenue 

to local businesses. This request for a Modification Order is not about 

protecting our privacy but about correcting what I believe to be a mistake in the 

drafting of the Definitive Map. 

 

6. In the past 35 years I have never witnessed anyone using the bridleway by 

horseback or bicycle. I have witnessed or been aware on three separate 

occasions of one or two horses coming up the private track to Barlings Barn. 

 

7. I would like to clarify that at no point during my meeting with Sian Barnes on 

30th August 2017, did I suggest that the stile between Cwm y Fynnon farm and 

Caeaugleision had to be removed when hay was brought down to Caeaugleision 

farmyard barn. What I did say was that the hay field, now belonging to Cwm y 

Fynnon was prior to the mid 60s rented out to Caeaugleision.  

 

Tudalen 219



Appendix 13a 

8. I have found no evidence that there was ever a stile in Caeaugleision field. This 

hay field is shown on historic maps (parcel 965 extract 1901 map attached), 

whereas the stile on the bridleway was in parcel 960, closer to Cwm y Fynnon 

farm.  

 

9. Prior to the mid 60s, Caeaugleision field was in the tenancy of Caeaugleision 

farm and the hay in Caeaugleision field was stored in the Barn at Caeaugleision. 

After the mid 60s,  Caeaugleision field was in the tenancy of Cwm y Fynnon 

and the hay in Caeaugleision field continued to be stored in the Barn at 

Caeaugleision up until we purchased the property in 1982. 

 

10. The copies of 1948 and 1960 aerial photographs provided to Powys County 

Council are I believe further strong corroborative evidence that the information 

in the Modification Order application is accurate. 

 

11.  All the evidence from extensive public records I have researched, and witness 

statements, point to the fact that bridleway 6 has always been a footpath. It is 

only the 1960s survey that says differently with no credible evidence to back 

this up. 

 

12.  I would respectfully ask that the Officers of the Council and elected Members 

view the evidence objectively in reaching their decision. 

 

Terry Margolis 

19 December 2017 

 

 

Tudalen 220



Tudalen 221



Tudalen 222



Tudalen 223



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 225



Tudalen 226



Tudalen 227



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 229



Tudalen 230



Tudalen 231



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 233



Tudalen 234



Tudalen 235



Tudalen 236



Appendix 13g

Tudalen 237



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 13h

T
udalen 239



T
udalen 240



Appendix 13i

Tudalen 241



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 13j

Tudalen 243



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 13k

T
udalen 245



T
udalen 246



T
udalen 247



T
udalen 248



T
udalen 249



T
udalen 250



Appendix 14a 

Comments on document Report for Consultation 30th August 2018 

The Application 

Paragraph 1. Our property is known as Barlings Barn, not Barling’s Barn 

Paragraph 8. It is not just currently that the List of Streets for Powys does not  

show any highway maintainable at public expense linking with this bridleway. The List of Streets 

for Powys has never shown any highway maintainable at public expense linking with this 

bridleway. Indeed the Valuation Notes related to the 1910 Finance Act clearly show that the 

owners of the tracks in question were responsible for their repairs. In December 2006, Powys 

County Council wrote to my wife and me, claiming there had been an “error” and that our track 

should have been recorded in the List of Streets. Historical records and the action of the Council 

when adopting the track (adjacent to OS map parcels 1008, 1014, 1015, 1016, 1017, 1018, 

1019) that is now U2313, show this claim to be nothing more than an attempt to justify creating 

a public highway where none existed. 

 

Paragraph 24. There is no mention in your comments regarding points 2 and 6 in my Reasons 

for Application: 

 

a) I question whether Due Process took place as there is no evidence Parish Council 

discussing bridleway 6 between the years 1958 and 1970 and Mr. Owen has no 

recollection of any such discussion. Had this legal process taken place I believe the route 

would never have been designated as a bridleway. 

 

b) The user evidence in Point 10 of the 1960 Survey merely states “as shewn on 1932 Map” 

at which time such evidence as there is points to a foothpath, not bridleway.  

 

Paragraph 26. The reasons stated for bridleway 6 to terminate in a cul-de-sac do not pass 

scrutiny: 

 

a) There is no evidence it was ever a “place of public resort” 

b) There is no evidence of any issue with the recording of the route shown as footpath 7 

c) There is no evidence of any unrecorded highway on a different alignment, linking to the 

south-western end of bridleway 6 

d) It is possible that both the footpath (7) and bridleway (6) are recorded in error. This is 

however unlikely as they are shown on historical maps as well as maps relating to the 

1932 Rights of Way Act.  

 

Paragraph 30. There is no doubting the accuracy of Mr. Ashton’s sketch: he is of sound mind 

and has known the land all his life, has lived there and farmed it. There was no need for him to 

draw a hand held sketch prior to 2013. There is no justification in your Report for the comment 

that the accuracy may have been affected by the time that has elapsed since 1960. It is a fact 

that the Caeaugleision farmyard remained unchanged up until the point where we purchased 

the property in 1982 and my wife and I are both prepared to swear affidavits as to the general 

Tudalen 251



Appendix 14a 

accuracy of Mr. Ashton’s sketch. Furthermore, I have in my possession some photographic 

evidence which confirms the general layout of Mr. Ashton’s sketch. As they do not show much 

of the bridleway I have not included them in evidence but they would certainly help to verify 

the accuracy of Mr. Ashton’s sketch. The fact there is no scale is irrelevant as it presents no 

difficulties whatsoever in interpretation of the alignment of bridleway 6.  

 

Paragraph 32. There is no evidence whatsoever of there ever having been public rights over the 

access track from U2313 and I consider your suppositions to the contrary to be deliberately 

biased and prejudicial to my application. 

 

Paragraphs 39 and 40. The reason for the worn, used route is – as previously stated – that the 

tenants of Caeaugleision farm at that time were working the field to and from Caeaugleision 

Barn; indeed the photo was clearly taken just after harvest. As you state in paragraph 41, Cwm-

y-ffynnon farmyard (and farm) was significantly smaller in 1948. The field to the east of Cwm-y-

fynnon was historically known as Fridd Caeaugleision and the thin line you refer to as 

corresponding with the line of the bridleway is probably further evidence that it was used as a 

working farmer’s route to either Caeaugleision or Cwm-y-ffynnon farm. 

 

Paragraph 42. The 1969 photograph merely corroborates the evidence in paragraphs 39 and 

40. 

 

Paragraph 43. I am prepared to be mistaken but believe the alignment of the well worn route 

from Caeaugleision farmyard towards Cwm-y-ffynnon is in a north-easterly direction. Again, this 

is further proof that the route was used for farming purposes, not as a bridleway. 

 

Paragraphs 44 to 49. The photographs confirm the validity of Mr. Aston’s sketch and combined 

with the sketch show that the feasible route between the house and the barn could not have 

taken the route shown on the Definitive Map. 

 

Paragraph 55. There is no doubting the physical location of Caeaugleision. 

 

Paragraph 63. I have been informed by my neighbours that Caeaugleision was one of the last 

farms in the area to use horses for their farming work. This is supported by Mr. Ashton’s sketch. 

The lean-to on the edge of the cottage was known as the Wanws (wain-house) when we 

purchased the property and we still use that name for one of our self-catering units, built on 

the footprint. The stable shown on the sketch still existed when we moved here and I have 

photographic evidence of this. 

 

Paragraph 115.  My understanding is that the tenants of Cwm-y-ffynnon and Caeaugleision 

were offered the opportunity to buy from the Wynnstay Estate a little later than you are 

suggesting, probably the late 1970s early 1980s. 

 

Paragraph 125. This seems to indicate that the application route was used by the farm tenants 

in pursuit of their livelihood. 

Tudalen 252



Appendix 14a 

Paragraph 145. I would take issue with the statement that the Parish Council regarded the path 

as linking with an unclassified route. The survey card was the work of one man (deceased) and I 

have found no evidence that due process was carried out and the survey discussed in any way 

by the Council, as was the legal requirement. 

 

Paragraph 153. The fact that the alignment of the path goes over a wall and through the corner 

of a stone barn that had been there for over a century suggest to me more than “poor 

drawing”. As stated previously, the route actually went to the north of Caeaugleision and the 

farmyard Barn and then back on itself south through a gate into a farmyard. This is also how I 

recall the layout in 1982 on purchase. The reason for this route was that it was used in 

connection with farm work, not as a bridlepath. 

 

Paragraph 156. I refer to the comments I have made regarding Paragraph 153. 

 

Paragraph 160.  The extension of the line to Caeaugleision does indeed appear to be an error. 

From conversations with my neighbours over the years, it is my understanding that the relevant 

County authority made a conscious decision not to extend adoption of public highway beyond 

the junction of the tracks to Caeaugleision and Cwm-y-fynnon. Apparently Mr. Aston’s 

grandfather asked the Council if they would tarmac the road up to Cwm-y-fynnon at the time 

they improved the rest of U2313 but they declined to take responsibility. When I moved to 

Caeaugleision in 1982 I contacted the Council Highways department by phone and enquired as 

to the status of the track leading to my home. The response I got was that they did not want to 

know about it and had no interest in maintaining it. This should have been recorded as a 

Council record of my enquiry. 

 

Paragraph 171. This seems to confirm the points I have made in my comments regarding 

Paragraph 160. 

 

Paragraphs 176 to 179.  These seem to confirm the existence of the footpath which has not 

been contested by me. The mention of a lack of stile and the request for Mr. Owen to do 

something about this, suggest to me the existence at some prior point of a footpath to be far 

more likely, rather than your conclusion that the route had “fallen out of use by equestrians”. I 

have yet to see or hear any evidence that is was ever used by equestrians other than those 

working for the farm. Reading these paragraphs has reminded me of something I had 

forgotten………When we moved here in 1982, there was a stile on the route of the bridleway, 

between the north east boundary of the field sold to us and the field approaching Cwm-y-

fynnon. This was removed by my neighbours in January 1984. I recall this as the removal 

occurred just before we opened for business on 29 January 1984 and presumably my 

neighbours were concerned about our visitors straying onto their land. 

 

Paragraphs 186 to 189. The layout of the land at the time of purchase and Mr. Ashton’s sketch 

both showed a track going to the north of Caeaugleision, abutting the forest land (now in our 

ownership). I am not aware of the status of this track but have heard from locals that it led to 

Tudalen 253



Tudalen 254



Tudalen 255



2

To: Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services)  
Subject: Consultation on a Definitive Map Modification Order application - Bridleway 6 Llanbrynmair 

  

Dear Madam or Sir, 
 
Consultation on a Definitive Map Modification Order application (made under the provisions 
of Section 53 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981) 
Effect of application as made:   Downgrade of status of bridleway 6, Llanbrynmair from 
bridleway to footpath 
At:          Barlings Barn, Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Cwm Pen Llydan, Llanbrynmair 
  
The County Council is considering an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order, details 
of which are attached to this email. I would be grateful to receive your comments on the evidence 
in relation to this application by the end of Monday 1st October 2018. If you wish to comment, but 
are unable to reply by this time, please let me know of your intention to do so.  
  
If you feel that there are documents that need to be considered that are not mentioned in this 
consultation report, please provide me with a copy of the relevant part(s) of the document, 
together with the title and date of the document and its source, or where it is held and piece 
reference, if held by a collection or archive. 
  
Please note that I am on leave from today, returning to work on Monday 17th September so I will 
answer any emails or letters about this consultation on my return. 
  
Thank you for your time in considering this. 
  
Regards, 
Sian 
  
Sian Barnes 
Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer 
Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad / Countryside Services 
Cyngor Sir Powys / Powys County Council 
Ffon / Tel: 01597 827595 
  
Visit our website at Cyngor Sir Powys County Council: Countryside 
Find us on www.facebook.com/powys.countryside 
Follow us on https://twitter.com/PowysCountry 
  

Mae Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad a’r Gwasanaeth Hamdden Awyr Agored yn prosesu’ch data personol er mwyn 
bodloni ein dyletswyddau statudol, ein pwerau a’n cyfrifoldebau mewn perthynas â hawliau tramwy cyhoeddus a’r 
canlynol: Y Map Diffiniol, Y Gofrestr Tir Comin, parciau, lleoedd chwarae, a’r lleoedd agored rydym yn eu rheoli. Pe 
ddymunech wybod mwy am sut rydym yn defnyddio data personol, ewch i: 
https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

  

Countryside Services and Outdoor Recreation are processing your personal data for the purpose of meeting our 
statutory duties, powers and responsibilities in relation to public rights of way, the Definitive Map, Commons Register, 
parks, playgrounds and open spaces that we manage. If you would like to know more about how we use personal 
data, please see https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

  

Mae'r e bost hwn ac unrhyw atodiad iddo yn gyfrinachol ac fe'i bwriedir ar gyfer y sawl a enwir arno yn unig. Gall gynnwys gwybodaeth freintiedig. Os yw 
wedi eich cyrraedd trwy gamgymeriad ni ellwch ei gopio, ei ddosbarthu na'i ddangos i unrhyw un arall a dylech gysylltu gyda Cyngor Sir Powys ar unwaith. 
Mae unrhyw gynnwys nad yw'n ymwneud gyda busnes swyddogol Cyngor Sir Powys yn bersonol i'r awdur ac nid yw'n awdurdodedig gan y Cyngor. 

This e mail and any attachments are confidential and intended for the named recipient only. The content may contain privileged information. If it has reached 
you by mistake, you should not copy, distribute or show the content to anyone but should contact Powys County Council at once. Any content that is not 
pertinent to Powys County Council business is personal to the author, and is not necessarily the view of the Council. 

Tudalen 256



3

 

 

Virus-free. www.avg.com  

 

Tudalen 257



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 259



2

BW 6 meets FP7 meet where there is a disputed link to the highway. FP7 crosses fields to the highway but is 

inaccessible due to a hedge and very deep ditch. That could be overcome by a very short diversion or works but 

usually we believes that Powys County Council will not consider a bridge where there hasn’t one before. 

 

BW 7 has multiple blockages which the Council say have been dealt with but the blockage still exist. It is also 

obstructed by a large cattle shed. 

From a walking view point work on FP7, diversion and connection to BW3 and 

FP4 all need attention. 

 

From a RoW point of view cyclists would lose a route and they could push along FP7 which would be objected to by 

walkers. 

 

The case for linking the BW to the highway seems feasible from maps. That route is on connected property in 

separate ownership to the highway. The applicant did not register the disputed connection until 25 years after 

registering the land itself. Prior to that the public at large and the applicant were accessing the property and his 

fitness centre. 

 

 

On Fri, August 31, 2018 4:29 pm, Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services) 

wrote: 

> 

 

 

 

Tudalen 260



1

Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services)

From: Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services)

Sent: 17 September 2018 17:52

To: 'Michael Mosse'

Subject: RE: Consultation on a Definitive Map Modification Order application - Bridleway 6 

Llanbrynmair

Dear Mr Mosse, 

Thank you for your email. In reply, we are currently assessing the evidence in relation to this DMMO application. 

Once the outcome is known, then we will be able to consider other practical management options, such as 

diversions. If you have any specific comments about the evidence in relation to the DMMO, please do let me know. 

Regards, 

Sian 

Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer 
Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad / Countryside Services 
Cyngor Sir Powys / Powys County Council 
Ffon / Tel: 01597 827595 

Visit our website at Cyngor Sir Powys County Council: Countryside 
Find us on www.facebook.com/powys.countryside 
Follow us on https://twitter.com/PowysCountry 

Mae Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad a’r Gwasanaeth Hamdden Awyr Agored yn prosesu’ch data personol er mwyn 
bodloni ein dyletswyddau statudol, ein pwerau a’n cyfrifoldebau mewn perthynas â hawliau tramwy cyhoeddus a’r 
canlynol: Y Map Diffiniol, Y Gofrestr Tir Comin, parciau, lleoedd chwarae, a’r lleoedd agored rydym yn eu rheoli. Pe 
ddymunech wybod mwy am sut rydym yn defnyddio data personol, ewch i: 
https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

Countryside Services and Outdoor Recreation are processing your personal data for the purpose of meeting our 
statutory duties, powers and responsibilities in relation to public rights of way, the Definitive Map, Commons Register, 
parks, playgrounds and open spaces that we manage. If you would like to know more about how we use personal 
data, please see https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

From: Michael Mosse < >  

Sent: 31 August 2018 16:38 

To: Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services) <sian.barnes@powys.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: Consultation on a Definitive Map Modification Order application - Bridleway 6 Llanbrynmair 

Dear Sian Barnes, I completely object to any down grading on behalf of BHS and on my own account.. 

I would also point out that I have previously suggested an alternative route for the BW avoiding both 

Barlings Barn and Cwm y ffynon using their land and that of a neighbour who is agreeable. 

Yours, sincerely, 

Michael Mosse 

On Fri, Aug 31, 2018 at 4:29 PM, Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services) <sian.barnes@powys.gov.uk> 

wrote: 

Dear Madam or Sir, 

Appendix 14d

Tudalen 261



2

Consultation on a Definitive Map Modification Order application (made under the provisions of 

Section 53 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981) 

Effect of application as made:   Downgrade of status of bridleway 6, Llanbrynmair from 
bridleway to footpath 

At:          Barlings Barn, Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Cwm Pen Llydan, Llanbrynmair 

  

The County Council is considering an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order, details 
of which are attached to this email. I would be grateful to receive your comments on the evidence 
in relation to this application by the end of Monday 1st October 2018. If you wish to comment, 
but are unable to reply by this time, please let me know of your intention to do so.  

  

If you feel that there are documents that need to be considered that are not mentioned in this 
consultation report, please provide me with a copy of the relevant part(s) of the document, 
together with the title and date of the document and its source, or where it is held and piece 
reference, if held by a collection or archive. 

  

Please note that I am on leave from today, returning to work on Monday 17th September so I will 
answer any emails or letters about this consultation on my return. 

  

Thank you for your time in considering this. 

  

Regards, 

Sian 

  

Sian Barnes 

Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer 

Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad / Countryside Services 

Cyngor Sir Powys / Powys County Council 

Ffon / Tel: 01597 827595 

  

Visit our website at Cyngor Sir Powys County Council: Countryside 

Find us on www.facebook.com/powys.countryside 

Tudalen 262



3

Follow us on https://twitter.com/PowysCountry 

  

Mae Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad a’r Gwasanaeth Hamdden Awyr Agored yn prosesu’ch data personol er mwyn 
bodloni ein dyletswyddau statudol, ein pwerau a’n cyfrifoldebau mewn perthynas â hawliau tramwy cyhoeddus a’r 
canlynol: Y Map Diffiniol, Y Gofrestr Tir Comin, parciau, lleoedd chwarae, a’r lleoedd agored rydym yn eu rheoli. Pe 
ddymunech wybod mwy am sut rydym yn defnyddio data personol, ewch i: 
https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

  

Countryside Services and Outdoor Recreation are processing your personal data for the purpose of meeting our 
statutory duties, powers and responsibilities in relation to public rights of way, the Definitive Map, Commons 
Register, parks, playgrounds and open spaces that we manage. If you would like to know more about how we use 
personal data, please see https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

  

Mae'r e bost hwn ac unrhyw atodiad iddo yn gyfrinachol ac fe'i bwriedir ar gyfer y sawl a enwir arno yn unig. Gall gynnwys gwybodaeth freintiedig. Os yw 
wedi eich cyrraedd trwy gamgymeriad ni ellwch ei gopio, ei ddosbarthu na'i ddangos i unrhyw un arall a dylech gysylltu gyda Cyngor Sir Powys ar unwaith. 
Mae unrhyw gynnwys nad yw'n ymwneud gyda busnes swyddogol Cyngor Sir Powys yn bersonol i'r awdur ac nid yw'n awdurdodedig gan y Cyngor. 

This e mail and any attachments are confidential and intended for the named recipient only. The content may contain privileged information. If it has 
reached you by mistake, you should not copy, distribute or show the content to anyone but should contact Powys County Council at once. Any content that 
is not pertinent to Powys County Council business is personal to the author, and is not necessarily the view of the Council. 

 

Tudalen 263



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Tudalen 265



2

 

 

 

On 31/08/2018 16:29, Sian Barnes (CSP - Countryside Services) wrote: 

Dear Madam or Sir, 
  
Consultation on a Definitive Map Modification Order application (made under 
the provisions of Section 53 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981) 
Effect of application as made:   Downgrade of status of bridleway 6, Llanbrynmair 
from bridleway to footpath 

At:          Barlings Barn, Cwm-y-Ffynnon and Cwm Pen Llydan, Llanbrynmair 

  
The County Council is considering an application for a Definitive Map Modification 
Order, details of which are attached to this email. I would be grateful to receive your 
comments on the evidence in relation to this application by the end of Monday 1st 
October 2018. If you wish to comment, but are unable to reply by this time, please 
let me know of your intention to do so.  
  
If you feel that there are documents that need to be considered that are not 
mentioned in this consultation report, please provide me with a copy of the relevant 
part(s) of the document, together with the title and date of the document and its 
source, or where it is held and piece reference, if held by a collection or archive. 
  
Please note that I am on leave from today, returning to work on Monday 17th 
September so I will answer any emails or letters about this consultation on my 
return. 
  
Thank you for your time in considering this. 
  
Regards, 
Sian 

  
Sian Barnes 

Definitive Map and Commons Registration Officer 
Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad / Countryside Services 

Cyngor Sir Powys / Powys County Council 
Ffon / Tel: 01597 827595 

  
Visit our website at Cyngor Sir Powys County Council: Countryside 

Find us on www.facebook.com/powys.countryside 

Follow us on https://twitter.com/PowysCountry 

  

Mae Gwasanaethau Cefn Gwlad a’r Gwasanaeth Hamdden Awyr Agored yn prosesu’ch data 
personol er mwyn bodloni ein dyletswyddau statudol, ein pwerau a’n cyfrifoldebau mewn perthynas â 
hawliau tramwy cyhoeddus a’r canlynol: Y Map Diffiniol, Y Gofrestr Tir Comin, parciau, lleoedd 
chwarae, a’r lleoedd agored rydym yn eu rheoli. Pe ddymunech wybod mwy am sut rydym yn 
defnyddio data personol, ewch i: https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-
Countryside-Service 
  
Countryside Services and Outdoor Recreation are processing your personal data for the purpose of 
meeting our statutory duties, powers and responsibilities in relation to public rights of way, the 
Definitive Map, Commons Register, parks, playgrounds and open spaces that we manage. If you 
would like to know more about how we use personal data, please see 
https://customer.powys.gov.uk/article/3792/Privacy-Notice-for-Countryside-Service 

  

 

Tudalen 266



3

Mae'r e bost hwn ac unrhyw atodiad iddo yn gyfrinachol ac fe'i bwriedir ar gyfer y sawl a enwir arno yn unig. Gall gynnwys gwybodaeth 
freintiedig. Os yw wedi eich cyrraedd trwy gamgymeriad ni ellwch ei gopio, ei ddosbarthu na'i ddangos i unrhyw un arall a dylech 
gysylltu gyda Cyngor Sir Powys ar unwaith. Mae unrhyw gynnwys nad yw'n ymwneud gyda busnes swyddogol Cyngor Sir Powys yn 
bersonol i'r awdur ac nid yw'n awdurdodedig gan y Cyngor. 

This e mail and any attachments are confidential and intended for the named recipient only. The content may contain privileged 
information. If it has reached you by mistake, you should not copy, distribute or show the content to anyone but should contact Powys 
County Council at once. Any content that is not pertinent to Powys County Council business is personal to the author, and is not 
necessarily the view of the Council. 

 

 
 

 

Virus-free. www.avast.com  

 

Tudalen 267



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee
 6th December, 2018

For the purpose of the Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the 
background papers relating to each individual planning application constitute all the 

correspondence on the file as numbered in the left hand column.

Applications for consideration by Committee:

Application No:                                     Nature of Development:
Community:                                          Location of Development:
O.S. Grid Reference:                            Applicant:
Date Received:                                     Recommendation of Head of Planning:

P/2018/0392

Llanafan-fawr  

294265 254335

16.04.2018

Full: Erection of an agricultural worker's 
dwelling, alterations to existing agricultural 
access, installation of sewage treatment 
plant, formation of 2 no. passing bays and 
siting of temporary caravan and all 
associated works

Land Opposite Rhysgog Bungalow, 
Llanafanfawr, Builth Wells, Powys, LD2 
3LY

A & M Jones, Rhysgog Bungalow, 
Llanafanfawr, Builth Wells, LD2 3LY

Recommendation:
Refusal

18/1019/DIS

Abermule and Llandyssil

315775 294250

23.11.2018

Discharge of conditions 8 and 12 of 
planning approval P/2018/0587

Abermule Business Park, Abermule, 
Montgomery, Powys

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Conditions are partially discharged

Tudalen 269

6



18/0339/REM

Painscastle

312954 245619

13.08.2018

Section 73 application to remove condition 
13 from planning permission P/2017/0640 
in relation to passing bays

Craignant, Painscastle, Builth Wells,
LD2 3JQ,  

Mr John Abberley

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent

18/0200/FUL

Llanelwedd

304568 251784

25.06.2018

Full: Siting of a mobile classroom

Llanelwedd Voluntary Primary School

Mr David Thompson

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent

P/2018/0514

Duhonw

306703 248588

30.05.2018

Full: Change of use of land from 
agricultural use for use as a temporary 
stopping site (two weeks every year for a 
duration of five years) for Gypsies and 
Travellers attending the annual Royal 
Welsh Agricultural Show

Ysgiog Field, Builth Wells, Powys, LD2 
3YP

Miss Carol Gittins

Recommendation:
Conditional Consent

Tudalen 270



18/0712/DIS

Llanwrthwl Community

295827 265700

20.09.2018

Discharge of conditions 15, 20, 23, 24 and 
25 from planning permission P/2017/1437

Land at Dol Y Garreg, Llanwrthwl, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6NU

Mr Paul Wozencraft

Recommendation:

Approval

18/0940/NMA

Carreghofa Community

326051 320683

20.11.2018

Application for a non-material amendment 
to planning approval P/2018/0370 in 
respects of altering the roof construction 
from pitched roof to flat roof

Carreghofa Primary School, Llanymynech, 
SY22 6PA

Powys County Council

Recommendation:
Approval

Tudalen 271



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

P/2018/0392 Grid Ref: E: 294265
N: 254335

Community 
Council:

 Llanafan-Fawr Community Valid Date: 16.04.2018

Applicant: A & M Jones, Rhysgog Bungalow, Llanafanfawr, Builth Wells, LD2 3LY

Location: Land Opposite Rhysgog Bungalow, Llanafanfawr, Builth Wells, Powys, LD2 
3LY 

Proposal: Full: Erection of an agricultural worker's dwelling, alterations to existing 
agricultural access, installation of sewage treatment plant, formation of 2 no. passing 
bays and siting of temporary caravan and all associated works.

Application Type: Full application

The reason for Committee determination

At the request of the Lead Professional for Development Management 

Consultee Responses

Consultee Received

Llanafan Fawr Community Council 

No response received. 

Local Highway Authority 22nd May 2018

The Highway Authority has no fundamental objection to the provision of a dwelling of this
nature at this location. 

Notwithstanding this, it is felt that the location of the proposed passing bays are 
shown at locations that would not provide the greatest level of benefit for existing 
users of the C0008 county highway which serves the site. It is however considered 
that appropriate areas of land are available within the existing highway limits in 
which to better site the passing bays, and are therefore satisfied that this particular 

Tudalen 273

6.2



matter can be adequately covered by the imposition of an appropriately worded 
condition.

Accordingly the Highway authority recommends that the following conditions be 
attached to any consent granted.

• No development shall commence on the site until the applicant constructs 2 
passing bays along the C0008 county highway, in locations to be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The passing bays shall be constructed to an 
adoptable standard prior to any works being commenced on the development site

• No other development shall commence until the access has been constructed so 
that there is clear visibility from a point 1.05 metres above ground level at the 
centre of the access and 2.4 metres distant from the edge of the adjoining 
carriageway, to points 0.6 metres above ground level at the edge of the adjoining 
carriageway and 59 metres distant in each direction measured from the centre of 
the access along the edge of the adjoining carriageway. Nothing shall be planted, 
erected or allowed to grow on the areas of land so formed that would obstruct the 
visibility and the visibility shall be maintained free from obstruction for as long as 
the development hereby permitted remains in existence.

• Upon formation of the visibility splays as conditioned above the centreline of any 
new or relocated hedge should be positioned not less than 1.0 metre to the rear of 
the visibility splay and retained in this position as long as the development remains 
in existence.

• No further development shall commence until the area of the access to be used by 
vehicles is constructed to a minimum of 410mm depth, comprising a minimum of 
250mm of sub-base material, 100mm of bituminous macadam base course 
material and 60mm of bituminous macadam binder course material for a distance 
of 5.5 metres from the edge of the adjoining carriageway.  Any use of alternative 
materials is to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
access being constructed.

• Before any other development is commenced provision shall be made within the 
curtilage of the site for the parking of all construction vehicles together with a 
vehicle turning area.  This parking and turning area shall be constructed to a depth 
of 0.35 metres in crusher run or sub-base and maintained free from obstruction at 
all times such that all vehicles serving the site shall park within the site and both 
enter and leave the site in a forward gear for the duration of the construction of the 
development.

• Prior to the occupation of the dwelling, provision shall be made within the curtilage 
of the site for the parking of not less than 3 cars together with a turning space such 
that all vehicles serving the site may both enter and leave the site in a forward 

Tudalen 274



gear. The parking and turning areas shall be retained for their designated use for 
as long as the development hereby permitted remains in existence.

• Prior to the occupation of the dwelling the area of the access to be used by 
vehicles is to be finished in a 40mm bituminous surface course for a distance of 
5.5 metres from the edge of the adjoining carriageway. This area will be 
maintained to this standard for as long as the development remains in existence.

• Any entrance gates installed shall be set back at least 5.5 metres distant from the 
edge of the adjoining carriageway and shall be constructed so as to be incapable 
of opening towards the highway and shall be retained in this position and form of 
construction for as long as the dwelling hereby permitted remains in existence.

• The gradient of the access shall be constructed so as not to exceed 1 in 15 for the 
first 5.5 metres measured from edge of the adjoining carriageway along the centre 
line of the access and shall be retained at this gradient for as long as the 
development remains in existence.

• No storm water drainage from the site shall be permitted to discharge onto the 
county highway.

Building Control 23rd Apr 2018

Building Regulations approval will be required for this proposal. 

Welsh Water 1st May 2018

We refer to your planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide 
the following comments in respect to the proposed development. 

As the applicant intends utilising a private treatment works we would advise that the 
applicant contacts Natural Resources Wales who may have an input in the regulation 
of this method of drainage disposal.

However, should circumstances change and a connection to the public sewerage 
system/public sewerage treatment works is preferred we must be re-consulted on this 
application.

Tudalen 275



Our response is based on the information provided by your application.  Should the 
proposal alter during the course of the application process we kindly request that we 
are re-consulted and reserve the right to make new representation.

PCC Ecologist                                                                                  22nd May 2018

Thank you for consulting me with regards to planning application P/2018/0392 which 
concerns the full application for erection of an agricultural worker's dwelling, alterations to 
existing agricultural access, installation of sewage treatment plant, formation of 2 no. 
passing bays and siting of temporary caravan and all associated works at Land opposite 
Rhysgog Bungalow, Llanafanfawr, Builth wells.

I have reviewed the proposed plans aerial images as well as local records of protected 
and priority species and designated sites within 500m of the proposed development. 

The data search identified 52 records of protected and priority species within 500m of the 
proposed development - no records were for the site itself.

There is three statutory designated sites within 500m of the proposed development;

 River Wye – SAC

 Afon Irfon – SSSI

 Coed Y Ciliau - SSSI

There are four non-statutory designated sites within 500m of the proposed development;

 Rhysgog – Roadside Verge Nature Reserve 

 Tynllwyn Rough Pastures - SINC

 Tynllwyn, Bluebell Wood and Stream Wood - SINC

 Tynllwyn Wood Pasture - SINC

Having reviewed the plans, in order to accommodate the proposed access to the 
development the proposed visibility splays will result in direct impact to the 
Rhysgog Roadside Verge Nature Reserve which has been designated due to 
supporting a diverse range of vascular plants indicative of a 'good quality' verge in 
Powys.

LDP policy DM2 identifies that development proposals which would impact on the 
following natural environment assets will only be permitted where they do not 
unacceptable adversely affect: 

Tudalen 276



2.C. Habitats and Species of principal importance for the purpose of maintaining and 
enhancing biodiversity conservation in Wales as listed in Section 7 of the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016

Development proposals likely to have an adverse effect on the conservation value of 
nationally protected sites, habitats or species, either directly, indirectly or in combination, 
will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:

i. The proposal contributes to the protection, enhancement or positive 
management of the site, habitat or species; or 
ii. There is no suitable alternative to the proposed development; and 

a) It can be demonstrated that the benefits from the development clearly 
outweigh the special interest of the site, habitat or species; and 
b) Appropriate compensatory measures are secured; and 
c) The population or range and distribution of the habitat or species will not 
be adversely impacted. 

3.B. Local Biodiversity Action Plan Habitats and Species;

Development proposals likely to have an adverse impact upon these sites, habitats or 
species will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 

i. They conserve and where possible enhance the natural heritage importance of 
the site, habitat or species; or 
ii. The development could not reasonably be located elsewhere; and 

a) The benefits of the development outweigh the natural heritage 
importance of the site, habitat or species; and 
b) Mitigation and/or compensation measures are provided where adverse 
effects are unavoidable. 

No information has been provided with the application to demonstrate that the 
development complies with the requirements of planning policy DM2. 

Therefore it is considered that insufficient information has been provided to demonstrate 
that the application complies with the requirements of LDP policy DM2. 

Further information is required to be submitted in order to demonstrate that there is no 
satisfactory alternative that would avoid impact to the RVNR and associated habitats. If 
there is no satisfactory alternative further information will be required regarding the impact 
of the development and any measures to mitigate or compensate for the potential 
impacts. Then a habitat survey will be required in order to assess the potential impact to 
the Roadside Verge Nature Reserve. This assessment needs to be undertaken by an 
appropriately experienced  ecological consultant. 

Details of ecological consultants working in Powys can be found at 
http://www.cieem.net/members-directory (please note this is not a Powys County Council 
approved list of ecological consultants but lists ecological consultants who are members 
of the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management). I have also 

Tudalen 277

http://www.cieem.net/members-directory


attached some guidance notes regarding commissioning ecological consultants to 
undertake survey work.

                                                                                                                     6th Sept 2018

The additional information submitted has been provided in response to a request for 
further survey to enable the LPA to assess the potential impacts of the proposed 
development to biodiversity. In that the proposed access to the development and the 
proposed visibility splays may result in direct impact to the Rhysgog Roadside Verge 
Nature Reserve which has been designated due to supporting a diverse range of vascular 
plants indicative of a 'good quality' verge in Powys.

I have reviewed the submitted Preliminary Ecological Impact Assessment Report 
produced by Churton Ecology dated August 2018, I consider that the survey effort 
employed was in accordance with National Guidelines. 

The Ecological Impact Assessment consisted of a combination of desktop searches and a 
site visit which took place in 27 July 2018 to carry out an extended phase 1 habitat 
survey. An Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey has been undertaken to assess the 
potential of the development to impact any protected species presence or habitats of 
ecological value and taking into account potential impacts to the Roadside verge nature 
reserve.  

The proposed development include erection of a dwelling, with a sewage treatment plant, 
and a soakaway. The proposed new access to the dwelling will be via an existing field 
gateway; however this will require some removal and translocation of hedgerow to allow 
visibility. There will also be siting of a temporary caravan.  

Following the site visit to carry out the extended phase 1 survey, it was concluded that the 
proposed development will be in the main impacting a habitat of improved grassland 
which is considered to be a habitat of low ecological value. However, the improved 
grassland has a hedgerow boundary on three aspects. The hedgerow line on the eastern 
boundary was considered to be classed as 'important' hedgerow under the hedgerow 
regulations. Therefore the eastern hedgerow is considered to be an important ecological 
feature. 

Tudalen 278



The hedgerow along the eastern boundary is approximately 275m in length, which 
support the western roadside verge which is proposed to be impacted by the 
development; the western verge was found to be narrow and species poor, with no 
woodland or grassland species of interest for at least 50m from the proposed access/field 
gateway. 

Approximately 50m of the hedgerow along the eastern boundary will be removed for 
access and visibility, and translocated further into the field. 

Therefore is it suggested that minimal removal is to be implemented and subsequent 
translocation of up to 50m of lane-side hedgerow is planned, to ensure will be no or 
minimal permanent loss of 'important' hedgerow flanking the access.  

Disturbance of 15m of the western verge (which will be within the Rhysgog Roadside 
Nature Reserve that is designated for its diverse range of vascular plant), to the north of 
the field access. The section of verge that will be impacted by the development was 
considered to support no woodland or grassland species of interest for at least 50m from 
the gateway, therefore it is considered the proposed developments will not have a 
significant effect on biodiversity.

During the site evaluation it was considered that bats and breeding birds have potential to 
be present and supported due to the habitats present; In that the habitats present are 
suitable to provide nesting and forging habitat for birds and commuting and foraging 
habitat for bats. 

Following the results of the extended phase 1 habitat survey regarding bats; It is 
considered that the proposed development will lead to a loss of poor foraging habitat 
(grassland) with no loss of potential commuting habitat along the boundaries. However 
illumination of flight lines along the hedgerow could result in the disturbance of foraging 
and commuting habitats.

It was considered the potential impact and loss of the improved grassland, will not have a 
significant effect on birds in any phase of the development provided that removal and 

Tudalen 279



translocation of any hedgerow in the construction phase that may remove, damage or 
destroy a nest is avoided. Therefore it is considered necessary that removal or 
translocation of the hedgerow must take place outside of the bird nesting season. It is 
therefore recommended that a method statement should be adhered to for translocation 
of the hedgerow, to ensure that there will be no significant effect on the biodiversity. 

Due to the proposed removal of a section of hedgerow, the ecological report recommends 
to compensate for the loss of the hedgerow - a native hedgerow will be planted around 
the boundaries of the proposed garden as well as bird boxes erected on the proposed 
dwelling. 

Section 5 of the ecological report provides details of avoidance measures and mitigation 
to be implemented for the proposed development in order to ensure that the proposed 
development does not cause an adverse effect on biodiversity at the site. The avoidance 
and mitigation measures include; lighting plan, works affecting nesting birds such as tree 
felling or lopping/shrub removal / hedgerow removal or translocation to be carried out 
outside the bird nesting season (31st August - 1st March). That if any 
trenches/excavation left open overnight then means of escape for animals must be 
provided as well as large diameter pipes left open must be capped. New native hedgerow 
to be planted around three sides of the development site and the provisions of bird 
nesting boxes on the final design of the dwelling.

Appendix 3 of the ecological report provides details of the Method Statement for the 
translocation of hedgerow. Reviewing the method statement I consider the method 
statement to be appropriate and acceptable.  

Having considered the results of the Ecological Impact Assessment report and the 
recommended avoidance and mitigation measures to be adhered to and implemented in 
section 5 of the ecological report - I consider that the proposed development will not 
result in the loss of any features of ecological importance and it is considered the 
proposed works are unlikely to have a negative impact to biodiversity in the wider area.

I therefore recommend that implementation of the avoidance measures and mitigation 
measures within the Ecological report are secured though an appropriately worded 

Tudalen 280



condition.

I also note within the design and access statement that as part of the final design of the 
development - it is proposed to install habitat bug boxes, installation of a bat tube and 
installation of bird boxes - these proposals are considered to be appropriate and 
acceptable. 

Therefore further to the previous ecology responses dated 22nd May 2018, should you be 
minded to approve the application I recommend inclusion of the following conditions:

The recommended mitigation measures in section 5 of the Ecological Impact Assessment 
Report produced by Churton Ecology dated 1st August 2018 shall be adhered to and 
implemented in full and maintained thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
LPA.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4 and DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016. 

The Hedgerow Translocation Method Statement detailed in appendix 3 of the Ecological 
Impact Assessment Report produced by Churton Ecology dated 1st August 2018 shall be 
adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the LPA.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4  in relation to 
The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 
9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act.  

The Compensation Hedgerow Planting Plan detailed in section 5  of the Ecological 
Impact Assessment Report produced by Churton Ecology dated 1st August 2018 shall be 
adhered to and implemented in full and maintained thereafter unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the LPA

Tudalen 281



Reason: To comply with Powys County Council's LDP policies DM2 and DM4 in relation 
to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of TAN 5: Nature Conservation 
and Planning, Welsh government strategies, and Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment 
(Wales) Act.

Prior to the commencement of development a detailed lighting design scheme to take into 
account any impacts on nocturnal wildlife into consideration shall be submitted for written 
LPA approval and implemented as approved and maintained thereafter unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the LPA.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM7 in relation to 
The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 
9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 Section 6 of 
the Environment (Wales) Act.

Prior to the commencement of development a detailed landscaping scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
landscaping scheme shall include a scaled drawing and a written specification clearly 
describing the species, sizes, densities and planting numbers proposed as well as 
aftercare measures. Drawings must include accurate details of any existing trees and 
hedgerows to be retained with their location, species, size and condition.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2, DM4, DM13 in 
relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and Part 1 
Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

Natural Resources Wales                                       23rd Aug 2018

Thank you for consulting Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru / Natural Resources Wales about the 
above with additional information, which was received on 07/08/2018.

NRW does not object to the proposal. In our opinion, as explained below, the proposal is 
not likely to adversely affect any of the interests listed.

European Protected Species

Tudalen 282



Protected Species are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside act 1981 (as 
amended) and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

NRW note that the ecological assessment submitted in support of the above application 
(Thorne, R.G. and Thorne, Dr A.K. (2018) Ecological Impact Assessment Land opposite 
Rhysgog Bungalow. Churton Ecology. (Unpublished)) did not find evidence of protected 
species using the site.

NRW concur with the assessment, conclusions and recommendations in respect of the 
protected species. We consider the proposal is not likely to be detrimental to the 
maintenance of the Favourable Conservation Status of any local populations of European 
protected species.

The applicant should be advised that should protected species be discovered at any 
stage during the works, all work should stop immediately and NRW contacted for further 
advice.

Protected Sites

From the information provided, we consider that the proposal is not likely to have a 
significant effect on a River Wye SAC, Afon Irfon SSSI, Coed y Ciliau SSSI and Caeau 
Llwyn Gwrgan SSSI.

The development on this site is of a size and type that is unlikely to have any impact on 
the special sites in the surrounds.

Our advice may change should modifications be made to the proposed development prior 
to the determination of the application. If there are any changes to the proposed 
development which may affect the consideration of potential environmental impacts, 
please consult us again before you determine the application.

Please do not hesitate to contact us if you require further information or clarification of 
any of the above.

Our comments above only relate specifically to matters that are included on our checklist 
"Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations" (March 2015) which is published 
on our website:

(https://naturalresources.wales/media/5271/150302-natural-resources-wales-and-
planning-consultations-final-eng.pdf). We have not considered potential effects on other 
matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other 
interests, including environmental interests of local importance.

Advice for the Developer:

Tudalen 283



- Foul Drainage

With respect to the discharge of effluent to ground or surface water, the Applicant will 
need to apply for an environmental permit or register an exemption with us. The Applicant 
must obtain any necessary permit or exemption prior to commencement of work on site. 
Septic tanks and small sewage treatment works may be registered as exempt from the 
requirement to obtain an environmental permit if certain criteria is met. Please note, 
should a permit be required, further information may be required as part of that 
application and the Applicant is therefore advised to hold pre-application discussions with 
our Permitting Team on 0300 065 3000, at the earliest opportunity, to try to ensure that 
there is no conflict between any planning permission granted and the permit 
requirements. More information, including a step by step guide to registering and the 
relevant application forms are available on our website. Where private sewage 
treatment/disposal facilities are utilised, they must be installed and maintained in 
accordance with British Standards 6297 and Approved Document H of the Building 
Regulations. We also refer the Applicant to Pollution Prevention Guideline 4 which 
provides further information

- Waste

Waste produced during the construction phase of your development must be dealt with 
appropriately and be in line with all relevant waste legislation including Duty of Care 
Regulations and Hazardous Waste Regulations. As part of your waste duty of care you 
must classify the waste produced:

o before it is collected, disposed of or recovered

o to identify the controls that apply to the movement of the waste

o to complete waste documents and records

o to identify suitably authorised waste management options

o to prevent harm to people and the environment.

Any waste removed from site will be subject to waste management controls. The links 
below provided information on how to classify waste and register as a waste carrier or 
hazardous waste producer:

http://naturalresources.wales/waste/how-to-classify-and-assess-waste/?lang=en

http://naturalresources.wales/apply-for-a-permit/waste/?lang=en

Further guidance can be found on the GOV website here:

Tudalen 284



https://www.gov.uk/managing-your-waste-an-overview/duty-of-care

- Pollution Prevention

Suitable pollution prevention measures will need to be in place during construction to 
minimise any risk of pollution, in particular giving the close proximity of watercourses.

In particular, we refer you to the Pollution Prevention Guidelines

PPG1: Understanding Your Environmental Responsibilities - Good Environmental 
Practices

GPP5: Works in, near or over watercourses

PPG6: Working at construction and demolition sites

The Guidance are available at the following link:

http://www.netregs.org.uk/environmental-topics/pollution-prevention-guidelines-ppgs-and-
replacement-series/guidance-for-pollution-prevention-gpps-full-list/

The applicant should be advised that, in addition to planning permission, it is their 
responsibility to ensure that they secure all other permits/consents relevant to their 
development.

Powys Conservation Officer 21st Nov 2018

Policy Background

The advice has been given with reference to relevant policies, guidance and legislation 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Planning Policy Wales 9th edition 2016  
Conservation Principles published by Cadw 
TAN24
Managing Change to Listed Buildings in Wales – Annexe to TAN24 
Setting of Historic Assets in Wales – Annexe to TAN24
Heritage Impact Assessments – Annexe to TAN24
Historic Environment Records

Local Development Plan
Strategic Policy SP7 
DM13 Design and Resources Local Development Plan Themes and Objectives;
Theme 4 – Guardianship of natural, built and historic assets

Tudalen 285



LDP Objective 13 – Landscape and the Historic Environment

Comments 

Thank  you for consulting me on this application. I have provided full comments to the 
previous application P 2017/0940 which I have attached a an appendix for ease of 
reference. 

I am mindful of the advice in Sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation areas) Act 1990, which require authorities considering applications for 
planning permission or listed building consent for works which affect a listed building to 
have special regard to certain matters, including the desirability of preserving the setting 
of the building. The setting is often an essential part of a building's character especially 
if a park, garden or grounds have been laid out to complement its design or function. 
Also, the economic viability as well as the character of historic buildings may suffer and 
they can be robbed of much of their interest and of the contribution they make to 
townscape or the countryside if they become isolated from their surroundings, e.g. by 
new traffic routes, car parks, or other development.”

However, I would also refer to more recent guidance in paragraph 6.5.11 of Planning 
Policy Wales 9th edition 2016 which states, “ Where a development proposal affects a 
listed building or its setting, the primary material consideration is the statutory 
requirement to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building, or its 
setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.”

I note that in the current application  the proposed dwelling has been slightly resisted  to 
the north of the previous location, I also acknowledge the change in design and 
materials.

However my previous concerns were principally in respect of the long distance views of 
the listed Rhysgog from public viewpoints such as Abergwesyn Common.

I note the reference in the current application submission  to the listed Rhysgog, 
however I would not agree with the conclusion that the revised  site proposed in the 
current application   would not affect the long distance views of Rhysgog from 
Abergwesyn Common.  I note the advise given previously,  in terms of the previous 
application and at subsequent pre-application stage following the withdrawal of the 
previous application, that is   to re-site the proposed additional farm  dwelling on the 
other side of the road to the north of the current farm dwelling,  was not considered 
appropriate in the  Location and Landscaping Statement October 2018,   for several 
reasons, including it will be in visual distance from the listed building, and will have an 
impact on the setting of the listed building. I would not agree with this conclusion as the 
short terms views (from the roadside)  of Rhysgog are extremely limited and to cluster a 
second building   adjacent to the existing farm house, I   would  consider not  to have an 
impact on the listed building from short  distance  views, or l from long distance views as  

Tudalen 286



the new dwelling would be nestled with other buildings. Whilst I note the photograph on 
page 7 of the Location and Landscaping Statement October 2018 to support this claim, 
however   I note that the photograph  viewpoint is  from what appears to be private land 
and not from the public vantage point, and as such would not consider that the 
proposed dwelling in that location would affect the setting of the listed building when 
viewed from public vantage points. However there may be other considerations in terms 
of neighbour amenity that  you may need to consider.

I note that the Location and Landscaping Statement October 2018 identifies that the 
reason for the location  of the application  was chosen due to topography and to lessen 
the impact on the setting of the listed building, however I would not agree with that  
conclusion for the reasons previously  stated in my  comments relating to the previous 
application.   I would consider that the proposed site would be more visible in the 
landscape that the alternative sites suggested previously  and as  I would consider that 
the such the long distance views of the proposed dwelling would have an impact on the 
listed Rhysgog.

As such I would wish to maintain my objections to the proposal for  the reasons given  in 
respect of the previous application which I have attached as an appendix. 

APPENDIX 
Our ref / Ein cyf:
Your ref / Eich cyf: P/2017/0940
Date / Dyddiad: 20 November      2017

Re Full: Erection of an agricultural workers dwelling, formation of new vehicular access 
and 2 passing bays, installation of a package treatment plant and all associated works 
at Rhysgog Bungalow Llanafanfawr Builth Wells

Thank you for consulting me on the above application. 

I can confirm that Rhysgog  is a listed building Cadw ID 24514  included on the statutory 
list on  1 December 2001.  

The proposed new dwelling would be sited to the south west of Rhysgog on the western 
side of the public road that runs north from the B4358.

I am mindful of the advise in Sections 16 and 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation areas) Act 1990, which require authorities considering applications for 
planning permission or listed building consent for works which affect a listed building to 

Tudalen 287



have special regard to certain matters, including the desirability of preserving the setting 
of the building. 

However, I would also refer to more recent guidance in paragraph 6.5.11 of Planning 
Policy Wales 9th edition 2016 which states, “ Where a development proposal affects a 
listed building or its setting, the primary material consideration is the statutory 
requirement to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building, or its 
setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.” 

The adopted  document Conservation Principles prepared by Cadw  in paragraph 5.4 
advices that when considering change, public authorities will give due importance of the 
heritage values of a site when considering the sustainability of proposals submitted to 
them. 
Paragraph 39 states Changes which would harm the heritage values of an historic asset 
will be unacceptable unless:
a..the changes are demonstrably necessary either to make that asset sustainable, or to 
meet an overriding public policy objective or need; and 
b. there is no reasonably practicable alternative means of doing so without harm; and
c. that harm has been reduced to the minimum consistent with achieving the objective; 
and
d. it has been demonstrated that the predicted benefit decisively outweighs the harm to 
the values of the asset, considering; 
•its comparative significance;
•the impact on that significance; and
•the benefits to the asset itself and/or the wider community or society as a whole. 

The historic environment is defined in the document as an environment made up of 
individual historic features, archaeological sites and historic buildings as well as the 
landscapes in which they are found. Any part of the historic environment to which 
people have given a distinctive historical association or identity is considered here to be 
an historic asset. The document continues with the following advice on page 15. Every 
reasonable effort should be made to eliminate or minimize adverse impacts on historic 
assets. Ultimately, however, it may be necessary to balance the benefit of the proposed 
change against the harm to the asset. If so, the weight given to heritage values should 
be proportionate to the importance of the assets and the impact of the change upon 
them. The historic environment is constantly changing, but each significant part of it 
represents a finite resource. If it is not sustained, its heritage values will be eroded or 
lost. In addition, its potential to give distinctiveness, meaning and quality to the places in 
which people live, and provide people with a sense of continuity and a source of identity 
will be diminished. The historic environment is a social and economic asset and a 
cultural resource for learning and enjoyment.

“Conservation principles” establishes Values which should be attributed to heritage 
assets including;
• Evidential Value,
• Historical Value,

Tudalen 288



• Aesthetic Value,
• Communal value.

Conservation Principles identifies principles that have to be addressed when 
considering the above values.

Evidential Value 

This derives from those elements of an historic asset that can provide evidence about 
past human activity. 

Rhysgog is a 2 storey house and barn range that dates from c1800 with a contemporary 
byre to one end and a late C19th cart shed and granary to the other. 

Historical Value

An historic asset might illustrate a particular aspect of past lie or it may be associated 
with a notable family, person, event or movement. These illustrative or associated 
values of an historic asset may be less tangible than its evidential value but will often 
connect past people, events and aspects of life with the present and are not so easily 
diminished by change as evidential values and are harmed only to the extent that 
adaption has obliterated them or concealed them.

Rhysgog is listed as a C1800 farmhouse retaining its plan-form and with exceptional 
preservation of internal and external detail

Aesthetic Value 

This derives from the way in which people draw sensory and intellectual stimulation 
from an historic asset through its form, external appearance or setting.

Rhysgog has exceptional preservation of internal and external detail which reflects the 
architectural capabilities of the period. In addition the centralised plan reflects the social 
aspirations of the owner at the time of construction. 

Communal Value 

The fourth principle contained within Conservation Principles is that heritage assets are 
a shared resource, valued by people as part of their cultural and natural heritage, and 
gives distinctiveness, meaning and quality to the places where we live providing a 
sense of continuity and a source of identity. The Conservation Principles identify 
heritage assets as having the potential to give distinctiveness, meaning and quality to 
the places in which people live, and provide people with a sense of continuity and a 

Tudalen 289



source of identity will be diminished. The historic environment is a social and economic 
asset and a cultural resource for learning and enjoyment. 

The house and its outbuildings  including illustrate the farming history of the area. 

Cadw have prepared guidance on the setting of historic assets  to accompany TAN24 
issued on  31 May. The guidance   provides advice on how to assess the setting of 
listed buildings could be referred to, with the caveat that there may potentially be 
changes as a result of the consultation process. In addition to advice on how to assess 
the visual setting of listed buildings, advice on less tangible elements, including sensory 
perceptions such as noise and smell are included in the guidance. 

The document advises that “Setting is the surroundings in which a historic asset is 
understood, experienced and appreciated, embracing present and past relationships to 
the surrounding landscape……The setting of a historic asset is not fixed and can 
change through time as the asset and its surroundings evolve. These changes may 
have a negative impact on the significance of an asset; for example, the loss of the 
surrounding physical elements that allow an asset to be understood, or the introduction 
of an adjacent new development that has a major visual impact. But changes can also 
have a positive impact that may enhance the setting, such as the removal of traffic from 
part of a historic town, or the opening up of views, or the return of a sense of enclosure 
to sites where it has been lost”

The document provides advice on how to assess the setting 

This section outlines the general principles that both assessors and decision makers 
should consider when assessing the impact of a proposed change or development on 
the setting of historic assets. There are four stages.  
 
Stage 1: Identify the historic assets that might be affected by a proposed change or 
development and their significance.  

Stage 2: Define and analyse the settings to understand how they contribute to the ways 
in which the historic assets are understood, appreciated and experienced.  
 
Stage 3: Evaluate the potential impact of a proposed change or development on those 
settings. 
 
Stage 4: Consider options to mitigate the potential impact of a proposed change or 
development on those settings.

The proposed new house would be sited in open countryside to the west of the public 
road and the farm holding to which it relates it on the eastern side of the road and 
comprises of a relatively modern bungalow and a number of non-traditional farm 
buildings.

Tudalen 290



It is understood that Rhysgog was the original farmstead on the land and was sold 
excluding the farmland many years ago. The location of Rhysgog was sited due to 
considerations at that time, and is sited some little distance down a farm track that leads 
between Rhysgog bungalow and the farm buildings. The site is well screened and the 
listed building is not readily viewed from the public road directly at the entrance to the 
private access lane. A mature hedge along the roadside also screens the listed building 
from view from the application site. 

However I note the proximity of the site to land in public ownership namely The National 
Trust land to the north at Abergwesyn Common which affords at its highest points to 
Snowdon and Bardsey Island, the Brecon Beacons, the Black Mountains and Plynlimon.

I note the landscape photographs submitted as representations (Document Numbers 
4449236 and 4420189) indicate the location of the new dwelling within the landscape 
and quality of the landscape is duly noted along with the apparent sparcity of 
development which is in turn due to traditional forms of building location and orientation 
in addition to the physical numbers.

The photographs submitted indicate that the farm buildings at Rhysgog are visible in the 
wider landscape and that the location of the proposed dwelling east of Rhysgog farm 
buildings will result in the building in that location proposed being visible  from a wide 
area and especially Abergwesyn Common. I would suggest that the location chosen for 
the dwelling is not well sited as it will be visible over some distance  and the tree line at 
Coed Erwddol would accentuate the development.  

As such I could not conclude that the long term setting of Rhysygog would not be 
affected by the proposed development as the new house will be clearly visible from 
some distance from Abergwesyn Common and footpaths and other  rights of way.

I am aware that Section 66 of The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 places a duty on Local Planning Authorities  have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the setting of a listed building. “ Preserving” has been 
interpreted by the courts as doing no harm. Given the view afforded of the site from 
Abergwesyn Common I could not conclude that no harm would be afforded to the 
setting of Rhysgog by the proposed development.

I am also aware of other cases where the significance of a heritage asset is not just its 
physical presence but also from its setting which is especially relevant in rural 
farmsteads.

I note the reference to the listed building in the Design and Access Statement, however 
this does not address the requirements of section 2.2 of  Cadw document Managing 
Setting of Listed Buildings which came into effect on 31 May  and  advises that 
applicants for planning permission should provide the local planning with sufficient, but 
proportionate, information to allow the assessment of the likely impact of proposal for 
development on a historic asset and its setting. 

Tudalen 291



I could not support the proposed location of the dwelling. However should there be a 
need for the dwelling on the farm  and support in principle for a dwelling to maintain the 
farm,  the siting of the proposed dwelling should be carefully chosen, I note the 
comments from CPRW and would not disagree with their concerns in respect of siting, 
size and design. I would suggest that a site on the same side as the road as the barns 
and current farm bungalow would enable the new dwelling to be tightly grouped with the 
existing buildings that may alleviate some of the issues in respect of the long term 
views. However given the principal windows of Rhysgog face SSW, it is recommended 
that the proposed new dwelling be sited to the north of Rhysgog bungalow to avoid 
affecting the setting of Rhysgog and to incorporate the new dwelling within the 
farmstead. 

I would also agree with CPRW’s concerns in respect of the size and design of the 
proposed dwelling that does not reflect the local vernacular.   

The Design and Access Statement states that the external appearance of the dwelling 
represents the local area and I cannot agree with this statement as the dominant 
architectural characteristic of the area is traditionally designed buildings whereas the 
proposed dwelling has few traditional features in its design or siting.  I would question 
whether the scale  and design of the property is appropriate in this location I would refer 
to TAN12 and section 2.1  The design of our villages, towns, cities and the urban and 
rural landscape is important in articulating our nation and our culture. Design is 
important to our quality of life, and the quality of Wales’ varied landscape and 
townscapes - helping to sustain a positive image for Wales.

Good design is also inclusive design. The principles of inclusive design are that it places 
people at the heart of the design process, acknowledges diversity and difference, offers 
choice where a single design solution cannot accommodate all users, provides for 
flexibility in use, and, provides buildings and environments that are convenient and 
enjoyable to use for everyone.”
2.5 Good design is not inevitable. It requires a collaborative, creative, inclusive, process 
of problem solving and innovation - embracing sustainability, architecture, place making, 
public realm, landscape, and infrastructure. 
2.6 Design which is inappropriate in its context, or which fails to grasp opportunities to 
enhance the character, quality and function of an area, should not be accepted, as 
these have detrimental effects on existing communities.
4.3 The local context comprises the characteristics and setting of an area in which a 
development is located. This includes the area’s natural and human history, the forms of 
settlements, buildings and spaces; its ecology and archaeology; its location and the 
routes and waterways that pass through it. Understanding the site and its immediate 
and wider context is the basis for a meaningful and sustainable design response, and is 
the responsibility of all those involved in the design process, particularly planning 
applicants and their agents and those formulating and implementing design policy and 
guidance.

Tudalen 292



4.8 Appraising “character” involves attention to topography; historic street patterns, 
archaeological features, waterways, hierarchy of development and spaces, prevalent 
materials in buildings or floorscape, architecture and historic quality, landscape 
character, field patterns and land use patterns, distinctive views (in and out of the site), 
skylines and vistas, prevailing uses and plan forms, boundary treatments, local 
biodiversity, natural and cultural resources and locally distinctive features and traditions 
(also known as vernacular elements).

I would not consider that the proposed design has addressed the guidance in TAN12 in 
that the character or  quality of the area has not been enhanced, nor the characteristic 
and setting of an area in terms of its form of settlements, buildings and spaces, 
prevalent materials, distinctive views in and locally distinctive building features and 
traditions. 

Should the principle of the development be considered acceptable I would raise concern 
with the scale and design of the proposed dwelling.

I understand that the application may be withdrawn and resubmitted and  as such I offer 
these comments to assist in the resubmission of the application in term of its siting, and 
design. I would draw attention to section 2.2 of Cadw document Managing Setting of 
Listed Buildings which would need to be addressed in any future application. 

Should the application be resubmitted and would be happy to comment further or offer 
pre-application advice if that would be helpful. 

PCC Environmental Health 25th Apr 2018 

Having taken a look at the location area where the proposed development will be sited 
and given consideration to noise creation,  I would firstly recommended that during the 
landscaping and construction period working hours and delivery times be restricted as 
follows:

All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary shall be 
carried out only between the following hours:

0800 - 1800 hrs Monday to Friday
0800 – 1300 hrs Saturday
At no time on Sunday and Bank Holidays

Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste, including soil, from 
the site must also only take place within the permitted hours detailed above.

Secondly I would require further information regards the intended foul drainage system 
for the proposed development.

Tudalen 293



It is Government policy that, where practical, foul drainage should be discharged to the 
mains sewer. If this is not possible and the applicant proposes to install a packaged 
treatment plant then subject to a consent being obtained from NRW for the sewage 
discharge to a watercourse then there would be no objection.

However if the sewage treatment plant is to discharge to a drainage field or should a 
septic tank be utilised then prior to any planning permission being granted the 
applicant/agent should submit percolation test results (including calculations) which 
demonstrate that the septic tank and soakaway are sufficiently sized and ground 
conditions are suitable for the foul drainage soakaway. Please see attached percolation 
test form.  This test should be carried out in accordance with document H2 of the 
Building Regulations. Also we would like to be advised when the percolation testing is 
carried out so a site visit can be made to look at the exposed ground.

In addition, Welsh Government has advised that, all septic tanks and small sewage 
treatment plant discharges in Wales will need to be registered with Natural Resources 
Wales. More information, including a step by step guide to registering can be found at 
the following link  http://www.naturalresources.wales/media/2879/septic-tank-
registration-guidance.pdf?lang=en .

Thirdly can the applicant confirm a borehole will still be used for the water supply? and 
supply a diagram showing its location and distance from foul drainage scheme. 

Representations

Objections have been received from 12 individuals, the Country Land and Business 
Association (CLA) and the Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales (CPRW). The 
grounds for objection are as follows:

 Inappropriate design
 Inappropriate scale 
 Inappropriate siting 
 Unacceptable impact on high quality landscape – development prominent in the 

landscape
 Dwellings could not be considered as an affordable dwelling
 Proposal fails to comply with planning policy 
 Development is not justified in accordance with planning policy

Planning History

P/2017/0940 Full: Erection of an agricultural workers dwelling, formation of new 
vehicular access and 2 passing bays, installation of a package treatment plant and all 
associated works Withdrawn 09.11.2018

PPAE/2017/0051 Proposed Dwelling. 11.04.2017

Tudalen 294

http://www.naturalresources.wales/media/2879/septic-tank-registration-guidance.pdf?lang=en
http://www.naturalresources.wales/media/2879/septic-tank-registration-guidance.pdf?lang=en


Principal Planning Constraints

Class 3 highway (C0008)

Mineral Safeguarding area 

Listed Building Rhysgog located nearby
 

Principal Planning Policies

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 2016)

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12: Design (2016)

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23: Economic Development (2014)

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 24: The Historic Environment (2017)

Practice Guidance - Rural Enterprise Dwellings - Technical Advice Note 6 Planning for 
Sustainable Rural Communities December 2011

Welsh Government Circular 016/2014: The Use of Planning Conditions for Development 
Management

Welsh Government Circular 008/2018: Planning requirement in respect of the use of 
private sewerage in new development, incorporating septic tanks and small sewage 
treatment plants

Local Policies

Powys Local Development Plan (2018) 

DM1 – Planning Obligations 
DM2 – The Natural Environment
DM4 – Landscape
DM7 – Dark Skies and External Lighting
DM8 – Minerals Safeguarding 
DM13 – Design and Resources
H1 – Housing Development proposals
SP1 – Housing Growth
SP5 – Settlement Hierarchy

Tudalen 295



SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement Hierarchy 
SP7 - Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure

Powys Residential Design Guide (2004)

Powys Supplementary Planning Guidance for Affordable Housing (2018)

Other Legislative Considerations
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal
Site location and description 

The scheme is in respect of the erection of a rural enterprise dwelling and garage 
together with the formation of two passing bays and the siting of a temporary caravan at 
Rhysgog, Llanafan Fawr. 

The site is located between the settlements of Newbridge on Wye and Beulah. To the 
north of the application site lies Abergwesyn Common which is National Trust owned 
access land stretching between the Nant Irfon Valley in the west and Llanwrthwl in the 
east.  

The proposed site is located to the west of C0008 county highway with an existing 
dwelling and farm buildings associated with the rural enterprise located to the east of 
the highway. The application site is currently part of an agricultural field. 

Principle of development 

The application seeks consent for a new enterprise dwelling to support the existing farm 
business which according to the submission is well established and comprises of a 233-
acre sheep farm, 175 acres of which is at Rhysgog and the remainder being at Llanyre 
Farm. The enterprise currently comprises 550 breeding ewes and sells approximately 
150 Welsh breeding ewe lambs, 120 Welsh mule ewe lambs and 25 Welsh breeding 
rams in the autumn. In the spring, 30 ewes with lambs at foot are sold and 100 Welsh 
ewes are retained as replacements with the remainder of the lambs not suitable for 
breeding being finished and sold during the autumn and winter. The submission 
indicates that a dwelling would enable the enterprise to be managed more effectively to 

Tudalen 296



enable constant supervision of the livestock and to attend to emergencies. There is 
already one dwelling associated with the holding, the bungalow at Rhysgog. 

Under the Powys Local Development Plan (2018) Policy H1, dwellings in the open 
countryside will only be permitted for where development relates to a need for housing 
which meets current national policy on housing in the open countryside. Planning Policy 
Wales permits dwellings in the open countryside in accordance with the more detailed 
advice provided in TAN6.  

The first key determinant in deciding if a proposal falls within the scope of the rural 
enterprise dwelling policy in TAN6 is whether an enterprise is directly related to the 
management of rural land-related businesses, or has a character such that it can only 
be located in the open countryside, or has very particular reasons for a location in the 
open countryside rather than in an existing settlement. Given the nature of the business, 
it clearly falls within the definition of a rural enterprise as set out within TAN 6, and as 
such the proposal can be assessed under the remainder of the requirements set out 
within TAN 6. 

Given that the proposed dwelling is required to meet the needs of additional workers on 
an established farm where there is a functional need, and a requirement for an 
additional 0.5 or more of a full-time worker earning at least 50% of a farmworker’s salary 
(second or further dwelling on a farm only), TAN 6 provides support for such dwellings 
subject to the following criteria:

- the enterprise concerned has been established for at least three years, profitable 
for at least one of them and both the enterprise and the business need for the job, is 
currently financially sound, and has a clear prospect of remaining so; 
- the functional need could not be fulfilled by another dwelling or by converting an 
existing suitable building already on the land holding comprising the enterprise, or any 
other existing accommodation in the locality which is suitable and available for 
occupation by the worker concerned; and
- other normal planning requirements, for example siting and access, are satisfied.

The submission indicates that the proposed dwelling is proposed to meet the needs of 
additional workers on the established farm to provide essential care for livestock at 
short notice and at all times of the day and night. Given the amount of land which is 
farmed by the enterprise and the stock levels, it is accepted that there is a functional 
need for additional readily available workers on site.

The submission indicates that the business has been established for a number of years 
and financial information for the enterprise have been submitted for the years ending 
2014, 2015 and 2016 which sets out the business’ income, expenditure, finance costs, 
depreciation and profit. The submission demonstrates that the business has been 
profitable for the last three years and on this basis it is considered that the enterprise is 
financially sound. The financial information complies with the requirements of TAN6 in 
that it demonstrates that the business has been established for at least three years, has 

Tudalen 297



been profitable for all three, is currently financially sound and has a clear prospect of 
remaining so. 

The existing dwelling (Rhysgog Bungalow) that serves the business is considered to be 
sufficient to serve the full time worker of the farm, however the time test set out within 
the appraisal demonstrates that the business has an essential need for 2.72 full time 
workers on the enterprise. Although it is noted that the standard labour requirement 
includes 22.5% for maintenance and management whereas TAN 6 and the Practice 
Guidance suggests that the standard labour assessment should be 15-20% for 
maintenance, repairs and management, upon recalculation of the labour requirement 
using the standard guidance set out within TAN 6 and the Practice Guidance, the 
existing enterprise still provides a need in excess of 1.5 workers and as such complies 
with the time test within TAN6.

In terms of other dwellings or buildings which could be converted to residential use, the 
submission indicates that all agricultural buildings on the enterprise are modern farm 
buildings and are fully utilised by the enterprise. Therefore, it is accepted that the 
functional need could not be fulfilled by these. In addition, the agent has detailed three 
dwellings that are on the market in the locality that far exceed the affordability of the 
business and could not fulfil the requirements of the enterprise in the same way.  It is 
also noted that a dwelling that neighbours the enterprise has come onto the market with 
21 hectares of land (Erwddol). It is to be sold at auction on the 7th December 2018 but 
with a guide price of £500,000 it is accepted that the property would be out of reach of 
the enterprise to fund. It is therefore accepted that there isn’t any other existing 
accommodation in the locality which is suitable and available for occupation by the 
worker concerned.

In light of the above, it is considered that the submission sufficiently demonstrates the 
need for an additional dwelling in line with policy requirements set out within TAN6 and 
the Practice Guidance.  However, although the principle of development is considered 
to be acceptable in this instance, rural enterprise dwellings should also satisfy the usual 
planning requirements and these aspects will be considered in the sections below.

Control of occupancy

TAN 6 advises that any new rural enterprise dwelling shall be subject to a condition 
which controls the occupancy of the dwelling and their potential transfer to meet general 
affordable housing needs. Therefore, any consent granted should include the 
recommended occupancy condition. 
 
Scale

Welsh Government guidance advises that the size of the proposed dwelling should be 
related to the ability of the enterprise to fund and sustain a dwelling. The size of the 
dwelling should reflect the needs of the enterprise but with the extension of potential 

Tudalen 298



occupancy to those eligible for affordable housing, there should also be regard to this 
consideration.

The Local Authority’s affordable housing policy and guidance restricts the floor space of 
proposed affordable homes to a maximum of 115 square metres in order to ensure they 
are affordable in nature and perpetuity. In addition, the restriction on the plot size to 
1000 square metres is encouraged to assist in limiting the value of the eventual 
dwelling, and for the same reason, the scale of outbuildings is limited to 15sq.m. 

The current proposal relates to a dwelling of 158sq.m of internal floor space, a garage 
with 38.4sq.m internal floor area and a plot size of 990sq.m. 

Given the financial information submitted in support of the application, it is not 
considered that business can provide for a realistic minimum return to unpaid labour 
and fund a dwelling of this scale. Furthermore, the application fails to demonstrate why 
the business would require a dwelling, the scale of which is far in excess of that 
permitted as affordable housing. The personal aspirations of the applicant are not a 
material consideration in this instance. 

Therefore, based on the financial information submitted in support of the application 
combined with the emphasis within national policy for the provision of such dwellings to 
also meet affordable housing needs, it is considered that the dwelling is of a scale that 
cannot reasonably be justified in line with current planning policy. 

Design 

The appearance of a development, its scale and its relationship to its surroundings are 
key considerations when determining a planning application. National Policy on design 
is set out in Technical Advice Note 12 and applications are also assessed against policy 
DM13 of the Local Development Plan. The council aims to promote and reinforce local 
distinctiveness within Powys and proposals are expected to be deigned to respect and 
enhance local distinctiveness of the area, especially in areas noted for their landscape 
value and where there is an established design character. 

The design of the scheme has altered significantly from that proposed within the 
previous application and has even altered from first submission of the current 
application. 

The dwelling proposed is designed as a one and a half storey building, extending to a 
height of 7.5 metres to ridge. The plans indicate the use of dormer windows, an external 
brick chimney and single storey additions to the front, side and rear. The scheme 
includes brick quoins and a stone plinth with the overall finish of the dwelling to be 
render. The roofing material will be slate. 

Tudalen 299



Although it is considered that the design has improved and the use of features such as 
dormer windows is in keeping with the character of the area, the remainder of the 
scheme fails to capture the best of residential design in the locality. The dwelling is 
located in a sparsely populated upland, rural area. It is not unusual, therefore, that the 
majority of the housing seen in the locality are small, simple properties reflecting the 
wealth of traditional workers (farmers). The oldest of the properties are stone (painted 
white), with the more modern dwellings being render (again painted white). 

The current proposal, however, is for a large dwelling, the design of which is more akin 
to a modern residential estate in an urban setting. It is also noted that the proposal 
includes a double garage to be sited adjacent to the highway. It is noted within the 
Residential Design Guide (paragraph 6.41) that garages are not a prerequisite of all 
housing schemes and are not always consistent with the character of the surrounding 
area. It goes on to state that garages should be located so that they do not dominate 
the overall design.  In this instance, it is considered that the provision of the double 
garage is not in keeping with the character of the area and exacerbates the urban 
design of the scheme.
 
Overall, the design of the scheme is not considered to be acceptable in the context of 
the locality and fails to comply with policy DM13 of the Powys Unitary Development 
Plan.

Siting 

With respect to siting, reference is made to Powys Local Development Plan (2018) 
policy DM4 – Landscape which states that proposals for new developments outside 
designated and defined settlements must not, individually or cumulatively, have an 
unacceptable adverse effect, on the valued characteristics and qualities of the Powys 
landscape.

The Residential Design Guide sets out that for dwellings in the countryside, the scope 
for damaging local distinctiveness through inappropriate development may be even 
greater than in densely developed areas. It is therefore vital that isolated dwellings fully 
respect their landscape setting and avoid impacting on distinctive rural landscapes. The 
guide goes on to state that the main issues to consider are the positioning of the 
building in the context of the topography, the relationship of the building with natural 
features such as trees and hedgerows and the colours and materials of the building.
 
TAN 6 states that the siting of the proposed dwelling should relate closely to the 
activities for which there is a need. In most cases this will mean that the new dwelling 
should be sited in close proximity to existing buildings and in the case of dwellings for 
agricultural enterprises, should not be isolated from the farmstead or in locations that 
could encourage farm fragmentation. Local planning authorities should resist planning 
applications for rural enterprise dwellings that are prominent in the landscape.

Tudalen 300



The siting of the dwelling is a particular issue in this instance with a number of 
constraints to consider. The siting should not sterilise future plans for expansion of the 
farm buildings and cannot unacceptably impact on the setting of the nearby listed 
building but the dwelling needs to be in close proximity to the farm to appropriately fulfil 
its purpose. The site has been chosen with these aspects in mind. However, the 
proposed site is located across the road from the existing dwelling and farm buildings 
and would prominent within the landscape. 

The landscape is undulating upland terrain and the application site falls within the 
Cambrian Mountains southern fringes aspect area within visual and sensory layer of 
Landmap. The landscape is described as having a varied and interesting topography 
with steep sided hills and valleys. It is given added drama and texture by the woodland 
cover and watercourses in valley bottoms. Overall the area has a very high scenic 
quality and a strong sense of place. The area is unspoilt and is rare as a landscape type 
in the county. 

The site is on a gently rising plateau leading up to Garth Hill between two valleys. Other 
dwellings in the locality are set within hollows in the landscape but the proposed 
dwelling will be more prominent. The agent has sought to justify the siting on the 
grounds that the dwelling, from most vantage points, would be back dropped by the 
existing farm buildings. Whilst not disputing that the dwelling would closely grouped, 
given the size and scale combined with the proposed siting, it is considered that the 
dwelling would be visually prominent within the landscape, even at longer distances. 

Given the need to be closely grouped with the existing buildings, the dwelling is 
proposed to be located at a central point within an agricultural field which has no 
features other than the hedgerow that runs parallel to the road. Although it is 
acknowledged that the application site is proposed to be bound by a native hedgerow 
with additional tree planting, it is considered that the development would appear 
particularly artificial and would not have good integration into the landscape at this site.
  
The applicant has been advised that siting a dwelling adjacent to the existing bungalow 
would allow for better integration into the landscape and would enable better grouping 
with the existing buildings.  The agent has responded and indicates that the site would 
widen the view of the built form, would unacceptably affect the setting of the listed 
building and would be more prominent as it is on higher ground. The Conservation 
Officer has responded and refutes the claims regarding the listed building. It is also 
considered that a development of the right scale and design in this location would have 
a significantly reduced landscape harm. The applicant has been advised of this since 
the pre application stage.     

Impact upon heritage assets 

The planning authority is required to have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
listed buildings and their settings under section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Furthermore, section 6.5.11 of Planning Policy Wales 

Tudalen 301



(9th edition, 2016) states, “Where a development proposal affects a listed building or its 
setting, the primary material consideration is the statutory requirement to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building, or its setting, or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”.

To the east of the application site lies Rhysgog Cottage, a grade II listed property noted 
as a c1800 farmhouse retaining its planform and for its exceptional preservation of 
internal and external detail. There is a byre to the one end of the property and cart shed 
with granary to the other.  Like many of the rural dwellings in the area, the property is 
set down in a hollow and there would not be direct visibility between the application site 
and the listed building. 

The Conservation Officer has been consulted on the application and does have 
concerns over the effect of the proposal from longer range views, such as Abergwesyn 
Common, and the detrimental impact it would have on the setting of the listed building 
from such locations. The concern being that the dwelling is proposed to be sited in a 
prominent location, which combined with the large scale and incongruous design, would 
detract from the setting of the listed building.  

Highways Safety and Movement

LDP policy DM13 part 10 indicates that development proposals should meet all highway 
access requirements, vehicular parking standards and demonstrate that the strategic 
and local highway network can absorb the traffic impacts of the development without 
adversely affecting the safe and efficient flow of traffic on the network or that traffic 
impacts can be managed to acceptable levels to reduce and mitigate any adverse 
impacts from the development.

The application demonstrates that access will be gained onto the C0008 via an 
improved existing field access and that two passing bay will be provided in order to 
improve the county highway to support the additional traffic generated by the 
development. The Highway Authority has not objected to the proposal but does 
consider that the passing bays could be provided in more beneficial locations than those 
shown on the supporting plans. It is considered that the agreement of such details can 
be controlled via an appropriately worded condition. 

Therefore, subject to the use of a conditions, it is considered that the development can 
be made acceptable in accordance with policies DM13 and T1 of the Powys Local 
Development Plan.

Ecological impact

Policy DM2 of the Powys Local Development Plan seeks to maintain biodiversity and 
safeguard protected important sites. Policy DM2 states that proposed development 
should not unacceptably adversely affect any designated site, including locally important 
site designations, or the habitat of any protected species.

Tudalen 302



 
The dwelling will be located on an area of improved grassland which is considered to 
have low ecological value. The proposal will involve the removal of a small section of 
hedgerow and translocation of further hedgerow to facilitate appropriate visibility splays 
at the access. There was a concern that this would have a direct impact to the Rhysgog 
Roadside Verge Nature Reserve which has been designated due to its supporting of a 
diverse range of vascular plants indicative of a ‘good quality’ verge in Powys. The 
application has been supported by a preliminary ecological impact assessment report 
which has been subject to review by the county ecologist. Subject to the development 
taking place in accordance with the recommendations in the report, it has been 
concluded that the development will not result in the loss of any features of ecological 
importance and that the proposed works are unlikely to have a negative impact to 
biodiversity in the wider area. 

Therefore, subject to the use of planning conditions to control the development in 
accordance with the recommendations of the report, it is considered that the proposed 
development would be in accordance with policy DM2 of the Powys Local Development 
Plan, Technical Advice Note 5 and Planning Policy Wales.

Foul drainage

Planning policy states that, where practicable, foul drainage should be discharged to the 
mains sewer. Where this is not possible and private sewage treatment / disposal 
facilities are utilised, they must be installed and maintained in accordance with British 
Standard 6297 and Approved Document H of the Building Regulations 2000. The 
planning authority is also required to have regard to Welsh Government Circular 
008/2018: Planning requirement in respect of the use of private sewerage in new 
development, incorporating septic tanks and small sewage treatment plants

It is proposed to connect to a package treatment plant with an outfall to the field. There 
is no objection in principle to this solution but the application has not been accompanied 
with percolation test results to demonstrate that the land is suitable to absorb the 
discharge. Officers are therefore unable to confirm that the development would not give 
rise to pollution problems in accordance with LDP Policy DM13.

Minerals safeguarding

Policy DM8 seeks to ensure that mineral resources are not needlessly sterilised by 
other development, so that they remain accessible to future generations in accordance 
with PPW and MTANs. The identified mineral safeguarding areas carry no presumption 
that the resource will be worked, merely that the location is known and that the 
presence of the resource should be adequately addressed and effectively considered 
within planning decisions. 

In this instance, the development site is within the mineral safeguarding area for 
sandstone with potential for high specification aggregate (category 1). Whilst this is 

Tudalen 303



acknowledged by the Planning Authority, it is considered that the built development is 
not of a significant scale (in so far as it relates to this policy) and is for residential use 
adjacent to an existing residential use suggesting that the development is unlikely to 
sterilise extraction to any greater extent than the current situation. Overall, the 
development is considered to be acceptable in accordance with the provisions of policy 
DM8. 

Recommendation 

Overall, it is considered that the principle of development can be supported in line with 
planning policy, but the detail of the application is not acceptable particularly in relation 
to the siting, design and scale of the scheme. The development as currently proposed 
would represent an incongruous and conspicuous addition to the landscape and would 
fail to comply with polices DM4 and DM13 of the Local Development Plan, Technical 
Advice Note 6 and the associated practice guidance as well as Planning Policy Wales. 
Due to the landscape harm caused by the development in such close proximity to a 
listed building, it is also considered that the development would cause unacceptable 
harm to the setting of a listed building (Rhysgog). Finally, it has been highlighted that 
the development has not been supported with sufficient detail in relation to foul water 
disposal. It is for these reasons that the development cannot be supported and is 
recommended for refusal.

Reasons

1. The dwelling is proposed at a location where it would be visually prominent in a 
landscape of high visual and sensory quality. The proposed siting, combined with 
the incongruous design and large scale would unacceptably harm landscape 
quality contrary to polices DM4 and DM13 of the Powys Local Development Plan 
(2018), Powys Residential Design Guide (2004), Technical Advice Note 6 (2010) 
and Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 2016). 

2. The application fails to demonstrate that the scale of the dwelling reflects the 
needs of the enterprise or its ability to fund such a property. The proposal 
therefore fails to comply with Technical Advice Note 6 (2010) and the associated 
Practice Guidance for Rural Enterprise Dwellings (2011). 

3. The design of the proposal by reason of its appearance, scale, height, massing 
and design detailing fails to complement or enhance the character of the 
surrounding area and fails to contribute towards the preservation of local 
distinctiveness and sense of place contrary to policy DM13 of the Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018), Technical Advice Note 12 (2016) and Planning Policy 
Wales (Edition 9, 2016). 

4. The proposed dwelling is to be sited in a prominent location, which combined 
with the large scale and incongruous design, would detract from the setting of 
Rhysgog, a grade II listed farmhouse, contrary to policy SP7 of the Powys Local 

Tudalen 304



Development Plan (2018), the local planning authority’s duty under section 66 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Technical 
Advice Note 24 (2017) and Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 2016).  

5. Insufficient information has been submitted with the application to demonstrate 
that the treatment plant soakaway is sufficiently sized and that ground conditions 
are suitable for drainage so that the quality of surface and ground waters will not 
be adversely affected in accordance with Policy DM13 of the Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018), Welsh Government Circular 008/2018 and Planning 
Policy Wales (Edition 9, 2016). 

__________________________________________________
Case Officer: Louise Evans, Principal Planning Officer
Tel: 01938 551127 E-mail: louise.evans1@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 305



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



T
udalen 307



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

18/1019/DIS Grid Ref: E: 315775

N: 294250

Community 
Council:

 Abermule and Llandyssil Valid Date: 23.11.2018

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Abermule Business Park, Abermule, Montgomery, Powys,  

Proposal: Discharge of conditions 8 and 12 of planning approval P/2018/0587

Application Type: Discharge of Condition

The reason for Committee determination

The application is submitted by Powys County Council.

Consultee Responses

Contaminated Land 

A review of the following has been undertaken:

 Arcadis ‘Consultancy Services Brief/Enquiry – Phase 2 Preliminary Ground 
Investigation – Abermule Business Park’ (ref: 10337824) 8th October 2018.

 Arcadis email ‘RE: 2395 Abermule Business Park – Additional Asbestos Results’ 
9/11/2018.

Based on the information provided, in the above referenced sources, the following is 
advised:

The proposed scope of works appears sufficient to support a robust quantitative risk 
assessment of the potential pollutant linkages identified in Table 6.4 ‘Potential 
Contaminant Linkages’ of the Arcadis ‘Phase 1 Geo-Environmental Desk Study for Powys 
County Council’ report (ref: 0001-UA006590-26-UP32R-01), dated December 2017.

A copy of the finalised ‘Proposed Exploratory Hole Location Plan’ will be required to 
confirm the proposed borehole and trial pit locations.

Furthermore, the intrusive site investigation should be undertaken in accordance with 
current guidance and best practice such as BS10175:2011+A2:2017 ‘Investigation of 
Potentially Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice’ and BS8576:2013 ‘Guidance on 

Tudalen 309

6.3



Investigations for Ground Gas – Permanent Gases and Volatile Organic Compounds 
(VOCs)’.

Representations

In accordance with Development Management Procedure Order (2012) (as amended), 
no third party consultation required.

Planning History
App Ref Description Decision Date

P/2018/0587 Hybrid application comprising of a 
full application for a proposed 
recycling bulking facility and 
associated works and an outline 
application for the erection of 
business units (B1/B2/B8) and all 
associated works

Approve 2nd Aug 2018

Principal Planning Constraints

Contaminated Land

Principal Planning Policies

Policy Policy Description Year Local Plan

PPW Planning Policy Wales 
(Edition 9, November 2016)

National Policy

TAN5 Nature Conservation and 
Planning

National Policy

TAN11 Noise National Policy

TAN12 Design National Policy

TAN13 Tourism National Policy

TAN15 Development and Flood 
Risk

National Policy

TAN18 Transport National Policy

TAN20 Planning and the Welsh 
Language

National Policy

Tudalen 310



TAN21 Waste National Policy

TAN23 Economic Development National Policy

TAN24 The Historic Environment National Policy

SP2 Employment Growth Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

SP5 Settlement Hierarchy Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

SP6 Distribution of Growth 
across the Settlement 
Hierarchy

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

SP7 Safeguarding of Strategic 
Resources and Assets

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM2 The Natural Environment Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM4 Landscape Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM5 Development and Flood 
Risk

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM6 Flood Prevention Measures 
and Land Drainage

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM7 Dark Skies and External 
Lighting

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM10 Contaminated and 
Unstable Land

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM13 Design and Resources Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM14 Air Quality Management Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM15 Waste Within 
Developments

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

Tudalen 311



DM16 Protection of Existing 
Employment Sites

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

E1 Employment Proposals on 
Allocated Employment 
Sites

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

T1 Travel, Traffic and 
Transport Infrastructure

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

W1 Location of Waste 
Development

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

W2 Waste Management 
Proposals

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Site Location and Description

The application site is located partially within and outside the development boundary of 
Abermule as defined by the Powys Local Development Plan 2018. The application site is 
accessed through an existing access from the B4386 which leads from the A483 trunk 
road to Abermule. The site is bound to the north by the B4386, the east and south by a 
railway line and the west by agricultural land and the A483.

Planning permission was granted for the construction of a recycling bulking facility to allow 
the bulking of paper, cardboard, cans, glass and plastic bottles under planning reference 
P/2018/0587. The hybrid application also granted planning permission in outline for the 
construction of 6 units for B1 (Business), B2 (General Industrial) and B8 (Storage or 
distribution) on the site. The current submission seeks to approve the site investigation 
methodology required by condition 8 of the full planning permission and condition 12 
attached to the outline consent. 

Contaminated Land

Tudalen 312



Condition 8 (full) and condition 12 (outline) read as follows;

‘No development shall take place until a site investigation of the nature and extent of 
contamination has been carried out, by a suitably qualified competent person, in 
accordance with a methodology which has previously been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. A written report of the findings of the site 
investigation shall be made available to the local planning authority before any 
development begins. The written report should include an appraisal of remedial options 
and identification of the most appropriate remediation option(s) for each relevant pollutant 
linkage. The report is subject to the written approval of the local planning authority’.

This application is accompanied by;

 Arcadis ‘Consultancy Services Brief/Enquiry – Phase 2 Preliminary Ground 
Investigation – Abermule Business Park’ (ref: 10337824) 8th October 2018.

 Arcadis email ‘RE: 2395 Abermule Business Park – Additional Asbestos Results’ 
9/11/2018.

Following review of the submitted methodology, the Council’s Contaminated Land Officer 
has confirmed that the proposed scope of works is acceptable. On the basis of the 
comments received, Officers are satisfied that sufficient information has been submitted 
to partially discharge the respective planning conditions in accordance with relevant 
planning policies. 

RECOMMENDATION

In light of the Contaminated Land Officers comments, it is recommended that the 
conditions are partially discharged. 

__________________________________________________
Case Officer: Holly Hobbs, Principal Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827319 E-mail: holly.hobbs@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 313



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



MP 44.5

93.2m

S

h

r

o

p

s

h

i
r

e

 
U

n

i
o

n

 
C

a

n

a

l

D

r

a

i

n

D

r

a

i
n

D

r

a

i
n

D

r

a

i

n

T

r

a

c

k

M

o

n

t
g

o

m

e

r

y

s

h

i
r

e

 
B

r

a

n

c

h

Pond

93.0m

B

 

4

3

8

6

T

r

a

c

k

Pond

Bryn-y-Maes

A

 

4

8

3

MP 44.25

D

r

a

i

n

Level

/ Afon Hafren
R

iv
e
r 

S
e
ve

rn

The Court

Maesderwen

Crossing

92.2m

MP 44

Posts

Rising Bollard

Parc Busnes Abermiwl

(Abermule Business Park)

El Sub Sta

Tanks

T

r
a

c

k

T

r

a

c

k

T

o

w

 
P

a

t
h

T

r

a

c

k

2

3

3

5

1

2

B

 

4

3

8

6

2

5

a

1

7

C

L

O

S

E

Depot

2

2

3

0

2

7

Issues

2

6

a

2

6

b

Depot

3

4

1

8

2

0

92.4m

2

1

c

2

1

b

4

2

2

5

2

8

1

6

C

O

U

R

T

2

6

Depot

3

2

2

4

2

4

a

2

1

a

2

1

d

F

O

O

T

P

A

T

H

T

P

T

P

E

P

E

P

T

P

E

P

E

P

T

P

T

P

E

P

E

P

E

P

R

A

M

P

KEY

Application Boundary.

Ownership Boundary.

Notes

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2017 Arolwg Ordnans

100024419 (Cyngor Sir Ceredigion) & 100025371 (Cyngor Sir Powys)

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey

100024419 (Ceredigion County Council) & 100025371 (Powys County Council)

CWIC is the Central Wales Infrastucture Collaboration project between Powys County Council and

Ceredigion County Council and all copyrights are vested in each respective Authority.

This drawing is the property of CWIC Engineering Design Services and is issued on the condition that it

is not copied, reproduced, retained or disclosed to any unauthorised person, either wholly or in part

without the consent in writing of CWIC Engineering Design Services.

This drawing should not be scaled and any dimensions verified on site.

All dimensions are in millimetres unless otherwise stated

Drawing Filename : -  2395-P03 - Abermule Recycling

Bulking Facility, Abermule

Business Park.dwg

Last saved : -  26/04/2018

01545 572513

Drawing Number Revision

Scale at A1

Drawing Title

Project Number

Project

Rev Date

Description By

EDS West Manager : Steve Hallows

hpw@ceredigion.gov.uk

Chkd

0845 607 6060

EDS East Manager : Gareth Price

tls.helpdesk@powys.gov.uk

North: Kirkhamsfield Depot, Pool Road, Newtown, Powys, SY16 3AF

Mid: County Hall, Spa Road East, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5LG

South: Neuadd Brycheiniog, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys, LD3 7HR

Amendments

CEng MICE

CEng CEnv MICE

West: Penmorfa, Aberaeron, Ceredigion, SA46 0PA

By Checked

Date

Drawing Path:- X:\CONSULT\PROJECTS\2300-99\2395 Newtown Waste Transfer Station\Abermule Business Park\Drawings\Preliminary

Abermule Business Park Development.

Location and Boundary Plan.

LMC DB

13/03/18

1:1250

H2395 2395/P03/001  

OS LOCATION PLAN

Scale 1:25000

Application Site.

PLAN

Scale 1:1250

ISSUED FOR

PLANNING

T
udalen 315



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

18/0339/REM Grid Ref: E: 312954
N: 245619

Community 
Council:

 Painscastle Community Valid Date: 13.08.2018

Applicant: Mr John Abberley

Location: Craignant, Painscastle, Builth Wells, LD2 3JQ,  

Proposal: Section 73 application to remove condition 13 from planning permission 
P/2017/0640 in relation to passing bays

Application Type: Removal or Variation of Condition

The reason for Committee determination

The Local Councillor has requested that the application be determined by Committee.

Consultee Responses

Consultee Received

Community Council

No response received at the time of writing this report.

PCC-Building Control

No response received at the time of writing this report.

Wales & West Utilities - Plant Protection 
Team

No response received at the time of writing this report

Ward Councillor

With reference to the above consent, I note now that the applicant has submitted a 
Section 73 application (ref. 18/0339/REM) to have Condition 13 of the previous consent, 
which required the construction of passing bays, removed. We have corresponded 
before about this matter and the condition referred to was clear – that the passing bay 

Tudalen 317

6.4



construction and other highways works should be carried out BEFORE any construction 
or associated works on-site commenced. Despite my request as the local member that 
the LPA ensured this condition was adhered to, construction of the building and 
associated on-site works proceeded without the passing bays being created or even 
started and now, post-construction, the applicant is applying to have the condition 
removed.

As you are no doubt aware, P/2017/0640 was a very controversial application and the 
consent was granted under delegated powers, without it going to planning committee. 
This was justified on the grounds that an EIA was not required, because the applicant 
had successfully appealed to the WG Planning Inspectorate against the LPA’s request 
that one be carried out. As local member I had assumed (wrongly) that the application 
would have to be determined at committee, due to its nature and the assumption that it 
would require an EIA, and did not invoke the ‘call-in’ procedure. By the time it was clear 
that an EIA was not required it was too late for me invoke a ‘call in’, as the 21 day 
period within which that can be done had passed.

Given the above I therefore request that, if possible, the current application 
(18/0339/REM) be subject to call-in and be determined by the Planning, Taxi Licensing 
and Rights of Way Committee.

PCC-(M) Highways 21st Sep 2018

Having considered further the requirement for the passing bays and the lack of clarity 
regarding the locations for the passing bays, we are content for the condition to be 
removed from the decision notice for P2017/0640.

Welsh Water 19th Sep 2018

We have no comments to make regarding this application

Representations

Following the display of a site notice, no public representations have been received at 
the time of writing this report.

Planning History
App Ref Description Decision Date

P/2017/0640 Full: Proposed erection of a 
16,000 bird free range egg unit, 2 
no. feed bins, new site access 

Consent 2nd Nov 2017

Tudalen 318



and associated landscaping and 
engineering works

Principal Planning Constraints

Principal Planning Policies

Policy Policy Description Year Local Plan

PPW Planning Policy Wales 
(Edition 9, November 
2016)

National Policy

TAN5 Nature Conservation and 
Planning

2009 National Policy

TAN6 Planning for Sustainable 
Rural Community

2010 National Policy

TAN11 Noise 1997 National Policy

TAN12 Design 2016 National Policy

TAN18 Transport 2007 National Policy

TAN23 Economic Development 2014 National Policy

TAN24 The Historic Environment 2017 National Policy

SP2 Employment Growth Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

SP7 Safeguarding of Strategic 
Resources and Assets

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM2 The Natural Environment Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM4 Landscape Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM7 Dark Skies and External 
Lighting

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

DM13 Design and Resources Local Development 

Open Countryside

Tudalen 319



Plan 2011-2026

E2 Employment Proposals on 
Non-Allocated 
Employment Sites

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

E6 Farm Diversification Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

T1 Travel, Traffic and 
Transport Infrastructure

Local Development 
Plan 2011-2026

EWA Environment (Wales) Act 
(2016)

NERC Natural Environment & 
Rural Communities

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Site Location and Description

The application site is located within the Community Council area of Painscastle. The 
application site is located with agricultural land located to the south east and west. To 
the north runs the County Class II highway, B4594.

By way of background to the application site planning application P/2016/0608 was 
previously submitted for the erection of a poultry unit. The application was screened as 
requiring an Environmental Impact Assessment. A screening direction was then sought 
from Welsh Government who determined that the application did not need to be 
accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment. Consent was then granted for 
the erection of a 16,000 bird free range egg unit with associated works and new site 
access under the reference number P/2017/0640. The building measures approximately 
91 metres in length by 16 metres in width reaching a height to the ridge and eaves of 
3.1 metres and 5.2 metres retrospectively. The building has been constructed using 
steel frame cladding, slate green in colour. 

Tudalen 320



Consent is now sought retrospectively for the removal of condition 13 from planning 
permission P/2017/0640 in relation to passing bays. Condition 13 states:

“Prior to any works being commenced on the development site the applicant shall 
construct up to 5 passing bays, in locations to be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The passing bay(s) shall be constructed up to adoptable standard 
prior to any works being commenced on the development site.”

Highway Safety

Policy DM13 part 11 states that development proposals should meet all highway access 
requirements (for transport users) and parking standards.

It is noted that this application seeks consent to remove the condition relating to passing 
bays. Condition 13 of the P/2017/0640 application states:

“Prior to any works being commenced on the development site the applicant shall 
construct up to 5 passing bays, in locations to be agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The passing bay(s) shall be constructed up to adoptable standard 
prior to any works being commenced on the development site.”

Powys County Council’s Highway Authority have been consulted on the proposed 
removal of condition and have stated that they are content for the condition to be 
removed. The Highway Authority have stated that following consideration for the 
requirement of passing bays and the lack of clarity initially regarding the locations for 
the passing bays, the Highway Authority are content for the condition to be removed.

It is noted that the development has commenced without the highway conditions being 
appropriately discharged from the P/2017/0640 application and therefore the conditions 
will be re-attached to the granting of any future approval. The conditions will be re-
worded to take account that development has already commenced, which will require 
the highway related conditions to be carried out within a period of 28 days from the date 
permission is granted. The development includes the construction of a new vehicular 
access to the application site. It is noted that the main traffic movement associated with 
the proposed development would arise from feed delivery and egg collection. Egg 
collection would be approximately every twice every week with feed delivery once per 
fortnight with bird delivery/collection being 2 lorries every 14 months along the 
previously agreed routing plan. 

In light of the comments received and subject to the recommended conditions, 
Development Management does not consider that the proposed development will have 
an unacceptable impact on highway safety and as such consider the proposed to be in 
accordance with planning policy, particularly policy DM13 and T1 of the Powys Local 
Development Plan.

Recommendation

Tudalen 321



In light of the above it is therefore considered that the proposed development 
fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy and the recommendation is 
therefore one of conditional consent.

Conditions

 1 This permission being retrospective as prescribed by Section 73(a) of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) shall be deemed to take effect from 
01/08/2018.
 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents - Proposed Elevations 16-032 101, Site Plan 16-032 201, Block 
Plan 16-032 301, routing plan, Design and Access Statement, Ammonia Modelling, 
Odour Modelling, Drainage Strategy report, Pollution Prevention Plan, Archaeological 
Assessment & Visual Impact Analysis, Noise Impact Assessment, Environmental 
Appraisal (Greenscape Environmental Ltd).
 3 Any entrance gates shall be set back at least 20 metres distant from the edge of 
the adjoining carriageway and shall be constructed so as to be incapable of opening 
towards the highway and shall be retained in this position and form of construction for 
as long as the dwelling/development hereby permitted remains in existence.
 4 The centre line of the first 20 metres of the access road measured from the edge 
of the adjoining carriageway shall be constructed at right angles to that edge of the said 
carriageway and be retained at that angle for as long as the development remains in 
existence.
 5 Within 28 days from the date of the development hereby permitted the access 
shall be constructed so that there is clear visibility from a point 1.05 metres above 
ground level at the centre of the access and 2.4 metres distant from the edge of the 
adjoining carriageway, to a point 0.26 metres above ground level at the edge of the 
adjoining carriageway and 70 metres distant in both directions measured from the 
centre of the access along the edge of the adjoining carriageway.  Nothing shall be 
planted, erected or allowed to grow on the area of land so formed that would obstruct 
the visibility and the visibility shall be maintained free from obstruction for as long as the 
development hereby permitted remains in existence.
 6 Within 28 days from the date of the development hereby permitted the area of 
the access to be used by vehicles is to be constructed to a minimum of 410mm depth, 
comprising a minimum of 250mm of sub-base material, 100mm of bituminous macadam 
base course material and 60mm of bituminous macadam binder course material for a 
distance of 20 metres from the edge of the adjoining carriageway, for its entire width.  
Any use of alternative materials is to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the access being constructed.
 7 Within 28 days from the date of the development hereby permitted provision shall 
be made within the curtilage of the site for the parking of not less than two cars and 
three heavy goods vehicles together with a turning space such that all vehicles serving 
the site may both enter and leave the site in a forward gear. The parking and turning 
areas shall be retained for their designated use for as long as the development hereby 
permitted remains in existence.

Tudalen 322



 8 The width of the access carriageway, constructed as Condition 6 above, shall be 
not less than 7.3 metres for a minimum distance of 20 metres along the access 
measured from the adjoining edge of carriageway of the county highway and shall be 
maintained at this width for as long as the development remains in existence.
 9 Within 28 days from the date of the development hereby permitted, a radius of 
12.5 metres shall be provided from the carriageway of the county highway on each side 
of the access to the development site and shall be maintained for as long as the 
development remains in existence.
10 Within 28 days from the date of the development hereby permitted the area of 
the access to be used by vehicles is to be finished in a 40mm bituminous surface 
course for a distance 20 metres from the edge of the adjoining carriageway. This area 
will be maintained to this standard for as long as the development remains in existence.
11 Upon formation of the visibility splays as detailed in Condition 5 above the 
centreline of any new or relocated hedge should be positioned not less than 1.0 metre 
to the rear of the visibility splay and retained in this position as long as the development 
remains in existence.
12 No storm water drainage from the site shall be allowed to discharge onto the 
county highway.
13 All HGV vehicles serving the site shall adhere to the routing plan submitted by 
the applicant.
14 The machinery, plant or equipment including air condition and ventilation 
systems (""machinery"") installed or operated in connection with the carrying out of this 
permission shall be so enclosed and/or attenuated that the noise generated by the 
operation of the machinery shall not increase the background noise levels during day 
time expressed as LA90 [1hour]  (day time 07:00-23:00 hours) and/or (b) LA90 [5 mins] 
during night time (night time 23:00-07:00 hours) at any adjoining noise sensitive 
locations or premises in separate occupation above that prevailing when the machinery 
is not operating. Noise measurements for the purpose of this condition shall be pursuant 
to BS 4142:2014.
15 All deliveries to and from site in connection to this application shall be carried out 
between the following hours, Monday to Fridays from 07.30 to 18.00 hours, Saturdays 
from 08.00 to 13.00 hours and at no time on Sundays, Bank and public holidays.
16 All emissions to air arising from the units hereby approved shall be free from 
odours at levels that are likely to be offensive or cause serious detriment to the amenity 
of the locality outside the site boundary of the holdings, as perceived by an authorised 
officer of the local planning authority by olfactory means.
17 All vehicles used for the movement of manure off site shall be sheeted and/or 
fully covered.
18 Any artificial lighting incorporated to these units in connection to this application 
shall not increase the pre-existing illuminance at the light sensitive locations when the 
light is in operation.
19 The storage and spreading of manure will be undertaken in accordance with the 
DEFRA Code of Good Agricultural Practice for the Protection of Air, Water and Soil.
20 The drainage strategy and pollution prevention plan submitted with the original 
application (P/2017/0640) by Waterco shall be strictly implemented in full and 
maintained thereafter.

Tudalen 323



21 Within 28 days from the date of the development hereby permitted details of both 
hard and soft landscape works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. These details shall include:
i) A statement setting out the design objectives and how these will be delivered;
ii) earthworks showing existing and proposed finished levels or contours;
iii)means of enclosure and retaining structures;
iv)other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;
v) hard surfacing materials;
vi)minor artefacts and structures 
vi)water features.
Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications (including 
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment; 
schedules of plants noting species, plant supply sizes and proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate; an implementation programme (including phasing of work where 
relevant). Development thereafter must be completed in full accordance with the details 
as approved.
22 Prior to the first use of any external lighting a lighting design scheme to take any 
impacts on nocturnal wildlife into consideration shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development thereafter shall be completed in 
full accordance with the details as approved.
23 The recommendations regarding bats identified in section 6 of the Environmental 
Appraisal Report (Greenscape Environmental Ltd, July 2017) shall be adhered to and 
implemented in full.

Reasons

 1 Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.
 2 To ensure adherence to the plans stamped as approved in the interests of clarity 
and a satisfactory development.
 3 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
 4 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
 5 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
 6 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
 7 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
 8 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
 9 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
10 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.

Tudalen 324



11 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
12 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
13 In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Powys Local Development 
Plan policies T1 and DM13, TAN 18 (2007) and Planning Policy Wales.
14 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13 of the 
Powys Local Development Plan.
15 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13 of the 
Powys Local Development Plan.
16 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13 of the 
Powys Local Development Plan.
17 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13 of the 
Powys Local Development Plan.
18 To safeguard the amenities of the locality in accordance with policy DM13 of the 
Powys Local Development Plan.
19 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9: 
2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the Environment (Wales) Act 
2016.
20 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policy DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
July 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the Environment (Wales) Act 
2016.
21 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policy DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016.
22 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policies DM2 and DM7 in relation 
to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales 
(Edition 9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016.
23 To comply with Powys County Council's LDP Policy DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016.

Informative Notes

 1 Birds - Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)

All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence 
to:

- intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird 
- intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or 

being built 

Tudalen 325



- intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
- intentionally (or recklessly in England and Wales) disturb any wild bird listed on 

Schedule1 while it is nest building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or 
disturb the dependent young of such a bird.  

The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is 
a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or 
building where that work involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest 
of any wild bird while the nest is in use or being built, (usually between late 
February and late August or late September in the case of swifts, swallows or 
house martins). If a nest is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work 
must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales and the Council's 
Ecologist.

Otters - Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)

Otters are known to be present on the majority of watercourses in Powys. The otter is 
fully protected under schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and Schedule 2 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (as amended).

It is therefore an offence to:
- Deliberately capture, injure or kill an otter;
- Deliberately disturb an otter in such a way as to be likely to significantly affect the local 

distribution or abundance of otters or the ability of any significant group of otters 
to survive, breed, rear or nurture their young;

- Damage or destroy an otter holt;
- Intentionally or recklessly disturb any otter whilst it is occupying a holt; or
- Intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a holt.

Reasonable avoidance measures need to be implemented to ensure minimal impact to 
otter activity in the local area. These will include:

- No night working or lighting of the works area;
- Ensuring that no barriers to movement of otters along the river are created;
- Keep unnecessary noise to a minimum during the works; and
- Do not light any fires close to areas of vegetation.

Dormice - Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)

It is an offence for any person to:
- Intentionally kill, injure or take any dormice.
- Intentionally or recklessly damage, destroy or obstruct access to any place that a 

Tudalen 326



dormouse uses for shelter or protection. 
- Under the Habitats Regulations it is an offence to:
Damage or destroy a breeding site or resting place of a dormouse. This is an absolute 

offence - in other words, intent or recklessness does not have to be proved. 

The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)  that works to trees or buildings where 
that work involves the disturbance of a dormouse is an offence if a licence has 
not been obtained from Natural Resources Wales. If a dormouse is discovered 
while work is being undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from 
Natural Resources Wales and the Council's Ecologist. 

Reptiles - Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended)

All UK native reptile species are protected by law.  The Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
(and later amendments) provides the legal framework for this protection.

The more widespread and common reptile species, namely common lizard, slow-worm, 
grass snake, and adder are protected against deliberate or reckless killing and 
injury

All species of reptile are priority species in the UK BAP and have been adopted on the 
Section 7 list of the living organisms of principal importance for the purpose of 
maintaining and enhancing biodiversity in relation to Wales, under the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

__________________________________________________
Case Officer: Thomas Goodman, Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827655 E-mail: thomas.goodman@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 327



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Glannant

Craignant

Rhiw Las

Lower Pengarth

Springs

215.2m

B 4594

CLIENT:

PROJECT:

DRAWING:

DRAWING No:

SCALE:

DATE:

CHECKED:

REVISION:

REV

1. Do not scale to ascertain dimensions.

2. All dimensions to be checked and verified on site prior
to commencement of work.

3. The building and site were surveyed for the stated
scale and any subsequent enlargements should be
verified on site.

4. All levels are in metres and relate to the stated Bench
Mark.

5. Copyright for all designs and drawings in whole or in
part shall remain with SP Surveying Limited in
accordance with The Copyright Act.

DATE DESCRIPTION

Notes

SURV

DRAWN:

John Abberley 

Craignant Egg Unit

Site Plan

16-032 201

1:1250 @ A2

16/06/2016

JT

RS

A

N

E

S

W

T
udalen 329



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

18/0200/FUL Grid Ref: E: 304568
N: 251784

Community 
Council:

 Llanelwedd Valid Date: 25.06.2018

Applicant: Mr David Thompson

Location: Llanelwedd Voluntary Primary School

Proposal: Siting of a mobile classroom

Application Type: Full Application

The reason for Committee determination

Powys County Council is the applicant.

Consultee Responses

Llanelwedd Community Council  

No comments received at the time of writing this report. 

PCC - Highways 

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Class III Highway, / Unclassified 
Highway

Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied
Recommendations/Observations

Does not wish to comment on the application; Powys County Council as Highway 
Authority do not wish to comment on this application as the access is onto a trunk road 
which comes under the jurisdiction of the Welsh Government

Welsh Government Transport

Comments Received 25/07/2018: 

I refer to your consultation of 11th July 2018 regarding the above application, and advise 
that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A483 trunk road directs that 
planning permission is not granted at this time as the applicant has provided insufficient 

Tudalen 331

6.5



informtaion to determine the application. 

The applicant must provide the following information to support this application or 
resubmit the application with the following details; 

- A detailed Transport assessment, which includes the Annual Average Daily Traffic 
value associated with the previous and proposed use factors of the site.

If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh Government 
Mailbox NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControl@gov.wales 

Comments Received 27/09/2018:

I refer to your consultation of 11/07/2018 regarding the above planning application and 
advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A483 trunk road does not 
issue a direction in respect of this application.

If you have any further queries, please forward to the following Welsh Government 
Mailbox NorthandMidWalesDevelopmentControlMailbox@gov.wales 

PCC - Building Control 

Building Regulations approval will be required for this proposal. 

Wales & West Utilities 

Wales & West Utilities have been made aware of a planning application on 10.07.2018, 
advising us of the proposals at:

Llanelwedd Primary School, Llanelwedd, Builth Wells, LD2 3TY.

We enclose an extract from our mains records of the area covered by your proposals 
together with a comprehensive list of General Conditions for your guidance. This plan 
shows only those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities in its role as a Licensed Gas 
Transporter (GT).Gas pipes owned by other GT's and also privately owned pipes may be 
present in this area. Information with regard to such pipes should be obtained from the 
owners. The information shown on this plan is given without obligation, or warranty and 
the accuracy thereof cannot be guaranteed. Service pipes, valves, syphons, stub 
connections, etc., are not shown but their presence should be anticipated. No liability of 
any kind whatsoever is accepted by Wales & West Utilities, its agents or servants for any 
error or omission.

Wales & West Utilities have no objections to these proposals, however our apparatus 
may be at risk during construction works and should the planning application be approved 
then we require the promoter of these works to contact us directly to discuss our 
requirements in detail. Should diversion works be required these will be fully chargeable.

Tudalen 332



Wales & West Utilities apparatus may be directly affected by these proposals and the 
Information you have provided has been forwarded to Asset Management for their 
comments. If Wales & West are affected an Engineer will then contact you direct.

Please note this is in regard only to those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities in its 
role as a licensed Gas Transporter (GT). Gas pipes owned by other GT’s and also 
privately owned may be present in this area and information with regards to such pipes 
should be obtained from the owners.

You must not build over any of our plant or enclose our apparatus.

Please note that the plans are only valid for 28 days from the date of issue and updated 
plans must be rquested before any work commences on site if this period has expired. 

If you have any queries please contact Sophie Dawkins on 02920 278912 who will be 
happy to assist you. 

Welsh Water

We refer to your planning consultation relating to the above site, and we can provide the 
following comments in respect to the proposed development. 

We would request that if you are minded to grant Planning Consent for the above 
development that the Conditions and Advisory Notes provided below are included within 
the consent to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr 
Cymru Welsh Water's assets.

Sewerage 

Condition: No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or 
indirectly with the public sewerage network.  

Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment. 

Natural Resources Wales  

Thank you for consulting Natural Resources Wales (NRW) about the above, which was 
received on 10/07/2018. We recommend that you should only grant planning permission 
if you attach the following condition. This condition would address significant concerns 
that we have identified and we would not object provided you attach them to the planning 
permission.

Condition 1: Flood Risk - The classrooms must be located outside of DAM Zone C2 in 

Tudalen 333



accordance with the submitted plan (Block Plan 5038-21-03) and the finished floor level 
set above the 0.1% flood level of 126.5mAOD.

Flood Risk

The updated planning application places the proposed classrooms on higher ground 
within DAM Zone A, on the periphery of the floodzones (Block Plan 5038-21-03). 
Provided all built development is located outside of DAM Zone C2, the school buildings 
should remain flood-free in a 1 in 1000 year event from the River Wye.

As noted in our previous response and with reference the FCA (WSP, September 2017):

• NRW flood data for has been obtained for the River Wye. The model doesn’t include risk 
from the Henllan Brook. The model shows flooding to part of the site in a 1 in 20 year 
(5%) event due to River Wye floodwater backing up the Henllan Brook to low lying parts 
of the site. Along the access route (through the existing school), flood depths and 
velocities vary between 0.3m to 2.4m for 0.1% event, with velocities of 0.2m/s to 1.8m/s 
(Section 4.1)

• There is a record of flooding from the Henllan Brook to the school grounds during the 
winter of 2015, resulting in flooding of the car park, playground and playing field (possibly 
on the access route to the proposed school buildings).

• The site is located within a flood warning area, within an expected time to inundation of 
around 7 hours given the large size of the River Wye catchment. Flooding from the 
Henllan Brook would be more rapid, but it should be noted that the extreme modelled 
depths are expected from the River Wye (Section 4.2)

Access will not be possible during larger floods. During a 1% event on the River Wye, a
possible access/egress is available through the current school building to dry ground. 
During the 0.1% scenario, this route floods to a depth of 300mm with flood velocities of 
0.2m/s. The residual risk is to be managed through use of the NRW flood warning service 
and site specific emergency evacuation procedures. The school is currently registered on 
this service and emergency plan will be revised to include this facility (Section 4.3)

With reference to the content of the FCA, we have the following comments:

• It is noted that a potential lifetime of development of 15 years is given in the FCA. The 
lifespan of the classrooms is not stated within the planning application and there is no 
guarantee that the classroom will not be retained/replaced past the 15 year design life. 
We would therefore recommend that the 75 year lifetime of development is used (2080s) 
as standard. The FCA appears to reference the incorrect climate change scenario in 
Table 3 and refers to the values for West Wales. The Severn catchment values are 
applicable for this site.(http://gov.wales/docs/desh/publications/160831guidance-for-flood-
consequenceassessments- climate-change-allowances-en.pdf). In this case the 2080 
value for the Severn catchment is the same as the 2050 value for the West Wales area 

Tudalen 334



(25%) and does not affect the results of the FCA.

• The site emergency access route is not compliant with the criteria in Section A1.15 of 
TAN15, (0.3m/s velocity, 60mm flooding), and is significantly exceeded in low-lying 
locations adjacent to the Henllan Brook. Safe evacuation of the site will be dependent on 
an effective flood emergency plan as noted in the FCA. NRW flood warnings are only 
issued for the River Wye and are not available for the Henllan Brook. Whilst a lesser flood 
extent and depths is anticipated from the brook, risk from this source should be 
considered in the emergency plan given the predicted rapid rate of inundation to low lying 
areas of the site.

• The FCA has not been updated to account for moving the built development outside the
floodzones. It was originally proposed to use stilts or raise ground levels beneath the 
building to ensure the threshold was above the 0.1% level of 126.5mAOD, giving around 
500mm freeboard above the 1%+25% CC level. We recommend that a threshold level of 
126.5maOD for the buildings is adhered to, to ensure the floor level remains above the 
0.1% flood level.

We therefore have no objection subject to condition:

Condition 1: Flood Risk - The classrooms must be located outside of DAM Zone C2 in 
accordance with the submitted plan (Block Plan 5038-21-03) and the finished floor level 
set above the 0.1% flood level of 126.5mAOD.

This will ensure that the built development remains flood-free in accordance with the 
requirements of TAN15.

- Recommendations

The flood emergency plan for the school should be revised to include the new facility and 
agreed with the Local Authority to ensure the safe evacuation of the site during a flood 
event. The site is within the Flood Warning area for the River Wye at Builth Wells.

As it is for your Authority to determine whether the risks and consequences of flooding 
can be managed in accordance with TAN15, we recommend that you consider consulting 
other professional advisors on the acceptability of the developer’s proposals, on matters 
that we cannot advise you on such as emergency plans, procedures and measures to 
address structural damage that may result from flooding. We refer you to the above 
information and the FCA to aid these considerations.

Please note, we do not normally comment on or approve the adequacy of flood 
emergency response and procedures accompanying development proposals, as we do 
not carry out these roles during a flood. Our involvement during a flood emergency would 
be limited to delivering flood warnings to occupants/users.

Do not hesitate to contact us if you require further information or clarification on any of the 

Tudalen 335



above.

Our comments above only relate specifically to matters that are included on our checklist 
“Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations” (March 2015) which is published 
on our website: https:/naturalresources.wales/planning-and-development/planning-and-
development/?lang=en. We have not considered potential effects on other matters and do 
not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other interests, including 
environmental interests of local importance.

The applicant should be advised that, in addition to planning permission, it is their 
responsibility to ensure that they secure all other permits/consents relevant to their 
development.

PCC – Ecology 

Thank you for consulting me with regards to planning application P/2018/0680 which 
concerns the siting of a mobile classroom at Llanelwedd Primary School.

I have reviewed the proposed plans, as well as local records of protected and priority 
species and designated sites within 500m of the proposed development. The data search 
identified 236 records of protected and priority species within 500m of the proposed 
development.

There are three statutory designated sites present within 500m of the proposed 
development:

 Llanelwedd Rock – SSSI
 River Wye (Upper Wye) – SSSI
 River Wye - SAC

In considering the location and nature of the proposed development in relation to the 
River Wye SAC it is considered that there is no likelihood of direct or indirect impacts 
between the site of the proposed development and the River Wye SAC. This assessment 
has taken into account the fact that there are Buildings and roadway between the 
proposed development and SAC. Given the lack of connection between the proposed 
development and the nature of the development it is considered that there is no potential 
for a Likely Significant Effect to the SAC or its associated features and that a HRA would 
not be required.

There are no non-statutory designated sites present within 500m of the proposed 
development.

The proposed siting of the refurbished mobile classroom appears to be an area of 
existing hardstanding.

No tree or hedgerow are required to be removed to accommodate the mobile classroom. 

Tudalen 336



With regards to protected and priority species identified as present in the local area by the 
data search it is not considered likely that the proposed development would result in 
negative impacts to these species and no surveys are considered necessary. 

The proposed developments and all associated work will not result in the loss of any 
features of ecological importance and it is considered the proposed plans will not result in 
negative impacts to biodiversity in the wider area.

Environmental Health 

Environmental Protection have no adverse comments to make. 

Emergency Planning 

Comments Received 06/11/2018:

I have looked through the FEP and this is on the whole well written with clear (NRW) 
Registration and Notification, and School Cascade and Actions. I would like to make three 
recommendations:

• Map. A Map should be included to clearly show the main rendezvous point (RVP 
(tarmac area at front of school?)), ‘Safe Area’ (St Mathews Church?) and evacuation 
routes (see below). This is particularly important for persons who are unfamiliar with site.  
• Routes. The identified escape routes (as listed by Fire & Rescue) should be 
numbered ‘Route1’ ‘Route 2’ etc. and clearly shown on the above map. People panic in 
such situations and anything that can be done to simplify processes is to be encouraged 
(i.e. ‘We will now evacuate via Route 1’).  
• Document Management.  The FEP should include a Version Number, Completion 
Date and Review Date. 

The above information is provided for your information and any further action you deem 
appropriate.

Comments Received 07/11/2018: 

Thank you for that information. I assume that the FEP from Schools Service now replaces 
the earlier one from the school? Also as persons names and numbers are listed these 
should really be reviewed annually (three years is too long a period). 

Comments Received 07/11/2018: 

We have no further comments to make.

Representations

Tudalen 337



Following the display of a site notice on 23/07/2018 no public representations or 
objections have been received at the time of writing this report. 

Planning History
App Ref

P/2017/1083

Description

Installation or refurbished mobile 
classroom. 

Decision

Refuse

Date

15/12/2017 

Principal Planning Constraints

 C2 Flood Zone 

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policy 

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, November 2016)

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 – Nature, Conservation and Planning (2009) 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 11 – Noise (1997)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 – Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 – Development and Flood Risk (2004)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18 – Transport (2007)
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23 – Economic Development (2014) 

Local Planning Policies

DM2 – The Natural Environment
DM4 – Landscape
DM5 – Development and Flood Risk
DM7 – Dark Skies and External Lighting 
DM13 – Design and Resources
E2 – Employment Proposals on Non-allocated Employment Sites
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure
C1 – Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Tudalen 338



Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Site Location and Description

The proposed development is not located within a settlement development boundary 
and therefore for the purposes of this application is considered as development within 
the open countryside as defined by the Powys Local Development Plan (2018). 

To the north of the application site is agricultural land, to the south, east and west is 
land associated with Llanelwedd Primary School, including the playground and other 
classrooms. 

Consent is sought for the siting of a mobile classroom. The mobile classroom will 
measure approximately 9.6 metres in length by 8.6 metres in width, with a ridge height 
of 3.5 metres. The selected materials are as follows; stained timber cladding, EPDM 
membrane with black uPVC fittings and timber framed painted black windows & doors.

Planning History

Members will note that this application previously came before Members under planning 
application P/2017/1083 and was refused on the following grounds:

The proposal will lead to an increase in highly vulnerable development within Zone C2 
as defined by the development advice maps referred to under TAN15 Development and 
Flood Risk (2004). The development is contrary to policy SP14 of the Powys Unitary 
Development Plan (2010), Technical Advice Note 15 (TAN 15) Development and Flood 
Risk (2004) and Planning Policy Wales (2016).

This application is now for an amended scheme submitted for approval, amending the 
proposed location of the cabin.

Principle of Development 

Policy C1 of the Powys Local Development Plan (LDP) (2018) states that development 
proposals for community or indoor recreation facilities will be permitted where proposals 
are within or adjoining a settlement identified in the strategic settlement hierarchy and 
where no suitable facility exists nearby which could appropriately accommodate the 
proposed use. Additionally, policy C1 seeks to ensure that the appropriateness and 
feasibility of multi-use has been considered. 

Consent is sought for the siting of a mobile home to provide an extension to the existing 
school facilities at Llanelwedd Primary School. It is considered that there are no other 
buildings within the school site or adjoining which could accommodate this use and 

Tudalen 339



therefore in principle it is considered that the proposed development fundamentally 
complies with relevant planning policy subject to consideration of the following:

Scale and Design 

With respect to design specific reference is made to LDP policy DM13 (Part 1). This 
policy indicates that development proposals will only be permitted where the 
development has been designed to complement and/or enhance the character of the 
surrounding area in terms of siting, appearance, integration, scale, height, massing, and 
design detailing.

Consent is sought for the siting of a mobile classroom which will measure approximately 
9.6 metres in length by 8.6 metres in width, with a ridge height of 3.5 metres. This scale 
is deemed to be typical of a mobile classroom and will not have a detrimental impact 
upon the existing school buildings. It is noted that the proposed materials for the mobile 
classroom do not match those typical of the existing school. However, it is not 
considered the introduction of a timber clad mobile classroom would have a detrimental 
impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area given that the 
design of the proposed mobile classroom is typical of a building of this type. 

In light of the above it is therefore considered that the proposed development 
fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy. 

Flood Risk 

Members will recall that a previous application for this site was refused under planning 
application P/2017/1083 as the siting of the mobile home was located entirely within a 
C2 Flood zone. 

This scheme now proposes development which is located entirely outside of the C2 
Flood Zone but directly adjoins it. Policy DM5 of the Powys Local Development Plan 
refers to development proposals in flood risk areas. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
have been consulted and have confirmed they would not object to the proposal 
providing the classroom is located outside of DAM Zone C2 in accordance with the 
submitted plan (Block Plan 5038-21-03). In addition, NRW did raise some concern that 
a safe evacuation of the site will be dependent on an effective flood emergency plan as 
noted in the Flood Consequence Assessment. 

A Flood Emergency Plan has been produced in light of these comments from Natural 
Resources Wales, with Emergency Planning consulted on the adequacy of the plan. 
Whilst Emergency Planning cannot approve flood emergency plans, they have provided 
comments on adequacy of the plan in place. Following the submission of a revised flood 
emergency plan on 07/11/2018, Emergency Planning confirmed they no longer had any 
recommendations or comments to make. 

Tudalen 340



Therefore, in light of the above and despite part of the evacuation route from the mobile 
classroom being located within the flood zone, given the siting of the classroom entirely 
outside of the flood zone, and the fact Emergency Planning have no comments to make 
on the Flood Emergency Plan it is considered that the flood risk could be managed to 
an acceptable level. However, given NRW’s advice regarding egress (The site 
emergency access route is not compliant with the criteria in Section A1.15 of TAN15, 
(0.3m/s velocity, 600mm flooding), and is significantly exceeded in low-lying locations 
adjacent to the Henllan Brook) members are advised that this is an on balance 
recommendation and that the advice provided by NRW should be carefully considered 
as a potential reason for refusal. 

In light of the above, it is considered that the flood risk posed by the proposed 
development subject to appropriately worded conditions can be managed to an 
acceptable level. 

Highways 

A safe access, parking and visibility splays are a fundamental requirement of any 
development (LDP: DM13, Part 10).

The application does not seek any alterations to the existing access or parking 
arrangements on site. The access to the site is located off the A483 Trunk Road which 
comes under the jurisdiction of Welsh Government. 

In light of this Welsh Government Trunk Road were consulted on the proposed 
development and requested that a detailed Transport Assessment be submitted to 
include Annual Average Daily Traffic values. Following receipt of the requested 
information Welsh Government confirmed they no longer issue a direction or objection 
in respect of this application. 

In light of the above it is considered that the proposed development fundamentally 
complies with relevant planning policy. 

Amenities enjoyed by occupiers of neighbouring properties

In considering the amenities enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring properties 
consideration has been given to the Powys Residential Design Guide (October 2004) & 
LDP: DM13 (Part 11).

The proposed development is not considered to offer any additional impact upon loss of 
daylight or loss of privacy to any neighbouring dwellings based on the distance between 
and the siting of the mobile classroom on an elevation which does not directly overlook 
any neighbouring properties. In addition, Environmental Health were consulted on the 
proposed development and confirmed that they had no objection to the proposed 
development.

Tudalen 341



It is considered, therefore, that the proposed development fundamentally complies with 
relevant planning policy.

Biodiversity

With respect to biodiversity, specific reference is made to LDP policy DM2 which seeks 
to maintain biodiversity and safeguard protected important sites.

The Ecologist reviewed the proposed plans as well as records of protected and priority 
species and designated sites within 500m of the proposed development. The data 
search identified 236 records of protected and priority species with three statutory 
designated sites identified as follows; Llanelwedd Rock – SSSI, River Wye (Upper Wye) 
– SSSI and River Wye – SAC. 

In assessing the location and nature of the proposed development in relation to the 
River Wye SAC the Ecologist considered there will be no likely direct or indirect impacts 
and as such there is no potential for a likely Significant Effect to the SAC or its 
associated features and a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is not required. 

With regard to protected and priority species it is not considered likely that the proposed 
development would result in negative impacts to these species and no surveys are 
considered necessary. Overall, the Ecologist considered the proposed developments 
and all associated work and considered that the proposed will not result in the loss of 
any features of ecological importance or result in any negative impacts to biodiversity in 
the wider area.

In light of the above it is considered that the proposed development fundamentally 
complies with relevant planning policy. 

RECOMMENDATION – CONDITIONAL CONSENT 

Having carefully considered the proposed development, officers consider that the 
proposal fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy. The recommendation is 
therefore conditional approval. 

Conditions

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 
the expiration of five years from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the amended 
plans stamped as received on 25/06/2018 (drawing no’s: 5038-21-02, 5038-21-03, 
5038-21-04 & 5038-21-05). 

3. No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or 
indirectly with the public sewerage network.  

Tudalen 342



4. The classrooms must be located outside of DAM Zone C2 in accordance with the 
submitted plan (Block Plan 5038-21-03) and the finished floor level set above the 0.1% 
flood level of 126.5mAOD.

5. Prior to the first use of the application site The Flood Emergency Plan stamped 
as received on the 07/11/2018 shall be implemented in full and maintained thereafter in 
perpetuity. 

Reasons

1. Required to be imposed by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. To ensure adherence to the plans approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
the interests of clarity and a satisfactory development.

3. To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment.

4. To protect the development from flooding in accordance with policies DM5 and 
TAN 15. 

5. To protect the development from flooding in accordance with policies DM5 and 
TAN 15. 

Informative Notes

Wales & West Utilities 

We enclose an extract from our mains records of the area covered by your proposals 
together with a comprehensive list of General Conditions for your guidance. This plan 
shows only those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities in its role as a Licensed Gas 
Transporter (GT).Gas pipes owned by other GT's and also privately owned pipes may 
be present in this area. Information with regard to such pipes should be obtained from 
the owners. The information shown on this plan is given without obligation, or warranty 
and the accuracy thereof cannot be guaranteed. Service pipes, valves, syphons, stub 
connections, etc., are not shown but their presence should be anticipated. No liability of 
any kind whatsoever is accepted by Wales & West Utilities, its agents or servants for 
any error or omission.

Wales & West Utilities have no objections to these proposals, however our apparatus 
may be at risk during construction works and should the planning application be 
approved then we require the promoter of these works to contact us directly to discuss 

Tudalen 343



our requirements in detail. Should diversion works be required these will be fully 
chargeable.

Wales & West Utilities apparatus may be directly affected by these proposals and the 
Information you have provided has been forwarded to Asset Management for their 
comments. If Wales & West are affected an Engineer will then contact you direct.

Please note this is in regard only to those pipes owned by Wales & West Utilities in its 
role as a licensed Gas Transporter (GT). Gas pipes owned by other GT’s and also 
privately owned may be present in this area and information with regards to such pipes 
should be obtained from the owners.

You must not build over any of our plant or enclose our apparatus.

Please note that the plans are only valid for 28 days from the date of issue and updated 
plans must be rquested before any work commences on site if this period has expired. 

If you have any queries please contact Sophie Dawkins on 02920 278912 who will be 
happy to assist you.

Welsh Water 

Advisory Notes 

The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the 
public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public 
sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the 
connecting property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), 
it is now a mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement 
(Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also 
conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains, 
and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further information 
can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com
  
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be 
recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned 
and were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes 
for Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011.  The presence of such assets may 
affect the proposal.  In order to assist us in dealing with the proposal the applicant may 
contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water on 0800 085 3968 to establish the location and status 
of the apparatus. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has 
rights of access to its apparatus at all times.

Our response is based on the information provided by your application.  Should the 
proposal alter during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are 
re-consulted and reserve the right to make new representation.

Tudalen 344



If you have any queries please contact the undersigned on 0800 917 2652 or via email 
at developer.services@dwrcymru.com

Please quote our reference number in all communications and correspondence.

_____________________________________________
Case Officer: Rhys Evans, Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827235 E-mail: rhys.evans@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 345



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Proposed Escape route

1 Ddole Road Industrial Estate

Llandrindod Wells

Powys

LD1 6DF

Tel: 07773076048

Drawing Title

Drawing Number:

Drawn by:

Scale:

Project

Date:

Do not scale from drawings, refer only to figured dimensions.

Check all dimensions on site.

Report any discrepancies to the Contract Administrator promptly.

Revisions:

Llanelwedd C in W

Primary School

Location Plan

5038-21-02

TM

1:2500 @ A4 22/6/2018

Application site
boundary and site
access.
School site boundary

Site
entrance

Mobile
location

‰

‰

© Crown copyright and database rights 2017 Ordnance Survey

100025371.

Additional Information © Powys County Council (2017).

"You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of

this data to third parties in any form". 0m 10m

T
udalen 347

AutoCAD SHX Text
Henllan Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
River View

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Dan-y-Darren

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
Tai-Ffald

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Llanelwedd Voluntary

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
The Crescent

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
St Matthew's Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
Ty Cerrig

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
The Rectory

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
Stone Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
A 483

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
A 481

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
 Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliah cronfa ddata 2017 Arolwg Ordnans 100025371. Gwybodaeth ychwanegol ‰ Cyngor Sir Powys (2017).  Cyngor Sir Powys (2017). "Nid oes gennych hawl i gopio, is-drwyddedu, dosbarthu na gwerthu'r data hwn mewn unrhyw ffordd i drydydd parti". 



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

P/2018/0514 Grid Ref: E: 306703
N: 248588

Community 
Council:

 Duhonw Valid Date: 30.05.2018

Applicant: Miss Carol Gittins

Location: Ysgiog Field, Builth Wells, Powys, LD2 3YP,  

Proposal: Full: Change of use of land from agricultural use for use as a temporary 
stopping site (two weeks every year for a duration of five years) for Gypsies and 
Travellers attending the annual Royal Welsh Agricultural Show

Application Type: Full application

The reason for Committee determination

Powys County Council is the applicant.

Consultee Responses

Duhonw Community Council 

No comments received at the time of wriitng this report. 

PCC Highways 

Powys County Council as Highway Authority does not wish to comment on this 
application as the access is onto a trunk road which comes under the jurisdiction of the 
Welsh Government.

Welsh Government Transport 

Comments Received: 05/07/2018

Ysgiog Field, Builth Wells, Powys

Change of use of land from agricultural use for use as a temporary stopping site (two 
weeks every year for a duration of five years) for Gypsies and Travellers attending the 
annual Royal Welsh Agricultural Show. 

Tudalen 349

6.6



I refer to your consultation of 14th June 2018 regarding the above application, and 
advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 trunk road directs 
that planning permission is not granted at this time as the applicant has provided 
insufficient information to determine the application. 

The applicant must provide the following information to support this application or 
resubmit the application with the following details; 

- The applicant must forward a suitably scaled drawing detailing the existing 
access off the A470 trunk road, which must incorporate the following aspects: 
- a) Visibility splays in either direction from a suitable set back. 
- b) Hedge / Verge Cutting Requirements (Distance and Maximum Heights)
 
The above aspects must conform to the Design Manual for Roads and Bridges (DMRB).

- The applicant must also provide a Traffic Management Plan Report which 
provides methodology to the movement of vehicles associated with the application. The 
report must also include a suitably scaled drawing depicting the Temporary Road 
Signage that is to be erected during the period the site is operational. 
 
Comments Received 19/11/2018;

I refer to your consultation of 14/06/2018 regarding the above planning application and 
advise that the Welsh Government as highway authority for the A470 Trunk Road 
directs that any permission granted by your authority shall include the following 
conditions:

1) Improvements to visibility splays as depicted on drawing 1914/R001 shall be 
implemented every year before the field is brought into use. 

The above conditions are included to maintain the safety and free flow of trunk road 
traffic. 

Wales & West Utilities

No comments received at the time of writing this report. 
 Severn Trent Water  
With Reference to the above planning application the company’s observations regarding 
sewerage are as follows:

As the proposal has minimal impact on the public sewerage system I can advise we 
have no objections to the proposals and do not require a drainage condition to be 
applied.

Environmental Health

Tudalen 350



Environmental Protection has no objection to this. 

Built Heritage Officer

1.0 Recommendation

1.1 no objections 

Reason: It is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the policies and 
Guidance in PPW and Tan 24  including setting of historic assets with its annexes and 
the adopted Powys Local Development Plan

2.0 Background to Recommendation 

2.1 Designations 

Cadw ID 24818 Milestone at Henallt included on the statutory list on 22/02/2001
Cadw ID 24819 Milestone near Glanwye Lodge  included on the statutory list on 
22/02/2001

2.2 Policy Background

The advice has been given with reference to relevant policies, guidance and legislation: 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
Planning Policy Wales 9th edition 2016  
Conservation Principles published by Cadw 
TAN24
Managng Change to Listed Buildings in Wales – Annexe to TAN 24
Conservation Areas in Wales – Annexe to TAN 24 
Setting of Historic Assets in Wales – Annexe to TAN24
Heritage Impact Assessments – Annexe to TAN24
Historic Environment Records

Local Development Plan:

 Strategic Policy SP7 
DM13 Design and Resources Local Development Plan Themes and Objectives;
Theme 4 – Guardianship of natural, built and historic assets
LDP Objective 13 – Landscape and the Historic Environment

3.0 Comments 

3.1 The proposal is for the change of use of a field for use as a temporary stopping 
place for 2 weeks a year. 

Tudalen 351



3.2 The field is sited between 2 listed milestones on the A470.   It is not considered that 
the temporary use of the land for 2 weeks a year would affect the setting of the listed 
buildings. 

3.3  I have taken into account the guidance in section 16 and 66 of  The Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Conservation Principles,  section 
6.5.11 of PPW, TAN24 and its annexes, and given the  fact that the listed buildings are 
milestones and the temporary use of the land  I would have no objections to the 
proposal on the grounds of the setting of listed buildings. 

Ecologist 

Planning Application Ecological Observations

Planning Application Reference: P/2018/0514 
Application Description: Full: Change of use of land from agricultural use for use as a 
temporary stopping site (two weeks every year for a duration of five years) for Gypsies 
and Travellers attending the annual Royal Welsh Agricultural Show.

Consultation Deadline: 28/06/2018

Sources of Information:

An Ecological Impact Assessment report (dated May 2018) has been prepared by 
Powys County Council’s ecologist and submitted with the application.  These 
observations are based on the findings of the ecology report, the submitted plans, 
Design and Access Statement, Site Management Plan and historical biodiversity 
records provided by the Powys and Brecon Beacons National Park Biodiversity 
Information Service.

Summary of historical species records:

The Ecological Impact Assessment report identifies 129 historical protected and priority 
species records from within 1km of the site, with none from the site itself.  Historical 
records from within 1km of the site include: bat species, Atlantic salmon, White-clawed 
freshwater crayfish, Parmotrema perlatum (a lichen), otter, badger, hare, Great Crested 
newt, bluebell, pillwort and various Schedule 1 and Section 7 bird species including 
kingfisher, cuckoo, Red kite and Song thrush.

Protected and Priority Species/Habitats:

The Ecological Impact Assessment report concludes that the field is of low ecological 
importance, comprising semi-improved, heavily-grazed grassland and offering limited 
opportunities for protected and priority species.  The report identifies the main features 
of biodiversity interest as being the boundary features (mature hedgerows and 

Tudalen 352



broadleaved woodland) and a mature oak tree at the centre of the site, which may be 
used by protected and priority species for foraging and commuting.  The report confirms 
that none of these features would need to be removed for the application.  Measures 
proposed to protect such features during the two week use of the field include security 
fencing and sensitive security lighting e.g. lighting to be pointed away from the 
hedgerows.

The report concludes that otters may use the broadleaved woodland to the east of the 
site, bordering the River Wye, as suitable habitat for occasional resting sites, but no 
evidence of this was found during the site survey.  The report also states that the site 
will be checked by the county ecologist prior to the event, and the site security fencing 
will provide a 7m buffer from the river bank.  Adverse impacts on otters are therefore 
unlikely.

Non-native Invasive Species:

The Ecological Impact Assessment report confirms that areas of Himalayan Balsam are 
present along the eastern edge of the field.  However, the report explains that this is 
located behind the areas of proposed security fencing and the site would be in use prior 
to the usual production of seed pods, so the spread of this species as a result of the 
application is unlikely.  The report also highlights that monitoring of the species’ site 
distribution since the field has previously been used as a temporary camping site has 
not identified any further spread.

Designated Sites for Nature Conservation:

The site is adjacent to (west of) the River Wye SAC and River Wye (Upper Wye) SSSI.  
The Ecological Impact Assessment report explains that security fencing will be provided 
to maintain a 7m buffer zone between the camping site and River Wye and the on-site 
security presence will act as a deterrent to accessing the river bank.  Management 
measures identified to avoid negative impacts occurring to the SAC and SSSI are 
outlined in the Ecological Impact Assessment report and the 2018 Site Management 
Plan, and are consistent with those adopted for the previous temporary use of the field, 
with no adverse impacts identified from the monitoring completed since 2010.  Such 
management measures include direct protection of the riverbank with Heras fencing and 
site security, waste and foul water disposal provisions and site monitoring by the county 
ecologist.

Further information required prior to determination of application:

None.

Recommended Conditions:

Should you be minded to approve this application, I recommend the inclusion of the 
following condition:

Tudalen 353



Condition: The mitigation regarding boundary features, the mature oak tree, otters, 
Himalayan Balsam and the River Wye SAC/SSSI in Section 7 of the ecological report by 
Powys County Council dated May 2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full 
unless otherwise agreed in writing with the LPA.

Reason: To comply with Powys County Council’s UDP Policies SP3, ENV3, ENV4, 
ENV5 and ENV7 in relation to The Natural Environment and to meet the requirements 
of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and 
Planning and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

Natural Resources Wales  

BWRIAD / PROPOSAL: Full: Change of use of land from agricultural use for use as a 
temporary stopping site (two weeks every year for a duration of five years) for Gypsies 
and Travellers attending the annual Royal Welsh Agricultural Show. Ysgiog Farm, Builth 
Wells.

Thank you for consulting Natural Resources Wales (letter dated 07/06/2018) regarding 
the above.
NRW does not object to the proposal. In our opinion, as explained below, the proposal 
is not likely to adversely affect any of the interests listed, subject to the use of 
appropriate conditions.

Protected Sites:

The proposed site lies immediately adjacent to the River Wye Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and River Wye (Upper Wye) Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI).
NRW does not object to issue of consent for this 5 year proposal in view of the 
information submitted within the Site Management Plan dated 2018.
Please refer to our response letter dated 27/01/2014 (NRW-14-008333) for more 
detailed comments on the previous proposal (P/2013/1206) which appears to be very 
similar to the current one.

NRW advises that all the recommendations regarding protection of the designated sites 
and their features identified in the Site Management Plan are secured via appropriate 
conditions and implemented in full.

Protected Species:

We are satisfied that the Ecological Impact Assessment report by Rachel Peobert dated 
May 2018 is satisfactory for the purposes of informing the public decision making 
process.

Tudalen 354



The recommendations proposed within the report: Section 7 Mitigation Measures of the 
report should be adhered to so as to avoid adverse impacts on bats and otters.

Flood Risk:

The application site lies predominantly within Zone C2, as defined by the Development 
Advice Map (DAM) referred to in Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood 
Risk (TAN15). Our Flood Map information, which is updated on a quarterly basis, 
confirms the site to be within the 1% (1 in 100 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual 
probability fluvial flood outlines of the River Wye, a designated main river.

TAN15 states that caravan sites are highly vulnerable and that they give rise to 
particular problems because of special risks to occupants at times of flooding. However, 
due to the temporary nature of the application (indicated to be a two week period of 
occupancy) and the existing permission at the site for the same use, we advise your 
Authority that a flood consequence assessment (FCA) is not required but the following 
advice should be strongly considered by your Authority as the applicant and decision 
maker.

A flood evacuation plan should be prepared and ready to implement in the event of 
flooding at the site. However, you should note that we are unable to provide you with 
advice on or approve the adequacy of flood emergency response and procedures 
accompanying development proposals, as we do not carry out these roles during a 
flood. Our involvement during a flood emergency would be limited to delivering flood 
warnings to occupants/users. Your Authority, in consultation with other professional 
advisors, should be satisfied that plans and procedures are feasible and in place.

This site is within the NRW Flood Alert area for the River Wye in Powys and the 
operators are advised to sign up to Floodline Warnings Direct (0345 988 1188 / 
https://naturalresources.wales/flooding/flood-warning-service/?lang=en).

Biosecurity:

We consider biosecurity to be a material consideration owing to the nature and location 
of the proposal. In this case, biosecurity issues concern invasive non native species 
(INNS) and diseases. We therefore advise that any consent includes the imposition of a 
condition requiring the submission and implementation of a Biosecurity Risk 
Assessment to the satisfaction of the LPA.

We consider that this assessment must include
(i) measures or actions that aim to prevent INNS being introduced to /allowed to 
disperse from the site for the duration of construction and operational phases of the 
scheme.

Scope of NRW Comments:

Tudalen 355



Our comments above only relate specifically to matters that are included on our 
checklist “Natural Resources Wales and Planning Consultations” (March 2015) which is 
published on our website: (: https://naturalresources.wales/media/5271/150302-natural-
resources-wales-and-planning-consultations-final-eng.pdf). We have not considered 
potential effects on other matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed 
development to affect other interests, including environmental interests of local 
importance. The applicant should be advised that, in addition to planning permission, it 
is their responsibility to ensure that they secure all other permits/consents relevant to 
their development.

Representations

The application was advertised through the erection of a site notice, a total of 1 
objection has been received in respect of the proposed development and can be 
summarised below; 

• Fence and ‘buffer zone’ not been appropriately maintained under previous 
approval for site P/2013/1206. 
• Damaged vegetation as a result in the neighbouring SSSI.

Planning History
P/2013/1206: Change of use of field from agricultural use to a temporary stopping place 
for Gypsy-Travellers for a two week period to include the time of the Royal Welsh Show 
annually for five years – Conditional Consent.  

P/2012/0291: Change of use of field from agricultural use to a temporary stopping place 
for Gypsy-Traveller for a two week period to include the time of the Royal Welsh Show 
annually for five years – Conditional Consent.

 P/2011/0298: Change of use from agricultural use for a two week period to a temporary 
stopping place for Gypsy-Traveller to include the period of the Royal Welsh Agricultural 
Show – Conditional Consent. 

 P/2010/0254: Change of use (2 week period) to temporary stopping place for Gypsy-
Traveller to include the period of the Royal Welsh Agricultural Show – Conditional 
Consent. 

 B/03/0054: Touring Gypsy-Traveller caravan site for period 12-24 July covering 
duration of Royal Welsh Agricultural Show – Conditional Consent. 

 B/99/0130: Touring (Gypsy-Traveller) caravan site for two weeks including 1999 Royal 
Welsh Show (10-24 July) at OS Parcel 7354 – Conditional Consent.

Principal Planning Constraints

C2 Floodzone  

Tudalen 356



Next to SSSI 
Listed Milestone at Henallt
Listed Milestone near Glanwye Lodge  

Principal Planning Policies

National Planning Policy

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature, Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 13: Tourism (1997)
Technical Advice Note 15: Development and Flood Risk (2004)
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007)
Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017) 

Local Planning Policies

SP7- Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
DM2 – The Natural Environment
DM4 – Landscape
DM5 – Development and Flood Risk
DM6 – Flood Prevention Measures and Land Drainage
DM7 – Dark Skies and External Lighting
DM8 – Minerals Safeguarding 
DM13 – Design and Resources 
T1 – Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure
H10 – Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans 
H11 – Gypsy and Traveller Site Provision
TD1 – Tourism Development  

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Site Location and Description

Tudalen 357



The application site is in the Community Council area of Duhonw and falls outside of 
any village or settlement development boundary and therefore for the purposes of this 
application is development within the open countryside as defined by the Powys Local 
Development Plan (2018). The site comprises an agricultural field which is currently 
used as a temporary stopping site for Gypsies and Travellers attending the annual 
Royal Welsh Agricultural Show. The application site is bound by the A470 Trunk Road 
to the north and west elevations, with the River Wye running to the east of the site and 
further agricultural land located to the south. 

This application seeks permission for a change of use on Ysgiog Field OS Parcel 7354, 
which forms part of Ysgiog Farm, from agricultural use to a two-week Temporary 
Stopping Place for Gypsies and Travellers who attend the Royal Welsh Agricultural 
Show each year. This permission requests a two week change of use period annually 
for duration of five years from 1st September 2018 to 31st August 2023. The same 
proposal was previously approved in 2013 under application ref. P/2013/1206 for 
duration of five years.

Principle of Development 

Policy H10 of the Local Development Plan – Gypsy and Traveller Sites and Caravans 
states that proposals for permanent or temporary (transient or transit) Gypsy and 
Travellers sites and caravans, to meet a proven, unmet local need, will be permitted 
where sites are situated in a sustainable location which has access to educational, 
community, social, health and other services and facilities  

Evidence has been submitted which identifies that there is a need within the locality to 
provide temporary accommodation to accommodate gypsies and travellers attending 
the Royal Welsh Agricultural Show for a two-week period. This application follows on 
from a previously approved scheme submitted under P/2013/1206 which also granted 
consent temporarily for a five year period.

In light of the above and given the evidence provided it is therefore considered that the 
principle of the proposed development for temporary accommodation therefore 
fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy.

Highway Safety

A safe access, parking and visibility splays are a fundamental requirement of any 
development (LDP: DM13, Part 10). 

Welsh Government Transport were consulted on the proposed development as the 
existing access joins directly onto the A470 Trunk Road. Initial concerns were raised 
and it was requested that a Traffic Management Plan Report as well as a drawing 
detailing visibility splays and hedge / verge cutting requirements was submitted in 
support of the application. The requested information was submitted and following 

Tudalen 358



further consultation with the Welsh Government Transport Department they have 
confirmed they no longer object to the proposed development subject to the inclusion of 
an appropriately worded condition regarding the proposed visibility splays. 

In light of the above and subject to the attachment of the recommended condition it is 
therefore considered that the proposed development fundamentally complies with 
relevant planning policy in terms of highway safety. 

Amenities enjoyed by occupiers of neighbouring properties

In considering the amenities enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring properties 
consideration has been given to the Powys Residential Design Guide (October 2004) & 
LDP: DM13 (Part 11).

There are no neighbouring residential properties within close proximity of the site, the 
A470 Trunk Road borders the site to the north and west elevations, with agricultural 
land to the south and the River Wye to the east, the nearest neighbouring residential 
property, Ysgiog, is located approximately 310 metres to the north west. Given the 
temporary use of the site as a gypsy and traveller site for just two weeks per year and 
the previous planning history of the site it is not considered there will be any significant 
impacts upon the amenities of neighbouring properties or the surrounding area.  

The objection received did raise concerned regarding the fence and buffer zone not 
being appropriately maintained. In order to ensure that this is adhered to as part of this 
approval a condition will be attached regarding mitigation strategies for the boundary 
treatment of the site.  

In light of the above it is considered that the proposed development fundamentally 
complies with relevant planning policy. 

Biodiversity

With respect to biodiversity, specific reference is made to LDP policy DM2 which seeks 
to maintain biodiversity and safeguard protected important sites.

The Ecologist reviewed the proposed plans and Ecological Impact Assessment 
submitted which identified 129 historical protected and priority species records within 
1km of the site, although no records were found for the site itself. It is noted that the 
application site is located adjacent to the River Wye SAC and River Wye SSSI. The 
Ecological Impact Assessment report explains that security fencing will be provided to 
maintain a 7m buffer zone between the camping site and the SAC / SSSI. The 
maintenance of this buffer zone has been included within the Ecological Impact 
Assessment and will be secured through an appropriately worded condition. 

Natural Resources Wales also commented on Biosecurity at the site, in particular issues 
regarding invasive non-native species (INNS). It has therefore been recommended that 

Tudalen 359



a biosecurity risk assessment be submitted and implemented as part of this consent, 
which will be secured through an appropriately worded condition. 

Subject to the recommended conditions being attached to any grant of consent National 
Resources Wales and the Powys Ecologist therefore confirmed they had no objections 
to the proposed development.

The public representation received did raise concern regarding the fence and buffer 
zone not being appropriately maintained and causing negative impacts upon the SSSI. 
As confirmed above the maintenance of the buffer zone will secured through an 
appropriately worded condition. 

In light of the above and subject to the appropriately worded conditions, it is considered 
that the proposed development fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy. 

Flood Zone

Policy DM5 of the Powys Local Development Plan refers to development proposals in 
flood risk areas. The proposed development would result in highly vulnerable 
development being located within a C2 Flood Zone, which is contrary to guidance 
contained within TAN15. However, given the temporary nature of the use of the site, two 
weeks per year, and the existing permission at the site, Natural Resources Wales have 
confirmed that they do not require a flood consequence assessment to be submitted in 
this instance. 

NRW have however, recommended that a flood evacuation plan is prepared and should 
be ready to be implemented in the event of flooding at the site. As stated above given 
the temporary nature and history of the site it is considered the preparation of a flood 
evacuation plan can be secured through an appropriately worded condition prior to the 
commencement of any development on site. 

In light of the above and subject to an appropriately worded condition it is therefore 
considered that the application site can be managed to an acceptable level. 

Listed Milestones 

Given the application sites location between 2 listed milestones on the A470 
consideration has been given to Technical Advice Note 24 and LDP Policy DM13 (Part 
3). The Built Heritage Officer was consulted on the proposed development and 
considered that given the temporary use of the land for 2 weeks per year, there would 
be no adverse effect upon the setting of the listed monuments.

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed development fundamentally 
complies with relevant planning policy.  

RECOMMENDATION – CONDITIONAL CONSENT 

Tudalen 360



Having carefully considered the proposed development, officers consider that the 
proposal fundamentally complies with relevant planning policy. The recommendation is 
therefore conditional consent subject to the conditions below.

Conditions

1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 
the expiration of five years from the date of this permission.

2. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the amended 
plans stamped as received on 10/05/2018 (drawing no’s: Block Plan and Location Plan) 
and amended plan stamped as received on 19/11/2018 (drawing no: 1914/R001). 

3. Improvements to visibility splays as depicted on drawing 1914/R001 shall be 
implemented every year before the field is brought into use.

4. Prior to the first use of the site each year, the mitigation regarding boundary 
features, the mature oak tree, otters, Himalayan Balsam and the River Wye SAC/SSSI 
as identified in Section 7 of the Ecological Report by Powys County Council dated May 
2018 shall be adhered to and implemented in full and retained thereafter for the full 
period of occupation of the site.

5. Prior to first use/construction of the site each year a Biosecurity Risk 
Assessment, including measures or actions that aim to prevent INNS being introduced / 
dispersed from the site for the duration of construction and operational phases of the 
scheme, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme as approved shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to the first use of 
the site and maintained thereafter for the full period of occupation of the site.

6. Prior to the first commencement of the development hereby permitted a flood 
evacuation scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme as approved shall thereafter be implemented in full for every 
future occupation of the site.

7. This consent shall be limited to a time period of 14 days annually, during the 
period of the Royal Welsh Agricultural Show, until the 31st August 2023. 

Reasons

1. Required to be imposed by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

2. To ensure adherence to the plans approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
the interests of clarity and a satisfactory development.

Tudalen 361



3. In the interests of highway safety and in accordance with the provisions of Powys 
LDP Policy DM13 (Part 10).

4. To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policy DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016.

5. To comply with Powys County Council’s LDP Policy DM2 in relation to The 
Natural Environment and to meet the requirements of Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, 
November 2016), TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning and the Environment 
(Wales) Act 2016.

6. To protect the development from flooding in accordance with polices DM5 and 
TAN: 15. 

7. To ensure the retention of planning control by the Local Planning Authority in 
recognition of the location of the site and to accord with Policy H10 of the LDP.  

Informative Notes 

YGC – Ecology 

Informatives

Otters – Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017

Otters are known to be present on the majority of watercourses in Powys. The otter is 
fully protected under schedule 5 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended) and Schedule 2 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017.

It is therefore an offence to:
• Deliberately capture, injure or kill an otter;
• Deliberately disturb an otter in such a way as to be likely to significantly affect the 

local distribution or abundance of otters or the ability of any significant group of 
otters to survive, breed, rear or nurture their young;

• Damage or destroy an otter holt;
• Intentionally or recklessly disturb any otter whilst it is occupying a holt; or
• Intentionally or recklessly obstruct access to a holt.

__________________________________________________
Case Officer: Rhys Evans, Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827235 E-mail: rhys.evans@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 362



T
udalen 363



T
udalen 364



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

18/0712/DIS Grid Ref: E: 295827
N: 265700

Community 
Council:

 Llanwrthwl Community Valid Date: 20.09.2018

Applicant: Mr Paul Wozencraft

Location: Land at Dol Y Garreg, Llanwrthwl, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6NU. 

Proposal: Discharge of conditions 15, 20, 23, 24 and 25 from planning permission 
P/2017/1437

Application Type: Discharge of Condition

The reason for Committee determination

The applicant is an employee of Powys County Council who has had dealings with 
Development Management.

Consultee Responses

Consultee Received

PCC-Ecologist 30th Oct 2018

Thank you for consulting me with regards to application 18/0575/DIS submitted to 
discharge conditions 20, 24 & 25 from planning permission P/2017/1437 in relation to 
Erection of a pullet rearing unit, feed silos and all associated works, Land at Dol y Garreg, 
Llanwrthwl, Llandrindod Wells.

Condition 20 requires that:

No external lighting shall be installed unless a detailed external lighting design scheme has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The external 
lighting scheme shall identify measures to avoid impacts on nocturnal wildlife. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Condition 24 requires that:

Prior to the commencement of any building works (works relating specifically to the 
application building), scaled drawings detailing the landscaping scheme for the application 

Tudalen 365

6.7



site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
submitted landscaping scheme shall include scaled drawings and a written specification 
clearly detailing: species, sizes (in metric form), densities and planting numbers of new 
trees and/or hedgerow planting.

Condition 25 requires that:

No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping. The scheme 
shall include indications of all existing trees (including spread and species) and hedgerows 
on the land, identify those to be retained and set out measures for their protection 
throughout the course of development.

I have reviewed the information submitted by the applicant to discharge this condition which 
consists of the following documents:

o Tree and Hedgerow Protection Statement

o External Lighting Design Scheme Statement

o Proposed Landscaping and Surface Water Layout Plan drawing no. 4723/5 
produced by Gareth Price Chartered Building Surveyor dated October 2017.

Having reviewed the information submitted I consider that sufficient detail has been 
provided and the information and measures identified are appropriate and sufficient to 
comply with the requirements of conditions 20, 24 & 25.

I therefore consider that sufficient information has been submitted to enable discharge of 
conditions no. 20, 24 & 25 of planning consent P/2017/1437.

PCC-(M) Highways 13th Nov 2018

I have reviewed the proposal regarding the siting of 2 passing bays and would comment 
as follows:

1. The locations for the passing bays are acceptable;
2. The minimum length of a passing bay should be 9 metres but 6m would be 

acceptable at one location if the full 9m cannot be accommodated (Drawing 
attached);

3. A street works licence will be required for the works which can be obtained through 
the Street Works section at Powys County Council, tel. 01597 826667 or email 
street.works@powys.gov.uk

4. If you let me know when the works are complete I can arrange for them to be 
checked and formally discharged.

Tudalen 366

mailto:street.works@powys.gov.uk


PCC- (S) Land Drainage 1st Nov 2018

Having had the opportunity to view the submitted information, the Land Drainage Section 
are content that the applicant has provided the necessary information to discharge the 
condition relating to surface water drainage.

The following documents were used to reach this decision, Drawing Ref 4723/5, Excel Doc 
DOLGARREGSOAKREVD & Word Doc DOLGARREG SOAKDOLG.

I hope the above is helpful but if we can be of any further assistance then please do not 
hesitate to contact the Land Drainage Section.             

Planning History
App Ref Description Decision Date

P/2017/1437 Full Erection of a pullet rearing 
unit, feed silos and all associated 
works

Consent 24/05/2018

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Officer Appraisal

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is to be 
had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Site Location and Description

Tudalen 367



The application site is located within the community council area of Llanwrthwl. The site 
is located within the open countryside as identified within the Local Development Plan 
(2018). The application site is surrounded by agricultural land to the south, east and 
west with the County Highway, C0010 running to the north of the application site.

Consent was granted under planning application P/2017/1437 by Member of the 
Planning, Taxi Licensing and Right of Way Committee for the Erection of a pullet rearing 
unit, feed silos and all associated works.

This application now seeks consent to discharge Conditions 15, 20, 23, 24 and 25.

Condition 15 states;

15. Prior to any works being commenced on the development site the applicant shall
construct 2 passing bays, in locations to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The passing bays shall be constructed up to adoptable standard prior to any 
works being commenced on the development site.

Condition 20 states;

20. No external lighting shall be installed unless a detailed external lighting design 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The external lighting scheme shall identify measures to avoid impacts on nocturnal 
wildlife. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Condition 23 states;

23. No development shall commence until a detailed scheme for the surface water 
drainage of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The approved scheme shall be completed before the building comes into use.
Condition 24 states;

24. Prior to the commencement of any building works (works relating specifically to the 
application building), scaled drawings detailing the landscaping scheme for the 
application site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted landscaping scheme shall include scaled drawings and a 
written specification clearly detailing: species, sizes (in metric form), densities and 
planting numbers of new trees and/or hedgerow planting.

Condition 25 states;

25. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority a scheme of landscaping. The 
scheme shall include indications of all existing trees (including spread and species) and 

Tudalen 368



hedgerows on the land, identify those to be retained and set out measures for their 
protection throughout the course of development.

PCC Highways

The Highways Authority were consulted and assessed the information submitted and 
considered that the proposed locations for the passing bays were acceptable, however, 
the condition cannot be fully discharged as the passing bays have not been 
constructed.

In light of the above it is considered that there has been sufficient information has been 
provided to partially discharge condition 15 of planning application P/2017/1437.

PCC Ecology

The PCC Ecologist has been consulted regarding the discharge of conditions 20, 24 
and 25 of planning permission P/2017/1437 and has reviewed the information submitted 
by the applicant to discharge the condition which consists of:

 Tree and Hedgerow Protection Statement
 External Lighting Design Scheme Statement
 Proposed Landscaping and Surface Water Layout Plan drawing no.4723/5 

produced by Gareth Price Chartered Building Surveyors dated October 2017.

The Ecologist reviewed the information submitted and considers that sufficient detail 
has been provided and the measures identified and the information submitted is 
appropriate and sufficient to comply with the requirements of conditions 20, 24 and 25.

It is therefore considered that sufficient information has been submitted to enable the 
discharge of conditions 20, 24 and 25 of planning consent P/2017/1437. 

PCC Land Drainage

The Land Drainage Officer has been consulted regarding the discharge of condition 23 
of planning permission P/2017/1437 and has reviewed the information submitted by the 
applicant to discharge the condition which consists of:

 Drawing no.4723/5
 Excel Document DOLYGARREGSOAKREVD 
 Word document DOLYGARREG SOAKDOLG

The Land Drainage Officer reviewed the information submitted and considers that 
sufficient detail has been provided and the measures identified and the information 
submitted is appropriate and sufficient to comply with the requirements of condition 23.

Tudalen 369



In light of the above it is considered that there has been sufficient information provided 
and is considered to be acceptable to satisfy condition 23 of planning application 
P/2017/1437.

RECOMMENDATION – Approval 

In light of the above, it is therefore considered that sufficient information has been 
submitted to enable the discharge of the conditions 15, 20, 23, 24 and 25 of planning 
permission P/2017/1437 as sought by the applicant.
__________________________________________________
Case Officer: Sara Robinson, Planning Officer
Tel: 01597 827229 E-mail: sara.robinson@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 370



DO NOT SCALE, USE FIGURED DIMS ONLY
COPYRIGHT

SAB

Rev. Des. Date.

Drn.

Date.

Scale.

Dwg No.11/17

1:2500@A4

4723/2A

Project.

PROPOSED PULLET REARING UNIT,
DOL-Y-GARREG, LLANWRTHWL

Subject.

SITE LOCATION

A REDLINE AMENDED 02/18

   Ashby House, Middleton Street,
Llandrindod Wells, Powys LD1 5ET

Tel: 01597 822412

Email: gareth.llandod@garnersouthall.co.uk

Chartered Building Surveyor

            1:2500 @A4

Gareth Price

Garner Southall Group Practice

Dolifor

To Elan Valley
and Rhayader

N

S

EW

To Llanwrthwl

Tudalen 371



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee Report

Application 
Number:

18/0940/NMA Grid Ref: E: 326051

N: 320683

Community 
Council:

 Carreghofa Community Valid Date: 20.11.2018

Applicant: Powys County Council

Location: Carreghofa Primary School, Llanymynech, SY22 6PA

Proposal: Application for a non-material amendment to planning approval P/2018/0370 
in respects of altering the roof construction from pitched roof to flat roof

Application Type: Non-Material Amendment

Reason for Committee determination

The applicant is Powys County Council.

Representations

No representations received at the time of writing the report.

Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date

5652

M1088

M/1997/0290

M/2000/0227

M/2004/0056

Alterations to school

Alterations and extension

Erection of an extension to 
provide hall, kitchen, offices and 
store

Siting of a mobile classroom

Siting of a mobile classroom

Conditional 
consent

Conditional 
consent

Conditional 
consent

Conditional 
consent

Conditional 
consent

4th February 
1963

27th March 1975

6th May 1997

9th May 2000

8th Mar 2004

P/2018/0370 Full: Erection of an extension, Conditional 14th Jun 2018

Tudalen 373

6.8



alterations and all associated 
works

consent

Principal Planning Constraints

B4398 highway;
Dismantled railway located to south of application site; and
Montgomery Canal located to north of application site across the B4398 highway; and
The following listed buildings are located in the vicinity of the site:

Cottage immediately to the east of Wern School – grade II listed;
Road bridge over disused railway cutting in the centre of Wern – grade II;
Carreghofa Aqueduct parallel to the public road 700m west of Llanymynech – 
grade II.

Principal Planning Policies

National policy

Planning Policy Wales (2016)

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016)
Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)

Local policy

Powys Local Development Plan 92018)

SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
C1 – Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities
DM2 – The Natural Environment
DM13 – Design and Resources
TD3 – Montgomery Canal and Associated Development

Other Legislative Considerations

Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Equality Act 2010 

Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (Welsh language) 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

Tudalen 374



Officer Appraisal

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004

Members are advised to consider this application in accordance with Section 38 (6) of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, which requires that, if regard is had 
to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.

Site Location and Description

Carreghofa Primary School is located on the southern side of the B4398 highway in 
Carreghofa. Planning permission was granted under reference P/2018/0370 for the 
erection of an extension on the north east part (front elevation) of the school and 
alterations to provide a staff room, head teacher’s office, lobby and office. The floor 
space of the proposed extension is 38 square metres. 

This application for a non material amendment to planning permission P/2018/0370 
seeks confirmation that a change from a pitched roof to a flat roof on the approved 
extension is considered to be a non material amendment to the original planning 
permission, not requiring full planning permission.

Section 96A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) allows non-
material amendments to be made to an existing planning permission via a simple 
application procedure to the local planning authority. Non-material amendments are the 
least significant form of change that can be made and should have no material effect on 
the planning permission. 

There is no statutory definition of a ‘non-material amendment’. This is because it 
depends on a number of factors such as the context of the overall scheme, the 
amendments being sought to the original planning permission, the specific 
circumstances of the site and surrounding areas, which will vary from one application to 
another. What may be non-material in one context may be material in another.

The responsibility for determining whether a proposed change is non-material lies with 
the local planning authority. It must be satisfied that the amendments sought to the 
planning permission are non-material in nature and can therefore be determined as an 
application under Section 96A of the TCPA 1990.

In deciding whether or not a proposed change is non-material, consideration should be 
given to the effect of the change, together with any previous changes made to the 
original planning permission. When assessing and determining whether or not a 
proposed change would qualify as a non material amendment, the Welsh Government 
advises that amendments should be considered in line with four tests:

Tudalen 375



(a)(i) is the scale of the proposed change great enough to cause an impact different to 
that caused by the original approved development scheme; and,
(a)(ii) would the proposed change result in a detrimental impact either visually or in 
terms of local amenity?
(b) would the interests of any third party or body be disadvantaged in planning terms; or,
(c) would the proposed change conflict with national or development plan policies?

If the proposed amendment is considered to be material, a further application will be 
required to secure permission for the proposed amendments. Where a local planning 
authority determines that some of the amendments applied for are material and some 
are non-material, they may partially approve the application.

The proposed amendment will be considered against the above four tests below.

Is the scale of the proposed change great enough to cause an impact different to that 
caused by the original approved development scheme?

The proposed change from a pitched to a flat roof would cause a different impact in 
terms of the visual appearance, however given that height of the extension would be 
lower than the approved height, the scale is not considered to be material.

Would the proposed change result in a detrimental impact either visually or in terms of 
local amenity?

The proposed flat roof would result in a different visual impact to the approved pitched 
roof. It is noted that the dwelling to the east of the school (but set back from the 
highway) known as Maes is a grade II listed building and the road bridge over disused 
railway cutting and Carreghofa Aqueduct are also grade II listed structures. In addition, 
the Montgomery Canal is located to the north of the dwelling beyond the highway. 
Taking into account the scale of the extension, the character of the existing school 
building and the surrounding area and the location and distance of the listed building 
and structures, it is considered that the proposed change would not result in a 
detrimental visual or local amenity impact. 

Would the interests of any third party or body be disadvantaged in planning terms?

Given that the location and footprint of the extension is not proposed to change and that 
the front elevation of school is separated from residential dwellings by the B4398 
highway and Montgomery canal, it is considered that the proposed change would not  
disadvantage any third party or body in planning terms.

Would the proposed change conflict with national or development plan policies?

The previous application was determined under the Local Development Plan and given 
that the visual impact is considered acceptable, it is concluded that the proposed 
changes would not conflict with national or development plan policies.

Tudalen 376



RECOMMENDATION

In light of the above considerations, the proposed change to the original permission are 
considered acceptable and qualify as a non-material amendment, therefore the 
recommendation is one of approval.

__________________________________________________
Case Officer: Kate Bowen, Planning Officer
Tel: 01938 551268 E-mail: kate.bowen@powys.gov.uk  

Tudalen 377



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



T
udalen 379



M
ae'r dudalen hon w

edi'i gadael yn w
ag yn fw

riadol



Tudalen 381

8



Tudalen 382



Tudalen 383



Tudalen 384



Tudalen 385



Tudalen 386



Tudalen 387



Tudalen 388



Tudalen 389



Tudalen 390



Tudalen 391



Tudalen 392



Tudalen 393



Tudalen 394



Tudalen 395



Tudalen 396



Tudalen 397



Tudalen 398



Tudalen 399



Tudalen 400



Tudalen 401



Tudalen 402



Tudalen 403



Tudalen 404



Tudalen 405



Tudalen 406



Tudalen 407



Tudalen 408



Tudalen 409



Tudalen 410



Tudalen 411



Tudalen 412



Tudalen 413



Tudalen 414



Tudalen 415



Tudalen 416



Tudalen 417



Tudalen 418



Tudalen 419



Tudalen 420



  

 
  
  

  
Cyf ffeil/File ref: APP/T6850/A/17/3176128 

 

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

 

Adroddiad Report 
Ymchwiliad a gynhaliwyd ar 13-16 a 20-

23/03/18 

Ymweliad safle a wnaed ar 23/03/18 

Inquiry Held on 13-16 & 20-23/03/18 

Site visit made on 23/03/18 

gan Hywel Wyn Jones  BA (Hons) BTP 
MRTPI 

by Hywel Wyn Jones  BA (Hons) BTP 
MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 11.05.2018 Date: 11.05.2018 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 – Section 78 

APPEAL BY HENDY WIND FARM LIMITED 

LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 

Planning application for: 

The development proposed is to construct and operate seven wind turbines with a 
maximum tip height of 110m (hub height 69m) together with ancillary development 

comprising substation, control building, new and upgraded access points and tracks, 
hardstanding and temporary compound with associated works 

Land off A44 South West of Llandegley, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5UG 

 

Tudalen 421

http://www.planning-inspectorate.gov.uk/


Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    2 

CONTENTS 

 

 

 Page 

List of abbreviations 3 

Procedural and Preliminary Matters 5 

The Site and Surroundings 7 

Planning Policy  8 

The Proposal 11 

Other Agreed Facts 12 

The Case for Hendy Wind Farm Limited 12 

The Case for Powys County Council 37 

The Case for The Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales, 
Brecon and Radnor Branch 

47 

Other Persons appearing at the Inquiry 61 

Written Representations 62 

Conditions and Obligations  64 

Inspector’s Conclusions 66 

Recommendation 82 

    Appearances 83 

    Inquiry Documents 84 

    Core Documents 86 

Annex A: Schedule of Recommended Conditions 93 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 422



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    3 

ABBREVIATIONS 

 

AA Appropriate Assessment 

AOD Above Ordnance Datum 

ASIDHOL Assessment of Significance of Impact of Development  on 

Historic Landscape Area 

BOAT Byway Open to All Traffic 

CEMP Construction and Environmental Management Plan      

CPRW 

B&R 

Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales, Brecon and 

Radnor Branch 

DECC Department of Energy & Climate Change 

DUKES Digest of UK Energy Statistics 

EPS Energy Policy Statement 

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 

ES Environmental Statement 

GLVIA3 Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

HMP Habitat Management Plan  

HRA Habitat Regulations Assessment 

ID Inquiry Document 

LPA Local Planning Authority 

LSA Local Search Area 

LVIA Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

MoD Ministry of Defence 

NPS National Policy Statement 

NRW Natural Resources Wales 

LDP Local Development Plan 

OS Ordnance Survey 

OAL Open Access Land 

OSS Open Spaces Society 

PCC Powys County Council  

PPW Planning Policy Wales 

Tudalen 423



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    4 

PROW Public right of way 

PSPP Protected Species Protection Plan 

RIGS Regionally Important Geological Site 

SAC Special Area of Conservation 

SAM Scheduled Ancient Monument 

SLA Special Landscape Area 

SoCG Statement of Common Ground 

SSA Strategic Search Area 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 

TAN8 Technical Advice Note 8: Planning for Renewable Energy 

TAN24 Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment 

VP Viewpoint 

VSAA Visual and Sensory Aspect Area 

WBFG Act Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

WG Welsh Government 

WSE Written Statement of Evidence 

ZTV Zone of Theoretical Visibility 

Tudalen 424



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128 
 

 

 

5 

 

File Ref: APP/T6850/A/17/3176128 

Site address: Land off A44 South West of Llandegley, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, 
LD1 5UG 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 

refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Hendy Wind Farm Limited against the decision of Powys County Council. 

 The application (ref: P/2014/0672), dated 27 June 2014, was refused by notice dated 

18 May 2017. 

 The development proposed is to construct and operate seven wind turbines with a maximum tip 

height of 110m (hub height 69m) together with ancillary development comprising substation, 

control building, new and upgraded access points and tracks, hardstanding and temporary 

compound with associated works. 

Summary of Recommendation: the appeal be dismissed. 
 

Procedural and Preliminary Matters 

1. As the appeal scheme proposes the construction of an on-shore wind generating 
station that is expected to have (when constructed) an installed generating capacity 
in excess of 10 megawatts it is of national significance for the purpose of the relevant 

regulations1.  All appeals which fall within the categories and thresholds of the new 
Developments of National Significance process are now recovered for determination 

by the Welsh Ministers.  Accordingly the appeal was recovered for determination by 
the Cabinet Secretary for Environment and Rural Affairs by letter dated 15 June 2017. 

2. In accord with The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 1999 as amended the submitted planning 
application was accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES) and Non-technical 

Summary.   

3. In a letter dated 16 August 2017 The Planning Inspectorate confirmed that the ES 
met the minimum requirements of the Regulations.  Several objectors, most notably 

the Brecon and Radnor Branch of The Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales 
(CPRW B&R), consider the ES to be seriously lacking in detail.  However, the statutory 

consultees including Natural Resources Wales (NRW), have confirmed that they are 
satisfied that it is adequate.   

4. In addition to the ES I have also had regard to other environmental information 

contained in the responses from statutory consultees and comments from other 
interested parties, and the additional evidence, including technical assessments, 

contained in the written statements of evidence and in documents presented at the 
Inquiry. Taking into account this additional information which supplements and in 
some instances supersedes the ES, I consider the available environmental information 

to be adequate to determine the appeal. 

                                       

1 Regulation 4, Developments of National Significance (Specified Criteria and Prescribed Secondary 

Consents) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2016, as amended by the Developments of 

National Significance (Specified Criteria and Prescribed Secondary Consents) (Wales) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2016 

Tudalen 425



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    6 

5. In response to concerns expressed by the Council at the start of the Inquiry the 
appellant presented an amendment to its draft planning agreement under section 106 

of the Act at the Inquiry (ID45).  The Council confirmed that it was satisfied with the 
revised version.  A deadline for the submission of a duly executed agreement was 

agreed before the close of the Inquiry but no completed document was received.   

6. The CPRW B&R was made a Rule 6 party to the Inquiry, and duly submitted written 
evidence and presented witnesses, cross-examined the appellant’s witnesses and 

participated in discussions on the planning conditions and obligations.   

7. At the outset of the Inquiry the appellant presented drawings (ID25 and ID48) which 

identified an alternative approach to the construction of the proposed access tracks 
and associated works.  These showed a vertical alignment to the tracks that would 

more closely follow existing site topography thus markedly reducing the engineering 
works identified on the details submitted with the application (ID18).  The other 
parties were able to respond to the suggested changes (ID39) and confirmed that 

these later drawings represented an improvement on the original details, and there 
was agreement that no injustice would arise should the revision be taken into account 

in the determination of the appeal. 

8. In a letter dated 26 September 2017 Cadw wrote to The Planning Inspectorate to 
suggest that the appellant be invited to consider whether to amend the ES chapter on 

cultural heritage to take into account changes to guidance2 produced after its 
preparation.  In a response dated 3 November 2017 the appellant explained that it 

considered the ES approach broadly in accord with the new guidance and that the 
changes to the relevant policy and guidance would be addressed in the evidence of its 
expert witness.   

9. On the opening day of the Inquiry the Council presented an email dated 12 March 
2018 from Cadw (ID01) offering to provide comments on the appellant’s expert 

witness evidence.  At the Inquiry the Council confirmed that Cadw had subsequently 
confirmed that it was unable to provide an officer to attend the Inquiry and therefore 
provided written comments on Mr Le Quesne’s written statement of evidence (ID21).  

The expert witnesses presented their evidence in the light of these comments and the 
appellant provided a paper responding to the points raised (ID47).   

10. At the start of the Inquiry a letter (ID02) was presented on behalf of a local land 
owner expressing concern that proposed improvements to an access route would 
extend over his land.  The appellant subsequently confirmed at the Inquiry that this 

would not be the case. 

11. The proposed access road would cross registered common land.  In 2014 the 

appellant sought to obtain the necessary consents in relation to the common land but 
subsequently withdrew the application.  There is no dispute that the need to obtain 
the necessary consents is a separate matter which is unaffected by the grant of the 

planning permission which is the subject of this appeal.  

12. I undertook an accompanied visit to the site and its surroundings on 23 March in the 

company of representatives of both main parties and CPRW B&R.  I also undertook 
unaccompanied visits to public vantage points within the surrounding area on other 

                                       

2 Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment, and Cadw guidance: Setting of Historic Assets 

in Wales 

Tudalen 426



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    7 

occasions.  All visits were undertaken in weather conditions that provided good 
visibility.  At the suggestion of Ms Bolger, I also visited public vantage points close to 

the Bryn Blaen Wind Farm, at Blaen y Glyn near Llangurig. 

13. The planning application was determined on the basis of the Powys Unitary 

Development Plan.  Since that decision the Powys Local Development Plan has been 
subject to formal examination.  By the close of the Inquiry the Council had received 
the Inspector’s report and binding recommendations which confirmed the soundness 

of the Plan.  All parties at the Inquiry were given the opportunity to comment on the 
recommended changes.  In anticipation that the Council would adopt the LDP on the 

17 April 2018 the main parties focussed their attention on this plan in their 
presentation of local planning policy evidence.  The LDP was adopted on this date and 

is now the statutory development plan for the purposes of determining the appeal. 

14. The site lies within 1.3km of the River Wye/Afon Gwy SAC.   In a letter dated 22 
December 2014 (ID13) NRW expressed concern regarding the lack of transparent 

Habitats Regulations Assessment for the SAC.  This prompted the appellant to submit 
a ‘Habitats Regulations Assessment Screening Report’, February 2015.  Probable 

effects on the SAC were identified at both construction and decommissioning stages 
of the scheme.  However, when factoring in identified mitigating measures, it found 
that there would be no significant impacts.  In response to that report, NRW 

confirmed on 18 December 2015 that it was satisfied that the proposed development 
would not have any significant effects on any protected sites provided that the 

mitigation prescribed in the report is implemented in full.   

15. Since the close of the Inquiry a preliminary ruling by the Court of Justice of the 
European Union (C-323-17, dated 12 April 2018) has established that at the 

screening stage of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process, mitigation measures 
should not be taken into account in deciding whether an Appropriate Assessment (AA) 

is required.  On that basis it is evident that the possibility that the proposal would 
have significant adverse effects cannot be ruled out without further consideration.  As 
the competent authority it falls on the Welsh Ministers to undertake an AA and, in 

light of my recommendation on the appeal, I take the matter no further. 

The Site and Surroundings 

16. The site lies 6km or so to the east of Llandrindod Wells.  There are several small 
villages that lie closer, including Llandegley and Penybont to the north and 
Franksbridge and Hundred House to the south.  There are sporadic farmsteads and 

dwellings within the surrounding area, of which 2 are within 1km of the closest 
turbines (Pye Corner is some 980m distant and Hendy Farm (which has an interest in 

the scheme) is 960m.  Most buildings in the area occupy low lying, sheltered 
locations. 

17. The appeal site extends over mainly upland pasture fields, which broadly ranges from 

290m to 360m AOD with markedly higher ground surrounding it in most directions.  
Fields are generally enclosed with fences with occasional hedgerows.  There are 

several small pockets and one larger parcel of mainly conifer plantations.  Ditches and 
streams drain to nearby larger water courses.  Within and/or close to the site there 
are areas of Open Access Land and land subject to historic inclosure awards, 

bridleways, a public footpath and a Byway Open to All Traffic (BOAT).  At the time of 
my visit the Council had temporarily closed the BOAT to vehicles because of its 

condition – it was deeply rutted and waterlogged apparently as a result of its 
recreational use by 4x4 vehicles.  

Tudalen 427



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    8 

18. To the south of the site there are 2 small (14m to hub) operational wind turbines, one 
at 1km the other at 2.5km.  A turbine with blade tip height of 21m lies 3.5km to the 

north.  The ES undertook an assessment of cumulative impacts of the scheme with 
other turbine projects in 2014.  The Council confirmed at the inquiry that there are no 

other turbine schemes that have emerged since then which ought to have been 
considered and that some of the proposed schemes which were included in the 
assessment were no longer being pursued.  

19. The site does not lie within, nor is it close to, a Strategic Search Area as identified in 
TAN8. 

Planning Policy 

The development plan 

20. As explained above the planning application was determined on the basis of the 
Powys Unitary Development Plan which has now been replaced by the Powys Local 
Development Plan (LDP).  Its approach to renewable energy is set out in supporting 

text at paragraphs 4.10.1-4.10.14. 

21. As part of the preparation of the LDP the Council, in line with the advice in paragraph 

12.8.18 of PPW to facilitate local authority-wide scale renewable energy, considered 
whether to designate Local Search Areas (LSAs) for renewable energy development.  
It decided that constraints meant that there were no areas deemed suitable as LSA 

for wind turbine developments.  A number of LSAs were designated for solar arrays, 
including an area which encompasses the appeal site.  It appears that the spatial 

extent and the identified potential energy generation capacity of this LSA were 
determined in the knowledge that the appeal scheme could be developed. 

22. Of particular relevance is Policy RE1: Renewable Energy3.  It is permissive of such 

development provided 5 criteria are met.  Criteria 4 and 5 require satisfactory 
mitigation and compensatory benefits respectively.  Of the remaining criteria that are 

relevant in this case there is some dispute over compliance with criteria 2 and 3. 

23. Criterion 2 provides that within LSAs proposals for renewable and low carbon energy 
development, other than solar PV, must demonstrate that they would not prejudice 

the purpose of the LSA.  The Council does not argue any conflict with this criterion, 
but it was raised by CPRW B&R. Given the background to the LSA designation set out 

above it seems to me that the appeal scheme would not prejudice solar array 
development within other parts of the LSA.  Moreover, given that the renewable 
energy generated from the scheme would exceed that envisaged from solar within the 

LSA, it would appear that the proposal would not conflict with the purpose of the local 
designation, which is to facilitate renewable energy.  Criterion 3 requires compliance 

with other relevant LDP policies. 

24. Policy SP7: Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets seeks to protect from 
‘unacceptable’ adverse impacts assets, including: land designated for environmental 

protection; historic environment designations, including Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments; recreational assets, including public rights of way; and valued 

characteristics and qualities of the landscape.  Policy DM4: Landscape is also a 
protective policy that seeks to avoid ‘unacceptable’ adverse effects on landscape.  It 

                                       

3 The wording of the policy has been changed on the recommendation of the Inspector, and is set 

out in ID41 

Tudalen 428



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    9 

expects the design of development to be appropriate and sensitive to the various 
components of landscape, including historic and ecological qualities, open views and 

tranquillity, and also should have regard to LANDMAP and the visual amenity by users 
of the landscape. 

25. Policy DM13: Design and Resources permits development where a series of criteria 
are satisfied which relate to the general approach to good quality design, including 
that it has been designed to complement or enhance its surroundings, contributes to 

local distinctiveness and sense of place and does not impact on established tourism 
assets and attractions.   

26. In addition to policy RE1, policies SP7 and DM4 are of particular relevance to the main 
considerations in this appeal.  As both seek to avoid ‘unacceptable’ harm they require 

the degree of any harm to be considered.  It seems to me that it is also necessary to 
consider any benefits that may arise in order to inform any consideration of the 
acceptability of harm.  To avoid the dangers of double-counting I have sought to 

adopt a holistic approach to the issue of acceptability.  To do otherwise would create 
the potential for the benefits of the scheme to justify a finding of compliance with 

individual policies when considered in isolation whereas the same benefit, when 
balanced against the sum of the harms identified in relation to those policies, could tilt 
the balance in the opposite direction.  

National planning policy 

27.  Paragraph 4.5.7 of Planning Policy Wales, Edition 9 (PPW) sets out a commitment to 

take decisive action to move towards a low carbon economy in order to minimise the 
causes of climate change, which includes facilitating the delivery of new and more 
sustainable forms of energy provision at all scales.  Paragraph 12.8.1 records the 

WG’s commitment to deliver the UK target of 15% of energy from renewables by 
2020.  Paragraph 12.8.2 states that “Planning policy at all levels should facilitate 

delivery of both the ambition set out in Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition, and 
UK and European targets on renewable energy”.  Paragraph 12.8.10 expects local 
planning authorities to ‘ensure that international and national statutory obligations to 

protect designated areas, species and habitats and the historic environment are 
observed’ at the same time as it seeks to ‘facilitate the development of all forms of 

renewable and low carbon energy’ (paragraph 12.8.9).  At paragraph 12.8.14 it 
expects developers to be ‘sensitive to local circumstances, including siting in relation 
to local landform’. 

28. Paragraph 12.8.12 explains that ‘in the short to medium term, wind energy continues 
to offer the greatest potential (for activities within the control of the planning system 

in Wales) for delivering renewable energy.  Wales has an abundant wind resource and 
power generation using this resource remains the most commercially viable form of 
renewable energy’.  It acknowledges that the ‘introduction of new, often very large 

structures for onshore wind needs careful consideration to avoid and where possible 
minimise their impact.  However, the need for wind energy is a key part of meeting 

the Welsh Government’s vision for future renewable electricity production as set out 
in the Energy Policy Statement (2010) and should be taken into account by decision 
makers when determining such applications’4.   

                                       

4 PPW, paragraph 12.8.12 

Tudalen 429



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    10 

29. Paragraph 12.10.1 identifies the considerations to be taken into account in 
determining planning applications for renewables, including the contribution to 

meeting national, UK and European targets and potential for renewable energy, the 
wider benefits and opportunities, the impact on natural heritage and the historic 

environment, grid connection issues and transportation issues.  Figure 12.2 identifies 
the scale of Local Authority-wide schemes as 5-25MW. 

30. Chapter 6 of PPW deals with the historic environment.  Paragraph 6.2.3 explains that 

‘Historic assets can make an important contribution to sustainable development 
objectives.  When change is being considered, local authorities should seek to secure 

the sustainability of historic assets, taking the risks of climate change into 
account……The public benefit of taking action to reduce carbon emissions, or to adapt 

to the impact of climate change, should be weighed against any harm to the 
significance of historic assets’. 

31. In relation to archaeological remains paragraph 6.5.5 provides that ‘It will only be in 

exceptional circumstances that planning permission will be granted if development 
would result in an adverse impact on a scheduled monument (or an archaeological 

site shown to be of national importance) or has a significantly damaging effect upon 
its setting.  In cases involving less significant archaeological remains, local planning 
authorities will need to weigh the relative importance of the archaeological remains 

and their settings against other factors, including the need for the proposed 
development’. Paragraphs 6.5.6.and 6.5.7 deal with the assessment of a site’s 

archaeological value and the use of planning conditions to preserve or record such 
remains. 

32. TAN8 identifies Strategic Search Areas throughout Wales where large scale schemes 

(over 25MW) should be concentrated.  The site is neither within nor close to a SSA.  
For smaller schemes, paragraph 2.3 states that local planning authorities are best 

placed to assess detailed locational requirements within and outside SSAs in the light 
of local circumstances.  Annex D5 suggests an implicit objective of TAN8 in the rest of 
Wales outside SSAs is to maintain the landscape character, i.e. no significant change.  

In paragraphs 8.4 and 8.5 of the Annex it describes the TAN8 strategy as a means of 
concentrating the impact of wind turbine development in a relatively small part of the 

country in areas that are, on balance, technically, practically and environmentally 
better able to accommodate such impacts than other parts of Wales.  Paragraph 2.13 
of the main body of the TAN refers to a balance to be struck between the desirability 

of renewable energy and landscape protection. 

33. TAN24: The Historic Environment provides advice on the impact of proposed 

development on the setting of historic assets, including scheduled monuments and 
unscheduled nationally important archaeological remains.  In paragraph 1.25 it 
explains that ‘The setting of an historic asset includes the surroundings in which it is 

understood, experienced, and appreciated embracing present and past relationships 
to the surrounding landscape’.  Paragraph 1.6 identifies factors to consider in terms of 

setting, including the contribution setting makes to the significance of an asset, its 
prominence, lifespan of the proposed development, and non-visual factors such as 
noise.  Section 4.2 deals with archaeological remains and the development 

management process and includes reference to a presumption against proposals 

                                       

5 Annex D: Potential Methodology for Local Planning Authorities with Strategic Search 

Areas(excerpts from Review of Final Report, Arup 2005) 

Tudalen 430



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    11 

which would have a significant impact on the setting of remains.  More detailed best 
practice guidance is set out by Cadw in ‘Setting of Historic Assets in Wales’ 2017. 

 

National energy policy and statements 

34. In a letter on 14 August 2015 the Minister for Natural Resources confirmed WG’s 
vision for future energy generation based on embracing Wales’ abundant renewable 
energy resources, and its view that onshore wind is currently the most commercially 

mature form of renewable energy. Despite recent announcements in England 
concerning onshore wind, WG continues to see renewable energy as a key element in 

ensuring that Wales achieves sustainable development for future generations.  On 15 
March 2016 the Minister reminded local planning authorities of the duty to tackle 

climate change and deliver sustainable development and to take the economic 
benefits of proposals into account when making decisions on applications for 
renewable energy development.  It acknowledged that visual and amenity impact on 

surrounding communities and properties is important and often emotive, but planning 
decisions need to be taken in a rational way in the wider public interest. 

35. Numerous other references have been made by the parties to the national energy 
policies and statements from both UK and Welsh Governments.  There is broad 
agreement between the main parties (as set out in a Statement of Common Ground 

(ID09)) that WG is committed to encouraging the continued development of on-shore 
wind turbines as part of its commitment to increase the production of renewable 

energy in the context of national and international climate change obligations.  Whilst 
the CPRW B&R did not concur with that agreed position with regard to the extent to 
which energy targets are being met there is a broad consensus that in Wales there is 

a supportive framework for on-shore wind turbine developments provided that it is in 
the right place, which means that any harmful impacts are at an acceptable level. 

36. Reference has been made, particularly by the appellant, to National Policy Statements 
(NPS) for energy include the Overarching NPS (EN-1) and Renewable Energy 
Infrastructure (EN-3).  There is no dispute that that these are not material planning 

policies in Wales.  However, they also set out UK energy policy which provides a 
context for assessing the renewable energy contribution of the scheme.  EN-1 

identifies an urgent need for renewable electricity generation projects (3.4.5) and to 
dramatically increase the amount of capacity, much of which is likely to be wind 
generation in the short and medium term (3.3.10). 

The Proposal 

37. The proposal comprises the erection of 7 wind turbines, access tracks including 

upgraded access points, hardstandings, a control building, a sub-station, a temporary 
compound and a borrow pit6.  The site of the turbines would extend to almost 20 
hectares. 

38. The maximum height of the turbines to blade tip would be 110m and the hub height 
would be 69m.  The combined installed capacity of the turbines would be up to 17.5 

MW.  The proposed access tracks would link to the A44 road at 2 points, via an 
existing minor road and a track, both routes would require extensive alterations.  The 
southern route would be via an existing unclassified road and would include the 

                                       

6 ES Chapter 3 provides a description of the proposed development 

Tudalen 431



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    12 

repositioning of the existing highway junction, the more northern route would follow 
the line of an existing track which gains access onto the A road.  

39. The project has identified a potential point of connection to the national grid and has 
identified a swathe of land within which the necessary connecting infrastructure could 

be provided.  This falls outside the scope of the appeal scheme. 

Other Agreed Facts 

40. Two Statements of Common Ground (SoCG) signed on behalf of the Council and the 

appellant were submitted to the Inquiry. One deals with planning policy and identifies 
areas of agreement in relation to both local7 and national planning policy (ID09).  The 

other SoCG (ID08) covers matters described as non-contentious which are not 
covered in the evidence of the Council or appellant.  These matters are: hydrology 

and hydrogeology, ecology, transport, noise, shadow flicker, socio economic, 
telecommunications and television reception, and common land.  In broad terms it 
confirms that the Council is satisfied with the information provided by the appellant in 

relation to these matters and that, with the imposition of appropriate planning 
conditions, the proposal raises no serious concerns in relation to any of these matters.  

The statement also agrees matter of fact set out in the application as it relates to the 
proposed works, the site description and the likely power that would be generated.  
With an installed capacity of up to 17.5MW it could provide the equivalent power 

required by over 9,800 homes and displace approximately 26,980 tonnes of CO2 a 
year.  It is predicted to contribute on average 5.25 MW to the grid every hour.8 

41. The appellant has also presented 2 draft SoCG on LVIA and Heritage matters (APP-8 
& APP-9).  These have not been agreed by the Council. 

The Case for Hendy Wind Farm Limited 

The material points made by the appellant are: 

Introduction 

42. The application for planning permission was supported with an Environmental 
Statement9 and a suite of other documents10. It was refused, against officers’ advice, 
on the 18th May 2017 on three grounds. The reasons for refusal raise concerns with 

the impact of the proposal on landscape and visual amenity, impact upon users of 
Open Access Land and public rights of way, and impact upon 4 Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments (“SAM”).   

43. In response to the comments made by CPRW B&R, the appellant has given further 
consideration to the engineering works to facilitate the use of the BOAT and new 

tracks by AILs. Whilst the appellant remains satisfied that the proposal as set out in 
the planning application is acceptable, and it was acceptable to PCC, there is scope to 

                                       

7 As envisaged at the time of signing the document, the local policy context has changed following 

adoption of the LDP. 

8 At the end of the Inquiry the appellant produced revised figures agreed with the Council which 

assume different load factors which ranged from total MW per annum of between 44,342 and 

49,056 which is equated to 11,370 to 12,578 homes (ID53). 

9 See docs ES-1-ES-5 

10 See docs PP-2-PP-6 

Tudalen 432



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    13 

scale down the engineering works. The appellant has provided details of how those 
access works could be scaled down. It is common ground between the parties that the 

scaled down works would result in even less impact than shown in the application and 
would provide a benefit. The altered works would all fall within the red-line boundary 

and are within the parameters assessed and consulted upon the in ES. The appellant 
does not seek formally to amend the application, but if the conclusion were reached 
that it is appropriate to require construction of the access in accordance with the 

revised plans, this is a matter which could be addressed by condition and the 
appellant is content that such a condition be imposed. 

Statutory requirements for determination 

44. There are a number of important statutory requirements which need to be properly 

considered and applied in determining this appeal.  

45. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that the 
appeal is to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

46. Welsh Government is under a statutory obligation to promote sustainable 

development11. This duty is now reinforced by a number of relatively new important 
statutory obligations. Of particular importance is the requirement imposed by section 
2 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 to determine the appeal as part of carrying out 

sustainable development in accordance with the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 for the purpose of ensuring that the development and use of land 

contribute to improving the economic, social, environment and cultural well-being of 
Wales. This complements the duty imposed by section 3 of the Well-being Act to carry 
out sustainable development and take all reasonable steps in determining the appeal 

to meet the well-being objectives in the Act.  Recognising the limits of the global 
environment and using resources efficiently and proportionately including acting on 

climate change is recognised as an important element of those objectives12. 

47. The various provisions of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 and the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 came into force on the 1st April 2016 and are a very 

important change to the decision-making process and requirements. The duties are 
addressed further in PPW.  

Welsh national policy 

48. The new statutory duties in Wales with respect to sustainable development are 
stressed in PPW. It is noted that the Welsh Government is one of the few 

administrations in the world to have these distinctive duties13. The planning system is 
identified as necessary and central to achieving the sustainable development of Wales 

and discharging the statutory duties14. Addressing climate change and providing for 
renewable energy is seen as being at the heart of sustainable development. In 
contributing to the Well-being of Future Generations Act goals planning decisions 

should inter alia “maximise the use of resources”, “promote a low carbon economy” 

                                       

11 Section 79 Government of Wales Act 2006S 

12 See section 4 Table 1 “a prosperous Wales” and “a resilient Wales”. 

13 PPW 4.1.2 and 4.1.3 

14 PPW 4.2.1 

Tudalen 433



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    14 

and “support the need to tackle the causes of climate change by moving to a low 
carbon economy…facilitating development that reduces emissions of greenhouse 

gases in a sustainable manner, provides for renewable…energy sources at all 
scales”15.  

49. Tackling climate change is identified as a fundamental part of delivering sustainable 
development. Climate change is identified as one of the most important challenges 
facing the world and the Welsh Government is committed to tackling climate change. 

That commitment is based on a scientific imperative to act and to act urgently to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions and deal with the consequences of climate 

change16. Planning to minimise the causes of climate change means taking decisive 
action to move to a low carbon economy by facilitating the delivery of new and more 

sustainable forms of energy production at all scales17.  

50. It can be seen that providing for more renewable energy in the form of this proposal 
is seen as lying at the heart of the sustainability duties applying in determining 

planning appeals. 

51. Section 12.8 of PPW sets out specific provisions for renewable and low carbon energy. 

The section provides for a rise from 0.7 GW of onshore wind capacity to 2GW by 
2015/1718. Whilst PPW looks for a significant contribution towards its target from 
SSAs it is important to appreciate that not all of the new onshore wind energy 

provision is expected to come from the SSAs. The SSAs are expected to “contribute 
significantly” to the 2GW target19, but they are not to be the sole contributor, the PPW 

clearly expects contributions to be made from outwith the SSAs20. 

52. PPW identifies different scales of wind farm proposals21. The current proposal ranks as 
a “Local Authority-wide” proposal. PPW provides that local planning authorities 

“should facilitate local authority-wide scale renewable energy”22. It can be seen that 
PPW attaches considerable importance to projects of the scale of this proposal, and 

there is no suggestion that such projects are of lesser value, still less that they should 
be restricted. There is furthermore no suggestion that such projects should be limited 
to SSAs. Indeed given that not all local authorities have SSAs within their boundaries, 

it is clear from the guidance that PPW is contemplating developments of this scale 
within local authority areas irrespective of whether they have SSAs. 

53. The importance of the provision to be made from proposals of the scale of the current 
proposal is further emphasised by the fact that the proposal is treated as one of 

                                       

15 PPW 4.4.3 – appellant’s emphasis 

16 PPW 4.5.1 

17 PPW 4.5.7 

18 POL-19 para 12.8.13 

19 PPW 12.8.13 

20 This is clear also from the indicative capacity targets in TAN 8 (see Table 1), and the Griffiths 

letter. 

21 PPW Figure 12.2 

22 PPW 12.8.18 

Tudalen 434



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    15 

National Significance. Such projects are of greatest significance to Wales because of 
their potential benefits and impacts23. 

54. Technical advice to supplement PPW is provided by TAN 8. With respect to wider 
areas outside the SSAs the TAN recognises that a balance has to be struck between 

the desirability of renewable energy and landscape protection, but that this should not 
result in severe restrictions on the development of wind power capacity24. With this in 
mind the TAN left open the possibility of local planning authorities introducing policies 

in their development plans restricting “almost all” schemes over 5MW to within SSAs 
and brownfield sites25. It is notable that the PCC has not chosen to introduce such a 

policy. Indeed far from adopting such an approach the development plan is supportive 
of further renewable energy development26 and adopts a similar approach in respect 

of the emerging plan. 

55. There has been discussion with respect to the passage in paragraph 8.4 of Annex D to 
TAN 8 which suggests outside SSAs there is an implicit objective that there be no 

significant change in landscape character from wind turbine development. This 
passage has to be properly read in the context of the TAN as a whole. A number of 

points must be noted –  

i) Annex D is concerned with a “Potential Methodology for Local Planning Authorities 
with Strategic Search Areas”27. It is, as the Introduction to the Annex explains, 

concerned with assisting local authorities in undertaking further studies to assist 
in fine-tuning SSA boundaries. It is not put forward as any form of guidance for 

development control or management purposes. It is therefore not relevant to the 
decision on this appeal. 

ii) This point is made clear in paragraph 2.10 of TAN 8 which introduces Annex D as 

providing advice on the development of local policy for SSAs. 

iii) The Annex is in fact an extract from material in the Arup report – it is not 

purporting to set out policy or government guidance. 

iv) Paragraph 8.4 is in a section concerned with cumulative impact. The discussion in 
paragraph 8.4 is merely an introduction to paragraph 8.5 which explains the 

approach taken to cumulative impact at the all-Wales level. It leaves more local 
level approaches for more detailed assessments. These paragraphs are not 

concerned with any development control/management approach, they are 
addressing spatial planning. 

v) As already noted the approach taken locally in PCC has not been to restrict 

development to the SSAs. 

vi) In any event, and fundamentally, it is recognised by all concerned that wind farm 

development by its very nature will inevitably have significant impacts upon 

                                       

23 PPW 3.7.2 

24 TAN 8 para 2.13 

25 TAN 8 para 2.13 

26 See PRV para 3.7 with respect to the current development plan 

27 TAN 8 p 57 

Tudalen 435



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    16 

landscape character. There will inevitably be significant change in landscape 
character. Given that the national policy in PPW is that schemes of this nature are 

to be facilitated and this is further supported by TAN 8, the passage in Annex D 
cannot be literally interpreted as requiring that there be no landscape change. 

56. It is also important that the guidance in paragraph 2.13 of TAN 8 is properly 
understood and applied. It is primarily concerned with the issue of cumulative impact 
as the second sentence makes clear and it advises on this issue that local planning 

authorities may wish to consider establishing criteria for suitable separation distances 
between wind farm proposals. It is in this context that the need to strike a balance is 

identified and it is important to note that the balance struck “should not result in 
severe restriction on the development of wind power capacity”28. It is quite clear that 

the guidance is anticipating and indeed advising that there were will and must be 
wind farm development of this scale outside SSAs. 

57. When properly understood the various passages to which attention has been drawn 

are concerned with cumulative impact and how to address it in spatial planning. There 
is no issue with respect to cumulative impact in this case29 and no local policy 

precluding development in this area. PCC’s witnesses accepted that TAN 8 does not 
preclude wind farm development outside the SSAs30, and this has been recognised in 
appeal decisions31. 

58. The Welsh national policy recognises and properly responds to the international 
obligations arising from the widespread recognition of the challenges raised by climate 

change and the urgency of addressing these problems.  

59. The proposal must be viewed against the pressing need to address climate change 
and improve the country’s security of energy supply. There is widespread national and 

international recognition of the problems arising from climate change, the need to 
reduce carbon dioxide emissions and provide more electricity from renewable sources. 

The EU Climate and Energy package (formally agreed April 2009) commits the EU to 
achieving a reduction in EU greenhouse gas emissions of 20% by 2020 compared to 
1990 levels and included a binding renewable target of 20%. The UK’s share of this 

target is to deliver 15% renewable energy by 2020 which compares with a figure of 
3.8% in 2011. Under EU Decision 406/2009/EC the UK has a binding target of a 16% 

reduction in greenhouse gas emissions by 2020 compared to 2005 emissions levels32. 
Not surprisingly, the UK Renewable Energy Strategy (UK RES) states that the UK 
needs to increase radically its use of renewable energy33. 

60. The importance of achieving these aims, and the inevitable impacts arising from 
achieving them, has been reiterated on numerous occasions not only at a UK level but 

also in Wales.  

                                       

28 TAN 8 para 2.13 

29 PRV during cross-examination 

30 PRV during cross-examination 

31 See for example POL-35 para 55 

32 See POL-6 (UK Renewable Energy Strategy) p31 box 1.3 

33 POL-6 

Tudalen 436



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    17 

61. At the UK level this is for example very clearly set out in the National Policy 
Statements which stress that the need for new renewable electricity generation 

projects is urgent34, and that there is a need for a dramatic increase in onshore wind 
generation35. Importantly it is also recognised that development on the scale required 

to meet the energy needs identified and to satisfy the UK Government’s policy will 
inevitably result in significant residual adverse impacts36. Whilst the NPS specifically 
address development under the Planning Act 2008 they were importantly presented 

to Parliament and the general statements reflect widely recognised views accepted by 
Parliament. 

62. Although the primary driver of legislation and policy in this area is undoubtedly the 
importance of tackling climate change and ensuring security of energy supply it is also 

important to remember that there are significant economic and employment benefits 
associated with the development of renewable energy as is recognised for example in 
the UK Renewable Energy Strategy37. 

63. The need to address these matters must be considered with a proper recognition of 
the vital role that energy in general and electricity in particular plays in maintaining 

our current way of life and living standards: 

“Energy underpins almost every aspect of our way of life. It enables us to heat 
and light our homes; to produce and transport food; to travel to work around the 

country and the world. Our businesses and jobs rely on the use of energy. Energy 
is essential for the critical services we rely on – from hospitals to traffic lights and 

cash machines. It is difficult to overestimate the extent to which our quality of life 
is dependent on adequate energy supplies.” (NPS – EN1 para 3.2.1)38 

64. It can be observed that the UK Conservative government has been less enthusiastic 

about onshore wind energy development in England, but importantly that position has 
not been adopted in Wales. Indeed the Welsh Ministers have demonstrated an 

increasing enthusiasm for further onshore wind energy development. For example 
Welsh Ministers have repeatedly made plain that they are unimpressed with the 
Amber Rudd statement made in June 201539 and that it does not alter the policy 

position in Wales or their support for onshore wind proposals40. Furthermore in so far 
as the Ministerial Statement affects the availability of financial support for onshore 

wind energy in Wales, Welsh Ministers are actively seeking to have this changed41 and 
appear to be meeting with some success42. 

                                       

34 POL-1 – NPS EN 1 @ 3.4.5 

35 POL-1 – NPS EN 1 @ 3.3.10 

36 POL-1 – NPS EN 1 @ 3.2.3 

37 POL-6 

38 POL-1 

39 POL-11 

40 See POL-26, 17, 27 and 31 

41 POL-21 

42 POL-17 

Tudalen 437



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    18 

65. The bottom line is the Minister for Environment and Rural Affairs has recently 
confirmed:  

i. A desire to focus on accelerating the transition of the energy system in Wales 
particularly through the increased deployment of renewable energy. 

ii. A need for many more projects at all scales and technologies to transform the 
energy system. 

iii. A determination to drive change using all the levers available in Wales. 

iv. Accordingly a new target of Wales generating 70% of its electricity consumption 
from renewable energy by 2030. 

v. A need for the bulk of energy supply to come from the most affordable 
technologies if the costs are to be found from energy bills43. 

66. As PPW and TAN 8 recognise and as remains the case onshore wind energy remains 
the cheapest and most tried of these forms of energy. The direction of travel is clear. 
Far from there being a reduced need as CPRW B&R erroneously contended, the need 

for additional proposals of this nature has been strengthened. This is further 
reinforced by the duty placed on Welsh Ministers by the Environment (Wales) Act 

2016 to ensure that net emissions are at least 80% lower than 1990 levels by 205044. 

67. As the Council’s witness recognised there is “a clear direction of travel on the part of 
the Welsh Government that has implications for the renewable energy sector in 

Wales, and the context for the assessment of related planning applications”45. 

Development Plan policy 

68. The starting point for determination of the appeal is of course the development plan 
which is now the Powys LDP.  

69. Policy RE1 of the LDP will provide that proposals for renewable energy development 

will be permitted subject to criteria set out in the policy. 

70. In so far as relevant to the current proposal the first criterion requires it to be 

demonstrated that the proposal would not prejudice the purpose of the SSA. The 
appeal site is about 13 miles from SSA C (the nearest SSA) and it is common ground 
that the proposal would not prejudice delivery of any development in the SSA46. 

71. The appeal site falls within a Local Search Area for solar PV and the second criterion 
requires that the proposal should not prejudice the purpose of the LSA. There is no 

suggestion that the proposal would prejudice the delivery of solar PV development in 
the LSA. Furthermore the underlying purpose of the LSA is to facilitate the delivery of 
renewable energy. In practical terms the proposal would provide significantly more 

renewable energy than a solar farm and would in reality further the purpose of the 
LSA. 

                                       

43 POL-22 – Ministerial Statement 26/9/17 

44 See AS 6.40 

45 AS 6.40 

46 See AS 6.11 

Tudalen 438



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    19 

72. The third criterion requires consideration of all other relevant policies in the LDP. 
These policies are considered further below.  The fourth criterion requires satisfactory 

mitigation. This can and will be secured by condition.  The fifth criterion is concerned 
with compensatory benefits. The section 106 obligation provides for additional 

recreational routes and payment towards the local PROW network.  There is scope for 
works of mitigation/offsetting to be provided with respect to the cultural heritage 
interest. Whether this comes within the fourth or fifth criteria is of no importance. 

73. With respect to the landscape and visual amenity concerns raised by PCC the principal 
policy of interest is policy DM4. This sets a test of “unacceptable adverse effect”. 

Whilst the relevant policy with respect to the cultural heritage interest is policy SP7 
which sets a test of “unacceptable adverse impact”.  

74. The adoption of a test of unacceptable impact or effect is significant. It plainly accepts 
that a degree of adverse impact or effect can be tolerated and will not render a 
proposal in conflict with the development plan. In the context of wind turbine 

development this is highly significant because it is recognised that they must always 
have a significant adverse landscape and visual effect. Furthermore where heritage 

interests are present the development of wind turbines is also likely to have some 
form of impact.  

75. The question arises as to what is the test of acceptability for the purposes of the LDP 

policies. The approach adopted by PCC is to consider whether there is conflict with the 
development plan (i.e. unacceptable impact) and only then to weigh the need for and 

benefits of the proposal against that conflict. Accordingly PCC’s position is that these 
factors do not go towards determining whether the proposal is acceptable. That being 
the case there must be some different test for acceptability. In practical terms as Ms 

Hawkins explained, given the policy support for this form of development, this must 
be whether given the inevitable impacts of this form of development there is an 

undue effect. 

76. For the reasons discussed below the appellant invites the conclusion that whilst the 
proposal would have the inevitable form of impacts arising from a wind farm 

development it does not go beyond those inevitable impacts and is therefore 
acceptable and in accordance with the development plan. If such a view is not 

accepted it would remain necessary to weigh any harm arising from the proposal, 
including any conflict with the development plan against the clear need for and 
benefits of the proposal. 

Need 

77. It is often asserted at inquiries into these form of proposals that good progress is 

being made nationally towards meeting targets and/or that the particular local area 
has been making a good contribution and has “done its bit” so to speak. At the outset 
it can be observed that there is no support in policy for the contention that any good 

progress towards meeting targets in some way reduces the weight to be given to the 
need for this form of development and it is notable that no such policy support has 

been identified. In fact the various statements which support the need for further and 
greater provision have been made at the same time as statements commenting on 
the provision to date. There is also no support for any contention that the weight 

given to these issues is to be reduced in any area which has already performed well 
against any targets (even were it the case). 

78. With respect to the UK’s legal obligations the point is often made that good progress 
is being made towards achieving the aim of 30% electricity derived from renewables 

Tudalen 439



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    20 

by 2020. It is, however, important to understand that the binding target is to achieve 
15% of energy use from renewables and this includes heating and transport as well as 

electricity. The 30% figure for electricity derives from the lead scenario in the UK 
Renewable Energy Strategy which relied upon 30% from electricity together with 12% 

of heat demand and 10% of transport demand in order to achieve the binding 15% 
requirement47. 

79. Unfortunately progress with respect to heat and transport has been disappointing and 

it is clear that they will not make the necessary contribution. The latest figures show 
only 6.2% for heating and 4.5% for transport48. It is quite plain that the necessary 

contributions from heat and transport to satisfy the lead scenario are not going to be 
met and this is recognised in the “leaked” Amber Rudd letter although the position is 

not being made public49. In the circumstances there is plainly a need to achieve even 
greater contributions from renewable electricity generation and this is recognised in 
the Welsh Government statements. The only logical conclusion is that a significantly 

greater provision will be required from renewable electricity generation50. 

80. If one looks at the position in Wales there is also a need for more onshore wind 

proposals. The Welsh Government’s Energy Policy Statement in 2010 evinced an aim 
to have 4.5 kWh/d/p of installed wind generation capacity by 2015/1751. These aims 
are reiterated in the more recent Welsh Government document Energy Wales: a low 

carbon transition52. 

81. Unfortunately the objective of achieving 2GW capacity by 2015/17 has not been 

realised53. The TAN 8 database for 1st April 2017 reveals an operational capacity of 
some 880 MW with a further 552 MW consented54. It is furthermore important to note 
that onshore wind has always been seen as the technology most able to deliver in the 

short term which places all the more importance upon the provision of onshore wind 
energy which offers a mature and proven technology which can be delivered in the 

necessary timescales. 

82. The disappointment of failing to achieve existing targets and the inevitable impacts 
arising from trying to meet those targets has not resulted in any lessening of policy 

support for further renewable energy development in general and onshore wind in 
particular. To the contrary the Cabinet Secretary for Environment has recently 

announced a desire to focus on accelerating the transition of the energy system in 
Wales particularly through the increased deployment of renewable energy, and a 
determination to drive change using all the levers available in Wales, which will need 

many more projects at all scales. As part of this a new target is set of generating 70% 

                                       

47 POL-6 – para 2.7 

48 POL-16 key points p153 

49 POL-13 

50 PF 3.9 

51 POL-28 section 11 

52 POL-27 

53 SOCG APP-7 para 8 

54 See POL-30 

Tudalen 440



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    21 

of electricity consumption from renewable energy by 2030 – to put that in context 
43% was generated in 201655. 

83. This announcement is but one of a number of announcements reiterating Welsh 
Ministers’ support for further renewable energy development which has emphasised 

the need for planning authorities to facilitate all forms of renewable energy 
development56 and the opportunities arising from embracing development of onshore 
wind energy57. 

Landscape and visual impact 

84. The appeal site lies in an area of undulating farmland laid to pasture, up to 330m AOD 

which is drained by a number of man-made and natural ditches, to the west of the 
A44. A block of coniferous forestry is located just east of the site and small conifer 

pockets are dotted across some parts of the site. Field boundaries are formed mainly 
by post and rail fencing, with very occasional hedgerows58. 

85. The site is located outside any landscape designations. The closest national landscape 

designations are of the order of 19km from the nearest turbines59. The town of 
Llandrindod Wells is some 6km to the west of the appeal site whilst the smaller 

settlements of Penybont and Franksbridge are 2.8km to the northeast and 2.5km to 
the south respectively60. Scattered cottages and farmsteads are located sporadically 
in the surrounding area, but the only residential properties within 1km of any turbine 

are Pye Corner (980m from T5) and Hendy Farm (960m from T1)61. 

86. There is an area of Access Land to the east of the appeal site which comes to within 

approximately 200m of the nearest turbine62. SUSTRANS cycle route 825 is 
approximately 1km to the west of the nearest turbine at its closest point. A BOAT 
crosses the site whilst two bridleways are to the east crossing the Access Land. A 

footpath runs from Hendy Farm up to Nant Brook within the site boundary, located 
approximately 340m south of the nearest turbine (T3) at its closest point. Finally, a 

bridleway crosses Llandegley Rocks and is approximately 750 north of the nearest 
proposed turbine (T5)63. 

87. As Ms Hawkins explained onshore wind turbines have particular locational 

requirements which mean that the number and location of suitable sites for such 
developments are quite limited before one goes on to consider any other constraints 

                                       

55 See SOCG APP-7 para 15 

56 See POL-23 & 24 and PF 2.64 & 2.65 

57 See POL-32  

58 ES-2 para 5.4.1 and PP-2 para 3.1 

59 ES-2 para 5.4.3 – Shropshire Hills AONB 19 km to the northeast and Brecon Beacons National 

Park 19.2 km to the southeast 

60 PP-2 para 3.1 

61 ES-2 para 5.4.4 and PP-2 3.2 

62 ES-2 5.4.3 

63 ES-2 5.4.4 

Tudalen 441



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    22 

to their development64. However, they have time-limited conditions and are 
completely reversible so that all landscape and visual effects cease on 

decommissioning. Furthermore they bring benefits to the wider landscape by 
contributing to tackling climate change65. These are important factors to take into 

account in forming a view on the impact of the proposal. All of this was accepted by 
Mr Russell-Vick66. 

88. The scale of wind turbines is such that they must inevitably have some landscape and 

visual impact wherever they are located and such impacts always figure large in any 
consideration of wind farm proposals, as national and local policy recognises. Views 

differ as to whether such impacts are generally positive or negative, but given the 
inevitability of such impacts the clear national and local policy support for this form of 

development means that a degree of impact must be acceptable. Consequently the 
decision for the decision-maker is not whether the wind farm appeal proposal would 
result in significant effects on landscape and/or visual amenity but whether the 

scheme (including the proposed mitigation and enhancement measures) has been 
designed so that any likely significant residual adverse effects can be considered 

acceptable when weighed in the planning balance67.  

89. This is an important consideration in the context of the development plan policy which 
is concerned with unacceptable adverse effects upon landscape68. 

90. Mr Russell-Vick accepted that merely identifying an adverse or even significantly 
adverse impact would not place the proposal in conflict with the development plan. He 

also accepted that any wind farm development would inevitably have significant 
effects and that most wind farms will be located in rural areas where their significant 
effects will be considered to be significant adverse effects69. This was also eventually 

accepted by Ms Bolger. 

91. The original proposals evolved by way of an extensive site search and an iterative site 

design and assessment process.  This included consultations and detailed feasibility 
and technical studies and took into account a wide range of technical, environmental, 
planning and economic issues (as outlined in chapters 2 and 3 of ES Volume 1)70. 

92. A range of embedded and good practice mitigation measures have been incorporated 
into the site search and detailed design of the appeal proposal that would limit the 

effects of the proposed development on the landscape and visual amenity of this site 
and locality. 

93. The embedded mitigation includes: selecting a site that is outside any national or local 

landscape designations, and not within any LANDMAP visual and sensory area with a 
high or outstanding overall evaluation, or with a high or outstanding evaluation for 

                                       

64 KH 3.2 

65 KH 3.4 

66 PRV in cross-examination 

67 KH 3.7 

68 See LDP policy DM4 

69 PRV in cross-examination 

70 See KH 3.12 

Tudalen 442



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    23 

scenic quality and/or character; locating the site on an interim plateau with higher 
land to the west and east which creates a “bowl” and largely screens the turbines 

from view from all but the most elevated land beyond 5km; reducing the number and 
height of the turbines by way of iterative design; making use of existing access tracks 

wherever possible; constructing new tracks from material quarried on-site or nearby 
so that they would appear similar to existing tracks in the area; and locating the 
substation and the single storey, pitched roof control building close to an existing 

building and using local building materials and finishes71. 

94. The good practice mitigation measures would include: a clerk of works to oversee the 

environmental protection measures during the construction and decommissioning 
phases; the use of temporary protective fencing; retaining and reusing site derived 

subsoil and topsoil; protecting mature trees and boundary hedges; creating low soil 
bunds to help screen views of the running surface; restoring all areas temporarily 
disturbed during the construction and decommissioning phases; and the planting of 

native hedgerow species to in-fill existing “gappy” hedgerows within the application 
boundary.  These measures would be included in the Construction and Environmental 

Management Plan (CEMP) and Decommissioning and Restoration Plan (DRP), to be 
secured by way of condition72. 

95. These mitigation measures would limit the residual effects of the appeal proposal on 

landscape and visual amenity. The appellant has also offered additional mitigation and 
enhancement in the form of an Access Management Plan73. 

96. The appeal site lies within LANDMAP VS112 which is described as an area of “upland 
hills, plateau with a smooth and rounded profile and mix of semi-natural rough 
moorland landcover and large fields”. It is identified as large scale and exposed and 

its perceptual and sensory qualities include exposed, remote, and wild. Whilst it is 
recognised as attractive it is not considered special or particularly distinctive. As 

already noted it is an area of moderate scenic quality and character and overall 
evaluation. It is the type of area to which the LANDMAP Guidance Note 3 would tend 
to direct this form of development74, and the qualities of the area as described in 

LANDMAP are those commonly associated with wind farm development. 

97. The appeal site also falls within LANDMAP HL427 which is given an outstanding overall 

evaluation. Whilst the area is recognised as having value as an historic landscape it is 
important that this is not over-rated. As was accepted by Mr Russell-Vick and Ms 
Bolger valuable historic landscapes are recognised as Registered Landscapes. This is 

not such a landscape. There is furthermore some tension and confusion in the 
LANDMAP data sheet. The justification given for the outstanding overall evaluation is 

“Area of unenclosed upland with rich early and late prehistoric and medieval 
landscape elements in a relatively undisturbed condition” which does not sit with the 
summary description of the area as “Enclosed 19th century common on upland ridge 

                                       

71 KH 3.13 

72 KH 3.14-15 

73 KH 3.16 

74 LVIA 3 – see Table 1 p8 

Tudalen 443



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    24 

just to the east of Llandrindod Wells with large, straight-sided fields defined by fences 
and hedges”75. The appeal site comes within the enclosed land with the large fields.  

98. It is furthermore important to note that the ASIDOHL did not give rise to any 
objection or reason for refusal. It is finally important not to double count this aspect 

of the matter with the impact upon the setting of the SAMs which is the actual historic 
issue for consideration. 

99. There was agreement amongst the landscape witnesses that significant landscape 

effects are limited to an area within 5.5km of the wind turbines and significant effects 
on visual amenity are limited to within 6km of the appeal site. 

100. The relatively limited extent of these impacts is in part attributable to the careful 
siting of the proposal on an interim upland plateau with higher land to the west and 

east which effectively creates a “bowl” and largely screens the wind turbines in views 
from all but the most elevated locations beyond 5km.  

101. The proposal would not have any significant effects on landscape fabric or landscape 

designations76. It would have significant landscape impacts upon the host unit within 
which it is located, but this unit does not have a high scenic quality, character or 

overall evaluation and none of the key qualities and elements that should be 
conserved as identified in LANDMAP would be affected by the appeal proposal77. There 
would also be significant adverse impacts upon the two VSAAs which wrap around the 

host VSAA. Again these VSAAs do not have a high scenic quality, character or overall 
evaluation and they effectively create a “buffer” between the appeal site and higher 

quality VSAAs further afield78. There would be some limited adverse impacts upon two 
higher quality VSAAs more than 2km from the site. The effects are indirect being 
limited to views out, and they would not significantly affect the existing key qualities 

and elements that should be conserved within these VSAAs. Furthermore these are 
extensive VSAAs and the majority of these VSAAs are unaffected being outside the 

ZTV of the proposal79.  

102. There would be significant effects on the visual amenity of users of the Access Land, 
BOAT, bridleways and footpaths on and immediately around the site up to a 

maximum distance of 4km. However, these routes and access land would remain 
accessible to users and the surrounding countryside will remain clearly visible from 

these routes80. There are, furthermore, mitigation measures which will bring about 
improvements to public access on and around the site. These benefits have been 
recognised in the consultation response form the Council’s Countryside Services team 

and noted in the Officers’ report81. 

                                       

75 Appellant’s emphasis 

76 KH 7.20 

77 KH 7.13 

78 KH 7.14 

79 KH 7.15 

80 KH 7.17 

81 KH 7.18 and PP 11 pp11-12 

Tudalen 444



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    25 

103. Whilst there was agreement over the area of impact Mr Russell-Vick and Ms Bolger 
tended to argue that the impact would be greater in most cases by one degree. It can 

be noted at the outset that the points made by Mr Russell-Vick were the same as 
those he made at the time of the application which were taken on board and accepted 

by the PCC planning officer, who nevertheless considered that the benefits of the 
proposal outweighed these impacts and recommended approval82. 

104. Mr Russell-Vick’s methodology involved treating any LANDMAP aspect area with an 

outstanding evaluation as if it were a National Park or AONB and any with a high 
evaluation as though it were a designated landscape83. Mr Russell-Vick sought support 

for this approach from LANDMAP Guidance Note (GN) 1, but there is no support from 
this source, nor was he able to find any support from any other guidance still less any 

policy. Indeed his approach is in conflict with the guidance in PPW 5.3.2, which 
advises that while the value of all the landscape in Wales is recognised “local planning 
authorities should have regard to the relative significance of international, national 

and local designations in considering the weight to be attached to nature conservation 
interests and should take care to avoid placing unnecessary constraints on 

development”.  

105. Furthermore rather than rely upon LANDMAP and in particular the VSAA, which is the 
approach he conceded he had previously done and which was that followed by other 

practitioners and Inspectors, Mr Russell-Vick adopted a “unioning” approach which he 
said was supported by the guidance in LANDMAP GN1. This was a misguided 

approach. There is a specific GN for assessing wind farm proposals – GN3, which does 
not advocate “unioning”. GN1 is concerned with identifying SLAs. In fact PCC have 
concluded that there are not to be SLAs in Powys and the GN accordingly is not 

relevant. Mr Russell-Vick accepted all of this and agreed that the “unioning” approach 
as used by him was not supported by any policy or guidance.  

106. Mr Russell-Vick’s error is even greater as if one looks at GN1 it advises the potential 
use of unioning to assist in identifying potential broad areas of search to look for 
SLAs. In other words it does not suggest that unioning provides an answer as to 

which are higher quality or more valuable areas, it merely assists in identifying broad 
areas in which one might then look for SLAs. 

107. Ms Bolger’s position was that the critical issue was the quality of the landscape of the 
site and surrounding area, which she also sought to enhance above that suggested in 
LANDMAP. She identified 3 factors which she said led to it having a greater value:  

i. The presence of Llandegley Rocks. 

ii. The valuable historic landscape. 

iii. The PROW network. 

108. When subject to examination it was clear that these factors did not support Ms 
Bolger’s position whether considered alone or in combination.  Ms Bolger agreed that 

the presence of Llandegley Rocks was a visual and sensory issue. However, the Rocks 
are in a different VSAA to the appeal site. Ms Bolger accepted that VSAAs are 

carefully selected and distinguished and that she had no reservations about the way it 

                                       

82 PRV XX 

83 PRV XX 

Tudalen 445



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    26 

had been done here. In those circumstances she had to concede that it had clearly 
been considered that there was a distinction between the area within which the 

appeal site lies and that within which the Rocks lie. Furthermore and fundamentally as 
Ms Bolger had to accept the VSAA within which the Rocks are located is also adjudged 

to be moderate. Given the presence of the Rocks has not elevated the VSAA within 
which it is located they cannot sensibly be put forward as a reason for elevating the 
value of the appeal site and surrounding area. 

109. With respect to the historic landscape Ms Bolger accepted that valuable historic 
landscapes are identified as Registered Landscapes of Historic Interest and that this is 

not one. She agreed that the interest lay in the SAMs which are addressed separately 
as the cultural heritage objection and there should not be double counting. 

110. There is no evidence to suggest that the PROW network in this locality is any different 
from anywhere else in Powys, and one would not downgrade the value of a landscape 
because there is no public access, so it is difficult to see how one can increase it 

because of such access.  

111. There is a further difficulty with Ms Bolger’s approach in that she seeks to “pick and 

mix” her landscape. It is notable that in contrast with Ms Hawkins and Mr Russell-Vick 
she does not use the LANDMAP aspect areas, despite the guidance to use them. 
Instead she used an area which is neither defined on a map or in text. When asked 

about the area used she struggled to answer but it was clear that in reality she used 
different areas depending upon what point she was seeking to make. 

112. Both Mr Russell-Vick and Ms Bolger had to accept that the “bowl” restricts the area 
over which the turbines can be seen and have any impact. However, they sought to 
downplay this point and argue that there was something inappropriate or less 

acceptable about looking at turbines with a backdrop of land rather than sky. This is a 
bad point. In actual fact unless a turbine is absolutely on the skyline it is always going 

to be seen against land from somewhere, and it is not unusual to see turbines against 
landform. Indeed if a turbine is on the skyline this is often argued to be a situation in 
which it may have most impact. 

113. Mr Russell-Vick also sought to make a point about stacking, but he had to accept that 
stacking occurs in all wind farms from some location. Ms Hawkins explained how the 

wind farm had been designed to avoid stacking from any “static” viewpoint, and that 
there was nothing unusual or harmful about the degree of stacking which might occur 
in this case. 

114. Given that it is impossible to site any large wind turbines without some significant 
effects on landscape character and visual amenity84, the significant effects in this case 

are limited. The proposal could be satisfactorily accommodated in this location without 
undue consequences for landscape character or visual amenity85.  

Cultural heritage 

115. It is common ground that in so far as any objection is taken to the proposal on 
cultural heritage grounds the issue is one of impact upon setting86.  Whilst the impact 

                                       

84 KH 10.29 

85 KH 7.21 

86 AC during cross-examination 

Tudalen 446



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    27 

upon the setting of a number of historic assets has been assessed by Mr Le Quesne 
the reason for refusal only raises concern with the impact upon 4 SAMs and Mr Croft 

confirmed that his concerns and evidence were limited to these 4 SAMSs87. These 
monuments are Nant Brook Enclosure, Graig Camp, Llandegley Rocks Hillfort and 

Castell Crug Eryr.  In its consultation responses to the application Cadw also made 
mention of Cwm-Maerdy Standing Stones but nothing now appears to be made in 
respect of this monument.  

116. It was suggested by Mr Croft that Cadw’s response was unusually strong. He even 
went so far as to suggest that he had never experienced such a strong response. In 

making this point he maintained that Cadw do not object to applications88. His 
position is wrong and untenable. For example in the Bryn Blaen decision the Inspector 

recorded that Cadw had objected to the application89 (something not done here). The 
Cadw response to the Pant y Maen proposal also records that Cadw objected to the 
proposal and the response is plainly stronger in terms than the current response90. It 

can be observed that in both cases the appeal was allowed despite the Cadw 
objection.  

117. Shortly before the inquiry PCC appear to have sought to enlist Cadw’s support for 
their position which led to the remarkable and unsatisfactory position of Cadw putting 
in a document which purports to compare Mr Croft and Mr Le Quesne’s evidence and 

express a view as to which is to be preferred. The precise circumstances by which this 
came about have not been made clear nor has the information received by Cadw. It is 

not even clear that the author of the document has visited the monuments for the 
purposes of the comments. Of particular concern is the failure of the document to 
address matters which Mr Croft accepted should have been addressed (for example 

the conflict between the reason for the scheduling of Nant Brook Enclosure and 
Cadw’s views as to what the monument actually is). In the circumstances fairness 

required Cadw to attend to properly explain its position and to answer questions. 
Cadw declined to attend and their undefended views should accordingly carry limited 
weight. 

118. It is also important to note that the planning officer recommended that planning 
permission should be granted in the light of the points that are made about the 

impact upon the setting of these 4 SAMs. In forming his judgement as to the planning 
balance he had before him both Cadw’s consultation response and 2 reports prepared 
by Mr Croft which raised the very points made in evidence on behalf of PCC. Mr Croft 

agreed that the officer had accepted his advice and properly taken it into account in 
making his recommendation to PCC. He further agreed that there had been no 

material change with respect to cultural heritage issues which might have provided 
any greater ground for refusal. 

119. Given that the only issue is one of impact on setting it is very important that the 

matter is approached and considered carefully and correctly. Sadly this has not been 
done by PCC and Mr Croft. 

                                       

87 AC during cross-examination 

88 AC 2.4.1 

89 POL-35 para 36 

90 ID 33 

Tudalen 447



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    28 

120. At the outset it important to recall a number of points agreed with Mr Croft:  

i) Setting is not an historic interest in its own right. 

ii) The value of any setting derives from how it contributes to the significance of the 
historic asset in question91. 

iii) Given that the value of setting derives from its contribution to significance of the 
historic asset there are three essential questions. 

a) First what is the significance of the historic asset in question. 

b) Second how does the setting contribute to that significance. 

c) Third what will be the impact (if any) upon the significance of the historic 

asset as a result of the particular impact upon setting that has been identified. 

iv) Change to setting over time is inevitable92. 

v) Change to setting is not necessarily harmful93. 

vi) One of the factors which will change setting is climate change. 

vii) Policy urges authorities to plan positively to address climate change and this 

includes encouragement for renewable energy projects of the type proposed 
here. 

viii) Importantly policy advises that one should weigh the public benefit of renewable 
energy against any harm to the significance of the heritage asset94. 

ix) The Cadw Setting of Historic Assets in Wales95 sets out the advice on how to 

assess impact of change or development within the setting of historic assets and 
that advice should be followed in this case96.  

x) Although one should give considerable weight to the desirability of preserving 
the setting, that can still be outweighed by amongst other things the benefits 
arising from renewable energy projects of the nature of this proposal. 

xi) It is important not to confuse an impact on landscape and visual amenity with an 
impact on setting. 

xii) Merely because one can see a development in views to or from a heritage asset 
does not of itself equate to an impact on setting. 

xiii) It is necessary to consider the significance of those views and in particular how 

they contribute to the significance of the setting.  

                                       

91 See also TAN 24 para 1.25 and HER-1 p2 

92 See also TAN 24 para 1.8 and HER-1 p3 

93 HER-1 p3 

94 TAN 24 para 1.9 

95 HER-1 

96 TAN 24 para 1.1 

Tudalen 448



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    29 

xiv) The presence of a wind farm within a view to or from an historic asset does not 
necessarily have a detrimental impact on setting even if one considers views of 

windfarms to be unattractive. 

121. As the importance of setting derives from its contribution to significance of a heritage 

asset any assessment of impact on the setting needs to start with a proper 
understanding of the significance of the historic asset. One must also properly 
understand how the setting contributes to that significance. 

122. Before moving to consider the impact of the proposal upon the 4 SAMs in question 
there are some other various elements of policy and guidance which it is important to 

consider and apply properly. 

123. PPW paragraph 6.5.5 advises that there should be a presumption in favour of the 

physical protection in situ of scheduled monuments and their setting and that it “will 
only be in exceptional circumstances that planning permission will be granted if 
development would result in an adverse impact on a scheduled monument…or has a 

significantly damaging effect upon its setting.” It can be noted that the guidance 
refers to a significantly damaging effect rather than a damaging effect to setting. It 

plainly allows for there to be a damaging effect upon setting.  

124. It follows that merely identifying a damaging effect is not sufficient, if there is to be 
an objection to the proposal it is necessary to identify a significantly damaging effect. 

Unfortunately the PPW does not define or provide any guidance as to what amounts 
to a significantly damaging effect.  

125. In his proof of evidence Mr Croft appeared to seek to rely upon the identification of 
significant effects in the ES and to try to equate this with a significantly damaging 
effect, but in cross-examination he properly accepted that the two concepts are 

different and one cannot simply equate a significant effect in EIA terms with a 
significantly damaging effect on setting for the purposes of the PPW guidance. 

126. Mr Croft also drew attention to the definition of “significant” in the glossary of TAN24. 
This does not assist the matter as Mr Croft had to concede that the TAN does not 
define, or even address, what is meant by significantly damaging effect for the 

purposes of the PPW. It can furthermore be observed that in so far as the word 
“significant” is used it appears to be being used in the context of scheduled 

monument consent97. It plainly provides no assistance in defining what is meant by 
significantly damaging effect. 

127. As the importance of setting is its contribution to the significance of the monument, it 

is clear that for there to be a significantly damaging effect upon setting the impact 
would have to be significantly damaging to the monument itself. This is obvious not 

only from a proper understanding as to what is important about setting, but also 
when one considers the context of the passage in PPW which is concerned with 
physical preservation of the monument. It is important that this is properly 

considered and addressed. Unfortunately this was not done by Mr Croft. 

128. The Cadw guidance on setting98 also provides helpful guidance on a range of factors 

to take into account in evaluating the potential impact of a proposal upon the 

                                       

97 See TAN para 2.4 which cross-refers to Annex A 

98 HER-1 

Tudalen 449



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    30 

significance of the historic asset99. An important element of the assessment is “the 
lifetime of the proposed change or development and whether or not the impact might 

be reversible”.  

129. As Mr Croft conceded whilst in theory all development might be argued to be 

reversible the reference in this guidance to reversibility is addressing a particular 
situation where there is a guarantee that the impact will be reversed. Wind farm 
development is the classic example of reversible development in that it is for a limited 

period of time with a requirement that the land then be restored so that after that 
limited period it will be put back into the same position as it was before. This 

guidance is particularly relevant to the case of wind farms, and could almost be said 
to have had them in mind. 

130. Unfortunately although Mr Croft acknowledged this guidance100, and claimed to have 
considered it, in fact he applied a different consideration which did not accord with the 
guidance101. Instead of looking at lifetime and reversibility as required in the guidance 

Mr Croft looked at a self-imposed test of whether the development was temporary 
and then, without providing any indication as to what amounted to a temporary 

development for these purposes, concluded that because it would last for up to 25 
years this did not amount to a temporary development because it was a generation in 
human terms102. 

131. There is no support for this approach of considering whether the proposal is 
“temporary”. Given that there is no support for this approach it is not surprising that 

there is no guidance as to what might amount to “temporary” for these purposes. 
Even were there any support for this approach, a 25 year period is a very short period 
in the life of the SAMs as Mr Croft had eventually to concede103. It was plainly an error 

to argue that the development is not a “temporary” development. This error is 
compounded by the failure to consider the issue of reversibility as required by the 

guidance. 

132. Mr Croft agreed that reversibility is seen as a significant factor in the guidance. He 
also had eventually to concede that the proposal is reversible in the sense intended 

by the guidance. Finally he had to concede that his failure to consider and address the 
reversibility of the proposal was an important omission in his evidence. The failure to 

consider this important issue calls his assessment of the impact of the proposal and 
its significance into question. The failure of Cadw to address this also seriously 
undermines their comparative review of Mr Croft and Mr Le Quesne’s evidence. 

133. Mr Croft’s approach as to whether the proposals may have a significantly damaging 
effect upon setting is seriously flawed.  If, however, the proposals were considered to 

have a significantly damaging effect upon setting it would then be necessary to 
consider whether there are any exceptional circumstances. Again there is no guidance 

                                       

99 HER-1 p 8 Stage 3 

100 AC 4.3.8 

101 AC 4.3.9 

102 AC 4.3.9 

103 AC in cross-examination 

Tudalen 450



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    31 

provided as to what might amount to exceptional circumstances or how one should 
approach the issue.  

134. When advising PCC on this issue Mr Croft drew attention to “the great weight being 
given to renewable energy in planning decisions taken by the Welsh Government”, 

referring to the decisions at Bryn Blaen and Garreg Lwyd which he said was a 
particularly comparable example (even though it was for many more turbines)104. His 
advice was that, given the weight given to the delivery of renewable energy targets, 

exceptional circumstances could be said to apply105. 

135. It is clear from the recent Pant y Maen decision that the need and policy support for 

renewable energy development can amount to exceptional circumstances and that 
this merely requires a normal balancing exercise to be undertaken as Mr Croft 

accepted106. Indeed it was clear that this was the approach taken by Mr Croft in his 
proof, albeit he did not go on to consider whether there were exceptional 
circumstances as he said this did not involve any heritage input and was not a matter 

for him. It is notable that PCC’s evidence does not address the presence or absence of 
exceptional circumstances as such. 

136. In the circumstances it is clear that the reference in the policy to exceptional 
circumstances does not require anything more than a balancing exercise and if the 
conclusion is reached that the need for and benefits of the proposal outweigh any 

harm to the heritage interest this will amount to exceptional circumstance, albeit it 
would be prudent to address the issue and make it clear that one had found there to 

be exceptional circumstances, as Mr Croft acknowledged. 

137. In considering this issue it is very important to keep in mind the guidance provided 
with respect to the impacts of this form of development upon heritage interests. 

Policy urges authorities to plan positively to address climate change and particularly 
encourages further renewable energy development. It advises that one should weigh 

the public benefit of renewable energy against any harm to the significance of historic 
assets107.  

138. In this regard renewable energy development is singularly identified in a way which 

other development is not. Mr Croft ultimately had to agree that this was unusual and 
significant, as was the fact that as well as being found in PPW it was also flagged up 

in the specific guidance on heritage interests in TAN24. This sets this form of 
development apart from other forms of development in the way its impacts upon 
heritage interests are to be assessed. It also confirms that one is to undertake a 

balancing exercise. As Mr Croft agreed renewable energy is flagged up in this way 
because it is recognised that in tackling climate change it provides a wider benefit for 

heritage interests and because of the public interest and benefit in proposals coming 
forward to tackle climate change. It is again difficult to see that this was ever properly 
recognised in Mr Croft’s evidence or PCC’s case (although it had been recognised by 

the PCC officer recommending approval). 

                                       

104 HER-11 paras 2.53 – 2.55 

105 HER-11 para 2.56 

106 AC in cross-examination 

107 See PPW 6.2.3 and TAN 24 para 1.9 

Tudalen 451



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    32 

Nant Brook Enclosure  

139. There are a number of fundamental problems with Mr Croft and Cadw’s approach to 

this monument which start with consideration of the contradictory scheduling 
description which is set out at 6.2.1 of Mr Croft’s WSE.  The scheduling description 

starts by saying that the “date or precise nature of the enclosure in unknown”, but 
then goes on to say that it is of national importance (and hence scheduled) “for its 
potential to enhance our knowledge of later prehistoric defensive organisation and 

settlement” and claims that the “site forms an important element within the wider 
later prehistoric context”. 

140. It is clear from the scheduling description that the importance of the monument (and 
the reason for scheduling) is said to be its prehistoric age and what it can tell about 

defensive organisation. This cannot sit with the concession that its date and precise 
nature are unknown. 

141. The matter does not stop there, however, because both Mr Croft and Cadw now say 

that the monument is not prehistoric, but is instead medieval, and that it is not a 
defensive enclosure. This is a very fundamental point. The position of Cadw and Mr 

Croft is that there is no substance in the basis for the scheduling of the monument, 
indeed they assert it is wrong, but they fail to address this fundamental point. This is 
a serious failure on the part of an expert witness who is required to draw all relevant 

matters to the attention of the inquiry, even if unhelpful to their case. It is very 
concerning that Cadw did not address this, compounded by their failure to attend the 

inquiry. There is in fact no evidence that the monument is worthy of scheduling as a 
simple medieval stock enclosure. 

142. The scheduling description makes it clear that the principal importance of the 

monument lies in its archaeological potential. This will not be impacted upon by the 
wind turbine proposal, albeit the mitigation measures would assist in realising some of 

this potential, and help in furthering our understanding of the monument.  

143. Mr Croft’s evidence fails properly to identify the contribution the setting of the 
monument makes to its significance and fails to consider the changes that have 

already occurred to its setting. He had to concede that the enclosure of what was 
previously common land would have made large change to the setting of the 

monument; all the more so if it were some form of stock enclosure. Significantly 
Cadw suggest that the monument was “associated with a possible deserted rural 
settlement”108 (without adducing a shred of evidence for this conjecture). If Cadw are 

correct with respect to that claim the loss of the associated settlement would also 
have made a fundamental alteration to the setting. 

144. Surprisingly Mr Croft made his assessment of the impact of the proposal upon the 
monument without ever attempting to gain access to the monument, although he did 
not reveal that until asked in cross-examination. This is a significant omission, and 

something which he should have disclosed at the outset. The weight to be given to his 
evidence must accordingly be reduced. 

145. In his proof of evidence whilst conceding that the monument does not have a strong 
visual presence109, Mr Croft suggests that the highly rural, agricultural and quiet 

                                       

108 See AC 6.2.2 

109 AC 6.2.10 

Tudalen 452



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    33 

nature of the landscape is a defining aspect of the monument’s setting and that it 
makes a significant contribution to its significance by providing people with a sense of 

the monument’s rural history and role in the landscape110. This ignores the changes to 
setting already made. Furthermore this will not be significantly altered by the appeal 

proposal. 

146. In evidence Mr Croft tried to elaborate upon this by emphasising that the landscape 
was large scale, in agricultural use, separate from any settlement and still tranquil. 

This is of course the classic landscape in which one might expect to find wind turbines 
and Mr Croft conceded that with the exception of tranquillity this was unaltered as a 

result of the proposal. With respect to tranquillity there is no basis for suggesting that 
this would be materially altered by the presence of the turbines, most of which would 

not even be visible from the monument. 

147. Mr Croft tried to raise an issue about intervisiblity with other sites, but this is 
untenable as the monument is not visible from any distance.  In truth his assessment 

of the impact of the proposal is essentially an assessment of landscape and visual 
effects. He does not establish any true impact upon the significance of the monument. 

148. As Mr Le Quesne explains the proximity of the rock outcrop on the north of the 
monument, the track and nearby ford are fundamental aspects of the monument’s 
setting111. All significant views are southwards, and the fact that one turbine would be 

visible from the monument 600m to the west will have little effect on the heritage 
significance of the monument112. 

Graig Camp  

149. Graig Camp lies on a marked south-east facing slope overlooking the headwaters of 
the River Edw113. Its importance as explained in the scheduling description again is 

principally concerned with its archaeological potential114. The monument looks 
essentially to the valley to the south-east away from the appeal site as Mr Croft 

concedes115 and the analysis confirms. Its position and aspect strongly suggests that 
whatever its function, it related to the community living in the lowlands to the south-
east116. The monument is hidden from long distance views in the landscape. 

150. Any northern views (i.e. towards the appeal site) are only available from the top of 
the north-western defences and do not include Llandegley Rocks Hillfort117. There is 

no visual connection between the two monuments. There is no evidence that they 
were even contemporary. The suggestion that the land between them was either 

                                       

110 AC 6.2.10 

111 CQ 71  

112 CQ 72 

113 CQ 53 

114 CQ 55 and AC 6.3.1 

115 AC 6.3.3 

116 CQ 55 and AC 6.3.3 

117 CQ 58 

Tudalen 453



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    34 

contested or shared is not only unsupported by any evidence but does not fit with the 
orientation of both monuments. 

151. Surprisingly this is another monument not visited by Mr Croft who nevertheless 
opines about the significance of views in the setting of the monument. Again this 

significantly undermines his evidence. 

152. Mr Croft contends that the links between Graig Camp and Llandegley Rocks Hillfort 
are important aspects of the setting of Graig Camp118. This assertion is made without 

having visited the monument and is wrong. He also seeks to argue that the views 
from the monument are important in generating a sense of control and influence119, 

but it is plain that these are away from the appeal site. This also ignores the fact that 
Graig Camp is lower than many surrounding hills. 

153. Given that the monument relates to the south-east away from the appeal site and 
that any views of turbines would be limited to views on the top of the defences there 
would be minimal impact upon the significance of the monument as a result of this 

proposal120. Furthermore the turbines would be on lower ground some 1.3km – 1.7km 
away from Graig Camp. The monument is not prominent from the north and its 

prominence will not be challenged. It must be remembered that there is already a 
turbine and masts on the ridge on which the monument is situated121 and the 
monument is not situated on the highest ground in the vicinity. 

154. Mr Croft also relies upon the open rural character of the landscape around the 
monument contributing to its significance by providing an appropriate landscape 

context that reflects the agricultural history and prehistory of the landscape122. This 
ignores the changes which have already occurred, as previously noted, and the fact 
that there is no change as a result of this proposal in the area of interest to the 

monument in the south-east. 

Llandegley Rocks Hillfort  

155. Llandegley Rocks Hillfort sits on a projecting north-eastern spur of Llandegley Rocks. 
Whilst the scheduled area includes a rocky area on the south of the spur the 
enclosure is to the north-east and it seems likely that any settlement is most likely to 

have stood within this fortified area123. 

156. Again the scheduling identifies its value primarily as its evidential value124. The only 

clear views of the enclosure are those looking from the higher upper enclosure125. The 
monument looks and primarily relates to the vale to the north of Llandegley; i.e. 

                                       

118 AC 6.3.11 

119 AC 6.3.10 

120 CQ 59 

121 AC 6.3.4 

122 AC 6.3.12 

123 CQ 43 

124 CQ 44 

125 CQ 46 

Tudalen 454



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    35 

north-east away from the appeal site126. There is no evidence that views to the south 
from the lower enclosure were of particular significance127. The monument is not on 

the highest ground emphasising that its relationship is with the vale to the north-east. 
Despite this relationship it is very difficult to identify the archaeological features 

except when standing on the monument or on upper enclosure to the west. 

157. Any views of the turbines from the scheduled monument are limited to the summit of 
the spur where the evidence for Iron Age activity is far from clear. There will be no 

impact upon the relationship to the north-east128. The impact of the scheme on the 
significance of the scheduled remains would be low129. 

Castell Crug Eryr  

158. Castell Crug Eryr comprises the earthwork remains of a small but prominently 

positioned medieval motte and bailey castle130, which was positioned to command the 
route through the pass. It is likely that the line of the former Roman road ran directly 
past the castle131. The castle was positioned at the point where the Welsh medieval 

kingdom confronted the Saxon and Marcher lordships to the east132. It is the 
relationship of the castle to this road and the pass which is the key element of its 

setting. This would be unaffected by the turbines sited on lower ground some 2.5 – 
3.5km to the east133. The impact of the proposal on the significance of the monument 
would be low to medium and would not amount to a significantly damaging effect134. 

Mitigation 

159. The proposals would not have a significantly damaging effect upon any of the heritage 

assets of interest. However, they would provide scope for works of mitigation. This is 
appropriate and reference is made to such works in the Cadw documents. The point is 
made by Mr Croft that this is offsetting rather than mitigation, but this is to some 

extent a matter of semantics. The guidance explains that such measures will not 
reduce the impact of a proposal within the setting of an historic asset but “should 

nevertheless be presented to the decision-making authority so that it can weigh the 
benefits of the scheme, including the compensatory measures, against the impact of 
the development on the historic asset and its setting”135. 

                                       

126 CQ 47 

127 CQ 48 

128 CQ 50 

129 CQ 51 

130 CQ 61 

131 CQ 62 

132 CQ 64 

133 CQ 65 

134 CQ 66 

135 HER 1 p10 section 5 and see also HER 2 p11 

Tudalen 455



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    36 

CPRW B&R objections 

160. CPRW B&R raised a number of issues, which found no support from PCC or any of the 

consultees with the relevant expertise to address these matters. In general terms the 
complaints were essentially that more information should have been provided rather 

than that there would actually be any harm arising from the proposal.  

161. In considering their points it is important to keep in mind that the application has 
been subject to EIA and the various consultees have had a chance to respond to the 

information provided. In so far as issues are raised concerning ecology, ornithology 
and hydrology they are all within the responsibility of NRW. When initially consulted 

on the application NRW raised an objection but they were subsequently satisfied with 
the information provided. Plainly NRW looked at the matter carefully and did not 

simply take matters at face value. It is furthermore important to note that the various 
CPRW B&R witnesses were not expert witnesses in the particular fields which they 
covered. 

162. The particular points raised by the CPRW B&R witnesses are addressed in the ES and 
the letters provided at the start of the inquiry. They do not raise any harm to put into 

the planning balance. 

Balance 

163. The evidence establishes that there would not be unacceptable adverse harm and the 

proposal complies with the development plan. In such circumstances there is no need 
to undertake a planning balance and the proposal should be granted planning 

permission. 

164. If it is considered that the proposal is in conflict with the development plan then it 
remains necessary to undertake a planning balance in accordance with policy. 

165. Furthermore, if contrary to Mr Le Quesne’s evidence the conclusion were reached that 
the proposal would have a significantly damaging impact upon any of the SAMs it is 

again necessary to undertake a balancing exercise. Whilst it is important to give due 
weight to any impact upon SAMs, it is also important to appreciate that this does not 
preclude any development which may have an adverse impact upon a SAM. This is 

something properly recognised in the Officers’ report and numerous appeal decisions. 
In so far as there is impact upon the setting of the SAMs, this is something which 

ultimately needs to be weighed in the balance.  

166. Given the limited adverse impacts arising from this proposal and the very significant 
need for this form of development and the benefits arising from this proposal the 

planning balance very firmly falls in favour of this proposal. 

167. In the circumstances it is requested that the appeal be allowed and consent be 

granted for the wind farm and associated development, subject to appropriate 
conditions. 

Tudalen 456



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    37 

The Case for Powys County Council 

The material points made by the Council are: 

Introduction 

168. The essential issues between PCC and the appellant concern questions of judgment as 

to the extent and significance of the impact of the proposals on the environment 
which have been set out within the reasons for refusal. These are:  

i. The significant and harmful changes to landscape character; 

ii. The significant adverse effects on the visual amenity of users of public rights of 
way, and open access land; 

iii. The significantly damaging effects on the setting of four Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments. 

169. The Council accept and recognise the need urgently to meet the Government’s 
renewable energy targets identified by the Welsh Government (WG).  The specific 
figures are set out in the SoCG (CD APP-7) and because this very properly recognises 

(para 17) that the Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 places tackling climate 
change within (ie not in a way which is superior to or separate from) the pursuit of 

the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 

170. Also accepted and recognised is the scale and character of the windfarm proposed: 
the turbines are the kind generally used for the large scale 25MW+ schemes which 

are directed to locations within or close to Strategic Search Areas, and it would take 
only another three of these turbines to reach that threshold. The infrastructure they 

require for access and for their stability is substantial and much of it would stay, but 
the consent itself is time limited, following which the turbines would be removed – 
unless replaced by a recommissioned facility. The impacts of the turbines themselves, 

therefore, would be long term reversible impacts – for the 25 years in operation – and 
should be assessed on that basis.  

171. Ultimately, the recommendation and decision in this case should turn in on the 
disputes over the magnitude of adverse impact on each of these issues. On this the 
view of the principal statutory consultees – both NRW and Cadw – as well as the 

independent conclusions of experienced professionals advising the authority at 
application stage, is that the appellant has very substantially under-reported the 

impact of the proposals. This robust and forthright advice (of statutory consultees and 
of Mr Russell-Vick and Mr Croft), articulated consistently and repeatedly over 3½ 
years is worthy of very significant weight.  

172. In contrast, Mr Le Quesne’s abandonment of the ES’s assessment of heritage impact 
when under cross examination (albeit this could be anticipated within his proof on 

account of the scant regard he gives the ES assessment) risks making a mockery of 
the EIA process.  

173. For the reasons set out in the Council’s opening, while the officers’ report remains an 

excellent source of information about the responses to consultation and judgments on 
harm, the recommendation is now no more than a background fact, having been very 

considerably overtaken by events. The inquiry has provided an opportunity to assess 
and to test the evidence, which has of course been added to, and to give very much 
greater weight to the emerging Plan and its strategy for renewable energy in Powys.  

Tudalen 457



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    38 

174. The Council’s submissions do not cover the points made by and on behalf of CPRW 
B&R and others and nothing should be read into the failure to comment. Meanwhile 

letters of support or objection are only as relevant as the evidence they contain and 
the planning points they make – the weight of the paper on one side or the other of 

the argument is neither here nor there. 

Legal and Policy Context 

175. This is an appeal under s78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, which has 

been called in for determination by the WG on account of its scale (at over 10MW 
capacity).  

176. RE1 and other relevant policies of the recently adopted LDP are up to date and have 
been specifically and recently endorsed by the WG and through the examination 

process subject to the IMACs, which include a replacement RE1 drafted by the WG 
(CD POL-51 and ID 41).  Mr Southerby’s proof presents the relevant policies and 
material considerations in a thorough and authoritative assessment of the principal 

material considerations. His approach is orthodox, clear and robust, and subsequent 
events (the binding Inspector’s binding report at ID 41) have shown that he was 

measured but essentially right in his assessment of the emerging LDP.  

177. As the Inspector said at 2.7 she was satisfied that the LDP will contribute towards 
improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales and, 

in that respect, complies with the overarching principle of the WBFG Act. [ID 41] 

178. S2 of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 applies to the WG’s decision, and ensuring these 

well-being objectives is the essential statutory purpose of the power to allow or 
dismiss the appeal. It is submitted that the relevant national policy within PPW and its 
supporting guidance, as well as the current and emerging development plan, promote 

these aspects of sustainable development in tandem – all are to be pursued and none 
is dominant. 

179. There are tensions between achieving the benefits of renewable energy generation 
and environmental protection and the planning system provides a coherent 
framework for resolving them. After applying the specific policy tests of the 

Development Plan, a balance is struck between the benefits and dis-benefits of the 
development – to assess whether other material considerations indicate otherwise (to 

use the words of s38(6)). But care is needed not to double count the benefits of the 
development. The appellant’s evidence suggests that its benefits are all typical of all 
renewable energy proposals rather than other material considerations and they have 

therefore been taken into account in the drafting of the relevant policies. 

180. The LDP does not repeat policy provided by PPW and the TANs but they implement it 

at the local level. The key policy test in each case is whether the adverse impact of 
the development is acceptable (SP7 of the LDP).  

181. In preparing its LDP, Powys has responded positively to the need for new sources of 

renewable energy and has two SSAs both of which have capacity for additional 
windfarm development within its area [CD POL-30].  

182. LDP policy RE1’s supporting text (most notably 4.10.12) shows that it is properly 
informed by the strategy for renewable energy set out in TAN8, and it is therefore 
clear that there are large areas of Powys which have been chosen for their suitability 

in principle for the needs of windfarm development and their ability to accommodate 
significant landscape change without unacceptable harm.  

Tudalen 458



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    39 

183. While unable to identify any Local Search Areas for wind energy development, PCC 
does not rule out the possibility that such a project/s may find a home in Powys. RE1 

requires that – for it to do so – there should be no unacceptable adverse impact on 
(amongst other matters): 

i. The valued characteristics and qualities of the landscape (with a reference to 
DM4) 

ii. The historic environment (with a reference to DM13 and SP7) 

iii. The amenity of the surrounding area – and SP7 requires that there should be no 
unacceptable impact on recreational assets including the public rights of way 

network. 

184. DM4 is eloquent on the subject of the landscape: for this, the proposals must be 

appropriate and sensitive in terms of integration, siting, scale and design to the 
characteristics and qualities of the landscape including its topography; development 
pattern and features; historical and ecological qualities; open views; and tranquillity 

[DM4]. 

185. The adjective “unacceptable” features in a variety of places and – it is submitted – 

provides for a straightforward planning judgment informed by the circumstances of 
any one project. Inspector Nixon had no difficulty with the word when dismissing the 
appeal at Pentre Tump, and an approach along similar lines is contended for by PCC 

[see CPRW B&R Williams Appx E]. 

186. For landscape change, an obvious consideration is the scale of the project and its 

location: propose a wind farm within or close to an SSA and a greater degree of 
change to landscape character will be accommodated; propose a wind farm on 
brownfield land and you benefit from the encouragement given to its use within TAN8. 

But propose a windfarm in a location such as the appeal site, and the judgment of 
what is acceptable must be assessed by reference to the particular values of the 

particular landscape and its susceptibility to change of the kind proposed - the implicit 
objective of TAN 8, now stated explicitly in the supporting text to RE1, “to maintain 
the landscape character, i.e. no significant change in landscape character from wind 

turbine development.”  

187. Mr Frampton’s intellectual contortions (during cross-examination by Mrs Townsend) to 

explain the operation of a “normal/inevitable effects” threshold below which adverse 
landscape effects could not be judged unacceptable were a sure sign of its 
problematic character. Effectively he seeks a “discount” as against the degree of harm 

which would be accepted from “other” unnamed forms of development, or an 
exception from the policy to accommodate the “inevitable” effects of a large scale 

windfarm. But the formulation has a circularity that is troubling – all things being 
equal the larger the scheme the greater the inevitable impact and therefore the 
higher the bar (according to him). For the reasons explored with him in cross-

examination it is submitted that the approach would be so flawed as to be unlawful.  
In short neither RE1 can sustain such an interpretation. 

188. When it comes to adverse effects on the historic environment, the SP7 criterion 
embraces the full range of possible effects including effects on heritage assets 
themselves, and change within their setting. If the changes significantly damage the 

setting of a SAM (as Mr Croft and Cadw have argued these proposals do, and as the 
ES might be judged to have done) the effect is unacceptable unless exceptional 

Tudalen 459



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    40 

circumstances are shown to exist [6.5.5 of PPW] (a point referred to again in the 
consideration of heritage evidence). 

189. So, how to judge whether any particular level of harm is “acceptable” in this case? 
The answer is deceptively simple: assess the impact objectively, and reach a 

judgment whether it is acceptable in the light of the particular facts of this case and 
any relevant national planning policy and guidance. This involves a balance of 
considerations, but it also involves close attention to the way PPW and its TANs 

indicate the balance should be struck.  

Landscape Character 

190. The appeal site is set in a depression within the upland landscape, surrounded by 
higher ground on all sides. The land here is gently undulating, it has an atmosphere 

of stillness and beauty that has to be experienced to be appreciated. The site slopes 
generally down towards its eastern and southern edges from 354m AOD at the 
western edge of the Site, to a low point of 290m AOD at the River Edw, towards the 

Site’s eastern boundary.  

191. The site is overlooked by public access land and public rights of way to the north. 

Rights of way cross the site and pass close by, while the BOAT which is to form part 
of the access runs through the site east west, past Pye Corner, and bridleways to the 
north and south. It is a settled landscape – the open “bowl” within which the appeal 

site lies is, although you do not see them, surrounded by settlements. 

192. The A44, a tourist route from England to the coast, provides stunning views across 

this complex undulating landform to the Aberedw Hill uplands in the west and the 
instantly recognisable site of the SAM, Llandegley Rocks, in the north. 

193. The turbines would sit within this landscape, transforming it in a way they could not if 

they were where one might expect them – above the landscape, after all the wind 
belongs to the sky not the earth.  

194. Over an area of about 80 ha, the seven 110m high turbines would stand tall with their 
revolving blades introducing for the first time an industrial element to this ancient 
landscape. Their arrangement is semi-formal, with clear stacking effects from north, 

east and west – illustrated following the review of the ES by Enplan [CD LVIA-9]. 

195. As mentioned, the objective of renewable energy policy is to maintain landscape 

character in areas away from the SSAs. Mr Russell-Vick has been exceptionally clear 
and consistent about the implications of this: if the landscape is characterised by the 
windfarm, such that the main characteristics of the landscape are lost or changed, the 

proposal does not accord with the implicit objective of TAN8. 

196. Ms Hawkins in contrast, did not mention TAN8 in her proof, and expressly confirmed 

in cross-examination that she considered it not relevant to the task she undertook in 
her proof.  

197. On the change to landscape character she accepted readily that the VSAA is not a 

policy designation. However, her repeated return to the “landscape unit” (by which 
she meant the VSAA as a whole) and the area of land within a given VSAA which lies 

outside the area of significant impact reveals a fundamental flaw in her entire 
approach.  

198. This was illustrated when she was asked what test she had applied to conclude that 

the degree of effects was limited she answered “whether the description of the 

Tudalen 460



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    41 

LANDMAP character area would form a key characteristic, a defining characteristic of 
the landscape unit” (by which she meant the LANDMAP character area). If there was a 

consequence for the landscape character description that would be a significant 
adverse effect.  

199. The landscape affected is the relevant landscape unit, and the fact that it is made up 
of interlocking VSAAs is happenstance. In this case there’s considerable level of 
agreement that the area of landscape significantly affected by this proposal is an area 

stretching to 4.5-5km from the turbines. What counts is the degree of effect, and 
whether it matters.  

200. The characteristics of the VSAAs affected by the windfarm are not in dispute: these 
are for the host VSAA a landscape which is “attractive, tranquil, exposed, remote, 

wild, spiritual” and these themes recur in each of the VSAAs affected; nor is the value 
of the receiving landscape a matter of any significant dispute; nor is the extent over 
which significant adverse effects will be felt in dispute at about 5km (Mr Russell-Vick 

says 4.5km from the turbines within the ZTV); nor is the assessment of those 
significant effects as adverse in dispute – a fact not to be dismissed simply because 

the appellant considers it inevitable. 

201. On the key issue, Mr Russell-Vick’s evidence is to be preferred. As he stated quite 
simply these are “big pieces of kit” and the access roads are very different to those 

required for a domestic scale windfarm. They would stake their claim in no uncertain 
terms to this settled landscape in a break from the pattern discerned by Mr Russell-

Vick for the relatively large scale windfarms of Powys, generally found within high 
plateau landscapes.  As he set out, the effects of the proposals may be described by 
reference to the five most directly affected VSAAs in the following way: 

i. The host VSAA, a landscape of high value, would, over an area of approximately 
1.5km from the windfarm “radically alter to become a windfarm landscape”. Ms 

Hawkins did not consider this in her proof but when under cross-examination put 
the limit of this radical transformation at 0.5km. To get a feel for the area over 
which there is, it seems, agreement as to the radical transformation, Ms Bolger 

viewpoint C at Fig09 may be useful. This is 530m from the nearest turbine, and 
TP1 and PRV1 (680m distance) are just outside the area she identifies in this way. 

But we think the area of radical change is about three times as far, and that the 
submitted photographs and a view of the site confirms this to be the case. 

ii. Affecting the Upland Moor, Radnor Forest VSAA, a VSAA of high value lying to the 

east of the site, over an area up to 4.5km the wind farm would “become a key 
characteristic in its context, would compete with and detract from the key 

characteristics / qualities of the VSAA”;  

iii. There would be a similar effect on the high value Upland Moor, Glascwm Hill 
VSAA, an extensive VSAA lying to the south and southeast of the site; 

iv. Affecting the Rocky Moorland Gilwern Hill VSAA [RDNRVS 107], a VSAA lying to 
the west of the site where, over 1.5km the turbines “would be dominant and 

become a defining characteristic, would override and be in stark contrast with the 
key characteristics / qualities of the VSAA”; 

v. Affecting the Rolling Hills, central south east VSAA lying in pockets both, broadly, 

to the south west and the north east of the site, for a distance of over 1.5km from 
the windfarm it would be dominant and become a defining characteristic in stark 

contrast with the key characteristics and qualities of the VSAA. 

Tudalen 461



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    42 

202. These are the professional findings, and they add up to a significant change to a 
landscape of (in large part and in the part most directly affected) county value (using 

Ms Hawkins’ methodology). This means that – purely in value terms – the landscape 
here is on a par with a special landscape area designation (of which there are none in 

Powys). In historic environment terms the aspect area within which the appeal site 
lies is of outstanding value, that is to say of international or national importance, and 
the LANDMAP unioning process he describes in his proof [at 4.11-4.19] provides a 

useful tool corroborating the opinion both he and Ms Hawkins hold of the quality, the 
value, of the landscape immediately affected (to about 5km distant) from the 

turbines.  

203. NRW’s consultation response suggests strongly that they would agree and their 

serious concerns about the “regional effects” of this development on landscape 
character should be given very significant weight.  

Visual Amenity 

204. On this the Appellant shows an extraordinary lack of care over the detail – glossing 
over the impact of the proposal on the immediate locality somewhat and the many 

walkers, tourists and horse riders who enjoy the gloriously unspoilt, tranquil, views it 
currently offers anyone with the time to look.  

205. The appellant has persisted in a failure to illustrate, or to describe in any detail the 

changes which would take place when the access tracks are introduced to the site, 
crossing the byway at three places, whether or not in a cutting – and whatever the 

depth of the cutting. However, four years into the progress of the application and on 
the first day of the inquiry, we were informed of changes to the tracks, changes which 
are supported by a letter from WYG and some additional illustrative plans and which 

may be the subject of a condition if considered necessary [ID18]136.  

206. Of the 10 representative viewpoints from which an adverse effect judged significant in 

EIA terms would be caused by the development, Ms Hawkins agrees with seven. What 
is striking is  

i. The unspoilt, intact, rural quality of the views affected; and   

ii. That views from all around the site – across and into the bowl within which the 
appeal site sits – are significant adverse effects on views highly sensitive to 

change of the kind proposed. 

207. As for landscape character change, there is much common ground between Mr 
Russell-Vick and Ms Hawkins. She identifies within her summary table of effects nine 

viewpoints representative of views of national or county value. There is a notable 
overlap of opinion between the two witnesses in every respect, save the magnitude of 

change – and for Ms Hawkins this is driven by her idiosyncratic methodology.  

208. She volunteered that there would be many views of the turbines, not least from the 
BOAT, which would meet her definition of “very substantial” change in the view137, but 

                                       

136 After careful assessment PRV concludes the changes, while positive in landscape and visual 

amenity terms, do not make a significant difference to his conclusions [ID 39]. 

137 Defined as ‘Where the proposed turbines would be close to the viewpoint, visible in their entirety, 

would occupy the majority of one sector of the view (90˚), the rotors would be moving and 

facing the viewpoint, the turbines would be in stark contrast to the landscape context 

Tudalen 462



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    43 

none of her representative viewpoints do so. For whatever reason, nowhere does she 
explicitly acknowledge that her chosen methodology has this idiosyncratic 

requirement that very substantial changes are only experienced where the turbines 
occupy the majority of one sector of the view.  The methodology in fact represents an 

impediment to her ability to provide a complete or balanced report of the degree of 
the impact – unless she were to include viewpoints close to the 80 hectare site 
occupied by the turbines. It is notable that this is the same methodology as was relied 

upon at Bryn Blaen, inviting the Inspector’s comment at paragraph 25 “I note that 
this approach is not adopted by many other landscape architects and I do not favour 

it”. [CD POL-35] 

209. Another idiosyncrasy was the argument that VP1 and PRV1 show the nearest turbine 

is dominant and the furthest only prominent. It may be thought that from these 
locations, both over 500m from the 80 ha “site” of the turbines, there would be a 
group effect, the turbines to the rear reinforcing the dominance of the closer turbines 

in the view. 

210. Finally, on stacking, Mr Russell-Vick has shown that it was under-assessed in the ES 

(which did not have the benefit of PRV1, PRV2 and PRV3) and that it is likely to be a 
feature of the chosen layout, which lies somewhere between the formality of a grid 
and the looser arrangement which is necessary for the stacking effect to be 

minimised. Ms Hawkins was keen to emphasise that stacking is caused by the number 
of turbines, and this may be so, and it may be that the proposal is for too many 

turbines, but neither can the appellant argue that the layout has been designed to 
minimise stacking since the layout was fixed before any consideration of three 
viewpoints illustrative of stacking effects.  

Heritage 

211. PCC’s third reason for refusal  concerns the adverse impact on the setting of four 

Scheduled Ancient Monuments, namely: 

i. Nant Brook Enclosure to the immediate south of turbine 3  

ii. Graig Camp hillfort, upon the ridge to the south of the turbines 

iii. Llandegley Rocks Hillfort, upon the ridge to the north of the turbines 

iv. Crug Eryr Mound and Bailey Castle, upon a mound to the east of the turbines. 

212. Mr Croft’s proof sets out the chronology of assessment and counter-assessment in 
some detail. The story begins with an ES prepared in 2014 when this application was 
first submitted. Cadw’s response to consultation on the heritage chapters was critical 

of its methodology and of the assessment of impact which led – so they believed – to 
an under-reporting of the significance of the several impacts on the setting of 

designated monuments and other heritage assets. One of the methodological 
criticisms was its reliance on the DMRB – suitable for linear schemes such as trunk 
roads but less suitable for turbines (see Cadw’s second letter within ID29) and was 

considered by Mr Croft and Cadw to underscore the magnitude of impact. 

                                                                                                                           
(particularly in terms of scale and an absence of similar structures), such that they would be a 

dominant new feature which would be present for a long, albeit temporary and reversible, time 

frame’ 

Tudalen 463



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    44 

213. Although in cross-examination Mr Le Quesne came very close to saying that the WG 
should give the ES assessment within Chapter 8 and Appendix 8.1 no weight, it 

remains part of the environmental information before the inquiry and must be taken 
into account to meet the requirements of Reg 3 of the EIA Regulations 1999. Notably 

the ES finds significant adverse effects on the significance of three of these SAMs, the 
Nant Brook enclosure, as well as the iron-age hillforts Graig Camp and Llandegley 
Rocks. This is recorded for ease of reference within Mr Croft’s Note ID11. 

214. As it did for the LVIA, PCC obtained expert advice on the methodology of the ES and 
the judgments reached. The reports (prepared by Mr Croft under the Atkins name) 

are at CD HER-10 and CD HER-11. His views have been endorsed by Cadw.  

215. Mr Le Quesne points out that Cadw and Mr Croft have not actually visited the hillfort 

of Graig Camp, nor stood upon the enclosure at Nant Brook – but the absence of any 
additional information/insight which can be specifically related to his own visit, 
together with the vast array of photographs and other documentation available to Mr 

Croft and the experts at Cadw makes this – a weak distinction. 

216. Mr Le Quesne claims to have carried out a full assessment following the four stages 

recommended by Cadw within their 2017 Guidance [CD HER-1], but his written 
assessment is shallow and limited, perhaps because he fails to recognise fully the 
positive contribution the setting makes to the significance of the monument and 

confines its significance to its “evidential value”. Further, bearing in mind his proof of 
evidence is offered in place of the ES, it is insufficiently rigorous and detailed. His 

findings record each in turn as low (according to the table of definitions (Table 4.1) 
derived from the EIA for the HS2 project dating back to 2012). 

217. The source of Table 4.1 was given for the first time when he gave evidence to the 

inquiry, and is somewhat ironic since he has replaced the (rightly criticised) DMRB 
approach with an extract from another linear project, supported by Act of Parliament, 

for which significant effects were going to be a likely inevitability. My point is that the 
DMRB methodology was criticised for the fact it concerns a linear project [ID 29 
second letter from Cadw]. Neither does the table add to the text of his proof in any 

meaningful way. It almost seems an irrelevant addition with no obvious place in his 
assessment. The irony is compounded by the strong defence of the ES methodology 

within the Aaron and Partners letter of 3 November 2017 which was several months 
after Mr Le Quesne’s appointment (ID43). 

218. So with a less than orthodox procedural/documentary background I turn to the 

specific monuments. 

219. In respect of Nant Brook, most likely a medieval stock enclosure, Mr Croft notes that 

the nearest turbine would be a mere 450m from the monument and would “very 
significantly damage the setting” with a “significant adverse impact on its 
significance” (paragraph 6.2.16). Useful photographs of the monument in its setting 

include the panorama at Ms Bolger’s Fig10-11 taken from the footpath to the south, 
and showing the positions of the turbines, something Mr Le Quesne has not done.  

220. Mr Le Quesne’s summary of impact within his proof focusses exclusively on views 
from the monument and views out to the north. He describes the impact as low – 
apparently because he doubts the monument’s significance. He is the first and only 

expert to do so. He doubts its significance because Cadw and Mr Croft believe it is 
most likely to be a medieval stock enclosure in contrast to the reason for significance 

attributed to it within the Schedule description. Mr Le Quesne’s problem, however, is 
that as the enclosure’s origin was always known to be less than certain (see the 

Tudalen 464



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    45 

Schedule’s full description which recognises it may be medieval or prehistoric in 
origin) but it is generally fairly well understood – and its significance not 

controversial. There is a process for reappraising the significance of a monument – 
and revising the description. The evidence suggests that the description may be out of 

date but not that there is any good reason to remove it from the Schedule.  

221. Also a feature of Mr Le Quesne’s analysis which is unique to him is his 
characterisation of the landscape as “intensively exploited” for which proposition he 

sets himself up in opposition to LANDMAP, both landscape witnesses, and of course 
Cadw and Mr Croft. Of course the setting has changed since this was unenclosed 

moorland – nobody disputes that – but Mr Le Quesne’s description is startling in its 
lack of appreciation for its essential qualities, recognised by every other relevant 

witness, and the role played by this essentially humble monument’s setting. Mr Le 
Quesne is incorrectly conflating historical change with modern character. For example 
in 3.5.2 he states that "There is no ‘undeveloped rural landscape’ – since the early 

nineteenth century the moorland has been transformed by grassland improvement, 
enclosure, woodland planting and construction of farm buildings." Are these not 

typical "rural" features? 

222. Graig Camp, in contrast to Nant Brook, is a defended hilltop enclosure lying in a 
prominent position to the south of the proposed wind farm which, Mr Croft advises, 

would “significantly challenge” its prominence “in the landscape, a landscape it was 
designed to dominate and control. This is a significant impact.” (paragraph 6.3.15). 

223. In the case of an iron-age monument each of the experts is interpreting the evidence 
left after hundreds of years of non-use. Interpretation is essential and not something 
to denigrate. In this case it is agreed that this monument’s primary aspect is to the 

south, but that it would also have defended its northern aspect, with substantial 
ramparts providing open views to Llandegley Rocks hillfort across the intervening 

space, as illustrated in Figure 3.1 of Mr Le Quesne’s photographs138.  

224. The scheduled Llandegley Rocks Hillfort is another iron-age hill fort occupying the 
steep-sided promontory to the east of the main higher part of Llandegley Rocks and 

situated on open access land, Mr Croft finds a similarly harmful impact (paragraph 
6.4.14). The form of the rocks here effectively is the monument. As he said under 

cross-examination Mr Croft believes that the natural crags and outcrops were part of 
the natural defences. Mr Le Quesne’s focus on the upper enclosure is a distraction.   

225. The two scheduled hillforts were statements of power and control as well as defensive 

structures and they form part of a wider network of hillforts which highlight the 
importance of the area as a route through the region. Their prominence and visibility 

in the landscape are key elements of their setting, as are views out from each of them 
– bearing in mind their defensive function. Hence, Mr Croft explains, the visual link 
between them makes a significant contribution to their significance. The proposed 

development would “seriously detract from the visual relationship between the two 
monuments.” (paragraph 6.4.16). 

                                       

138 The ZTV plans submitted during the inquiry [ID 27] should be given no weight in the appeal: the 

assessment is made from within the monuments in each case and do not reflect the ability to 

look out from the ramparts/defensive structures to the north of Graig Camp, or indeed to see 

them from the north. 

Tudalen 465



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    46 

226. Finally, Crug Eryr Castle, a medieval motte and bailey castle which lies to the east of 
the proposed windfarm, occupying a distinctive elevated spur above the valley floor 

with extensive views to the southwest, west and northwest (paragraph 6.5.3). For the 
reasons set out in his proof Mr Croft concludes that the development would 

significantly damage elements of the site’s setting that contribute to its significance 
(paragraph 6.5.16). 

227. If Mr Croft’s evidence, and that of Cadw, is accepted, paragraph 6.5.5 of PPW applies. 

There must be at least the question whether even the ES’s assessment (which Cadw 
advised under-reported the magnitude of effect) would trigger the test (since the ES 

finds significant adverse effects on the significance of three SAMs). 

228. This is a (still relatively) new policy requirement that exceptional circumstances are 

required to justify a significantly damaging effect on the setting of a SAM. This 
specific policy test requires specific attention in any decision to grant planning 
permission and is clearly triggered by the number and degree of adverse effects 

identified by AC. The recent case of Steer v Shepway DC 2018 EWHC 238 (Admin) is 
a stark reminder of how important it is to grapple with a policy of this kind, such that 

in that case a common law duty arose to give reasons for granting planning 
permission for major development in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty against 
officer advice. There are of course many and varied differences between that case and 

this – it is referred to a reminder that where a policy requires there to be exceptional 
circumstances (see judgment para 24 and see for example PPW at 5.5.6) that is what 

it means. Something about the particular project which is exceptional, different, 
beyond the norm – and the decision maker needs to justify it specifically. 

229. Mr Frampton recognised this during cross-examination but then offered as an 

exceptional circumstance a characteristic of this case that it shares with any 
renewable energy project anywhere in Wales: that it would produce renewable 

energy. This is, in my submission, not capable of being “exceptional circumstances” 
on the evidence before the inquiry. 

230. Mr Frampton draws attention to the approach taken by the WG in Denbighshire, and it 

is noted that the Inspector drew attention to the policy – but, just as happened in 
Steer, the WG did not follow the Inspector’s recommendation (to dismiss the appeal). 

Given her recommendation there was no need for the Inspector to grapple 
with/identify/speculate about exceptional circumstances, but there was a need for the 
WG to do so and unfortunately it would seem that they did not. 

231. From what I understand there are several possible reasons for this oversight flowing 
from the fact that there was little if any argument over the application of the test (it 

was a written representations appeal), the appeal proposal had been revised since the 
letter of Cadw (ID33) had been written, and they were not involved at any time after 
the policy test had been introduced.  

232. As Mr Le Quesne, recognises this new paragraph was introduced to better meet the 
objectives of the Historic Environment (Wales) Act and it’s my submission that it must 

be read with that intention in mind.  

Conclusions 

233. The WG has made is clear that all levers will be used to deliver its renewable energy 

targets. Within that context it has set a policy context for planning decisions which 
provides appropriate protection for landscape character, visual amenity of recreational 

rights of way, and nationally important heritage assets such as SAMs. 

Tudalen 466



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    47 

234. This policy context has informed and shaped the emerging LDP policy which Powys is 
close to adopting, and which has been endorsed specifically by the WG. These local 

policies should be given substantial weight and they should govern the decision in this 
case. 

235. If the landscape, visual, and heritage effects are judged unacceptable then the appeal 
should be dismissed.  The acceptability of these effects is a judgment with which Tan 
8 and PPW para 6.5.5 provide essential policy guidance. The evidence is 

overwhelming that the degree of landscape change is such that there will be a 
significant change to landscape character. There is no proper basis upon which the 

exceptional circumstances test could be said to be satisfied. 

236. In this particular case the harm caused by the development is unacceptable, despite 

the recognised renewable energy benefits of the appeal proposal, and that accordingly 
the appeal should be dismissed. 

The Case for Campaign for the Protection of Rural Wales, B&R 

The material points made by the CPRW B&R are: 

Introduction 

237. CPRW is a charity with the aims of protecting all Welsh landscapes, championing their 
responsible use, providing a voice for rural communities and promoting appreciation 
of the heritage and culture of rural Wales. In pursuing those aims CPRW B&R 

recognises that landscapes are not to be preserved under glass as a museum exhibit 
but ensuring that such changes as do occur respect the valued qualities and 

characteristics of the landscape in all its aspects. 

238. CPRW B&R acknowledges that anthropogenic climate change is a serious threat to 
landscape, the habitats and species which inhabit it and to mankind. It recognises 

that limiting greenhouse gas emissions is urgent and that generating electricity from 
low carbon sources rather than fossil fuels is part of the solution. It also recognises 

the benefits of security of supply to the UK. 

239. By identifying SSA’s at an all Wales level and accepting significant landscape change 
in those areas, Welsh Policy seeks to limit harm to landscapes elsewhere. The 

LANDMAP system of data provision provides the basis for a broadly consistent Wales-
wide approach to landscape assessment. Properly applied, taking all aspect layers into 

account, it provides a sound starting point for valuing landscape. Valuing at a finer 
grain and assessing landscape susceptibility to change from a particular form of 
developments is, inevitably, proposal specific. 

240. CPRW B&R says that Welsh Planning Policy has proved successful in providing 
renewable electricity in a timely manner. Through TAN 8 and the MIPPs in 2005 it 

sought to provide 7TWh by 2020. It achieved that by the end of 2016. Today Wales 
meets about 50% of its own needs for electricity from renewable sources (43% at end 
of 2017). England, which imports electricity from both Scotland and Wales, had only 

achieved 23.5% by the end of 2016. 

241. The relatively recent English policy change, effectively allowing local residents to 

prevent onshore wind development, is less rational than the Welsh policy stance. 
Here, when considering the landscape impact of a proposal, evidence of whether 
significant landscape adverse change will result from a proposal is required. CPRW 

B&R have provided such evidence as has the LPA. 

Tudalen 467



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    48 

242. CPRW B&R considers that EN-1 and EN-3 as planning guidance are irrelevant to this 
appeal. They are supported in their view by the recent decision by the Cabinet 

Secretary Lesley Griffiths regarding a 17.5MW wind farm at Llyn Bran, Bylchau, also 
known as Pant y Maen, issued on 11/01/2018. 

243. The responsibility for dealing with planning issues is devolved to Wales139. EN-3, the 
National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure, and EN-1, the 
overarching energy policy, were promulgated in 2011 by the DECC, to provide the 

primary basis for decisions by the now defunct Infrastructure Planning Commission 
(IPC) on applications it received for nationally significant renewable energy 

infrastructure. Both documents set out that "In England and Wales this NPS is likely 
to be a material consideration in decision making on relevant applications that fall 

under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). Whether, and to what 
extent, this NPS is a material consideration will be judged on a case by case basis." It 
is inappropriate to rely on the planning advice in either, more particularly when it is 

not consistent with Welsh Policy. Neither NPS is a material consideration for a 
development of this scale140. 

Energy UK 

244. CPRW B&R recognises the international obligations currently applying to the UK. The 
EU in 2001 approved a Directive ("the Electricity from Renewables Directive") aimed 

at promoting an increase in the contribution of electricity from renewable energy to 
electricity production. The national indicative target for the UK was 10% by 2010 and 

20% by 2020. That was replaced in 2009 by the Renewable Energy Directive seeking 
similar targets for final energy consumption. The target for the UK was 15%. The UK 
Renewable Energy strategy141 included 3 sub-targets: 30% in electricity; 12% heat 

and 10% transport. In Wales and Scotland4142 these electricity sub-targets have been 
well exceeded. 

245. On 30 November 2016, the Commission published a proposal for a revised Renewable 
Energy Directive to make the EU a global leader in renewable energy and ensure that 
the target of at least 27% renewables in the final energy consumption in the EU by 

2030 is met. Currently only partly in draft it will enter into force on 1 January 2021. 
The proposed 2030 target is binding only at EU level: the target is not translated into 

individual targets per Member State. The current 2020 binding national targets are 
however maintained in the proposal as a “minimum baseline” for individual Member 
States from 2021 onwards. If Brexit means Brexit the UK will not be a Member State 

and there is no certainty that the UK government will adopt this or any other 
mechanism. 

246. In 2008 the UK set legally binding greenhouse gas emissions through the Climate 
Change Act 2008. By 2016 UK emissions of carbon dioxide had fallen by 42% since 

                                       

139 Schedule 7 of the Government of Wales Act 2006 sets out the 21 broad subject areas for which 

the National Assembly has legislative competence. 

140 POL-50 

141 POL-6 par.2.7 

142 POL 22 p.10 

Tudalen 468

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52016PC0767R%2801%29
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52016PC0767R%2801%29
http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52016PC0767R%2801%29


Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    49 

1990143. Total UK supply of electricity in 2016 was 337.7TWh144. Of that Wales 
generated 38.8TWh and consumed 16.1TWh145.  

247. Renewable energy in 2016 provided 24.6% of the UK electricity generation mix.146 
Nuclear (low carbon) produce 19%147. In due course the Wylfa nuclear power station 

if the application is successful will add significantly to Wales low carbon supply. In 
2004 Wales was generating approximately 32TWhs of electricity and consuming 
approximately 18TWhs148. It is rather surprising that Mr Frampton was unable to help 

with Welsh generation figures as he was looking at that page of the document at the 
time. However it demonstrates that Wales is, as the document sets out, a net 

exporter of electricity. 

248. Unfortunately, the range of documents at UK and Welsh level are inconsistent in unit 

usage, swapping between oil equivalents, MWs and TWh, so tracing down the 
comprehensible figures is not easy. CPRW B&R relies on the figures in Wales Energy 
Generation 2016. 

Energy Wales 

249. The total energy usage of Wales is 93.5TWhs of which 16.1TWHs is electricity149. 

Lesley Griffiths, Cabinet Secretary for Energy, Planning and Rural Affairs, in March 
2017 identified that in 2015 Wales had generated 32% of its electricity from 
renewable sources150. By 7 December 2016 that figure had risen to 43%151. She has 

set an ambitious but achievable 70% by 2030. 

250. She said "We’ve seen significant progress in Wales, with the Government in 2005 

setting a target of generating 7 TWh of renewable energy every year by 2020." It is 
worth noting that the 2005 7TWh target was 20% of Wales generation output, not its 
consumption152. 20% of today's consumption would be only 3.2TWh. 

251. Since the figures quoted by the Cabinet Secretary, based on Energy Generation Wales 
2016, do not extend beyond that year end CPRW B&R have provided up-dated 

figures153. It has only proved possible to update to February 2018 so as to include 
new wind provision and not that of other renewables. Onshore and offshore wind 

                                       

143 POL-55 p.13 

144 POL-55 p.25 

145 POL-49 p.3 

146 Frampton 2.41 

147 POL-55 p.25 

148 POL-49 p. 3 Electricity Generation trends 

149 POL-49 p.5 

150 POL-21 

151 POL-49 p. 5 

152 POL-49 p.3 and TAN8 Annex A par.5 

153 CPRW B&R Vol 3, file 7, Appendix AE 

Tudalen 469



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    50 

contribution to the 6.9Twh total, has now advanced from 4.75Twhs154 to 
5.282TWhs155. This means that the 7TWh target has been exceeded by more than 

500GWh (0.5Twh). CPRW B&R notes that currently there are 367.225MW of additional 
consents where construction has not yet started. 

252. Mrs Tregear has checked the figures in the Energy Generation Wales156 document. 
The national figures are consistent with DUKES, unfortunately the figures for 
individual Local Authorities are not. That can most readily be seen on p.7 where the 

graphical representation of generation in Powys is shown to produce an estimated 
7.5TWh. Equally erroneous if less obvious is the identification of 183.6 MW capacity 

for Powys providing only 55% of requirement. The actual consumption figure in the 
Aecom Study 2016 and the draft LDP, as Mr Frampton would surely recall, although 

he appeared not to, set Powys consumption at 606GWhs. That figure is within the 
2016 REA157 and until the recent MACs (MAC 124) appeared in the draft LDP. 

253. By 2017 the REA158 removed the part of Powys that is within the Brecon Beacons 

National Park and calculated that Powys consumed 500GWh. It identified output from 
renewables as 809.5GWh from 336.7MW installed capacity. That is Powys generated 

from renewables 181% of consumption159, however, the REA included consented in 
their figures. The Installed capacity figure is in the new LDP. Assuming a common 
ratio of MW to GWh 183.6MW would generate approximately 441GWHs or 88% of 

consumption. Mrs Tregear used a conservative estimate and put that figure at 81%. 

254. In 2016 Wales had an installed capacity 2,854MW of renewable electricity160 with 

920.2MW of that being onshore wind. The output of 6.9TWhs was made up of 35% 
offshore and 34% onshore wind with 30% of installed capacity being solar. 

255. Lesley Griffiths's new target of 70% of consumption fits better with International 

obligations and allows for the reduction in usage which Welsh policy seeks. No sub-
targets for technologies are set which allows for the target to be met by any mix of 

renewable energy. If Wales succeeds in bringing tidal energy forward Swansea 
Lagoon would add 330MW of capacity, whilst Cardiff Tidal Lagoon would add 3240MW. 
CPRW B&R welcomes any technology which will aid reduction of greenhouse gases - 

provided they are appropriately located. 

256. Lesley Griffths apparently takes the same view and in answer to questions said "I'm 

passionately in favour of windfarms in the correct place. You don't want them all 
together - well, that is why we have strategic search areas. We put the large ones 
together there to save them from being on every mountain top”.161  She was, at the 

                                       

154 CPRW B&R Vol 3, File 7, Appendix Y Energy Generation Wales 2016 p.6 

155 CPRW B&R Vol 3, file 7, Appendix AE 

156 POL-49 

157 POL-41, p.15 

158 POL-42 Table 31,p.56 

159 POL-42 

160 POL-49 p.5 

161 CPRW B&R Vol 3, File 7, Appendix Z 

Tudalen 470



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    51 

time, seeking to persuade the UK Government to provide renewable investment, 
either through CfD or price floor, to support onshore wind and solar deployment162. 

257. CPRW B&R acknowledges that additional renewable energy is required, that financial 
support will assist in its deployment and, potentially, the economy of Wales but the 

crux is as spelled out by her - it has to be in the right place. This proposal is not. 

258. A similar view is expressed in the Welsh Government public position on support for 
onshore wind and solar development of 29/11/2017.163 "Policy in Wales supports 

further renewable generation in the appropriate sites and at an appropriate scale. 
Their impact and contribution to the resilience of our natural resources and 

ecosystems, and the benefits they provide to wellbeing, will be key to their 
consideration. We believe the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act, the clear direction 

in planning policy and the direction set within the Natural Resource Management 
policy provide a supportive framework to appropriately harness our rich natural 
resources, maintaining and enhancing the resilience of Wales' ecosystems, in a way 

which people who live and work in Wales will support. With careful planning, there is 
potential for significant renewable energy deployment in Wales". This is not an 

appropriate site. 

Welsh Planning Policy and Legislation 

259. Wales has taken a lead in seeking a more sustainable future through the Environment 

Act 2016 and the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The two are 
linked, the first addressing sustainable use of natural resources and targets for 

greenhouse gas emissions, and the second defining sustainable development and 
setting well-being goals. The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 introduced a statutory 
purpose for the planning system - any statutory body carrying out a planning function 

must exercise those functions in accordance with the principles of sustainable 
development as set out in the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 

260. The goal164 of sustainable development is to “enable all people throughout the world 
to satisfy their basic needs and enjoy a better quality of life without compromising the 
quality of life of future generations.” The Well- being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015 identifies 7 well-being goals to help ensure all public bodies are working 
towards the same vision of a sustainable Wales165. Wales has taken those targets and 

goals into Welsh planning policy. Many of those goals have relevance to this proposal 
and but not all are supportive of it. One of the goals is “Using scientific knowledge to 
aid decision-making, and trying to work out in advance what knowledge will be 

needed so that appropriate research can be undertaken”166. The evidence showed that 
goal to be particularly relevant to the issues raised by this appeal. 

261. TAN8 continues to be endorsed by Planning Policy Wales (ed.9). TAN8 and the MIPPs 
update to the then current PPW, in 2005, made a marked divergence from English 
guidance by identifying at an all Wales level where onshore wind energy should in the 

                                       

162 CPRW B&R Vol 3, File 7, Appendix AA Written Statement Lesley Griffiths 29/11/17 Witness 7 

163 POL-21 

164 POL 19, PPW 4.2 

165 POL 19, PPW 4.4.4 

166 POL 19 PPW 4.4.1 

Tudalen 471



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    52 

main be located. When updated in 2011, to increase the number of turbines that the 
SSA's could accommodate, giving a new potential of 1700MW, no changes were made 

to the tests of impacts on areas in or outside the SSA's. 

262. TAN8 advises that "Most areas outside SSAs should remain free of large wind power 

schemes"167. For the purposes of the TAN large scale is defined as over 25MW. The 
TAN is accompanied by an Annex168 containing excerpts from the 2005 Arup Report, 
identifying a potential methodology for LPAs with Strategic Search Areas to assist 

them in their study and refinement of such areas. The Annex notes the implicit 
objectives of TAN8 for landscape character with reference to 3 area types: within 

National Parks; in or adjacent to SSAs; the rest of Wales outside the SSAs. This 
development is located in the latter category. 

263. Only within and immediately adjacent to SSA’s should “significant change to 
landscape character from wind turbine development” be accepted169. In the rest of 
Wales, except the National Parks, “the implicit objective is to maintain the landscape 

character i.e. no significant change in landscape character from wind turbine 
development.” 

264. Outside SSAs the TAN advises that "In these areas, there is a balance to be struck 
between the desirability of renewable energy and landscape protection. Whilst that 
balance should not result in severe restriction on the development of wind power 

capacity, there is a case for avoiding a situation where wind turbines are spread 
across the whole of a county. As a result, the Assembly Government would support 

local planning authorities in introducing local policies in their development plans that 
restrict almost all wind energy developments, larger than 5MW, to within SSAs and 
urban/industrial brownfield sites. It is acceptable in such circumstances that planning 

permission for developments over 5MW outside SSAs and urban/industrial brownfield 
sites may be refused." (emphasis added by CPRW) 

265. This guidance is particularly apposite to Powys which has, as its energy contribution 
demonstrates, already played host to numerous wind power schemes and where its 
up to date Renewable Energy Assessment indicates there remains capacity for a bare 

4MWs more. The paragraph of guidance is also indicative of a scale of development 
which might be appropriate, that is under 5MW, here we are concerned with 17.5MW. 

266. PPW seeks to optimise renewable energy development which indicates it seeks the 
best outcome when balancing the benefits of renewable energy provision with harm to 
the local environment, which may contain assets of national and international value. 

Decision makers need to ensure that development management decisions are 
consistent with national and international climate change obligations, including 

contributions to renewable energy targets and aspirations; and at the same time 
ensure that international and national statutory obligations to protect designated 
areas, species and habitats and the historic environment are observed170. 

                                       

167 POL 20, TAN 8 par.2.13 

168 POL 20, Annex D 

169 POL 20 TAN 8, Annex D, par.8.4 

170 POL-19, 12.8.10 

Tudalen 472



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    53 

267. This location is ill chosen. It is accepted that the annual production of approximately 
45GWhs is a useful contribution to the UK’s energy needs and to the global fight 

against climate change but it is, according to Mr Croft harmful to nationally important 
heritage features, according to Mr Myhill harmful to red list bird species, puts at risk a 

European site according to the evidence of CPRW B&R and NRW who seek to address 
risks to it and species within it through conditions. 

268. PPW 9 says that "2.1.2 Up-to-date Local Development Plans (LDPs) are a fundamental 

part of a plan-led planning system and set the context for rational and consistent 
decision making in line with national policies. Planning applications must be 

determined in accordance with the adopted plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004).” 

269. CPRW B&R leaves the main discussion of LDP policies to the LPA.  

270. This site is located within a solar PV LSA. Such areas are those least constrained for 

that form of development. There is no indication in the plan that it is in any way 
“unconstrained” for wind energy save that the site does not lie in a designated area. 

271. RE1 now considers that proposals for other renewable and low carbon energy in solar 
PV LSAs will only be permitted where they can demonstrate they would not prejudice 
the purpose of the LSA. This LSA is already affected by mineral safeguarding of the 

southern part. Only southerly facing slopes are suitable for PV. It is an undulating 
area. Clearly not all of the area will be suitable for PV and there is, therefore, danger 

that other development which takes up potentially suitable areas may prevent 
development of 10MW of PV. There is no evidence adduced by the appellant which 
shows that this proposal would not prejudice the purpose of the LSA. All renewable 

energy proposals must accord with other policies in the Plan. 

272. The LDP examination Inspector’s Report identifies that: 

“Strategic Policy SP7 as modified by MAC 35, provides a framework for the 
safeguarding of: land designated at international, European and /or national level 
for environmental protection; the historic environment; recreational assets; and 

the landscape. 

The strategic policy is supported by Policies DM2 (A), DM2, DM3, DM15 and MD1 

which provide a mechanism for assessing proposals in relation to the natural 
environment, historic environment, public open space, landscape, design and 
resources and Sennybridge Training Area. Matters in relation to the safeguarding of 

minerals resources and strategic infrastructure routes are addressed in Sections 8 
and 9 of this report” 

273. Those policies of the emerging LDP that are conflicted by the proposal are: SP7 which 
requires no unacceptable adverse impact on a range of strategic resources and assets 
including European Sites, SAMs and their settings, landscape and public rights of way; 

DM2 which replicates the statutory position on species and habitats, the setting of 
assets, recreational resources including but not limited to the public rights of way 

network; DM4 which requires proposals to be sensitive to the characteristics and 
qualities of the landscape including its topography, historical and ecological qualities 
and tranquillity and to have regard to the visual amenity enjoyed by users of Powys 

Landscapes; DM6 Flood Prevention which advises that any development that 
unacceptably increases risk will be refused and requires satisfactory provision for land 

drainage. 

Tudalen 473



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    54 

274. That the LDP and Welsh Policies did not and do not set a high barrier to renewable 
energy but rather seek and have sought to facilitate deployment is established by the 

results. Both have notably exceeded the expected EU target and the indicated UK 
sub-target. They have done so whilst protecting assets acknowledged in policy and 

guidance at all levels. 

Environmental Information & The Habitats Regulations 

275. This is an EIA application. The ES is only part of the environmental information which 

the decision maker must take into account. The responses of consultees and local 
people are also part of the necessary information. They can point out errors and 

omissions in the ES and bring forward additional information where there is a lack. 

276. That is made clear by The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017171. Not only must the decision maker take 
such information into account as well as the ES but the EIA must identify, describe 
and assess in an appropriate manner, in light of each individual case, the direct and 

indirect significant effects of proposed development on, inter alia, people; 
biodiversity, with particular attention to species and habitats protected under 

Directive 92/43/EEC(1) and Directive 2009/147/EC(2); soil, water and climate, 
material assets, cultural heritage and the landscape; the operational effects of the 
proposed development; and the Welsh Ministers must ensure that they have, or have 

access as necessary to, sufficient expertise to examine the environmental statement. 
The ES must contain a description of the proposed development comprising 

information on the site, design, size and other relevant features of the development; 
a description of the likely significant effects of the proposed development on the 
environment; a description of any features of the proposed development, or measures 

envisaged in order to avoid, prevent or reduce and, if possible, offset likely significant 
adverse effects on the environment. 

277. The Regulations define the “area of the works”. It includes any area occupied by 
apparatus, equipment, machinery, materials, plant, spoil heaps or other facilities or 
stores required for construction or installation. 

278. The “works” therefore include both routes from the A44 to the site as well as the 
turbine sites, crane pads, service tracks to them, the quarry to the south and its 

associated tracks and any drainage/attenuation or filtering/settling provision, the 
control building and any temporary or permanent compounds. Unfortunately, the 
description of this development fails to properly describe the works. There are 

alternative turbine track designs, no drainage/silt trapping/attenuation schemes, an 
assertion that the North and South access tracks require “upgrading” when what is 

intended is radical alteration and widening. There is no plan showing all water 
features or areas of wetland on site. As a result of these omissions it is impossible to 
describe the likely significant effects of the development or to adequately describe 

mitigation measures. 

279. This proposal also concerns risk to a European site so that the Welsh Ministers will 

have to consider whether they have sufficient information to be sure that harm to the 

                                       

171 At the end of presenting closing submissions the CPRW B&R acknowledged that the earlier 

(1999) version of the EIA Regulations are the ones in force for this appeal but pointed to its 

similarity with the more recent version as set out in a short paper (ID57).  

Tudalen 474

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/european/directive/1992/0043
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2017/567/regulation/4/made#f00024
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/european/directive/2009/0147
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2017/567/regulation/4/made#f00025


Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    55 

SAC will not arise172. In this case prevention of harm as NRW pointed out in their 
original objection depended on mitigation. They now suggest that can be achieved by 

condition. That can only be right if you have cogent evidence that what is suggested 
will work. Unfortunately, the red line around the works is very tight making provision 

of attenuation or filtration or settlement ponds potentially impossible. The plans and 
drawings provided contain no designs for such works and do not even show the 
nature of the structure adjacent to Pye Corner and hard by the Edw. 

280. There have been provided no details of the current surface water run off nor any 
demonstration that it will not increase following the development nor any assessment 

of the streams' capacity to accommodate additional flow or to dilute any suspended 
silts. It hardly increases confidence in the appellant’s hydrologist's bland assertions 

that all will be well that this work was not done, nor did the fact that neither he nor 
the NRW respondent who advised that conditions would serve, note that the 
supposedly supportive Technical Appendix was omitted from the ES. 

281. In this case: 
 

• NRW originally objected having identified the need for additional information by 

their scoping response. They now seek conditions to protect the SAC and protected 
species. It is doubtful that given the lacuna in the ES that sufficient information 

exists for suitable and certain conditions to be framed to satisfy either the EIA or 
Habitats Regulations. NRW’s advice regarding landscape still stands. 

• Cadw and the LPA have supplemented the information provided regarding heritage 

interests and disagree with the ES assessments. 

• The LPA and CPRW B&R have provided professional evidence to show that the 

impact on landscape character is understated in the ES. 

i. There is broad agreement between all landscape architects regarding the range 
and extent of visual impact. What is apparent from Ms Bolger’s evidence, and 

she is an experienced assessor for wind farm inquiries as well as a noted 
educator of both Inspectors and members of her own Institute, that visual 

impacts of over 6km are rarely significant whilst landscape character effects 
which are significant beyond the extent noted here are a rarity. 

ii. The evidence of Ms Bolger, taking the information from all layers of the 

LANDMAP data, then carrying out her own finer grained assessment, and 
applying the methodology of GLVIA3 arrives at very similar conclusions on 

Landscape character as Mr Russell-Vick who has used the technique of unioning 
supported by LANDMAP Guidance Note 1. 

iii. The impact assessed by NRW is that the proposed development would have a 
significant adverse regional effect upon landscape and visual resource. That 
advice supports Ms Bolger’s enhanced value to the VSAA of Llandegley Rocks. 

The Open Spaces Society (OSS)173 describes the views as “breathtaking”. 

                                       

172 S63 - Assessment of implications for European sites and European offshore marine sites, 

Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017/1012 

173 CPRW B&R Volume 3, File 7, tab U of CPRW B&R Appendices 

Tudalen 475



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    56 

• CPRW B&R adopts the evidence of Mr Croft on heritage assets. Ms Bolger did not 
seek to address other than the heritage elements of the Landscape beyond the 

LANDMAP layer. That values the relevant area as outstanding. These historic assets 
take their setting from the landscape in which they lie and are appreciated within 

it. Mr Croft has addressed the assets and the contribution to their significance 
flowing from the setting. The two assessments are mutually supportive but 
different in intent. 

• CPRW B&R, as did OSS at application stage, noted that the area within which 5 of 
the turbines of this proposal stand, formed part of Awards made under the 

Inclosure Acts. By those awards the public were granted in perpetuity a right of 
access “for air, exercise and recreation” for which gates and stiles should be 

provided at convenient intervals. The award is gratefully recorded on tablets in 2 
local parish churches174: Cefn Llys and Glascwm. Mr Le Quesne was unaware that 
OSS had provided information relating to the Commons Awards at application 

stage. Inevitably he was unable to comment on their content. Ms Hawkins was 
equally unaware of the Public rights of access when preparing her evidence. 

i. CPRW B&R have provided a copy of the relevant extant parts of the Commons 
Act 1876 and of the Local Acts and Awards. 

ii. No evidence has been adduced by the appellant to negate those rights nor have 

CPRW B&R, despite extensive research in the archives found any such 
evidence. Such public rights are an overriding interest surviving registration. 

This is therefore an element which should have been considered by the 
appellant’s Landscape and Heritage witnesses not least as it had been raised at 
application stage. It is unfortunate that Mr Le Quesne was in error regarding 

the period of enclosure175. The former commons were in fact enclosed during 
the 19th century. 

iii. Asked about the impact had she considered it Ms Hawkins took the view that it 
would reduce impact as people would have access over all of the area. Whether 
increased access to a wind turbine development is beneficial to one wishing to 

walk, fly a kite or watch one, is a matter of judgment. 

iv. What is clear is as Ms Tregear pointed out there is already a public right to pass 

over the land proposed as a mitigative permissive footpath extension. 

v. In CPRW B&R’s view relevant enclosed land should be treated in the same way 
as OAL under the CROW Act. 

• CPRW B&R have pointed out: 

i. that the bare but ever-changing details of the track design, the omission of site 

specific data on existing and post construction surface water flows, on water 
treatment to prevent silt pollution of water courses above the SAC, and on 
attenuation, prevent the degree of certainty required, in respect of water 

issues, for EIA and AA purposes. Furthermore the tight redline boundary 
suggests that should any substantial works be required to address such issues 

                                       

174 CPRW B&R Vol3, file 6, tab f. Photo Glascwm Church St David Glascwm 

175 Le Quesne Appendix 1, final page 

Tudalen 476



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    57 

there is very limited scope to provide them. Additionally the 20m watercourse 
buffer proffered by the ES in CPRW B&R’s view cannot be achieved by the Edw. 

ii. As a result, CPRW B&R submits that there can be no certainty that the SAC will 
not be adversely affected. 

iii. The response from WYG (of 14/03/2018) under the heading Chapter 10 says 
that “the hydrology assessment did not consider the amount of earthworks it 
considered the effectiveness of the mitigation proposed to address the effects 

identified from the type of construction activities that would be required to build 
the scheme as shown on the application drawings.“ 

iv. CPRW B&R notes that no culverts or other drainage, attenuation, or filtration 
system was shown or supported by any calculation of by how much the road 

construction would affect the surface water flows from the site or how the new 
design mitigated a previously unassessed impact. 

v. It also notes that the tight redline and the lack of detail at the bends by Pye 

Corner raise concern regarding the impact on Mrs Everett’s home from the 
required engineering of the 3.25m structure identified on map ES 2020783-

100-002 Rev A.  That is the one plan which has not been replicated in the new 
drawings. It also shows a 1m retaining structure directly opposite her entrance 
with some unspecified addition, possibly showing drainage works. 

• The ES ornithological assessment, whether conducted in accordance with guidance 
of any period or not: 

i. severely underestimated the starling, a red list bird, numbers; 

ii. failed to observe a wide range of raptors, including red list birds, drawn to the 
site by the starlings; 

iii. failed to conduct surveys suitable for providing information regarding bird 
presence in areas adjoining the north and south access tracks to the site 

despite an adventitious observation of breeding curlew, one of the most 
threatened red list birds; 

iv. failed to adjust their surveys to address the species and site issues, most 

obviously by omitting dusk surveys of the starling roost and night surveys of 
the wader migrations; 

v. failed to record on the VP survey notes weather conditions, times of flight 
duration over WT locations, flight height, failed to provide sufficient surveyors 
to cover entire survey area at any one time. 

vi. CPRW B&R provided clear evidence by film, photographs, oral evidence of an 
experienced watcher together with a written record (Jennings Birds Of 

Radnorshire), of numbers, types, and threatened status of the birds present on 
the site. 

vii. Whilst the watcher, Mr Myhill, claimed no experience of wind turbine 

development and its capacity to harm such birds, whether by disturbance, 
displacement or killing, the appellant has identified no site where such numbers 

and types have been exposed to such risks. 

viii. Mr Myhill’s experience and those fellow ornithologists he consulted took the 
view that the development would cause the roost to disappear. This would 

Tudalen 477



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    58 

inevitably not only displace the starlings but also remove a food source for the 
local raptors. 

• CPRW B&R also provided evidence of the failure of the ES or the HRA to provide 
adequate information to satisfy the strict requirements of the R.63 of the Habitats 

Regulations by: 

i. Failing to comply with recognised guidance on habitat and species assessment 
and policy guidance on the necessary information for addressing hydrological 

concerns which potentially puts the SAC at risk. 

ii. Failing to provide the information required by NRW so that conditions are now 

needed to be drafted in the absence of such information. 

iii. CPRW B&R notes that the emerging LDP requires full information relating to 

surface water flows and drainage to be provided. 

• The ES identified tourism as one of the most important employment sectors in 
Powys176. It reviewed mainly Scottish and English tourist reports prepared between 

2003 and 2008177 on behalf of the energy industry. It is notable that the Scottish 
study in 2008 noted a minimal impact if the windfarm was not visible from 

important tourist corridors. The 2013 Renewable Cymru report reported in the ES 
showed a 23-33% response that their desire to visit would be affected. 

i. CPRW B&R note that the area is within an analogous situation to an important 

tourist corridor. It is at the heart of the best bridleway network in Wales. It is 
close to and clearly visible from the main route to Wales from the English 

Midlands – the A44. 

ii. Inspector Nixon at the Pentre Tump Appeal in 2013178, when considering 3 WTs 
of 103.5m in height, south east of Llanfihangel Nant Melan identified the volume 

of traffic using the A44 (par.17) which he describes as a “principle leisure route 
into Wales”, the permanent change to riders' experience from the physical 

alteration of the bridleway to access track (par.25), and found (par.36) the LVI 
impacts unacceptable due to its effects on the A44, the village and the bridleway 
network. 

• CPRW B&R produced evidence on tourism. 

i. A business owner, Graham Williams, gave evidence of potential impact on the 

economy of the area of adverse impact on the scenic quality of the landscape. Mr 
Williams identified 58 riding routes used by his business which all pass within 
view of the site. Using local accommodation for 2500 nights a year it contributes 

£175,000 to that part of the local economy. Additionally it provides a similar 
multiple of £170 pounds a day from horse hire and provides employment for 7 

people. 

ii. Mrs Jill Kibble, Chair of Montgomery Tourism Committee, identified both the lack 
of peer review for those Welsh studies, the unique tourist draw of Powys and the 

                                       

176 ES, Volume 1, par.6.3 

177 At 6.5.4 

178 Vol 3, file 5, tab E 

Tudalen 478



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    59 

higher degree of concern expressed by those using rights of way. She identified 
The Welsh Government Strategy for Tourism 2013 which included a 10% growth 

target. Tourism earns some £190 million from day walking alone. The claimed 
benefits to the local economy from the windfarm (at ES Tables 6.3 & 6.4 and 

paragraph 6.7 of the ES) compare poorly with that tourism earning figure. 

• A Mr Lloyd claims to own land which will be affected by the development. He 
received no notification of the application and Mr Fraser says, on behalf of the 

appellant, that the works will take place on highway land. Only the surface of the 
road is vested in the Highway Authority. Mr Lloyd’s land is separated from the 

unclassified road by a bank. The highway boundary in such a location is the toe of 
the bank. The drawings of the ES show a 1m high retaining feature and a gate 

requiring removal and relocation. These features are immediately opposite Mrs 
Everett’s home. It is difficult to see by what right the appellant claims to be able to 
carry out such works in the absence of Mr Lloyd’s agreement. If the result is that 

the road is narrowed at that location there may be adverse impact on Mrs Everett’s 
access. In any event she is much concerned regarding access during construction 

works for herself and emergency vehicles. 

LVIA Witness Assessments 

282. NRW advised that the "proposed development cannot be accommodated without 

significant adverse regional scale effects." The statutory consultee notes "the 
landscape and visual sensitivity of the area, which includes valued perceptual qualities 

of ridges and uplands of high scenic quality; attractive views, tranquillity and historic 
landscape integrity across much of the area; and the areas access and openness to 
views from the public rights of way network, open access land, national cycle trail and 

main roads." 

283. It is notable that NRW considers that LANDMAP has underplayed the scenic qualities 

of this northern part of the extensive area. NRW rates the Llandegley Rocks as of high 
scenic quality. It also notes the outstanding (national level) historic landscape 
evaluation and the high (regional value) of much of the area. 

284. Mr Russell-Vick, landscape witness for the LPA, and Ms Bolger, landscape witness for 
CPRW B&R, and Ms Hawkins for the appellant all find significant (moderate/major or 

greater) adverse impact on landscape of the area, extending out to about 5km and 
significant visual impact extending to 6km and beyond. 

285. Mr Russell-Vick finds these impacts unacceptable. Ms Bolger considers the impacts 

show that, contrary to PPW, the development is not sensitive to local circumstances, 
and that the appellant has failed to minimise impact through careful choice of 

location: the landscape and visual harm that would result from the Hendy WTD would 
be as a direct result of the choice of location in a distinctive generally unspoilt 
landscape. Furthermore Hendy WTD would result in a major adverse impact on 

landscape character contrary to the implicit objective of TAN 8 to maintain the 
landscape character. 

286. Ms Hawkins, although acknowledging major impacts considers that it would be 
impossible to site large, moving structures such as wind turbines in the UK landscape 
without some significant effects on landscape character and visual amenity and, in her 

opinion, the appeal proposal could be satisfactorily accommodated in this location 
without undue consequences for landscape character or visual amenity. In giving that 

opinion she ignores the somewhat different Welsh advice in PPW and relies on EN-3, 
she considers that a proposal, having in her own opinion major and wide-ranging 

Tudalen 479



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    60 

impacts, can be satisfactorily accommodated in an area of regional value, and fails to 
recognise that at the very least one of the “undue consequences” is to conflict with 

Welsh policy, and the development plan, the LDP. 

287. Both Ms Hawkins and Mr Frampton cite from EN-3179 par. “2.7.48 Modern onshore 

wind turbines that are used in commercial wind farms are large structures and there 
will always be significant landscape and visual effects from their construction and 
operation for a number of kilometres around a site.” Neither makes reference to par. 

“2.7.12 Developers will usually need to construct access tracks to connect onshore 
wind farms to the public road network. Applications should include the full extent of 

the access tracks necessary and an assessment of their effects.” 

288. The ES fails to consider the full impact of the tracks either to viewer or user, 

identifying only that the northern access track will be “upgraded” when both it and 
the BOAT to the south will require substantial works of alteration and widening. The 
ES and the appellant’s photomontages fail to provide visualisations which show the 

tracks despite this development being widely visible from surrounding areas including 
those looking down on the site and the suggestion that they may be permanent 

features if local farmers wish them to remain. 

289. Welsh Guidance in 12.8.12 of PPW gives somewhat different advice with regard to the 
impact of wind development. “The Welsh Government accepts that the introduction of 

new, often very large structures for onshore wind needs careful consideration to avoid 
and where possible minimise their impact.”  It continues at paragraph 12.8.15: “The 

impacts from renewable energy developments and associated infrastructure will vary 
depending on their type, location and scale. This requires different policy and 
development management considerations”. 

290. This development is of Local Authority scale but, according to the statutory consultee 
will have regional impact on landscape. PPW repeats the advice regarding location, 

scale (12.10.3) “Developers for renewable and low carbon energy developments 
should seek to avoid or where possible minimise adverse impacts through careful 
consideration of location, scale, design and other measures.” It also advises that 

“Developers will need to be sensitive to local circumstances, including siting in relation 
to local landform, proximity to dwellings and other planning considerations.” 

291. Ms Bolger had identified a commonly accepted list of characteristics which rendered 
landscape more or less suitable to wind turbine development. Ms Hawkins in cross-
examination agreed their relevance. In re-examination she claimed that the area 

affected was open and dominated by forestry or impoverished moorland. In so doing 
she contradicted the ES and her own previous description of the landscape around the 

site as being in a “bowl”180. The ES identifies the appeal site as being improved or 
semi improved pasture with hedged boundaries, having a “small group of conifers181. 
Miss Hawkins found impact on a number of VSAAs of differing character182. The ES 

says “large parts of the study area comprise upland moorland and plateau landscape, 
although these areas are generally at a distance from the proposed site, which is 

                                       

179 POL-2 

180 3.13 

181 4.2 and 4.3 

182 5.11-5.17 

Tudalen 480



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    61 

within and surrounded by rolling hill and valley landscape”183 . This can be seen in the 
range of photographs showing the land cover and from visiting the site. 

292. Mr Frampton’s last ditch attempt to suggest that a site identified for solar PV is 
suitable for WTs should be disregarded. The Inspector makes quite clear at 11.7-11.8 

of her letter that she considers the LSA relatively unconstrained for solar. The LSA has 
not been assessed in accordance with the toolkit for any other purpose and she does 
not imply that it might have potential for any other technology. 

Conclusion and request 

293. CPRW B&R submits that the planning balance should be conducted in the light of 

Welsh Policy and Welsh targets. This is a location where development of this scale will 
do significant harm to landscape, historic assets and enjoyment of rights of way. The 

proposal is so poorly designed that it cannot show that it will avoid impact on the 
SAC. Its proposed mitigation in respect to one of the most important starling roosts in 
Wales is to fell the roost. It is a proposal which will have an adverse impact on local 

tourism, harmful to the local economy. 

294. For the reasons set out above CPRW B&R respectfully requests that the appeal is 

dismissed by the Welsh Ministers. 

Other Persons appearing at the Inquiry 

295. Ms Christine Wozencraft and Ms Catherine Mitchell support the scheme. Ms 

Wozencraft lives nearby at Graig Farm.  She emphasised the benefits of renewable 
energy, particularly when compared to the environmental and health harm caused by 

nuclear power.  Ms Mitchell is a local resident who suggested that the silent majority 
of local residents were in favour of the scheme as well as referring to the sustainable 
and security benefits of renewable energy and pointing to the benefit to the local 

economy.  Ms Alison Williams was also a local resident in support of the scheme who 
explained that, as there was no public access to Graig Camp, any effects would not be 

seen by the public. 

296. Cllr Dodman represented 2 local Community Councils – New Radnor and Penybont.  
He was concerned that the local community had not been properly engaged by the 

developer, noting that there had no meeting of the commoners to address the effect 
on graziers.  The landscape was an asset that was owned by everyone.  The impact 

on the local starlings was a matter of particular importance both in terms of their 
ecological value and as a tourist attraction. 

297. Cllr Dodman also explained that he was presenting the concerns of Mr W Lloyd as set 

out in a letter (ID02).  Whilst Mr Lloyd, who lives in Carmarthenshire and is now of 
advanced years, had been aware of the scheme for some time but he became aware 

of the details very recently.  As a result he considers that the scheme would include 
proposed works on land which he owns, and to which he would not agree. 

298. Mr Michael Rolt lives in Llandrindod Wells.  The bowl like shape of the site and 

surroundings made it particularly susceptible to visual harm and was in marked 
contrast to the larger, more remote landscapes within which other Powys wind farms 

were located.  It would be jarring for users of the A44 road.  As a keen walker, Mr 

                                       

183 5 Page viii par.5 

Tudalen 481



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    62 

Rolt was particularly concerned over the significant harmful impact of the scheme on 
several circular routes from Llandrindod to Llandegley Rocks that were locally popular. 

299. Mr Geoffrey Sinclair described his extensive experience of windfarm projects 
throughout and beyond Wales.  His written representations in advance of the Inquiry 

are wide ranging but he focused his oral evidence on the status of the nearby 
Llandegley Rocks as a Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS) (supplemented by 
ID10 & ID24). It was explained that whilst the geological characteristics would not be 

directly affected by the scheme, they produced a distinctive landscape which was 
easily understood by passers-by. 

300. Ms Diane Hulton lives some 3.5km from the site and expressed concern that the 
visual impact from her property and surrounding area was not analysed in the 

photomontages that support the appellant’s assessment. 

301. As a local resident Ms Azra Dale (ID36, ID42) pointed out that much of the proposed 
development will not be reversed.  The concrete structures required to anchor the 

turbines are vast and there is no intention to remove them when the turbines are de-
commissioned.  The irreversible impact on the earth’s finite resources including 

aggregates and metals and the implications of transport run counter to sustainability 
principles.  The impacts on a highly valued landscape and the consequential impacts 
on heritage and tourism were significant concerns. 

302. Ms Mary Davies and Ms Julie Leggett are local residents with experience of providing 
holiday accommodation.  Both emphasised the importance to the local economy of 

tourism opportunities linked to horse riding in the local countryside which would be 
much affected by the presence of turbines.  Ms Davies also referred to the well-being 
benefits enjoyed by many visitors. Ms Leggett was concerned over the safety 

implication to riders when horses are startled by turbines.  Ms Pip Le Teppitt 
reinforced Ms Davies’ comments and emphasised the increasing reliance of Powys on 

tourism in response to a decline in farming.  

303. Mr Leigh Harling-Bowen is a former Environmental Co-ordinator for PCC and is a local 
resident who, on the basis of his relevant professional experience and qualifications, 

raised concerns over potential pollution of local private water supplies and drew 
attention to recent legislation184.  He emphasised the importance of establishing 

baseline data to enable any impacts to be identified and also expressed concerns over 
the potential impact of water borne silt on fish in the SAC. 

304. Mr John Raymond Doré’s concerns were focussed on the Bryn Blaen site near his 

home in Llangurig in terms of the way the construction work has proceeded including 
issues over compliance with some planning conditions (ID38). 

305. Mr Richard Martin is a local resident who had a career as an electrical engineer.  He 
expressed concern over inconsistencies in the way UK and Welsh policy statements 
defined targets in relation to renewable energy as detailed in ID49.  

Written Representations 

306. In response to the appeal Cadw pointed to the introduction of a new definition of the 

setting of historic assets in TAN24 to that used in the ES and reiterated its advice as 
statutory consultee to the planning application.  It expressed concern that the 

                                       

184 The Private Water Supplies (Wales) Regulations 2017 

Tudalen 482



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    63 

methodology used to assess the indirect impact on historic assets had led to a 
downgrading of the importance, and consequently led to an underestimation of the 

magnitude of impacts on 4 SAMS – Llandegley Rocks Hillfort (RD264), Graig Camp 
(RD112), Nant Brook Enclosure (RD147) and Castell Crug Eryr (RD003). It also 

expressed concerns that the other works, including access tracks and other 
structures, had not been assessed, certain SAMs had not been visited during the 
study and impacts on settings and inter-visibility (particularly RD264 and RD112) had 

not been fully assessed.  It also referred to limited consideration of the impacts on 
undesignated monuments including a larger enclosure of potential national 

importance occupying Llandegley Rocks and sharing the same setting. 

307. On the eve of the Inquiry Cadw expressed a desire to comment on the appellant’s 

written statement of evidence on heritage (ID01) which were subsequently set out in 
a paper (ID21).  It explains that it considers that Mr Le Quesne’s assessment to be 
more detailed than that of the ES but continues to significantly understate the 

impacts on local SAMs.  It expresses agreement with the analysis of Mr Croft that the 
scheme would have a significantly damaging impact on the setting of Llandegley 

Rocks Hillfort, Graig Camp, Nant Brook Enclosure and Castell Crug Eryr.  It also 
considers that there would be a cumulative adverse impact on these settings and a 
‘considerable number of other designated and undesignated heritage assets’. 

308. At the application stage NRW confirmed, in response to additional information 
provided by the appellant, that the scheme would not have a significant effect on 

protected species subject to the mitigation measures outlined in the ES and the 
imposition of conditions to secure a Protected Species Protection Plan and a Habitat 
Management Plan.  In an earlier letter NRW set out its response on the landscape and 

visual impact of the proposal advising that it would have significant adverse regional 
effects upon landscape and visual resource.  It advises that the LVIA underplays the 

significance upon views from some locations and fails to consider the impact of 
associated infrastructure works such as the access tracks.  It also confirmed that no 
nationally designated landscapes would be impacted (ID13). 

309. In addition to letters submitted at the planning application stage some 125 letters 
were submitted in response to the appeal stage.  Almost all were in objection to the 

development and were from local residents, local businesses, visitors to the locality or 
the wider area.  The objections also included the Community Councils of Penybont 
District and New Radnor.  The local Assembly Member, Kirsty Williams, has strongly 

objected to the proposal in her capacity as a constituency AM.  Several organisations 
have also objected, including: Open Spaces Society (OSS), Powys Ramblers, Southern 

Marches Area Quaker Meeting; Llandrindod Wells & Area Chamber of Trade & 
Tourism; Radnorshire Wildlife Trust.   

310. In addition to those matters of concern to the Council and CPRW B&R, the other main 

matters raised in objection are: the implications of transportation on the highway 
network; the effect on nearby living conditions from the noise of the turbines and 

potential triggering of epilepsy; effect on listed buildings including The Pales Meeting 
House; failure to assess impact on Larch Grove listed building; the health and safety 
risk of structural failure including turbine blades being ‘thrown’; the danger to 

equestrians; the disproportionate contribution by Powys to renewable energy 
production already; clustering of turbines increases risk of targeting by terrorists; and 

that overwhelming local opposition should be respected by the decision maker.  Whilst 
some objectors argue that scheme would be ineffective in terms of contributing to 

energy generation or consider that different strategies should be deployed to tackle 

Tudalen 483



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    64 

energy demand, others emphasise that they are supportive of such developments in 
principle. 

311. The OSS suggests that legal advice should be sought on the implications of the 
scheme on the rights of access afforded by the inclosure awards.  Noting the separate 

consents under the Commons Act 2006 that would need to be obtained, it suggests 
that there is ‘no possibility’ of finding suitable land to offer in exchange of the 
common land that would need to be deregistered.  

312. At the outset of the Inquiry a bundle containing 85 or so undated letters was 
submitted expressing support for the proposal (ID55).  The main points raised are: 

that the construction and maintenance phases of development would benefit local 
businesses and would generate between £4.5-6.75 million of investment on the 

Powys region and some £20 million into the Welsh economy; it represents farm 
diversification which is supported by Government; a proposed benefit fund it would 
support local groups and projects; it would reduce the use of fossil fuels and would 

generate enough electricity to power 9,800 homes per year; it has its own grid 
connection to existing capacity without depending on the mid Wales hub; there would 

be no harm to the local ancient monuments, to wildlife or the views; there are no 
wind farm within 20 miles or so of the site; the ‘silent majority’ of local residents 
support the scheme. 

Conditions and Obligations 

Planning Agreement 

313. During the Inquiry the appellant presented a revision to Schedule 2 of an earlier draft 
version of a section 106 agreement (ID45).  The appellant confirmed that it was 
confident of obtaining the signature of the mortgagee to the amendment to the 

agreement, having already obtained its approval to the earlier version.  The Council 
confirmed that it was satisfied with the amended version and produced a note (ID46) 

to confirm that it considered that the submitted obligations met the statutory tests set 
out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.  It also 
confirmed that as the obligations refer to works within the locality that no breach of 

the 5 project limit set out in Regulation 123 would arise.      

314. The obligations would secure a financial contribution to be used to improve public 

rights of way within 10km of the appeal site and would also secure the provision and 
maintenance of a recreational route across the site during the lifetime of the 
development that would provide an alternative route to that directly affected by the 

works.   

315. I consider that the obligations are necessary, are related to the proposed 

development scheme and are related in scale and kind, and thereby meet the tests 
set out in Section 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and 
Circular 13/97: Planning Obligations.  However, an executed agreement has not been 

submitted.  In the event that a duly signed version of the document was provided to 
the Welsh Ministers it should be afforded weight in the determination of the appeal. 

Conditions 

316. The main parties presented several iterations of draft suggested conditions (ID31, 
ID44) which were discussed at the Inquiry in the light of Circular 16/2014.  CPRW 

B&R provided written comments (ID51) and subsequently participated in a detailed 

Tudalen 484



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    65 

discussion of these conditions.  As a result a refined list was subsequently submitted 
(ID54).  That list forms the basis of the schedule set out in an Annex to this report.   

317. The conditions seek to ensure that the development commences within the standard 5 
years of permission and is time limited in accordance with the description of the 

project to 25 years.  There are controls over the decommissioning of the scheme and 
to secure adequate restoration. Micro-siting is permitted within specified limits and in 
accordance with a protocol to be agreed.  Management plans to control environmental 

effects, pollution, hydrology, public access, traffic, protected species protection, and 
habitat enhancement are to be agreed and implemented.  Other conditions would: 

control the appearance of the development; control the construction work; require 
landscaping; require the investigation and protection of archaeological features; 

require the monitoring of ecological features; maintain the supply of television signal; 
and ensure that the Ministry of Defence are notified of the presence of the turbines.    
During the potentially disruptive periods of construction and decommissioning a 

condition to require a community liaison scheme is proposed.  Finally a condition to 
control noise emissions to protect local residents is proposed.  

318. In drawings submitted at the start of the Inquiry the appellant has demonstrated that 
the extent of the engineering operations to construct access tracks could be 
considerably reduced from that shown in the details accompanying the planning 

application.  There was no objection to the imposition of a condition requiring the 
work to be undertaken in accordance with these latest drawings which would reduce 

the visual impact of these works whilst ensuring effective access for the construction 
work. 

319. The proposed scheme requires approval to be obtained to undertake work to the 

common land.  An application submitted in 2014 seeking the required consent was 
subsequently withdrawn and no further explanation has been provided on how this 

has been progressed.  To be effective the scheme would also require consent to carry 
out works to secure connection to the electricity grid.  There is presently uncertainty 
over whether the necessary consents can be obtained.   

320. Given this uncertainty CPRW B&R sought a condition that would prevent the 
commencement of development until the consents had been obtained.  The appellant 

explained that it wished to commence some works on site in anticipation of obtaining 
these separate consents, acknowledging that such works would be at their risk and 
would need to be undone should the other consents not be secured.  It considered 

that no such condition was necessary pointing to the Llyn Bran decision185 to support 
its case.  If deemed necessary it has produced a condition that would secure the 

reinstatement of the site should the required consents not be obtained within a 
specific timeframe.  As an alternative it has also suggested wording for conditions 
preventing the erection of any turbine before the consents are in place and requiring 

the removal of tracks and turbine bases if the scheme is not further progressed within 
a specified period (ID54). 

                                       

185 APP/R6830/A/17/3171058 

Tudalen 485



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    66 

Inspector’s Conclusions 

321. These conclusions are based upon the evidence given at the Inquiry and the written 

representations summarised above, and the findings of accompanied and 
unaccompanied inspections of the site and surroundings.  In my conclusions, numbers 

in [ .. ] refer to paragraphs earlier in this report. 

The main considerations 

322. The main considerations are the effect of the proposed development on: 

(i) the landscape character and visual amenity of the area; 

(ii) the setting of historic assets in the locality; and  

(iii) whether any harm identified in relation to the foregoing considerations is 
outweighed by the benefits of the scheme, particularly its contribution to 

renewable energy generation and combating the effects of climate change. 

Landscape and Visual Amenity 

323. The site does not lie within, nor would the proposal impact on, any national landscape 

designation.  Within Powys there are no local landscape designations in the LDP. [85, 
105, 202, 308] 

324. The assessment of landscape and visual impact undertaken in the ES follows the 
latest guidance on methodology in GLVIA3186.  The ES chapter on the LVIA includes a 
series of photomontages depicting the appearance of the scheme from various 

viewpoints (VP).  The extent of this work was criticised by the Council, NRW, CPRW 
B&R and others.  In response additional viewpoints have been provided in Ms Hawkins 

WSE.  I have visited most of the identified viewpoints and have taken into account the 
photomontage depictions alongside the information I gleaned from my visits to the 
site and surroundings. [12, 91, 204-206, 281, 288, 308] 

325. The Council, CPRW B&R and NRW (ID13) consider that the LVIA underplays the 
significance of the effects of the scheme from certain views.  Generally the difference 

has not been more than one category in any individual instance.  All 3 landscape 
witnesses broadly agree that the significant effects on landscape character would 
occur within some 5.5km of the site.  A study area of just over 6km from the turbines 

was used to assess landscape ad visual amenity effects.  [99, 199, 281, 284] 

326. The site and its surroundings comprise a mix of landscape types.  LANDMAP identifies 

3 different visual and sensory aspect areas (VSAA) closely located to the appeal site.   
The VSAA of the site itself is valued as moderate as is the adjoining aspect area which 
includes Llandegley Rocks.  Further from the site the upland hills and ridges of the 

Radnor Forest and Gwaunceste Hill to the south and east are within VSAAs of high 
value.  These various aspect areas incorporate distinctive elements of the local 

landscape which combine to produce the defining landscape character against which 
the scheme would be viewed.  [96, 97, 101, 108, 197-200, 283, 308] 

327. The appellant points out that in some cases the spatial extent of the area affected by 

the scheme is a relatively small proportion of a given aspect area, and that as a 

                                       

186 LVIA-1 

Tudalen 486



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    67 

consequence its overall value as scored by LANDMAP would not be reduced even 
though the more localised impact on a part of the aspect area would be significant.  

Both Mr Russell-Vick and Ms Bolger sought, by different means, to draw together the 
various discrete elements of the landscape character (which fall within several 

different aspect types) in their assessment of the effect of the scheme on the 
character of the surrounding landscape, rather than focussing on the effects on the 
various individual aspect areas identified by LANDMAP. [101, 108, 197-200, 291, 

308] 

328. Neither the site nor the surrounding area is designated as a registered historic 

landscape, however LANDMAP identifies the historic aspect area of the site as 
outstanding (national) value and much of the surrounding area is of high (regional) 

value.  There are various man-made features within the landscape which are, to 
varying degrees, modern additions.  These include the enclosure of the fields, the 
presence of tracks, buildings and a small turbine and telecommunications mast.  I 

observed that these are relatively modest intrusions into the largely unspoilt open 
landscape in which the historic associations can be appreciated as an important 

component of the local landscape character.  [109, 202, 283] 

329. The appellant points out that it is important not to double-count the historic aspect of 
the surroundings by giving consideration to the same matters when considering 

landscape and historic assets.  There is a clear distinction between the value of 
particular historic assets and their setting in their own right and any contribution that 

they make to the character and visual amenity of the landscape.  I deal with the latter 
in this part of my conclusions, the former is addressed in the second of my main 
considerations. [98] 

330. Mr Russell-Vick adopted a “unioning” methodology to assessing the effect on the 
landscape which sought to combine the various dataset layers of LANDMAP.  He 

explained that it was an approach which he had developed in the light of recent NRW 
guidance on using LANDMAP material to define Special Landscape Areas in Wales187.  
He accepted that it was an approach which had been developed to assist LPAs in the 

identification Special Landscape Areas.  However, he saw it as a useful approach to 
drawing together the overall landscape value of an area as identified in the various 

datasets, which avoided decision makers over concentrating on the visual and sensory 
aspect layer by giving due attention to those other datasets according to their 
significance.  He acknowledged that it was not an approach he had adopted previously 

in windfarm work but was one that he would use in the future.  Ms Bolger agreed that 
it was a useful approach. [105, 106, 202, 281] 

331. Whilst I am mindful that the specific guidance on wind turbine assessments produced 
by NRW does not promote the unioning approach set out in the guidance on SLAs, I 
also note that the former guidance was produced in 2013, some 4 years earlier.  

Whilst I have not relied upon this unioning approach I have taken it into account as it 
assists in drawing together the various elements of landscape valued by LANDMAP to 

provide an overall understanding of the landscape value of the area within which the 
development would be located.  I am mindful that in this case over relying on the 
VSAA would fail to adequately reflect the historic value of the landscape.  Indeed it 

was suggested by Mr Russell-Vick that some aspects of the historic landscape that 
have a visual or sensory value are not scored in the VSAA to avoid double counting 

                                       

187 LANDMAP Guidance Note 1: LANDMAP and Special Landscape Areas, National Resources Wales, 

2017 

Tudalen 487



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    68 

matters that are scored in the historic datasets.  This approach, undertaken as part of 
a Landscape Sensitivity Study that informed the LDP identification of a Local Search 

Area which contains the appeal site, concluded that the landscape value was High 
overall, i.e. a landscape of regional or county value. 

332. In response to the planning application NRW opined that LANDMAP has underplayed 
the scenic quality of Llandegley Rocks which it considers to be of high scenic quality.  
It explains that this is the result of the averaging out of scores over a wider aspect 

area.  ‘Irrespective of the overall landscape evaluations’ it refers to the attractive 
views, tranquil, exposed, remote, wild and spiritual perceptual qualities that can be 

experienced across the area.  My visit confirmed the sense of tranquillity and 
remoteness of the site and its surroundings despite its proximity to 2 A class roads 

and nearby settlements.  This perception of the area is one described by many 
objectors.  NRW advised that the proposal would have “significant adverse regional 
effects upon landscape and visual resource”.  [308] 

333. In terms of the local topography the site sits within a ‘bowl’ defined by surrounding 
higher ground.  The extent to which the turbines would be viewed against land rather 

than sky in relatively close views is unusual; most larger-scale turbines in Powys 
occupy locally elevated positions.  As a consequence of the local topography the 
turbines in this case, or at least the lower parts, would be well screened from view by 

nearby steeply-sloping topography in certain directions, most notably from points 
within an area in an arc from points from the west to the north of the site.  The ZTVs 

contained in the ES demonstrate this screening effect. [93, 100, 112, 191, 206, 291, 
298] 

334. However, the bowl shaped topography also means that from many of those areas 

where the development would be visible the turbines would be seen in the context of 
a relatively enclosed landscape.  This visual context would influence the apparent 

scale of the proposed turbines and means that they would be perceived as relatively 
larger structures than would be the case when located in more expansive landscapes, 
such as the mountain tops occupied by most wind farms in Powys. [93, 100, 112, 

191, 206, 291, 298] 

335. There is no dispute between the parties that within and close to the site the impact on 

the landscape would be very considerable.  It seems to me that it would be altered to 
a wind farm landscape within an area some 1km to 1.5km of the turbines given the 
impact that their size and number would have on the landscape.  Whilst the 

surrounding countryside would effectively continue to be visible the sheer size and 
number of the turbines, the sweeping motion of the blades and, to a lesser degree, 

the existence of the access tracks and associated remodelling of the land and other 
aspects of the development, would continue to have a dominating influence on the 
landscape for some distance beyond the site itself.  In response to criticisms of the 

lack of close quarter viewpoints that were provided in the original LVIA, others were 
provided in an appendix to Ms Hawkins’ WSE (VP PRV1-2).  Annotated photographs 

appended to Ms Bolger’s WSE also illustrate the impact from close quarters.  These 
illustrate the dominating impact of the turbines from popular recreational routes such 
as the BOAT that crosses the site and Llandegley Rocks which overlooks the site and 

from which point all of the turbines would be seen against higher ground.  [102, 201, 
208, 209] 

336. In terms of the precise siting and layout of the turbines, there would be incidence of 
stacking where the swept path movement of the blades of one turbine would overlap 

with that of another turbine creating a visual cluttering or jarring effect.  Nonetheless 

Tudalen 488



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    69 

it seems to me that the design of the scheme has taken reasonable steps to avoid this 
from the more important static viewpoints whilst avoiding siting the turbines too far 

apart. [113, 194, 210] 

337. In response to criticisms that the scheme’s design and assessment had failed to have 

sufficient regard to the impact of the access tracks on the landscape fabric the revised 
details of the new tracks that were presented to the Inquiry shows that it is possible 
to follow more closely the existing terrain in terms of the vertical alignment of the 

tracks thereby avoiding excessively deep cuttings and tall embankments.  [7, 43, 
205, 278, 288] 

338. Other impacts on the landscape fabric include the loss of hedgerows affected by new 
tracks, the widening and realignment of the 2 existing routes connecting the new 

access tracks with the A44.  This includes creating a new access point onto the A road 
from the unclassified highway.  Subject to controlling the details of the work through 
suitable conditions, as have been suggested, the visual impact of the scheme on the 

landscape fabric is relatively modest and would be mostly reversible, save for the 
possible retention of access tracks to serve future farming activity. [101, 301, 317, 

318] 

339. It is evident that the landscape in question is one which is valued by local residents 
and those who use the network of public rights of way.  Its proximity to settlements, 

most notably Llandrindod Wells, means that the routes are regularly used by many 
residents as well as being enjoyed by visitors to the area.  In his WSE Mr Williams 

provided evidence of the particular significance of the local bridleways in linking up to 
the wider network in relation to his business.  These users of the public rights of way 
that cross over or close to the site are sensitive receptors and it is likely that their 

enjoyment of the attractive undulating landscape would be significantly harmed by 
the presence of the development. [298, 300-302, 309]  

340. Whilst the scheme makes provision for a new recreational route which is the subject 
of the draft S106 agreement, the impact on users of those sections of the public 
rights of way within and close to the site would be considerable.  At such close 

quarters the sheer size of the turbines, the sweeping motion of the blades and the 
noise created would dramatically reduce the enjoyment of users of the landscape, 

although it may well be the case that the opportunity to view the development close-
up would be enjoyed by some others.  The financial contribution included in the draft 
s106 agreement would, if executed, enable the accessibility including the physical 

condition of local public rights of way to be improved but would not mitigate the 
harmful visual impact that users would experience along sections of several routes. 

[5, 86, 102, 208, 209, 281, 313-315] 

341. The turbines would be visible from sections of other public rights of way, including the 
Sustrans national cycle route 825, Radnor Ring.  The screening effect of topography 

and vegetation will limit views for users of these routes, but such screening would 
also result in the sudden opening up of views from certain points.  For instance VP8 

near Franksbridge (some 3.9km distant) shows a clear view of the proposal from the 
Sustrans route, but at this point the view would be short-lived and the turbines would 
be perceived as more distant, modest structures against more prominent foreground 

features. [86, 282] 

342. In their objections numerous local residents and visitors also refer to the iconic 

presence of the distinctive Llandegley Rocks on the scenic quality of the surroundings.  
Several objectors also refer to the special value they place on this landscape as a 

Tudalen 489



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    70 

subject for drawing, painting and photographing.  The Rocks is a feature readily 
noticeable from various vantage points in the wider surroundings and provides a 

dramatic skyline that frames views of the site particularly on approaching Llandegley 
from higher land near Castell Crug Eryr on the A44 from the south east.  Many 

objectors have recounted their first experience of travelling along the road and the 
sudden opening up of views over Llandegley Rhos and towards the Rocks and which 
remains a valued experience despite being often repeated. [298, 309, 310]   

343. Although motorists travelling along a main road may generally be considered to be 
less sensitive receptors in terms of their surrounding landscape, as many objectors 

have emphasised, this section of the A44 is an important tourist route from England 
into mid Wales and was a consideration that influenced a decision to dismiss an 

appeal at nearby Pentre Tump188.  [192, 281, 298, 309, 310]  

344. On approaching the site views of the development would be obscured until The Van 
has been reached.  Thereafter a dramatically winding section of the road begins to 

open up to reveal panoramic views over lower lying ground framed by the distinctive 
skyline of ridges, including Llandegley Rocks.  From these views, as demonstrated in 

VP4 the turbines would be readily visible in a westward direction occupying lower 
lying land.  This elevated vantage point, which is some 2km from the nearest turbine, 
means that virtually the whole of each turbine tower would be seen against the rising 

ground behind with the blades breaking the skyline.  The light colour of the towers 
would be in striking contrast to the darker ground behind emphasising their presence 

in most daylight conditions. 

345. There are vantage points of the proposed development from the south east including 
a section of the A481 including a large layby (VP5) and, in the same direction but 

from further away on a local high point, Gwaunceste Hill, which is crossed by a 
network of public rights of way (VP9).  From the road layby parts of some of the 

turbines would be obscured by topography with only the blades of some being visible 
as they break the skyline.  In this view, which would be some 2.6km distant, the 
development would be readily visible on a prominent ridge.  From VP9, which would 

be 4.6km or so away, the turbines would be wholly seen against land which, as 
previously explained, would highlight their visual presence.  However the fact that 

they would be seen in the mid distance in a vast landscape would assist in reducing 
the apparent scale of the development.  However, this is a sensitive vantage point 
where users of the rights of way would be seeking to enjoy the impressive views of 

largely undeveloped countryside in the direction of the site which would be harmed by 
the presence of prominent and intrusive man-made features. [308, 309]   

346. From the north east the turbines would appear to be located on a ridge above lower 
lying foreground land, characterised by fields bounded by mature hedgerows (VP7).  
The landscape seen from this direction is more intimate which serves to emphasise 

the large scale of the turbines.  A similar effect would arise from PRV3 which is taken 
from a BOAT at the head of Llan-Evan Dingle.   

347. There are 2 dwellings within 1km of a proposed turbine, Pye Corner and Hendy Farm, 
with a relatively few others within 1.5km.  Given its outlook Pye Corner is the one 
that would be most affected in terms of visual impact.  During my site visit I stood 

outside the garden room of the property which contains large picture windows on the 
2 elevations facing the appeal site.  The upgrading of the unclassified public highway 

                                       

188  

Tudalen 490



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    71 

and the construction of a new access track adjacent to the property will erode the 
largely undeveloped appearance of the immediate surroundings.  Whilst intervening 

rising ground and, to a lesser degree vegetation, would screen the turbines in whole 
or in part there would be a marked visual impact caused by those parts of the 

turbines that would be visible.  Given the orientation of the garden room windows and 
the outside decking area, the turbines and the movement of the blades would be 
readily visible and would impact on a valued aspect of the dwelling.  However, taking 

into account the separating distance (980m from the nearest turbine), intervening 
topography and extensive outlook that would remain available to the property the 

impact would not lead to an overbearing or otherwise unacceptably visually intrusive 
impact.  I concur with the findings of the ES that the scheme would not lead to an 

unsatisfactory residential environment for any nearby residents.  

348. Both Mr Russell-Vick and Ms Bolger consider that the degree to which the scheme 
would impact upon the landscape and the effect on the visual amenity of receptors 

has generally been understated in the ES and in Ms Hawkins’ evidence.  ID12 
provides a table comparing the visual impact assessments of the witnesses for the 

Council and the appellant.  Based on the documentary evidence and my visits to the 
site, I consider that the impact would be significant on a landscape that has a quality 
which is of regional value.  [171, 281] 

349. Whilst the nearby higher landforms provide a screening effect that limits the visual 
impact of the scheme from much of its surroundings this landform, including highly 

distinctive features, in particular Llandegley Rocks, creates a relatively intimate local 
landscape which is poorly suited to accommodate a development of the scale 
proposed.  Accordingly I consider that the scheme does not perform well in terms of 

responding sensitively to local circumstances as sought by paragraph 12.8.14 of PPW.  
The extent to which the visual qualities of the landscape would be harmed leads me 

to find that the scheme fails to strike an acceptable balance between facilitating 
renewable energy and landscape protection as advised in paragraph 2.13 of TAN8. 
[54-57, 186, 264-266]  

350. I conclude that the scheme would have a substantially detrimental effect on the visual 
character of the landscape.  Its topography creates a distinctive and valued landscape 

which would be harmed by the development.  Users of the local public rights of way 
and other publically accessible land within the site’s vicinity would suffer a 
considerable reduction in visual amenity and their recreational enjoyment of these 

routes.  Occupiers of some nearby dwellings and holiday accommodation would 
experience an appreciable reduction in visual amenity.  The impact would also be 

experienced by users of the A44 which is an important tourist route to mid Wales at a 
point which has particular significance as a ‘gateway’ from the England into mid 
Wales.  Whether these impacts are unacceptable in terms of LDP policy DM4, and by 

association policy RE1, is a matter that is considered in the overall balance. 

Historic Assets 

351. The ES assesses the effect of the scheme on the historic environment and confirms 
that there would be no direct effect on any designated historic assets.  The settings of 
several SAMs and listed buildings have been assessed.  [115, 211] 

352. As the ES records, most of the listed buildings in the locality would be screened from 
views of the turbines by topography and vegetation.  Parts of one or more turbines 

would be visible from some of the listed buildings, for instance the Grade II 
Llandegley Church and, from further away, The Pales (a grade II* Quaker meeting 

Tudalen 491



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    72 

room).  Whilst the introduction of modern structures into a predominantly natural 
scene would have an effect on the setting of these buildings, the evidence presented, 

including in Mr Le Quesne’s WSE, leads me to find that there would be no material 
harm to the significance of such assets.  In reaching this finding I have borne in mind 

the protective effect of the statutory duty in relation to listed buildings and their 
setting.  An objector suggests that the impact on Larch Grove, which is a grade II 
listed building, has not been assessed, however the Technical Appendix to the ES189 

demonstrates that this is not the case.  There are no conservation areas that would 
be affected. [310] 

353. There is general consensus between the main parties that the ES is correct in 
identifying the main effects on cultural heritage as being the impact on the setting of 

4 SAMs.  The importance of protecting the setting of scheduled monuments from 
significantly damaging effects is set out in national policy.  The ES identifies the 
effects on 3 SAMs, Nant Brook, Graig Camp and Llandegley Rocks, as moderate to 

large significance, with the effect on the Castell Crug Eryr SAM as minor to moderate 
significance.  The assessment and its findings have been criticised by Mr Croft on 

behalf of the Council and by Cadw.  The appellant’s heritage witness, Mr Le Quesne, 
was not involved in the ES.  He has carried out his own assessment of the effect on 
cultural heritage, taking into account national policy and advice that post-dates the 

production of the ES, and made it clear in oral evidence that he did not agree with 
some of the findings of the ES.  [29-31, 115, 211] 

354. One of the criticisms of the ESs approach was the use of DMRB methodology in the 
assessment on the basis that it was intended for use for in highway projects which, 
given their linear nature, were distinguishable from the appeal scheme.  Mr Le 

Quesne’s evidence refers to an approach that has been used in the HS2 high-speed 
train line project in his criteria for assessing magnitude of impact.  I share the 

Council’s concerns that this approach, which for instance requires an asset to be 
‘totally altered or destroyed’ to be of high magnitude, may have been developed for 
use in a specific project deemed of national importance by the UK government may 

not be as suitable for the appeal scheme. [212, 217] 

355. In its response to the planning application Cadw questioned the assessment of the 

effect on the Cwm-Maerdy Standing Stone which stands some 1.2km south east of 
the nearest proposed turbine.  This is not a matter pursued in its more recent 
comments and the available evidence, including Mr Le Quesne’s WSE, leads me to 

find that any effect on its setting would not affect the asset’s significance. 

356. The Nant Brook Enclosure lies within some 500m of the nearest turbine.  Its raised 

enclosure is clearly visible within a secluded hollow sheltered by higher ground on 3 
sides.  The Schedule description identifies 2 potential explanations for its origins 
dating back to either the Iron Age or Medieval period and refers to its importance 

within the surrounding landscape.  The main parties’ witnesses and Cadw agree that it 
is the latter which is the more plausible account of its origins.  Mr Le Quesne sought 

to suggest that its status as a SAM should be re-considered on that basis, despite the 
fact that the scheduling identifies the possibility that it is of medieval origins. [139- 
142, 220] 

357. Whilst the immediate vicinity of the SAM has been affected by recent human activity, 
including quarrying, a pond, and farm tracks, these are relatively modest changes.  In 

                                       

189 Table A9.6/1, ES-4 

Tudalen 492



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    73 

contrast the sweeping motion of turbine blades viewed on the skyline immediately 
above the SAM would represent a more intrusive change to the generally unspoilt 

upland setting.  Figure 11 of Ms Bolger’s WSE depicts the effect from a point close to 
the enclosure.  I concur with Cadw’s opinion that the visible presence of a small 

turbine at Cwm-Maerdy does not reduce the sensitivity of the monument to the 
impact of the proposed turbines.  The degree of impact on its setting would be 
substantial and would affect its historic significance and its appreciation. [143, 145, 

219, 221] 

358. The turbines would be sited between the Iron Age hillforts of Llandegley Rocks to the 

north west and, to the south east, Graig Camp.  Mr Le Quesne emphasises that the 
focus of both hill forts would face away from Rhos Common to overlook settled 

communities on lower land in opposite directions to the appeal site.  However, he also 
acknowledged that both forts would also provide views over the intervening lower 
lying land that would be occupied by the proposed development. [153, 156]  

359. Both Cadw and Mr Croft consider this lower lying ground as important to the setting 
of both SAMs, they believe to be broadly contemporary. Although the exact historic 

relationship between the 2 sites is not known the evidence suggests that the 
hinterland which includes the appeal site is likely to have had a significant association 
with these assets.  Given the visual impact of the proposed turbines they would have 

a significant impact on the relationship between these monuments, notwithstanding 
that their presence would not physically prevent views across this lower land.  I also 

acknowledge the intervening distance means that inter-visibility between the two 
monuments is not readily discernible but, as I observed during my visit, the 
prominent and distinctive landforms on which they are sited means they are easily 

located. [149, 152, 153, 225] 

360. Graig Camp is described as a well-preserved hillfort believed to be of Iron Age period.  

It sits on a prominent ridge summit.  There is no public access to the SAM although I 
was given access to conduct my visit.  Its physical remains extend over the summit of 
the hill and at its northern extent reveal extensive views in the direction of the 

Llandegley Rhos and Llandegley Rocks within an extensive panorama.  Views in this 
direction are impeded to some extent by the presence of a higher part of the ridge in 

this direction.  Most of the turbines would be clearly visible, with the closest turbine 
some 1.3km away, as illustrated in a wireframe image provided in Mr Croft’s WSE. 
[149, 223]  

361. Whilst the clear presence of a telecommunication mast on high ground close to Graig 
Camp in the direction of the appeal site and a nearby small turbine detract from the 

monument’s prominence I consider that this would not materially reduce the impact 
of the much larger proposed development on its setting. The predominant character 
of the surrounding land is of undeveloped countryside, which is undoubtedly different 

in detail to that which existed when the hillfort was active but nonetheless enables the 
historic dominance of this feature over lower lying lands to be appreciated.  The 

extent to which the large moving structures that are proposed would challenge the 
prominence of Graig Camp would significantly harm its historic significance.  [153, 
154, 222] 

362. Llandegley Rocks Hillfort is probably Iron Age and is described in the Schedule as 
‘situated on an imposing ridge on the NE side of Llandegley Rocks, commanding the 

lower slopes to the S and E and overlooking the valley between it and the hills of 
Radnor Forest…... The monument forms an important element within the wider Iron 

Age context and within the surrounding landscape’.    

Tudalen 493



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    74 

363. It occupies a highly prominent and elevated position overlooking the appeal site and 
affording views of Graig Camp hillfort.  Mr Croft’s opinion that there were likely to 

have been other hillforts in the locality that would have been visually and functionally 
connected appears to be plausible.  As with Graig Camp the site’s function means that 

its visual prominence was critical to its role of defending and generating a sense of 
control.  The dominant visual impact of the proposed turbines on its immediate 
surroundings would challenge this prominence and significantly harm its historic 

significance (VP10 shows the impact of the development when viewed from a point on 
Llandegley Rocks some 1.37km from the closest of the proposed turbines). [156, 157, 

224] 

364. Castell Crug Eryr (also known as Crugerydd) is a medieval motte and bailey castle 

perched on one of several pronounced hilltops in the vicinity of The Van.  At some 
2km from the nearest proposed turbine it is the furthest of the 4 affected SAMs.  It is 
situated close to a section of the A44 which contains a series of sharp bends elevated 

high above the land to one side as described earlier and shown in VP4.  It dates to the 
medieval period and was an important symbol of Welsh power during turbulent times.  

Its position was chosen to emphasise its importance and influence over its 
surroundings and exert control over important transport routes of the time.  

365. The prominence of the Castle within the landscape is largely unaltered since the time 

it was built.  Views of the castle and the land it overlooked would be considerably 
altered by the introduction of the turbines.  Their prominence, emphasised by their 

contrasting colour against the darker background and their movement, would 
compete for attention with the castle and undermine its visual dominance.  Such an 
impact would be significantly harmful to the monument’s significance. [158, 226] 

366. From Crug Eryr there are panoramic views in which the Llandegley Rocks skyline is 
prominent as is the lower ground of the valley floor which includes the appeal site, 

the generally sloping nature of which faces the monument.  The SAM is not publically 
accessible, however from the public right of way which crosses the access to it, the 
appeal site occupies a significant proportion of the available vista framed by the SAM 

on one side, and roadside vegetation and higher ground on the other. 

367. My visit to the site confirmed the perception described by several objectors that the 

site and its environs provide a tranquil setting.  The presence of the 2 hillforts and the 
Crug Eryr motte and bailey castle, and the degree to which they all overlook the area, 
contributes to this atmosphere.  The appellant points out that the character of the site 

and its surroundings has been extensively altered since the SAMs were built and used.  
Their previously open moorland state was changed following the introduction of field 

enclosures.  However, such changes and the more modern developments are modest 
in scale and impact, in marked contrast to the impact that would be caused by the 
scheme. 

368. The effect of the introduction of the 7 large modern structures on the landscape would 
be significant.  Their size, colour and the sweeping motion of the blades would be 

prominent from all 4 SAMs.  The extent to which the natural landscape would be 
altered and that the turbines would become a focus of attention would affect the 
appreciation of these historic assets, their historic function and their relationship with 

their surroundings.  This effect on their setting would harm the significance of each of 
these historic assets. 

369. In reaching this conclusion I generally prefer the findings of the Council’s witness with 
whom Cadw broadly agrees, over that of the appellant.  The former considers the 

Tudalen 494



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    75 

harmful impacts to be significantly damaging in relation to all 4 SAMS, whilst the 
latter rates the impact as low in relation to the SAMs of Nant Brook, Graig Camp and 

Llandegley Rocks, and rates the impact on Castell Crug Eryr as low to medium.  Mr 
Croft’s paper (ID11) compares the impact assessments that have been undertaken 

and notes that, other than in relation to Castell Crug Eryr Mr Le Quesne’s scoring of 
impact is lower than the ES. [214] 

370. I share the appellant’s view that as the harm that I have identified is reversible and 

the setting of the SAMs will revert to its present state that this reduces the extent of 
the harm.  However, whilst 25 years is a comparatively short time in relation to the 

age of the assets, it is a significant period in the lifetime of individuals who would be 
denied the opportunity to properly appreciate the assets.  Thus its reversibility does 

not alter my view that the development would lead to a significantly damaging 
impact.  I am also mindful that the appellant has suggested a condition that would 
provide for improved interpretation and understanding of the historic interest of the 

local SAMs.  Having regard to Cadw guidance190, these offsetting measures, whilst 
they would not reduce the degree of harm that I have identified, represent benefits to 

be taken into account.  In this case I find that these benefits are not sufficient to alter 
my findings on the detrimental effect that would arise. [128-132, 159]  

371. The extent to which the setting of the SAMs would be altered by the large and moving 

structures would represent a significantly damaging effect, in the terms of paragraph 
6.5.5 of PPW.  Whether there are exceptional circumstances that justify the effect, 

and whether the harm is one that outweighs the carbon emissions reduction benefits 
of the scheme are matters that I shall address later as part of the overall balance.  In 
that balancing exercise I shall also consider whether the identified harm is 

‘unacceptable’ for the purposes of assessing compliance with LDP policy SP7 and, by 
extension, policy RE1. [123-127, 216] 

372. I have considered the impact on the setting of other archaeological features.  Mr Le 
Quesne considers these in his WSE and I concur that any effects would be low.  In 
terms of possible direct effects on undesignated archaeological features, the Clwyd 

Powys Archaeological Trust has expressed concern regarding the potential impact on 
a buried Roman Road.  This matter, along with any other features of potential 

archaeological interest that may be revealed, can be adequately addressed by a 
suggested condition. 

Benefits of the Scheme 

373. The scheme is estimated to produce sufficient energy to power up to 12,578 homes 
over its operational lifespan (ID53), and to displace some 26,980 tonnes of CO2 a 

year.  This represents a substantial contribution to the production of energy from a 
renewable resource and to the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions.  Such a 
contribution is significant in the context of the UK Government’s energy policy and the 

targets required by WG, and the commitment of both Governments to address climate 
change. [40] 

374. In response to a change in the UK Government’s position in recent years WG has 
emphasised its continued commitment to the important role of onshore wind in 
meeting renewable energy production targets.  Whilst there is evidence that good 

progress is being made in relation to the 2020 target the more ambitious target for 

                                       

190 Setting of Historic Assets in Wales, Cadw 

Tudalen 495



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    76 

2030 of 70% of electricity consumption from renewable energy appears more 
challenging, particularly given the likely degree of reliance on electricity production 

given the more limited progress in relation to heat and transport. [78-83, 169, 249-
255] 

375. Many objectors point to the presence of 2 SSAs in Powys and to the number of 
operational windfarms in the County as evidence that it is contributing more than its 
share of renewable energy both in relation to Wales and the UK.  However, there is no 

provision in either national or local planning policy to support the concept of an upper 
limit on wind energy developments within a local planning authority area.  Indeed, in 

accord with national policy, the recently adopted LDP acknowledges the County’s 
continued role in facilitating such development.  The acceptability of such schemes 

must be assessed on their individual merits within the framework of planning policy. 
[77, 79, 171, 256-258, 308-309] 

376. A potential route providing connection to the national grid at a point which has 

adequate capacity has been identified.  This is significant in terms of ensuring the 
deliverability of the project although the required infrastructure connection would 

require a separate consent that would be pursued by Western Power Distribution. [39, 
312]  

377. The scheme would provide benefits to the local economy in terms of investment and 

employment opportunities, particularly during the construction and decommissioning 
phases as identified in the ES.  As a proportion of the overall project such local 

opportunities would be limited given the specialised nature of much of the work as Ms 
Kibble notes in her WSE.  Nonetheless there would be some benefits to the local 
economy. [312]  

378. In light of the national renewable energy targets and the associated supportive thrust 
of planning policy, the scheme’s identified contribution to renewable energy is an 

important consideration that attracts significant weight.   

Other Considerations 

379. Given the scope to control the development through suggested conditions, the 

Council’s objections to the scheme are confined to those detailed in the above main 
considerations.  However, the CPRW B&R and other parties have raised other 

concerns, the main ones are addressed below.  

Ecology 

380. The site does not lie within an area designated for nature conservation interest, 

however, there are several SSSIs and a SAC nearby.  The effects of the scheme on 
these areas have been considered in the ES and in other environmental information. 

[275-276]  

381. The NRW and the Council’s Ecologist initially expressed concerns over the potential 
impact of the scheme.  However, during the course of the planning application further 

discussions took place which led both consultees to confirm that they had no 
objections subject to the imposition of suitable protective conditions.  Whilst the 

CPRW B&R has provided detailed criticisms of the information provided, it seems to 
me that the absence of detailed information relate to matters that could be 
adequately addressed by the suite of suggested planning conditions, including those 

that would control construction work, would require further surveys to be undertaken 
and would require the works to proceed in accordance with protection and 

Tudalen 496



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    77 

management plans.  The Council confirmed at the Inquiry that this is an approach 
that has been adopted on other wind farm projects and that it would seek the 

specialist advice of its in-house ecology team and of NRW when discharging and 
monitoring these planning conditions. [308, 317] 

382. Among the concerns of the CPRW B&R in relation to ecological matters is the possible 
contamination of the Edw river which drains part of the site and is designated as a 
SAC 1.3km or so downstream, pointing to the impact of past local forestry clearance 

which led to damaging soil run-off.  The appellant has proposed a series of conditions 
that would seek to control the development, including measures that would prevent 

water pollution, which are considered acceptable by both the Council and NRW.  I 
agree that these conditions are necessary however, as already explained, an 

Appropriate Assessment would be required to establish the impact on the integrity of 
the SAC.  Such an assessment could take into account mitigation measures, including 
those that could be secured by condition. [279-281, 317, 399] 

383. In terms of the effect on European protected species it has been established that 
there may be great crested newts on the site.  Any works that would disturb their 

habitat, or any other protected species, would require a licence and there is no 
indication from the Council or NRW that a licence would not be forthcoming. 

384. Evidence has been produced, including a film (ID14) played at the Inquiry, of the 

significant starling presence on the site.  Mr Myhill explained that starling population 
in the UK has declined very significantly over the past 50 years and its existence is 

now under threat such that it is a Red List species. He shared his detailed knowledge 
gained from observing the site over many years and points to the fact that the 
starling presence, and the associated visits of raptors during the periods of their daily 

movement to and from the roost, has been considerably under played in the 
appellant’s evidence despite it being recorded in a significant reference book, Birds of 

Radnorshire.   

385. In a recent letter (ID06) the appellant’s specialist reiterated the belief that the 
starlings fly across the site at a sufficiently low level to make the risk of collision ‘very 

low’.  Based on their film, and my evening visit overlooking Llandegley Rhos, I am 
persuaded by the opinion of CPRW B&R that this would not be the case.  The large 

scale and elaborate murmurations over the area involved extensive vertical 
movements which Mr Myhill estimates to be in the region of 100m high, well above 
the lowest point of the sweep path of the turbine blades.  On the basis of the targeted 

surveys undertaken by Mr Myhill and his colleagues it also seems to me that the 
appellant has under-estimated the size of the population during the over wintering 

season. 

386. Adopting a precautionary approach Mr Myhill opined that the scheme would have a 
potentially significantly damaging impact on the local starling population.  However, 

there is no reason to believe that the population would not secure an alternative roost 
in the locality should the present one be removed through the felling of the trees.  

This is an option advanced by the appellant.  It was accepted by Mr Myhill that there 
was no evidence to show that the woodland’s attributes as a roost were not to be 
found elsewhere in the wider countryside.  Moreover, the appellant’s specialist points 

to the polluting effect that such an intensive use of a roost can cause over time which 
would suggest a limited life time to the roost, although Mr Myhill considers that the 

roost effectively moves over time from one part of the woodland to another.  It 
follows that measures to safeguard starlings would protect raptors that are presently 

Tudalen 497



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    78 

attracted to the site by their prey at the relatively short periods of the day when the 
starlings arrive and depart the roost.  

387. The appellant’s specialist advises (ID06) that starling roosts are well-known to be 
transitory and that the birds easily adapt to alternative locations and that the roost 

largely moved to Llandegley Rhos in 2003.  During bad weather the birds are less 
likely to travel to the roost, when it is presumed that they stay closer to their daytime 
feeding areas.   

388. The bird surveys undertaken have been criticised by CPRW B&R, including in its paper 
ID37 and I concur that, with regard to starlings flock size and the height reached in 

their approach flight, these appear have been underestimated.  However, more 
generally I do not consider that the differences in the findings of the appellant’s 

consultants and those cited by CPRW B&R mean that the former are unreliable.  The 
information has been assessed and found acceptable by specialist consultees at the 
application stage.  Accordingly, I consider that the evidence submitted is sufficient to 

determine that the proposal would not significantly affect any protected species, 
subject to the collation of additional survey information and mitigation measures that 

could be secured through a condition. [160-162, 281, 308, 317] 

Hydrology and Hydrogeology 

389. The CPRW B&R raises concerns over the lack of detail on hydrological and 

hydrogeological matters, including in relation to the access track details presented at 
the Inquiry (ID34).  Given the extent of ditches and watercourses that drain from the 

site I do not doubt the potential significance of some of the concerns, including the 
potential impact on the SAC.  However the ES considers these matters and identifies 
means of avoiding harmful effects through mitigation measures. The appellant’s 

specialist adviser confirms (ID04) that the proposed measures are based on well 
understood methods.  Subject to an Appropriate Assessment finding that the integrity 

of the SAC would not be harmed, I consider that these matters are ones that can be 
adequately and straightforwardly dealt with through the suggested conditions. [281, 
308, 317] 

Tourism 

390. Several interested parties raised concerns regarding the potential for the scheme to 

lead to a decline in visitors to the area, particularly those tourists staying in the area 
and using the bridleways and public footpaths.  The anticipated impact on local 
business offering accommodation, some of whom are specifically geared to equestrian 

visitors, as well as the horse trekking business that use the local network was 
described in oral evidence as well as in letters of objection. [281, 301, 302, 309] 

391. For reasons I have already explained the development of the turbines would alter the 
local landscape and its visual amenity.  For some visitors this would be perceived as 
sufficiently harmful to influence their choice of destination.  However, as is 

acknowledged in the ES, research shows that the majority of visitors are either 
neutral or respond positively to the presence of turbines. Whilst the available 

evidence has been criticised by some objectors as out of date or unrepresentative, no 
reliable alternative research has been presented.  Businesses that might be more 
directly affected by the development, such as long distance horse trekking, may 

choose to adjust their present routes, particularly during the construction period, to 
reduce any impact.  The available evidence does not demonstrate that the scheme 

would be materially harmful to the local economy. 

Tudalen 498



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    79 

Living Conditions 

392. Whilst there are few residential properties that are located close to the proposed 

turbines, the scheme would have an impact on the living conditions of some local 
residents most notably the occupier of Pye Corner.  The resident of that property, Mrs 

Everett, described these concerns in oral evidence in addition to a WSE.  Impacts 
such as shadow flicker, noise and television interference have been assessed in the 
ES and subject to the imposition of conditions there would be no unacceptable 

impacts in this respect. [310, 317]  

Public access  

393. The effect on the visual amenity of users of the local public rights of way and other 
accessible land has been considered in the first main consideration.  Within the site 

the impact would not only arise from the visual dominance of the development but 
there would also be noise from the blades that would contribute to the impact on 
users’ recreational experience.  There would also be more physical impacts, in 

particular caused by the proposed crossing of existing paths by access tracks with 
associated changes in gradient which could provide physical obstacles.  Measures to 

reduce such impacts can be secured through the suggested conditions and the draft 
planning agreement.  For that reason it is considered necessary to secure binding 
obligations from the appellant to ensure that the proposed mitigation measures, 

including a financial contribution to the Council is secured before any permission is 
granted.  Concerns over health and safety are addressed in the ES and can be 

suitably controlled through the suggested conditions. [72, 102, 281, 313-315, 317] 

Transportation 

394. The ES considers the implications arising from the transportation of the components 

of the turbines and other heavy goods vehicular traffic on the public highway, 
including in terms of safety and the efficiency of the road network.  The occupier of 

Pye Corner is concerned that construction works, particularly to the unclassified 
highway, would obstruct vehicular access to her property.  There is particular concern 
over the lack of details of the necessary engineering operations.  The inevitable 

disruption and inconvenience work that would arise during construction, both in 
relation to the nearby residents and more widely to users of the affected highway 

network, can be mitigated to an acceptable level through arrangements that can be 
secured through the suggested conditions. [310, 317]  

Geology 

395. The RIGS Statement of Interest in relation to the Llandegley Rocks (ID24) explains 
the significance of the designated area which includes the visible evidence of the 

sequence of particular geological features which influence the outcrops and its diverse 
fauna.  Given the intervening distance between the designation and the scheme its 
geological interest would not be harmed by the proposal. [299] 

Land ownership 

396. The appellant has responded to concerns from Mr Lloyd that the scheme would 

require land in his ownership which forms part of Corn Hill Farm and which lies on the 
opposite side of the unclassified road to Pye Corner, and to concerns from CPRW B&R 
(ID35) that the extent of the proposed work would extend beyond the appeal site 

boundary.  The appellant has confirmed that the proposed work can be undertaken, 
including that which would be required to satisfactorily meet the mitigating measures 

Tudalen 499



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    80 

that would be required by the suite of suggested planning conditions, within land 
which it controls.  It is on that basis that I have assessed the scheme, in the 

knowledge that any work on other land would be outside the scope of this permission 
and, in any event, would not affect the rights of any affected land owner. [10, 43, 

281, 297] 

Inclosure Awards 

397. Several of the turbines would be sited on land subject to inclosure awards for Hendy 

Bank and Llandegley Rhos which afford public rights of access.  I consider that it is a 
matter for the developer to address any legal implications that may arise, which 

would be unaffected by any planning permission that may be granted. [17, 281, 311] 

Other Decisions 

398. My attention has been drawn to numerous appeal decisions in relation to wind turbine 
developments, mostly in Powys.  Some are specifically mentioned in this report.  
However, whilst I have taken all decisions into account in the interests of ensuring 

consistency in decision making, my assessment is made on the specific circumstances 
of this case which, given the nature of the main considerations mean that they are 

highly site specific. 

Conditions and Obligations 

399. The suggested conditions agreed by the Council and the appellant are all necessary to 

ensure that the development avoids, or where that is not possible, mitigates as far as 
is reasonable, the potentially harmful effects of the scheme.  Those effects and the 

scope to mitigate are for the most part identified in the ES and other documentary 
evidence or were discussed at the Inquiry.  Given my findings in relation to the extent 
of the presence of starlings on the site I have amended the suggested condition 

requiring a protected species protection plan to include explicit reference to starlings 
and their raptors. This would ensure that further surveys of starlings and their raptors 

are undertaken and that appropriate mitigation measures are put in place to mitigate 
potential collisions with the turbine blades. [317] 

400. The revised access track details demonstrate that the scheme can be constructed with 

appreciably reduced engineering works.  Whilst the precise details of such works 
would need to be controlled through condition, it is evident that the revisions shown 

would reduce the visual impact of the tracks.  It is therefore reasonable and 
necessary to impose a condition that identifies the revised details as forming part of 
the approved plans (ID48). [318] 

401. The main issue of dispute with regard to conditions relates to whether development 
should be allowed to proceed before the necessary consents are secured in relation to 

common land and grid connection.  The justification for the work - with its associated 
impact on local residents and users of the rights of way and potential impact on 
ecology, hydrology and archaeology - is the envisaged generation of renewable 

energy.  Given the present degree of uncertainty over whether the necessary 
consents will be forthcoming to enable the renewable energy benefit to be realised, I 

consider that such a condition is necessary to safeguard the aforementioned interests.  
I acknowledge that this may have the effect of delaying implementation of the project 
and the delivery of its benefits but consider that the potential disruption that would be 

caused in the event that abortive site works were carried out outweighs this 
consideration. [319-320] 

Tudalen 500



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    81 

402. The CPRW B&R expressed concern that some of the mitigation measures would 
require works outside the red line boundary of the application site.  In response, the 

appellant confirmed that it was confident that it could carry out the work within the 
confines of the identified appeal site.  If it were to transpire that the site boundaries 

prevented adequate mitigation measures from being implemented or, for that matter, 
if the necessary engineering works could not be accommodated within the boundaries 
of the site, it would be necessary for the appellant to secure means of overcoming 

such an issue. [43, 281, 317] 

Planning Balance and Overall Conclusion 

403. For the reasons set out above, the scheme would give rise to significant harm to the 
character of the landscape and its visual amenity, including its recreational enjoyment 

by users of local public rights of way and those passing through the area on an 
important tourist route. [350]   

404. The development would also cause harm to heritage assets, specifically by virtue of 

the impact on the setting of 4 SAMs.  The nature and extent of this impact is such 
that it would harm their significance.  Notwithstanding the time limited and reversible 

nature of the impact, the extent to which the scheme would alter the largely unspoilt 
and remote character of the site and surroundings and the consequential effect on the 
appreciation of the setting of these SAMs would represent a considerable harmful 

impact on the significance of these assets, including the ability of visitors to 
appreciate their historic context and function. [368] 

405. Having regard to the scope to control and mitigate certain effects, none of the other 
matters raised in objection to the proposal weigh appreciably against the scheme.  
Nevertheless the impact on the landscape and its amenity, and on cultural heritage 

are weighty considerations in this case.  National policy adopts a generally protective 
stance in relation to both considerations, but in the context of proposals for renewable 

energy generation that protection is qualified by a need to strike a balance between 
the harm and need to facilitate renewable energy generation.  In the case of the LDP 
the policies that are relevant to these considerations qualify their protective stance by 

presuming against developments that would give rise to ‘unacceptable’ adverse 
effects or impacts.  This suggests a need to strike a balance between the extent of 

the harm and benefits that would arise to establish whether the identified harm is one 
which is acceptable. [27-33, 40, 52-57, 73-76, 179, 182-189, 317, 380-398]  

406. The main benefit arising from the scheme would be its contribution to the production 

of renewable energy and consequential reduction in CO2 emissions.  It is a significant 
contribution capable of meeting the power needs of up to 12,578 homes and would 

displace approximately 26,980 tonnes of CO2 a year.  In the context of the supportive 
stance of national planning policy and the need to meet increasingly ambitious 
national and international targets this is a benefit that attracts significant weight. 

[378]  

407. The scheme would also provide local economic and employment benefits.  For reasons 

I have already explained these local effects would be relatively minor and thus 
attracts modest weight.  Subject to securing an executed agreement, the suggested 
financial contribution to improving local public rights of way would be a local benefit.  

However, it would, alongside the proposed recreational route, only partly offset the 
harmful effects of the scheme on the enjoyment of the existing local network and thus 

attracts minor weight.  Likewise the improvements to the interpretation of the historic 

Tudalen 501



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    82 

heritage through a suggested condition would be a minor benefit set against the 
harmful effects to historic assets that have been identified. [312, 340, 370, 391] 

408. National policy permits significant damage to the setting of historic assets only in 
exceptional circumstances.  It seems to me that the benefit associated with renewable 

energy production is capable of providing circumstances that are exceptional given 
the generally supportive thrust of national policy.  However such support is a qualified 
one; it requires the public benefit of reducing carbon emissions to be weighed against 

the harm to the significance of historic assets.  National policy also requires a 
balancing exercise in relation to landscape protection and facilitating renewable 

energy generation. [123, 133-136, 188, 189, 228-230] 

409. The host landscape has a distinctive character which makes it valued for its own sake 

and for the publicly accessible amenity it provides.  Its topography provides a 
relatively intimate environment which makes it particularly susceptible to impact from 
development of the scale proposed.  It also provides an important setting to 4 SAMs, 

including an inter-relationship between 2 monuments.  When taken individually the 
extent of harm to the landscape and historic assets leads me to conclude that the 

scheme fails to strike an appropriate balance between promoting renewable energy 
projects and protecting these interests as sought by national policy.  It follows that, 
when taken together, the combined harm to landscape and heritage matters 

significantly outweigh the identified benefits.  Thus, in terms of the relevant policies of 
the LDP, I consider that the scheme would cause unacceptable adverse effects on the 

landscape and on SAMs.  The scheme is therefore in conflict with those policies, DM4 
and SP7, and as a consequence is also contrary to policy RE1. [20-33, 52-57, 73-76, 
179, 182-189]  

410. In reaching my recommendation I have taken into account the duty to improve the 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with 

the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  As I have reached the conclusion that the harm which 
would be caused by the development would clearly outweigh its benefits I consider 

that it fails to accord with the wide reaching aims and objectives of the WBFG Act. 
[48, 169, 177, 259, 260] 

Recommendation 

411. For the reasons given above, and having had regard to all other matters raised, I 
recommend that the appeal be dismissed. 

 

Hywel Wyn Jones 

INSPECTOR 
  

Tudalen 502



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    83 

APPEARANCES 

 

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

Harriet Townsend, of Counsel Instructed by Colin Edwards, Solicitor, 

Powys County Council 

She called  

Philip Russell-Vick DipLA CMLI Director, Enplan 

Andrew Croft BA MA Director, Chris Blandford Associates 

Alan Southerby DipTP MRTPI Alan Southerby Planning 

 

FOR THE APPELLANT: 

Vincent Fraser QC Instructed by Aaron and Partners 

He called  

Kay Hawkins BSc (Hons) BLD CMLI Director, Hawkins Bell Associates 
Limited 

Charles Le Quesne MA MCIfA   Principal Cultural Heritage Consultant, 
ERM 

Peter Frampton BSc (Hons) TP 
MRICS MRTPI   

Director, Frampton Town Planning 
Limited 

 

FOR THE CPRW B&R (RULE 6 PARTY): 

Miss T Douglass, of Counsel  

She called  

Ms Michelle Bolger  CMLI DipLA BA 
PGCE BA   

Director, Michelle Bolger  Expert 
Landscape Consultancy 

Dr Christine Hugh-Jones Ecology and SAC 

Nicholas Gray Myhill Ornithology 

Sarah Bond Hydrology and Hydrogeology 

Jill Kibble BSc (Hons) MA Socio-economic 

Graham Williams Outdoor Tourism 

Penny Everett Amenity 

Margaret Tregear Commons and Planning 

 

Tudalen 503



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    84 

 

 

INTERESTED PERSONS: 

Catherine Mitchell Local resident 

Christine Wozencraft  Local resident 

Alison Williams  Local resident 

Cllr N Dodman Representing both New Radnor and Penybont 
Community Councils and Mr W Lloyd 
(neighbouring landowner) 

Michael Rolt Local resident 

Geoffrey Sinclair Environment Information Services 

Diane Hulton Local resident 

Azra Dale Local resident 

Mary Davies Local resident 

Julie Leggett Local resident 

Pip Le Teppitt Powys resident 

Leigh Harling-Bowen MSc  Local resident 

John Raymond Doré BSc CEng 

FIEE  

Powys resident 

Richard Martin BSc MIET Powys resident 

 

 

INQUIRY DOCUMENTS 

 

ID01 Cadw email dated 12.3.18 

ID02 Letter from Mr W Lloyd 

ID03 Notification of the inquiry 

ID04 Letter from WYG dated 2.3.18 (including Appendix 10.1 of ES) 

ID05 Letter from WYG dated 9.3.18  

ID06 Letter from ADAS dated 12.3.18 

ID07 Amended Fig 1 to Mr Le Quesne’s Written Statement of Evidence 

ID08 Signed Statement of Common Ground, appellant and Council (general 

matters) 

Tudalen 504



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    85 

ID09 Signed Statement of Common Ground, appellant and Council (policy 

matters) 

ID10 Mr Sinclair’s Supplementary evidence 

ID11 Summary Note relating to Impact Scoring Paper from Mr Croft 

ID12 Comparative Visual Impact Assessment Table from Mr Russell-Vick 

ID13 NRW consultation responses to planning application  

ID14 DVD showing starling murmuration and list of associated photographs 

ID15 Mr Fraser’s Opening Statement 

ID16 Mrs Townsend’s Opening Statement 

ID17 Miss Douglass’ Opening Statement 

ID18 Explanatory Paper on Update Plans for site tracks 

ID19 Llandegley Geological Landscape (omitted from  Appendix 3, Ms Bolger 

WSE) 

ID20 Figure 05A showing revised track details, Ms Bolger 

ID21 Hendy Wind Farm Appeal, Cadw Comments  

ID22 A2 version of ES Volume IV provided by Council 

ID23 Enlarged version of ES Figure 1.2.4 provided by CPRW B&R 

ID24 RIGS Statement of Interest 

ID25 Revised track drawings 

ID26 Commons Act 1876 (CPRW B&R) 

ID27 Photomontage and maps showing theoretical visibility of 2 of nearest 

SAMs (appellant) 

ID28 Aerial photographs (CPRW B&R) 

ID29 Planning Application Consultation Replies 

ID30 Campion Associates Powys Landscape Assessment 

ID31 Agreed list of suggested conditions and marked-up committee report 

ID32 OS map extract of site 

ID33 Cadw consultation response on Llyn Bran wind farm  

ID34 CPRW B&R response on hydrology, dated 20.3.18 

ID35 CPRW B&R response on commons and planning 

ID36 Ms Dale’s speaking notes 

ID37 CPRW B&R response on ecology 

Tudalen 505



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    86 

ID38 Mr Doré’s speaking notes 

ID39 Council’s response on landscape and visual impact matters 

ID40 Extract from NRW’s National Landscape Character Areas (CPRW B&R) 

ID41 Local Development Plan – Inspector’s Report and Council’s Note 

ID42 Paper by Ms Dale on heritage and tourism 

ID43 Aaron and Partners letter dated 3.11.17 

ID44 Agreed list of suggested conditions (2 versions) 

ID45 Amended Schedule 2 to s106 Agreement 

ID46 CIL Compliance Note on s106 Agreement 

ID47 Appellant’s comments on Cadw response 

ID48 Plans showing site access works with culvert locations added (dated 
20.03.2018) 

ID49 Mr Martin’s speaking notes 

ID50 Steer v Shepway DC 2018 EWHC 238 (Admin) (Council) 

ID51 CPRW B&R comments on suggested conditions 

ID52 Mr Dodman note on starling roost 

ID53 Agreed position on annual energy contribution 

ID54 List of suggested conditions following Inquiry session (including 
appellant’s note on pre-commencement condition relating to grid 

connection and common land) 

ID55 Bundle of letters in support of the scheme 

ID56 Bundle of consultation responses to planning application 

ID57 Closing Statement including Addendum, CPRW B&R  

ID58 Closing Statement including heritage issues Annex, Council,  

ID59 Closing Statement, Hendy Wind Farm Limited 

 

CORE DOCUMENTS 

Doc Ref Doc Description File  

Environmental Statement 

ES-1 Environmental Statement Non-Technical Summary 1 

Tudalen 506



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    87 

ES-2 Environmental Statement (Vol I)  1 

ES-3 Environmental Statement (Vol II – Non-LVIA Figures) A3 

ES-4 Environmental Statement (Vol III - Technical Appendices)  2 

ES-5 Environmental Statement (Vol IV – LVIA Figures) A3 

Planning Application Documents 

PP-1 Application Form 3 

PP-2 Planning Statement  3 

PP-3 Design and Access Statement   3 

PP-4 Statement of Community Involvement  3 

PP-5 Transport Assessment  3 

PP-6 Traffic Management Plan 3 

PP-7 Letter and associated documents from Cunnane to Powys 
County Council dated 24 March 2015 

3 

PP-8 General correspondence 3 

PP-9 Correspondence regarding section 106 agreement 3 

PP-10 Correspondence regarding noise 3 

PP-11 Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee 

Report dated 27th April 2017 

3 

PP-12 Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee 

Update Report and Conditions 

3 

PP-13 Planning, Taxi Licensing and Rights of Way Committee 

Second Update Report and Reasons for Conditions 

3 

PP-14 Decision Notice dated 18th May 2017 3 

Appeal Documents 

APP-1 Appeal Form 4 

APP-2 Grounds of Appeal 4 

APP-3 Appellant Statement of Case  4 

APP-4 LPA Statement of Case 4 

APP-5 Rule 6(6) Statement of Case 4 

APP-6 Statement of Common Ground – Over-arching 4 

APP-7 Statement of Common Ground – Planning Policy 4 

APP-8 Statement of Common Ground - LVIA 4 

Tudalen 507



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    88 

APP-9  Statement of Common Ground - Heritage 4 

APP-10 S106 agreement 4 

Policy 

UK 

POL-1 UK Government Policy.  NPS EN-1 (Overarching National 
Policy Statement for Energy) 

5 

POL-2 UK Government Policy.  NPS EN-3 (Renewable Energy)  5 

POL-3 UK Renewable Energy Road Map Update (2013) 5 

POL-4 Annual Energy Statement (2014) 5 

POL-5 Digest of United Kingdom Energy Statistics - September 

2015 (Table 6.7) 

5 

POL-6 UK Renewable Energy Strategy (RES) (July 2009) 5 

POL-7 Sustainable Development Commission: Wind Power in the 
UK (May 2005) 

6 

POL-8 Sustainable Development Commission: ‘One Future – 
Different Paths’ (March 2005) 

6 

POL-9 Secretary of State’s Ministerial Statement on the Annual 
Energy Statement (November 2014) 

6 

POL-10 Secretary of State Speech to Renewable UK (November 
2014) 

6 

POL-11 Secretary of State for DECC: Address to Renewable UK 
Offshore Wind Conference (24th June 2015) 

6 

POL-12 Secretary of State for DECC: Oral Statement to Parliament ( 
22nd June 2015) 

6 

POL-13 Letter from Amber Rudd (DECC SoS) dated 29 October 
2015 

6 

POL-14 Promotion of the Use of Energy from Renewable Sources 
Regulations 2011 

6 

POL-15 Study Onshore Wind: Direct and Wider Economic Impacts 
(May 2012) 

6 

POL-16 Digest of UK Energy Statistics 2017 (Chapter 6) 6 

POL-17 Business Green Article Dated 28 November 2017 6 

POL-18 Energy and Climate Change Public Tracker Wave 23 6 

Wales 

POL-19 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, November 2016) 6 

Tudalen 508



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    89 

POL-20 Welsh Government Technical Advice Note (TAN 8): 

Renewable Energy (2005) 

6 

POL-21 Statement of Leslie Griffiths dated 29 November 2017 and 

Public Statement 

6 

POL-22 Oral Statement of Lesley Griffiths, Cabinet Secretary for 

Environment and Rural Affairs, on 28 September 2017 

6 

POL-23 Minister for Natural Resources’ letter to Chief Planning 

Officers on ‘Renewable Energy Projects’ (15th March 
2016) 

6 

POL-24 Edwina Hart AM, Minister for Economy, Science and 
Transport and Carl Sargeant AM, Minister for Natural 
Resources (21 September 2015), Written Statement – 

Onshore Wind Statement 

6 

POL-25 Carl Sargeant AM press statement dated 8th September 

2015 following Conjoined Inquiry decision. 

6 

POL-26 ‘Dear Chief Planning Officer Letter’ (DCPO) (14th August 

2015) 

6 

POL-27 Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition Delivery Plan 

(March 2014) 

6 

POL-28 Welsh Assembly Government Energy Policy Statement 

(March 2010) 

6 

POL-29 Study into the Potential Impact on Wind Farms and 

Associated Grid Infrastructure on the Welsh Tourism 
Sector (February 2014) 

7 

POL-30 Database for onshore wind 2017 7 

POL-31 Natural Resources Policy, August 2017 7 

POL-32 Written Statement – An Update on the Climate Change 
provisions of the Environment Act, May 2017 

7 

POL-33 Sustainable Development and Climate Change Annual 
Report 2015, published March 2016 

7 

POL-34 Climate Change Risk Assessment for Wales, January 2012 
(Summary) 

7 

POL-35 Bryn Blaen Appeal Decision  

POL-36 Welsh Government Circular 016/2014: The Use of Planning 

Conditions for Development Management 

7 

POL-36A The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 7 

Powys County Council 

POL-37 Unitary Development Plan, Adopted 2010  7 

Tudalen 509



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    90 

POL-38 Draft Local Development Plan 7 

POL-39 Draft Local Development Plan Matters Arising Document 8A 

POL-40 Draft Renewable Energy Position Statement (May 2017) 8A 

POL-41 Aecom Renewable Energy Assessment (2016) 8A 

POL-42 Aecom Renewable Energy Assessment (2017) 8A 

POL-43 Draft  Well Being Plan 8A 

Miscellaneous 

POL-44 European Commission – Report from the Commission to the 

European Parliament, the Council, the European 
Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of 
the Regions – 1.2.2017 

8B 

POL-45 HM Government UK Low Carbon Transition Plan 2009 8B 

POL-46 DECC UK Renewable Energy Roadmap 2011 8B 

POL-47 Energy Wales: A Low Carbon Transition, March 2012 8B 

POL-48 Cabinet Secretary’s news release December 2017 8B 

POL-49 WG Energy Generations in Wales 2016 Report 8B 

POL-50 Judgment Powys County Council v The Welsh Ministers and 
RES UK Ireland Limited [2015] EWHC 3284 

8B 

POL-51 LDP Matters Arising Changes: WG’s written reps 8B 

POL-52 Welsh Government Technical Advice Note (TAN12) Design 8B 

POL-53 Decision notice – Pant y Maen Wind Farm 8B 

POL-54 Inspector’s recommendation – Pant y Maen Wind Farm 8B 

POL-55 DUKES UK Energy in Brief 2017 8B 

POL-56 UK Gov’t Clean Growth Strategy (pub Oct 2017) 8B 

POL-57  Statistical Bulletin ‘Energy generation and consumption for 

Wales, 2013’ 

8B 

POL-58 Ministerial Letter July 2011 ‘Commitment to TAN8 8B 

Heritage 

HER-1 Cadw: The Setting of Historic Assets in Wales (May 2017) 9 

HER-2 Cadw: Heritage Impact Assessment in Wales (May 2017) 9 

HER-3 Cadw: Conservation Principles for the Sustainable 
Management of the Historic Environment in Wales 
(March 2011) 

9 

Tudalen 510



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    91 

HER-4 Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment 9 

HER-5 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 9 

HER-6 Welsh Government Circular:  61/96: Planning and the 

Historic Environment: Historic Buildings and 
Conservation Areas 

9 

HER-7 Welsh Government Circular:  60/96: Planning and the 
Historic Environment: Archaeology 

9 

HER-8 Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 9 

HER-9 Historic England: The Setting of Heritage Assets (July 2015) 9 

HER-10 First Atkins Report on the Hendy Wind Farm (September 
2014) 

9 

HER-11 Second Atkins Report on the Hendy Wind Farm (January 
2017) 

9 

LVIA 

LVIA-1 Landscape Institute and the Institute of Environmental 

Management and Assessment, Guidelines for Landscape 
and Visual Assessment, Third Edition (2013) 

10 

LVIA-2 Landscape Institute, Photography and Photomontage in 
landscape and visual impact assessment (LI Advice Note 

01/11) (March 2011) 

10 

LVIA-3 Natural Resources Wales, LANDMAP Information Guidance 

Note 3 – Using LANDMAP for Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment of Onshore Wind Turbines (June 
2013) 

10 

LVIA-4 Scottish Natural heritage, Visual Representation of Wind 
Farms – Good Practice Guidance (March 2006) 

10 

LVIA-5 Scottish Natural Heritage, Siting and Designing Wind Farms 
in the Landscape (Version 3) (February 2017).  

10 

LVIA-6 Scottish Natural Heritage,  Assessing the Cumulative Impact 
of Onshore Wind Energy Developments (March 2012) 

10 

LVIA-7 Welsh Government Practice Guidance: Planning for 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy – A Toolkit for 

Planners (September 2015) 

10 

LVIA-8 First Enplan Report on the Hendy Wind Farm (February 

2016) 

10 

LVIA-9 Second Enplan Report on the Hendy Wind Farm (March 

2017) 

10 

LVIA-10 Landscape sensitivity Study for Solar Farm Development – 

Enplan May 2017 

10 

Tudalen 511



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    92 

LVIA-11 LANDMAP Guidance Notes 1: LANDMAP and Special 

Landscape Areas, NRW 2017 

10 

Tudalen 512



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    93 

ANNEX – Schedule of Recommended Conditions 

 

Preamble: terms and time limits 

In these conditions, unless the context otherwise requires: 

“AIL” means abnormal indivisible loads; 

“approved plans” means: 

 Site Location Map and Application Boundary (Revision A Sept 2014); 

 WYG Figures HENDY 100-0001 (P3) and Hendy 700-0001-0007 (P3); 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.2.2 (Drawing No. 202783-100-002A), save 

that the existing gate will not be relocated as indicated in the figure; 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.2.3 (Drawing No. 202783-100-003A); 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.2.9 (Drawing No. 202783-100-009A); 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.3 (Drawing No. HEP-WTG-02-01 A00-02); 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.4 (Drawing No. GCS0012B); 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.5; 

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.6 (Drawing No. 202783-100-007A);  

“commencement”, in relation to the authorised development, means the date on which 
the authorised development begins by the carrying out of a material operation as defined 
in section 56 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and "commence” and 

"commenced” shall be construed accordingly; 

“Construction Environmental Management Plan” means the plan as described in 

Condition 21; 

“Construction Period” means the period from work commencing on the Development 
until the date 18 months after first export; 

"dB" refers to the Decibel noise measurement unit; 

"dB(A)" refers to a Decibel noise measurement unit, with the inclusion of the A-weighting 

filter in the measurements as referred to in ETSU-R-97; 

“development” means the works that are permitted to take place as a result of this 
permission. This includes; 

(a) 7 (up to 110m tip height and maximum hub height of 69m) wind turbines (up to 
2.5 MW each) and associated infrastructure including crane hard standing areas; 

(b) 1 no. new site entrance to the east off the A44; 

Tudalen 513



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    94 

(c) construction of circa 3.3 km of new access tracks; 

(d) circa 1km of existing track to be upgraded; 

(e) construction of temporary site compound (20m x 30m) close to turbine T5; 

(f) construction of a new on-site substation (circa. 40m x 20m) which includes a 

control building (25m x 10m) south of turbine T3; 

(g)  upgrading of the byway through the applicant’s property; 

"emergency” means circumstances in which there is reasonable cause for apprehending 

imminent injury to persons, serious damage to property or danger of serious pollution to 
the environment; 

“existing tracks”  means the circa 1km of existing tracks that are to be upgraded as part 
of the development; 

“expiry of this permission” means the date 25 years from the date of the first 
export;“ETSU-R-97” means the ETSU Report number ETSU-R-97 ‘The Assessment and 
Rating of Noise from Wind Farms’ published in September 1996; 

“first export” means the date the authorised development first exports electricity to the 
Grid on a commercial basis; 

"LA90" means the decibel (dB) level exceeded for 90% of each sample period; 

“Local Planning Authority” means Powys County Council; 

“micro-siting” means the movement of the turbines, cranepads and new tracks from 

their location on the approved plans; 

“new tracks” means the circa 3.3km of new access tracks to be constructed as part of the 

development; 

“NRW” means Natural Resource Wales, a Welsh Government sponsored body and 
statutory consultee on environmental protection; regulation; and maintenance of natural 

resources; 

“other documents” means: 

 Design and Access Statement - 27th June 2014  

 Environmental Statement (Vol I) and Technical Appendices (Vol III)  

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.2.2, save that the existing gate will not be 

relocated as indicated in the figure  

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.2.3  

 Environmental Statement Figure 1.2.9 

 Environmental Statement Figures 1.3 – 1.6 

 Transport Assessment - May 2014 

Tudalen 514



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    95 

 Transport Management Plan - January 2015 

 Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening Report – February 2015 

 “Public Holiday” means a day that is, or is to be observed as a public holiday; 

“site” means land within the development boundary; and 

“wind turbines” means the wind turbines forming part of the development and "wind 
turbine” shall be construed accordingly. 

Timings & Plans 

1) The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 

2) Subject to the conditions attached to this permission and micro-siting, the 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and in 
accordance with the principles set out in the other documents.   

3) The permission hereby granted shall endure for a period of 25 years from the first 
export. Written confirmation of the first export date shall be sent to the Local Planning 
Authority within one month of the first export date. 

 

Site Decommissioning & Restoration 

4) At least 30 months prior to the expiry of this permission, details and methodologies 
for a full ecological survey to be undertaken to inform a site decommissioning and 
restoration scheme shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

5) Within the 24 months prior to decommissioning of the site, but no later than 12 
months prior to decommissioning, a full ecological survey of the site shall be 

undertaken to inform decommissioning, in accordance with the methodologies and 
timings as required by Condition 4. A survey report shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 

decommissioning and then implemented as approved. The report shall include 
ecological mitigation measures, as appropriate, based on the ecological assessment 

findings to be followed during decommissioning, and beyond. 

6) No later than 12 months before the expiry date of this permission hereby granted a 
decommissioning and site restoration scheme shall be submitted in writing to the 

Local Planning Authority for its approval in writing. The site decommissioning and 
restoration scheme shall be implemented as approved and be completed within 12 

months from the expiry date of this permission. The site decommissioning and 
restoration scheme shall include, but not be limited to: 

a) details of the removal of all the wind turbines and the surface elements of the 

development plus one metre of the wind turbine bases below ground level; 

b) details of means of the removal, including how this will avoid effects on protected 

species and habitats; 

c) timing of the removal of new tracks, structures, buildings and other associated 
infrastructure; 

d) earth moving and soil replacement; 

e) restoration of the landscape; 

Tudalen 515



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    96 

f) temporary protective fencing around landscape features to be retained on-site 
(and when the fencing is to be removed); 

g) reinstatement of any public rights of way, paths and footpaths; 

h) monitoring and remedial actions; and 

i) the management of traffic. 

 

Turbine Failure 

7) In the event of a wind turbine failing to produce electricity to the grid for a continuous 
period of 6 months or more, other than required by Conditions 38, 39, 40 and 51, a 

scheme for the repair or removal of that turbine shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for its written approval within 2 months of the end of that 6 month 

period and implemented within 6 months of approval unless a longer period is agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Micro-Siting 

8) The location of the wind turbines, crane pads, existing tracks and new tracks shall be 

as positioned on the approved plans, save that the wind turbines may be located up 
to 30 metres from the positions on the approved plans and the new tracks may be 
located up to 20 metres from the positions on the approved plans (save that the new 

tracks may be extended as necessary in the event that the micrositing of the wind 
turbines or crane pads is more than 20 metres).  These allowances are subject to the 

red line boundary within Site Location Map and Application Boundary (Revision A Sept 
2014). 

9) No development shall commence until a micro-siting protocol has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. It shall set out a protocol for 
deciding on micro siting of all development to minimise the impact on environmental 

constraints. The protocol shall be implemented as approved and include, but not be 
limited to, the following criteria: 

a) Take account of peat, blanket bog habitat, curlew, protected species, 

watercourses, public and permissive rights of way, heritage assets, bats, health 
and safety and any other identified environmental or engineering constraints. 

b) Wind turbines 2, 3 and 6, their crane pads and directly associated infrastructure 
to be micro-sited from the positions shown on the approved plans so as to be 
further away from PROW. 

 

Turbine Design 

10) No development shall take place until details of the external finish of the wind 
turbines hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approved details. 

11) The wind turbines hereby approved shall have a blade tip height of no greater than 

110 metres and hub height no greater than 69m. 

12) All wind turbine blades shall rotate in the same direction. 

Tudalen 516



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    97 

13) All electricity cables connecting the wind turbines and the substation, and other 
services within the site boundary shall be installed underground and alongside the 

new tracks and existing tracks. Any variation shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before development commences. The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

14) No development shall commence until detailed design of the layout, external 
treatment, design, materials, and orientation and screening of the on-site substation 

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
substation shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details. 

15) Save for the lighting in condition 17, no development shall commence until details of 
any permanent outdoor lighting provision have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Outdoor lighting should only be provided to 
comply with health and safety requirements. Any outdoor lighting shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved details. 

16) No symbols, signs, logos or other lettering, other than those required by law for 
health and safety reasons, shall be displayed on any part of the wind turbines nor any 

building or structures without written approval from the Local Planning Authority. 

17) All wind turbines shall be fitted with either 25 candela omni-directional red lighting or 
infrared lighting with an optimised flash pattern of 60 flashes per minute of 200ms to 

500ms duration at the highest practicable point. 

 

Construction Work  

18) No construction work (other than the delivery of abnormal loads) shall take place 
outside the hours of 07:30 and 19:30 Monday to Friday inclusive, 07:30 and 13:00 on 

Saturdays with no construction work at all on Sundays and Public Holidays. Outside 
these hours, works at the site shall be limited to emergency works, erection of wind 

turbines, dust suppression, and the testing and maintenance of plant and equipment, 
or construction work that is not audible from any noise sensitive property, unless 
otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning 

Authority shall be informed in writing of emergency works within three days of 
occurrence. 

19) Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 18, delivery of wind turbine and crane 
components may take place outside the times specified in Condition 18 subject to 
such deliveries first being approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

20) All activities associated with the construction of the development shall be carried out 
in accordance with British Standard BS5228:2009: Code of Practice for noise and 

vibration control on construction and open sites - Part 1: Noise and Part 2: Vibration. 

 

Construction Environmental Management Plan 

21) No development, including site clearance, scrub and vegetation removal and tree 
felling works, shall commence until a detailed, site specific Construction 

Environmental Management Plan covering the periods of site clearance, construction 
and the restoration of all work areas has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The Construction Environmental Management Plan 

must be implemented as approved and shall include, but not be limited to: 

a) the mitigation measures to be implemented to avoid harm to protected species 

and minimise damage to species and habitats; 

Tudalen 517



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    98 

b) the timing of construction works, including the timing of vegetation removal to 
avoid the potential for effects on reptiles, amphibians and nesting birds; 

c) the wheel washing facilities, including siting; 

d) the timing of works and methods of working for cable trenches, foundation works 

and erection of the wind turbines; 

e) the timing of works and construction of the substation / control building; 

f) the cleaning of site accesses, site tracks and the adjacent public highway and the 

sheeting of all heavy goods vehicles taking spoil or construction materials to / 
from the site to prevent spillage or deposit of any materials on the highway; 

g) a Pollution Prevention Plan containing measures to be implemented including: 

i. sediment control; 

ii. the bunding of fuel, oil and chemical storage areas; 

iii. sewage disposal;  

iv. measures for the protection of water courses and ground water and soils; 

and 

v. a programme for monitoring private water supplies, water courses and 

water bodies before and during the authorised development, including 
details of the action to be taken if monitoring indicates adverse effects on 
private water supplies, water courses or water bodies; 

h) the disposal of surplus materials; 

i) the management of construction noise and vibrations (including identification of 

access routes, locations of materials lay-down areas, details of equipment to be 
employed, operations to be carried out, mitigation measures and a scheme for the 
monitoring of noise); 

j) the handling, storage and re-use on site of site-derived soil; 

k) the handling, storage and management of any peat excavated; 

l) the location, design and construction methods of the new tracks including 
drainage provisions, and the pollution prevention measures to be implemented to 
ensure there are no polluting discharges from the new tracks and disturbed areas 

including provision to ensure that no polluting discharge from the existing tracks 
and disturbed areas enters any watercourse; 

m) the design and construction methods of the upgrade works to the existing tracks 
including drainage provisions, and the pollution prevention measures to be 
implemented to ensure there are no polluting discharges from the existing tracks 

and disturbed areas including provision to ensure that no polluting discharge from 
the existing tracks and disturbed areas enters any watercourse; 

n) Invasive Non-Native Species Control Plan; 

o) the landscaping of the access track; 

p) the nature, type and quantity of materials to be imported on site for backfilling 

operations or construction of the access track; 

q) the management of ground and surface water (including mitigation to protect 

private water supplies); 

r) the management of dust; 

Tudalen 518



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    99 

s) the proposed temporary site compound for storage of materials, machinery and 
parking within the sites clear of the highway, including the siting of the temporary 

buildings and all means of enclosure, oil/ fuel and chemical storage and any 
proposals for temporary lighting, and details of proposals for restoration of the 

sites of the temporary compound and works within 12 months of the first export 
date; 

t) the design and construction of any culverts (to include the use of open bottomed 

culverts); 

u) the restoration of all areas of the site which will be temporarily used for 

construction; 

v) details (including location and pollution prevention measures) for any concrete 

batching plants; 

w) protocols and programme for any required environmental monitoring to be made 
publicly available on an annual basis; 

x) proposed communications protocol and mechanism for investigating complaints, 
including the action to be taken where complaint investigations indicate materially 

adverse effects have occurred as a result of the construction of the authorised 
project; 

y) a protocol for ecological compliance auditing; 

z) reporting and liaison mechanisms between the contractor, Ecological Clerk of 
Works (ECoW), the local planning authority and NRW;  

aa) measures to prevent the importation or export of alien or invasive plant or animal 
species, as well as measures to prevent the spread of animal or plant diseases; 

bb) details of the mitigation measures to be adopted as set out in chapter 10 of the 

Environmental Statement and the Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening 
Report; 

cc) measures to restore the contractor’s compound and revegetation of crane hard 
standing areas and to stabilise of all verges, embankments and cuttings; 

dd) the landscape mitigation measures to be implemented including: 

i. measures to ensure the retention and re-use of site derived materials 
including the stockpiling of site derived subsoil and topsoil for reuse when 

reinstating any temporary works; 

ii. temporary protective fencing around landscape features to be retained on-
site; 

iii. the use of locally sourced aggregate for the surfacing of the access track; 

iv. seeding of all restored and reinstated areas, including the temporary 

contractor’s compound, crane hard standing areas, verges, embankments, 
cuttings and reinstated sections of the access track; and 

v. planting of any vegetation on the site. 

The Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be implemented as approved 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

22) Before any wind turbine is removed or replaced a revised Construction Environmental 
Management Plan dealing solely with that removal or replacement shall be submitted 

Tudalen 519



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    100 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and implemented as 
approved. 

Hydrology 

23) No development shall commence until a Surface Water Management Plan containing 

details of the surface water drainage system (including means of pollution control) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
plans must be implemented as approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. 

24) No development shall commence until a water quality monitoring strategy (including 

monitoring at sources of private drinking water supplies) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include: 

a) the identification of properties and private water supplies that may be affected by 
the development (either located within the site or dwellings located outside the 
site boundary but served by water supplies originating within the site boundary); 

b) the minimum acceptable water quality and parameters to be tested, in relation to 
drinking water; 

c) the measures to be taken to protect private water supplies (Wells, Springs or 
Boreholes) which must include a baseline assessment of the water quality and 
subsequent testing during the construction phase; and 

d) mitigation measures should the quality of water deteriorate. 

 

Public Rights of Way 

25) No development shall commence until an Access Management Plan (AMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The AMP shall 

be implemented as approved and include: 

a) details of how safe access by the public on public rights of way during 

construction of the authorised development will be maintained including details of 
any temporary closures of public rights of way required and the diversions that 
would be put into place; 

b) details of the provision of signage and other information alerting the public to 
construction works; 

c) details of how construction traffic and construction workers are informed and 
trained about public rights of way and their use by members of the public; 

d) details of any fencing or barriers to be provided during the construction period; 

e) details of the new permissive route from the footpath south of the substation to 
the BOAT which is to be designated as a permissive right of way for the life of the 

scheme; 

f) details of improvements to Public Rights of Way within the site; 

g) details of how the AMP shall not conflict with the ecological provisions contained in 

these conditions; 

h) details of maintenance and any required restoration work to all Public Rights of 

Way (including repairs to any damage caused at the construction stage) to an 
acceptable standard; 

i) provision of suitable interpretation boards; and 

Tudalen 520



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    101 

j) details of a promotional day to be held on site after first export and all Public 
Rights of Way improvements on site have been completed. 

 

Highways & Traffic Movements 

 

26) Prior to the commencement of any construction works on site, a scheme to provide 
for the remediation of any incidental damage or deterioration directly attributable to 

the development on the A44, within 100 metres of the proposed site accesses (and to 
include the unclassified roads leading from the A44 to the site) shall be prepared in 

consultation with Powys County Council as the local highway authority and submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall 

include: 

a) The undertaking of a condition survey of the proposed highway to be used as AIL 
and construction delivery routes prior to the commencement of development; 

b) The undertaking of further condition survey work after the first export; and 

c) Provision of details and timescale for works to remediate damage or deterioration 

to all parts of the highway including street furniture, structures, highway verge 
and carriageway and footway surfaces. 

The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

27) No development shall take place until detailed engineering drawings of all highway 
works on the A483 (T), A44 and U1574 have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details submitted shall also include: 

a) drainage details; 

b) road markings and signage proposals; 

c) a programme for the implementation of the works; 

d) details of visibility splays that shall be kept free of obstruction exceeding 0.26 

metres above the carriageway level; and 

e) the submission of Road Safety Audits prior to the works being undertaken and 
upon completion of the highway works. 

The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

28) AILs associated with the development shall be delivered strictly in accordance with an 

AIL Traffic Management Plan (AILTMP) which has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. In this respect, the AILTMP shall be prepared 
in consultation with the Welsh Government as Welsh trunk road highway authority 

and Powys County Council as the local highway authority prior to the commencement 
of any works. AIL’s shall be delivered along the routes specified in Sections 1,2,4 and 

5 of the Strategic Traffic Management Plan for Mid-Wales Wind Farms dated August 
2012 unless the Newtown Bypass is completed and operational. The AILTMP shall 
include: 

a) proposals for transporting AILs from their point of entry to the Welsh trunk road 
network to the site that minimise any impact on the safety and free flow of trunk 

road traffic; 

b) management and maintenance of layover areas, junctions, passing places, public 
rights of way and welfare facilities while AIL deliveries take place; 

Tudalen 521



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    102 

c) details of temporary signage; 

d) details of any alterations to any works that are carried out to enable AIL 

movements; 

e) evidence of trial runs that mimic the movement of the worst case AILs along the 

access route; 

f) number and size of AILs, including loaded dimensions and weights; 

g) number and composition of AIL convoys, including anticipated escort 

arrangements; 

h) methodology for managing trunk road traffic during AIL deliveries, including 

identification of passing places and holding areas as necessary; 

i) convoy contingency plans in the event of incidents or emergencies; 

j) estimated convoy journey durations and timings along the route, including release 
of forecast traffic queues; 

k) swept path analysis modelling the movement of the worst case AILs at all 

potential horizontal and vertical constraints along the access route; 

l) proposals for the temporary or permanent modifications required to the highway 

or its associated infrastructure along the access route and details of how this 
would be managed; 

m) plans for the reinstatement of any temporary works after completion of the 

construction phase; 

n) a review mechanism in light of the construction of the Newtown Bypass; 

o) land ownership must be clarified on all drawings showing proposed highway 
modifications. The developer shall be responsible for the acquisition and 
reinstatement of all third party land including re-instatement of boundary 

features;  

p) proposals to liaise with all relevant stakeholders (including the relevant highway 

and planning authorities, Police, members of the public and local communities, 
hauliers, developers and landowners) prior to the submission of notifications for 
AIL deliveries and applications for special orders for AIL deliveries; 

q) consideration of the cumulative impact of other wind farm schemes proposing to 
use all of part of the same access route and coordination with those schemes 

where possible; 

r) the appointment and role of a transport coordinator to administer the abnormal 
indivisible load delivery strategy; 

s) means of control of timing of delivery of AIL movements; 

t) temporary traffic diversions and traffic hold points; 

u) restrictions of AIL movements during the Royal Welsh Show;  

v) details of banksmen and escorts for abnormal loads; 

w) full details of any highway works associated with the construction of layover 

areas, passing places and highway improvements including: 

i. the detailed design of any works; 

ii. geometric layout; 

Tudalen 522



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    103 

iii. construction methods; 

iv. drainage; and 

v. street lighting. 

29) No construction works shall take place on site until a Construction Traffic Management 

Plan (CTMP) for non-abnormal indivisible load vehicles has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Construction Traffic 
Management Plan shall thereafter be complied with and shall include the following: 

a) construction vehicle routing, including specific measures to ensure that 
construction traffic uses the proposed route; 

b) means of monitoring vehicle movements to and from the site including the use of 
vehicles displaying a unique vehicle number, a livery indicating use at the 

development site and a telephone number for complaints to be logged; 

c) the complaint’s procedure; 

d) timing of vehicle deliveries to the site; 

e) the management of junctions and crossings of highways and other public rights of 
way; 

f) contractual arrangements for the control of construction traffic offsite and to 
ensure that complaints and breaches of the TMP requirements are able to be 
remedied; 

g) a travel plan aimed at maximising the use of sustainable travel by the 
construction workforce associated with the development; 

h) communications with members of the public and local communities; and 

i) a review mechanism in light of the Newtown Bypass. 

 

30) No development works shall be undertaken until the developer demonstrates rights of 
access to all proposed works that are not part of the highway network to the 

satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

31) Full details of the highway works associated with any approved access onto the A44 
including the detailed design, geometric layout, construction and drainage, shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior the 
commencement of any works on the site. 

32) No development shall commence until full construction details have been prepared for 
the sections of the U1574 that may be subject to alteration. These details shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

33) Adequate provision shall be made within the development to enable vehicles to turn 
around, so they may enter and leave the site in a forward gear. 

34) No drainage from the site shall be connected to or allowed to discharge into the A44 
drainage system or onto its carriageway. 

35) Wheel-washing facilities, to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

shall be provided at the site exit before any other development commences. Such 
facilities shall thereafter remain available during the construction period and be used 

by all vehicles exiting the site. 

Tudalen 523



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    104 

36) AILs associated with the maintenance, repair, replacement or decommissioning of the 
development shall leave the site strictly in accordance with a Traffic Management Plan 

prepared in consultation with the relevant highway authority. The Traffic Management 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning Authority prior to 

commencement of any removal of wind turbines, replacement of wind turbines or 
decommissioning works. 

 

Ecology 

37) No development shall commence, including vegetation clearance and tree felling, until 

a suitably qualified Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) has been employed. The ECoW 
shall be appointed prior to the commencement of any tree felling, site/vegetation 

clearance works or development. The scope of the ECoW shall include, but not be 
limited to: 

a) monitoring compliance with and reporting on the success or failure of the 

approved mitigation works and in the event of failures advising on remedial 
mitigation measures; 

b) advising the developer on the implementation of the approved mitigation 
proposals and the protection of important nature conservation interests on the 
site; 

c) directing and consulting on the micro-siting and placement of wind turbines, roads 
and other infrastructure; 

d) monitoring and reporting on the compliance with the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan and other associated environmental plans; and 

e) attending liaison meetings with and reporting compliance with conditions and 

plans and mitigation measures to the Local Planning Authority and other parties 
as necessary. 

38) No development shall commence until a Protected Species Protection Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Protected 
Species Protection Plan shall include: 

a) All mitigation measures outlined in the Environmental Statement to ensure that 
the development has no detrimental effect on the maintenance of the favourable 

conservation status of protected species. 

b) A detailed pre-commencement survey programme including specification for pre-
commencement surveys to be undertaken for bats, otter, curlew, starlings and 

their raptors, water vole, badger, great crested newt reptiles and include: 

i. survey methodology; 

ii. schedule and timing; and 

iii. the development of casualty risk models for bats. 

c) Details of specifications for mitigation or reasonable avoidance measures including 

in relation to bats, great crested newts, otters, reptiles, breeding birds, starlings 
and their raptors, water vole, pillwort and badgers to ensure their protection 

throughout the pre-construction, construction and operational phases of the 
development. 

The Protected Species Protection Plan must be implemented as approved unless 

otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Tudalen 524



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    105 

39) No development shall commence until a Bat Protection Plan has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The bat protection plan must 

be implemented as approved and include details of: 

a) any necessary mitigation measures to ensure the protection of the species during 

site clearance works and construction of the development; 

b) a monitoring procedure to record bat activity and weather conditions; 

c) a monitoring procedure to record bat mortality at wind turbines; 

d) a requirement for the annual reporting of the results of monitoring, and where 
necessary details of any remedial action to reduce bat mortality; 

e) a procedure for agreeing and implementing remedial measures aimed at reducing 
or avoiding bat mortality, such measures must include wind turbine curtailment 

and/or land management changes; and 

f) an agreed timeframe for monitoring, sufficient to determine the impact of the 
operation of the authorised development on bats and the efficacy of any remedial 

measures to be implemented. 

40) No development shall commence until a Habitat Management and Enhancement Plan 

(HMEP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Habitat Management and Enhancement Plan shall include: 

a) the nature conservation management and enhancement objectives including the 

management, restoration or creation of priority habitats and/or species, and a 
timetable for its implementation; 

b) confirmation of the deliverability of the identified measures; and 

c) all mitigation measures outlined in the Environmental Statement. 

The Habitat Management and Enhancement Plan must be implemented as approved 

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

41) No development shall commence until an Ecological Monitoring Plan (EMP) has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The EMP will 
need to include details of monitoring of Ecological features through construction, 
operation and decommissioning of the development, the monitoring will also need to 

be linked to appropriate contingency plans and identify when results would trigger 
implementation of relevant contingency measures identified in the CEMP. The EMP 

shall also include the monitoring arrangements for the Habitat Management Plan 
(HMP) and Protected Species Protection Plan (PSPP). 

 

Archaeology 

42) No development shall take place until a Written Scheme of Investigation has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The 
Written Scheme of Investigation shall include: 

a) an assessment of significance of the known  heritage assets in the locality and an 

assessment of the potential of the development site to contain currently unknown 
archaeological remains; 

b) a programme and methodology  for site investigation and recording which may 
include geophysical survey, trenching, archaeological excavation and/or watching 
brief  as appropriate;  

Tudalen 525



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    106 

c) the programme for post investigation assessment 

d) provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording;  

e) provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records 
of the site investigation;  

f) provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 
investigation; and 

g) nomination of a professionally qualified archaeologist. 

The Written Scheme of Investigation must be implemented as approved unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

43) No development shall take place until a scheme of works in relation to the historic 
environment has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

scheme of works shall include: 

a) sample trenching of the Nant Brook Enclosure (Scheduled Ancient Monument 
No.RD147); 

b) details of a sign board to be erected to explain the archaeological/cultural 
context and significance of the Nant Brook Enclosure to visitors; 

c) an aerial Lidar survey, transcription and interpretative study of Llandegley Rhos 
and adjacent area, including: Nant Brook Enclosure (Scheduled Ancient 
Monument No.RD147), Llandegley Rocks Hillfort (Scheduled Ancient Monument 

No. RD264), Graig Camp (Scheduled Ancient Monument No. RD112) and Crug 
Eryr Mound and Bailey Castle (Scheduled Ancient Monument No. RD003); and 

d)  a timetable for the completion of the approved scheme of works. 

44) No development or site clearance shall commence until the Local Planning Authority 
has been informed in writing of the name of a professionally qualified archaeologist 

who is to be responsible for ensuring the Written Scheme of investigation approved 
under condition 42 is carried out in a full and proper manner. He/she is to be present 

during the undertaking of any excavations in the development area so that the 
watching brief can be conducted. No work shall commence until the Local Planning 
Authority has confirmed in writing that the proposed archaeologist is suitable. 

45) The developer shall afford access at all reasonable times to any archaeologist 
nominated by the Local Planning Authority, and shall allow him/her to observe the 

excavations and record items of interest and finds. 

 

Television interference 

46) Prior to the erection of any wind turbine a scheme providing for a baseline survey and 
the investigation and alleviation of any interference to television reception caused by 

the operation of the wind turbines shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall provide for the investigation by a 
qualified independent television engineer within 3 weeks of any complaint of 

interference with television reception, where such complaint is notified to the 
developer by the Local Planning Authority. Where impairment is determined by the 

qualified television engineer to be attributable to the development, mitigation works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the scheme which has been approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Tudalen 526



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    107 

Aviation / Defence 

47) Prior to the erection of any turbine, the developer shall provide written confirmation 

to the Local Planning Authority that the following information has been provided to 
the Defence Geographic Centre of the Ministry of Defence: 

a) the date construction starts and is likely to end; 

b) the maximum height of construction equipment; and 

c) the latitude and longitude of every wind turbine. 

 

Community Liaison 

48) No development shall commence until a community liaison scheme for the 
construction and decommissioning period has been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The community liaison scheme shall be 
implemented as approved and include: 

a) details of developer liaison with the local community to ensure residents are 

informed of how the construction or decommissioning of the development is 
progressing;  

b) a mechanism for dealing with complaints from the local community during the 
construction or decommissioning of the development; and 

c) a nominated representative of the developer who will have the lead role in liaising 

with local residents and the relevant planning authority. 

 

Common Land  

49) No development shall commence until commons consent, as required, has been 
granted.  

 

Grid Connection 

50) No development shall commence until planning permission, as required, has been 
granted for all stages of the grid connection from the substation to the National Grid.  

 

Noise 

51) The rating level of noise emissions from the combined effects of the wind turbines 

(including the application of any tonal penalty) when determined in accordance with 
the attached Guidance Notes (to this condition), shall not exceed the values for the 
relevant integer wind speed set out in, or derived from, the tables attached to these 

conditions at any dwelling which is lawfully existing or has planning permission at the 
date of this permission and: 

 
(a) The wind farm operator shall continuously log power production, wind speed and 

wind direction, all in accordance with Guidance Note 1(d). This data shall be 

retained for a period of not less than 24 months. The wind farm operator shall 

provide this information in the format set out in Guidance Note 1(e) to the local 

Tudalen 527



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    108 

planning authority on its request, within 14 days of receipt in writing of such a 

request; 

(b) No electricity shall be exported until the wind farm operator has submitted to the 

local planning authority for written approval a list of proposed independent 

consultants who may undertake compliance measurements in accordance with 

this condition. Amendments to the list of approved consultants shall be made 

only with the prior written approval of the local planning authority; 

(c) Within 21 days from receipt of a written request from the local planning 

authority following a complaint to it from an occupant of a dwelling alleging noise 

disturbance at that dwelling, the wind farm operator shall, at its expense, 

employ a consultant approved by the local planning authority to assess the level 

of noise emissions from the wind farm at the complainant’s property in 

accordance with the procedures described in the attached Guidance Notes. The 

written request from the local planning authority shall set out at least the date, 

time and location that the complaint relates to and any identified atmospheric 

conditions, including wind direction, and include a statement as to whether, in 

the opinion of the local planning authority, the noise giving rise to the complaint 

contains or is likely to contain a tonal component; 

(d) The assessment of the rating level of noise emissions shall be undertaken in 

accordance with an assessment protocol that shall previously, have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by local planning authority. The protocol 

shall include the proposed measurement location identified in accordance with 

the Guidance Notes where measurements for compliance checking purposes shall 

be undertaken, whether noise giving rise to the complaint contains or is likely to 

contain a tonal component, and also the range of meteorological and operational 

conditions (which shall include the range of wind speeds, wind directions, power 

generation and times of day) to determine the assessment of rating level of 

noise emissions. The proposed range of conditions shall be those which prevailed 

during times when the complainant alleges there was disturbance due to noise, 

having regard to the written request of the local planning authority under 

paragraph (c), and such others as the independent consultant considers likely to 

result in a breach of the noise limits; 

Tudalen 528



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    109 

(e) Where a dwelling to which a complaint is related is not listed in the tables 

attached to these conditions, the wind farm operator shall submit to the local 

planning authority for written approval proposed noise limits selected from those 

listed in the tables to be adopted at the complainant’s dwelling for compliance 

checking purposes. The proposed noise limits are to be those limits selected 

from the Tables specified for a listed location which the independent consultant 

considers as being likely to experience the most similar background noise 

environment to that experienced at the complainant’s dwelling. The rating level 

of noise emissions resulting from the combined effects of the wind turbines when 

determined in accordance with the attached Guidance Notes shall not exceed the 

noise limits approved in writing by the local planning authority for the 

complainant’s dwelling. 

(f) The wind farm operator shall provide to the local planning authority the 

independent consultant’s assessment of the rating level of noise emissions 

undertaken in accordance with the Guidance Notes within 2 months of the date 

of the written request of the Local Planning Authority for compliance 

measurements to be made under paragraph (c), unless the time limit is 

extended in writing by the local planning authority. The assessment shall include 

all data collected for the purposes of undertaking the compliance measurements, 

such data to be provided in the format set out in Guidance Note 1(e) of the 

Guidance Notes. The instrumentation used to undertake the measurements shall 

be calibrated in accordance with Guidance Note 1(a) and certificates of 

calibration shall be submitted to the local planning authority with the 

independent consultant’s assessment of the rating level of noise emissions; 

(g) Where a further assessment of the rating level of noise emissions from the wind 

farm is required pursuant to Guidance Note 4(c), the wind farm operator shall 

submit a copy of the further assessment within 21 days of submission of the 

independent consultant’s assessment pursuant to paragraph (d) above unless 

the time limit has been extended in writing by the local planning authority. 

  

Tudalen 529



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    110 

Table 1 - Noise limits expressed in dB LA90,10 minute to be applied at all times of Day or 

Night 

   Easting Northing Standardised Wind Speed m/s 

       5 6 7 8 9 10 

Bwlch-Y-Cefn 312088 261106 36 38.4 40 40 40 40 

Pye Corner  314385 260363 36 37.6 39.9 40 40 40 

Nursery Cottage 311435 260061 36 36 36.9 40 40 40 

Sunny Bank  311584 260601 36 36 36.9 40 40 40 

Graig (South) 312730 258692 36 36 37.4 39.5 40 40 

Blaen Edw  314571 259481 36 37.6 39.9 40 40 40 

Penffynon  311423 260780 36 36 36.9 40 40 40 

Bwlch Llwyn  311382 259545 36 36 36.9 40 40 40 

Graig (North) 312577 261773 36 38.4 40 40 40 40 

Hendy Farm  312380 258778 45 45 45 45 45 45 

The Green  312450 258563 36 36 37.4 39.5 40 40 

Gelynen  312328 258485 36 36 37.4 39.5 40 40 

Bwlchau  311753 258555 36 36 37.4 39.5 40 40 

Cornhill  314704 260670 36 37.6 39.9 40 40 40 

Pen y Bank  311467 260526 36 36 36.9 40 40 40 

  

Tudalen 530



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    111 

Guidance Notes for Noise Condition 51 

These notes are to be read with and form part of the noise condition. They further explain 

the condition and specify the methods to be employed in the assessment of complaints 

about noise emissions from the wind farm. The rating level at each integer wind speed is 

the arithmetic sum of the wind farm noise level as determined from the best-fit curve 

described in Guidance Note 2 of these Guidance Notes and any tonal penalty applied in 

accordance with Guidance Note 3. Reference to ETSU-R-97 refers to the publication 

entitled "The Assessment and Rating of Noise from Wind Farms” (1997) published by the 

Energy Technology Support Unit (ETSU) for the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI). 

Guidance Note 1 

(a) Values of the La90,10 minute noise statistic should be measured at the 

complainant’s property, using a sound level meter of EN 60651/BS EN 60804 Type 1, or BS 

EN 61672 Class 1 quality (or the equivalent UK adopted standard in force at the time of 

the measurements) set to measure using the fast time weighted response as specified in 

BS EN 60651/BS EN 60804 or BS EN 61672-1 (or the equivalent UK adopted standard in 

force at the time of the measurements). This should be calibrated in accordance with the 

procedure specified in BS 4142: 1997 (or the equivalent UK adopted standard in force at 

the time of the measurements). Measurements shall be undertaken in such a manner to 

enable a tonal penalty to be applied in accordance with Guidance Note 3. 

(b) The microphone should be mounted at 1.2 - 1.5 metres above ground level, fitted 

with a two-layer windshield or suitable equivalent approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, and placed outside the complainant’s dwelling. Measurements should be made in 

"free field” conditions. To achieve this, the microphone should be placed at least 3.5 

metres away from the building facade or any reflecting surface except the ground at the 

approved measurement location. In the event that the consent of the complainant for 

access to his or her property to undertake compliance measurements is withheld, the wind 

farm operator shall submit for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority details 

of the proposed alternative representative measurement location prior to the 

commencement of measurements and the measurements shall be undertaken at the 

approved alternative representative measurement location. 

(c) The La90,10 minute measurements should be synchronised with measurements of 

the 10- minute arithmetic mean wind and operational data logged in accordance with 

Tudalen 531



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    112 

Guidance Note 1(d), including the power generation data from the turbine control systems 

of the wind farm. 

(d) To enable compliance with the conditions to be evaluated, the wind farm operator 

shall continuously log arithmetic mean wind speed in metres per second and wind direction 

in degrees from north at hub height for each turbine and arithmetic mean power generated 

by each turbine, all in successive 10-minute periods. Unless an alternative procedure is 

previously agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, this hub height wind speed, 

averaged across all operating wind turbines, shall be used as the basis for the analysis. 

All 10 minute arithmetic average mean wind speed data measured at hub height shall be 

‘standardised’ to a reference height of 10 metres as described in ETSU-R-97 at page 120 

using a reference roughness length of 0.05 metres . It is this standardised 10 metre height 

wind speed data, which is correlated with the noise measurements determined as valid in 

accordance with Guidance Note 2, such correlation to be undertaken in the manner 

described in Guidance Note 2. All 10-minute periods shall commence on the hour and in 

10- minute increments thereafter. 

(e) Data provided to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the noise condition 

shall be provided in comma separated values in electronic format. 

(f) A data logging rain gauge shall be installed in the course of the assessment of the 

levels of noise emissions. The gauge shall record over successive 10-minute periods 

synchronised with the periods of data recorded in accordance with Note 1(d). 

Guidance Note 2 

(a) The noise measurements shall be made so as to provide not less than 20 valid data 

points as defined in Guidance Note 2 (b) 

(b) Valid data points are those measured in the conditions specified in the agreed 

written protocol under paragraph (d) of the noise condition, but excluding any periods of 

rainfall measured in the vicinity of the sound level meter. Rainfall shall be assessed by use 

of a rain gauge that shall log the occurrence of rainfall in each 10 minute period concurrent 

with the measurement periods set out in Guidance Note 1. In specifying such conditions 

the Local Planning Authority shall have regard to those conditions which prevailed during 

times when the complainant alleges there was disturbance due to noise or which are 

considered likely to result in a breach of the limits. 

Tudalen 532



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    113 

(c) For those data points considered valid in accordance with Guidance Note 2(b), 

values of the LA90,10 minute noise measurements and corresponding values of the 10- 

minute wind speed, as derived from the standardised ten metre height wind speed 

averaged across all operating wind turbines using the procedure specified in Guidance Note 

1(d), shall be plotted on an XY chart with noise level on the Y-axis and the standardised 

mean wind speed on the X-axis. A least squares, "best fit” curve of an order deemed 

appropriate by the independent consultant (but which may not be higher than a fourth 

order) should be fitted to the data points and define the wind farm noise level at each 

integer speed. 

Guidance Note 3 

(a) Where, in accordance with the approved assessment protocol under paragraph (d) of 

the noise condition, noise emissions at the location or locations where compliance 

measurements are being undertaken contain or are likely to contain a tonal component, a 

tonal penalty is to be calculated and applied using the following rating procedure. 

(b) For each 10 minute interval for which LA90,10 minute data have been determined as 

valid in accordance with Guidance Note 2 a tonal assessment shall be performed on noise 

emissions during 2 minutes of each 10 minute period. The 2 minute periods should be 

spaced at 10 minute intervals provided that uninterrupted uncorrupted data are available 

("the standard procedure”). Where uncorrupted data are not available, the first available 

uninterrupted clean 2 minute period out of the affected overall 10 minute period shall be 

selected. Any such deviations from the standard procedure, as described in Section 2.1 on 

pages 104-109 of ETSU-R-97, shall be reported. 

(c) For each of the 2 minute samples the tone level above or below audibility shall be 

calculated by comparison with the audibility criterion given in Section 2.1 on pages 104109 

of ETSU-R-97. 

(d) The tone level above audibility shall be plotted against wind speed for each of the 2 

minute samples. Samples for which the tones were below the audibility criterion or no tone 

was identified, a value of zero audibility shall be used. 

(e) A least squares "best fit” linear regression line shall then be performed to establish 

the average tone level above audibility for each integer wind speed derived from the value 

of the "best fit” line at each integer wind speed. If there is no apparent trend with wind 

Tudalen 533



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    114 

speed then a simple arithmetic mean shall be used. This process shall be repeated for each 

integer wind speed for which there is an assessment of overall levels in Guidance Note 2. 

(f) The tonal penalty is derived from the margin above audibility of the tone according 

to the figure below. 

  

Guidance Note 4 

(a) If a tonal penalty is to be applied in accordance with Guidance Note 3 the rating 

level of the turbine noise at each wind speed is the arithmetic sum of the measured noise 

level as determined from the best fit curve described in Guidance Note 2 and the penalty 

for tonal noise as derived in accordance with Guidance Note 3 at each integer wind speed 

within the range specified by the Local Planning Authority in its written protocol under 

paragraph (d) of the noise condition. 

(b) If no tonal penalty is to be applied then the rating level of the turbine noise at each 

wind speed is equal to the measured noise level as determined from the best fit curve 

described in Guidance Note 2. 

(c) In the event that the rating level is above the limit(s) set out in the Tables attached 

to the noise conditions or the noise limits for a complainant’s dwelling approved in 

accordance with paragraph (e) of the noise condition, the independent consultant shall 

undertake a further assessment of the rating level to correct for background noise so that 

the rating level relates to wind turbine noise immission only. 

Tudalen 534



Report APP/T6850/A/17/3176128   

 

 

    115 

(d) The wind farm operator shall ensure that all the wind turbines in the development 

are turned off for such period as the independent consultant requires to undertake the 

further assessment. The further assessment shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

following steps: 

(e) Repeating the steps in Guidance Note 2, with the wind farm switched off, and 

determining the background noise (L3) at each integer wind speed within the range 

requested by the Local Planning Authority in its written request under paragraph (c) and 

the approved protocol under paragraph (d) of the noise condition. 

(f) The wind farm noise (L1) at this speed shall then be calculated as follows where L2 

is the measured level with turbines running but without the addition of any tonal penalty: 

 

(g) The rating level shall be re-calculated by adding arithmetically the tonal penalty (if 

any is applied in accordance with Note 3) to the derived wind farm noise L1 at that integer 

wind speed. 

(h) If the rating level after adjustment for background noise contribution and 

adjustment for tonal penalty (if required in accordance with note 3 above) at any integer 

wind speed lies at or below the values set out in the Tables attached to the conditions or at 

or below the noise limits approved by the Local Planning Authority for a complainant’s 

dwelling in accordance with paragraph (e) of the noise condition then no further action is 

necessary. If the rating level at any integer wind speed exceeds the values set out in the 

Tables attached to the conditions or the noise limits approved by the Local Planning 

Authority for a complainant’s dwelling in accordance with paragraph (e) of the noise 

condition then the development fails to comply with the conditions. 

 

Tudalen 535



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 5

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL

PLANNING, RIGHTS OF WAY AND TAXI LICENSING COMMITTEE

REPORT AUTHOR: Senior Licensing Officer 

SUBJECT: Taxi Licensing Fees

DATE:                                 6 December 2018
___________________________________________________________________

REPORT FOR: Decision

1.0 Summary

1.1The Committee is requested to consider the approval of revised fees for the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Licensing regime notably operator, vehicle, driver licences and tests to 
commence from April 2019. 

1.2  During the period of 1st April 2017 - 31st March 2018 the following number of tests were carried 
out and licence applications granted:

Driver Competency/Knowledge Tests 86
New Drivers 71
Renewal Drivers 0*
New Private Hire Operators 5
Renewal Private hire operators 0*
Private Hire Vehicles 297
Hackney Carriages 207

     *In line with statutory requirements the issuing of 3 year driver licences commenced in 
October 2015 so it is only from October 2018 that we started getting driver renewals. Similarly, 
the issuing of 5 year operator licences commenced in October 2015, until these come for 
renewal in October 2020. 

The total number of current licences in place on 01/10/2018 are set out below, these are all up 
on 2017 (2017 figures in brackets)

Drivers 587 (523)
Private Hire Operators 77 (72)
Private Hire Vehicles 283 (263)
Hackney Carriage 
Vehicles

178 (164)

Tudalen 537

10



Page 2 of 5

2.0 Proposal
  

2.1 The setting of fees is governed by The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
(Section 70), it allows for the recovery of costs in connection with administering, controlling 
and supervising the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing regime.

2.2 These fees have been calculated using a toolkit devised by the All Wales Licensing Expert 
Panel, as in previous years the toolkit has been utilised with assistance from our finance 
team. 

2.3 The fee toolkit calculates the cost of several different elements of the service that figure into 
the final total fee, these are:

 the cost of materials such as making the plate and/or badge, 
 the cost of processing an individual licence i.e. the actual officer time from the issuing of a 

licence renewal letter through to the issuing of the licence
 the cost of sub-committee hearings to consider individual licences/applications
 the cost of administering the taxi regime locally including training, meetings, queries, 

complaints, compliance checks etc. and this element of the fee will fluctuate downwards or 
upwards depending on how many licence holders we have; the more licence holders we 
have and the cost of this element is spread across a greater number of licence holders. 

Current Fee Proposed Fee

Vehicles (1 year)
Hackney Carriage 
Private Hire  

£133 £138

Driver Licence (3 year) £244 £247.50 excludes DBS and DVLA fee
Driver Licence (1 year – on 
request)

£140 £148. Excludes DBS and DVLA fee

Private Hire Operators (5 years) £400 £398 excludes DBS fee
Knowledge/Competency Test £36.50 £38

2.4    For reference only it is useful to see fees currently charged by some of our neighbouring 
authorities. Where both renewal and new licence fees are published the renewal fee has 
been used.  It must be remembered that it is difficult to make direct comparisons as fees 
calculated using the toolkit will be specific to local staffing and on-costs, they also factor in 
the number of licences that are administered by the authority, both these can vary a great 
deal between authorities. The greatest variation that can be noted is that in vehicle fees and 
this is because many authorities require in-house testing of vehicles at council garages, this 
adds significant extra cost to the processing of a licence that is then recovered through the 
fee sometimes directly or as an additional cost, hence the often much higher vehicle licence 
fees charged by other authorities.

 Fees all in £’s Driver 
3 year

Driver
 1 year

Test Operator Private Hire 
Vehicle

Hackney 
Carriage

Blaenau Gwent 270 Not offered 515 218 218

Tudalen 538



Page 3 of 5

Carmarthenshi
re

137 75 19 631 147 142 

Ceredigion 304 157 375 157 162

Denbighshire  270 250 35 420 200 200
Herefordshire 201 Not offered 118 - 212 309 309
Merthyr Tydfil 230 Not offered 115 154 154
Monmouth 159 Not offered 60 754 165 159
Neath Port 
Talbot

187 75 30 650 250 250 

Rhondda 
Cynon Taff

132 30 448 264 264

Shropshire 202 Not offered 53 254 156 142

Torfaen 250 150 970 200 200 

Wrexham 215 Not offered 500 199 174.50

2.5 Members are invited to approve the revised fees. 

2.6 Should members approve the revised table of fees then The Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Section 70 requires them to be advertised in the local 
press giving at least 28 days for objections.

2.7 Should there be any objections then these will need to be considered and reported back to 
this committee along with any revisions considered appropriate

2.8 If no objections are made then these fees will come into effect on 1st April 2019

3.0 Options Considered/Available

3.1 Fees need to be reviewed periodically to ensure that full cost recovery is achieved, staffing 
costs, on costs and the cost of materials increase on an annual basis, if fees are not 
reviewed then the fees may not achieve full cost recovery. The All Wales tool kit was devised 
to enable us to establish a fee in a consistent manner to our Welsh counterparts, and also to 
ensure that they are transparent and able to withstand challenge.  The fees proposed have 
been set using this toolkit in consultation with our finance team and are therefore 
recommended for approval.

4.0 Preferred Choice and Reasons

4.1 Consideration of the revised fees is required to ensure the Authority is in compliance with 
legal requirements.

5.0   Impact Assessment

5.1      Is an impact assessment required? No 

6.0    Corporate Improvement Plan 

Tudalen 539



Page 4 of 5

6.1 Licensing contributes to various aspects of the ‘Vision 2025’ document - ‘Change for Powys 
– delivering an open, pro-active and engaging council for 2025’. This proposal supports the 
priority areas of developing a vibrant economy whilst  supporting and protecting our 
residents and communities .

7.0    Local Member(s)

7.1   This report has no particular significance on one or some electoral divisions.

8.0     Other Front Line Services

8.1     Does the recommendation impact on other services run by the Council or on behalf of the 
Council? No

9.0    Communications

9.1    Once approved by committee the policy will be consulted on. 

10.0 Support Services (Legal, Finance, Corporate Property, HR, ICT, Business Services)

10.1    The Principal Solicitor Public Protection 

10.2    The Finance Manager Environment and Resources notes the contents of the report, 
finance have been fully involved in the calculation of the fees. The licensing regulations 
require full cost recovery from the fees charged. If income is greater than costs the 
requirement is to carry over the profit and reduce the cost of the licenses in the following 
year and vice versa if costs out way income, the fee would be increased in the following 
year to cover the additional cost incurred. 

11.0   Scrutiny

11.1   This report has not been scrutinised.

12.0 Statutory Officers 

12.1   The Head of Financial Services (Deputy S151 Officer) 

Comments to follow…

12.2 The Solicitor to the Council (Monitoring Officer) 

Comments to follow….

13.0 Members’ Interests

Tudalen 540



Page 5 of 5

13.0   The Monitoring Officer is not aware of any specific interests that may arise in relation to this 
report. If Members have an interest they should declare it at the start of the meeting and 
complete the relevant notification form. 

Recommendation: Reason for Recommendation:
That the revised Taxi Licensing fees 
be approved for consultation,  and if 
following consultation no objections 
are received then they will come into 
effect on 1st April 2019

To enable a new compliant fee to be 
set for licences issued under The 
Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976

Relevant Policy (ies):
Within Policy: Y Within Budget: Y 

Relevant Local Member(s): N/A
Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr James Evans

Person(s) To Implement Decision: Senior Licensing Officer
Date By When Decision To Be Implemented: To come into effect 01/04/2019

Contact Officer Name: Tel: Email:
Sue Jones 01597 827389 Susan.jones@powys.gov.uk

Background Papers used to prepare Report:

All Wales Licensing Expert Panel Fees Toolkit

Tudalen 541



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL

PLANNING, RIGHTS OF WAY AND TAXI COMMITTEE

6th December 2018

REPORT AUTHOR: Senior Licensing Officer

SUBJECT:             Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing – 
Revised Policy/Guidance in Determining 
Applications/Licence Holders

REPORT FOR: Decision

1. SUMMARY

1.1 Members of this committee regularly sit on Licence Review Panels or sub-
committee meetings to consider applications or licence holders in the Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire trade. It is sometimes the applicant’s criminal 
convictions that is being considered, however increasing often other matters 
such as allegations, charges, complaints, licence holders’ compliance record 
and/or conduct may be considered in order to determine whether they are a ‘fit 
and proper’ or ‘safe and suitable’ persons to be issued with, or retain a licence, 
bearing in mind the overall aim of the licensing authority is to protect the public

1.2 Since 2005 the authority has used a policy/guidance document to assist 
members to determine applicants and licence holders, at the time this was 
based on guidance produced by the Home Office. the document has evolved 
over time.

1.3 The document has been updated over the years and the last review of that 
policy (Annex A) was in 2014 when the Wales Licensing Expert Panel 
produced a guidance document/policy that was approved and promoted for all 
the Welsh authorities to adopt, thereby ensuring consistency across Wales 
when considering the suitability of drivers and operators.

2 PROPOSAL

2.1 In April 2018 the Institute of Licensing published a new document ‘Guidance 
on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the hackney and 
Private Hire Trades’ (Annex B), this was the result of a large piece of work 
carried out by the institute in collaboration with the Local Government 
Association (LGA), National Association of Licensing and Enforcement 
Officers (NALEO) and Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) and has been 
subject of widespread consultation nationally.

2.2 At a recent meeting of the Wales Licensing Expert Panel this document was 
considered and endorsed with the recommendation that all Welsh authorities 

Tudalen 543

11



approve and implement the Institute of Licensing Guidance, replacing their 
current guidelines/policy. Many authorities in England and Wales have already 
adopted the new policy and others are in the process of doing so

2.3 Chapter 4 of this document from paragraph 4.6 onwards forms the key 
guidance to members on determining suitability and this has been lifted from 
the document as the basis for a new Powys policy/guidance document (Annex 
C) for members to use in future for determining the suitability of applicants 
and licensees. 

2.4       It must be remembered that whilst members will refer to the guidance/policy 
each case should be determined on its own merits having taking into 
account all of the facts and oral representations from the applicant, leaving 
the committee free to depart from the policy where circumstances warrant it.

2.5       It is recommended that members approve the new revised policy that contains 
all the recommendations of the ‘Guidance in determining the suitability of 
applicants and Licensees in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades for 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers’ document to be implemented with 
immediate effect

2.6       The content of the document has already been subject to widespread national 
consultation with stakeholders in the taxi trade, there is no requirement for the 
authority to further consult, however if approved, the local taxi trade will be 
advised of the revised policy by a Taxi Newsletter communicated to all the 
licensed taxi drivers in the authority.

3 Options Considered / Available

    3.1       To adopt the above proposals to provide an up to date and consistent policy or 
                 to continue with the existing policy document.

4. Preferred Choice and Reasons

4.1 Adopting the revised document would be:

 In line with standards as prepared by the Institute of Licensing in collaboration 
with the Local Government Association (LGA), National Association of 
Licensing and Enforcement Officers (NALEO) and Lawyers in Local 
Government (LLG) 

 In line with recommendations from the Wales Licensing Expert Panel
 Would achieve a consistent approach as more authorities move to adopt the 

guidelines 

5. Impact Assessment 

             Is an impact assessment required? No

Tudalen 544



6. Corporate Improvement Plan  

6.1 Licensing contributes to various aspects of the ‘Vision 2025’ document - 
‘Change for Powys – delivering an open, pro-active and engaging council for 
2025’. This proposal supports the priority areas of developing a vibrant 
economy whilst  supporting and protecting our residents and communities .

7. Local Member(s)

       7.1   This report has no particular significance on one or some electoral divisions.

8. Other Front Line Services 

8.1     Does the recommendation impact on other services run by the Council or on 
          behalf of the Council? No

9. Communications 

9.1        The trade will be notified of the new policy via a Taxi Newsletter.

10. Support Services (Legal, Finance, Corporate Property, HR, ICT, 
Business Services)

Legal comment not yet received, will be updated if comment received.

Finance – The contents of the report have been noted by the Finance Business 
Partner and there are no financial implications.

11. Scrutiny 
Has this report been scrutinised? No

12. Statutory Officers 
(The views of both the Strategic Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) and the 

Monitoring Officer must be set out below)
Monitoring officer - comment not yet received, will be updated if comment received.

The Head of Financial Services (Deputy Section 151 Officer) notes the 
comment from Finance.

13. Members’ Interests
(To be completed by the Monitoring Officer) comment not yet received, will be updated if 
comment received.

Tudalen 545



The Monitoring Officer advises that Members may have an interest in this item if …..
or 
The Monitoring Officer is not aware of any specific interests that may arise in relation 

to this report. If Members have an interest they should declare it at the start 
of the meeting and complete the relevant notification form. 

Recommendation: Reason for Recommendation:
To adopt the Guidance on 
determining the suitability of 
applicants and licensees in the 
hackney and private hire trades 
produced by the institute of 
Licensing in partnership with other 
relevant organisations 

Adoption of this policy will provide 
members with an up to date guide 
on how they should consider 
applicants / licensees presented to 
them that has been produced by 
the Institute of Licensing, and that 
is considered best practice. It will 
aid in ensuring a consistent 
approach nationally.

Relevant Policy (ies): None
Within Policy: Y Within Budget: Y 

Relevant Local Member(s): N/A
Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr James Evans

Person(s) To Implement Decision: Sue Jones, Senior Licensing Officer
Date By When Decision To Be Implemented: With immediate effect

Contact Officer Name: Tel: Email:
Sue Jones 01597 827389 Susan.jones@powys.gov.uk

Background Papers used to prepare report: 

Guidance in determining the suitability of applicants and Licensees in the 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire trades (April 2018)

Tudalen 546



L - 2007. 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND
PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCES

POLICY ON THE TREATMENT OF CONVICTIONS, 
CAUTIONS AND CHARGES 

HOUSING AND PUBLIC PROTECTION SERVICE

Council Offices Council Offices Council Offices
Neuadd Brycheiniog Y Gwalia Neuadd Maldwyn

Cambrian Way Ithon Road Severn Road
Brecon Llandrindod Wells Welshpool
Powys Powys Powys

LD3 7HR LD1 6AA SY21 7AS

Tudalen 547



Amendments are not permitted without the prior approval of the Public Protection Manager.

Amendment Record

ISSUE DATE APPROVED SUMMARY OF CHANGE

1

2

3

4

8th December 
2005

25th June 2007

2nd August 2012

16th July 2014

 Licensing 
Committee

Service name updated
Recognition of fixed penalty notices & anti 
social behaviour
Inclusion of simple and conditional cautions 
and charges pending
Minor amendments to text to clarify meaning or 
broaden scope
Inclusion of overseas residents

Significant additions made further to 
consideration of the template policy produced 
by LACORS in September 2010

All Wales Licensing expert Panel policy 
approved by Full Council

Prepared by: S. Jones  Approved by: Licensing Committee & Full Council

Issue No 4

Tudalen 548



HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCES
POLICY ON THE TREATMENT OF CONVICTIONS, CAUTIONS AND CHARGES 

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to provide guidance on the criteria taken into account by the 
council when determining whether or not an applicant or an existing licence holder is a fit 
and proper person to hold a hackney carriage and/or private hire driver / operator licence.

1.2 The aim of this policy is to protect the safety of the public. The Licensing Authority is 
concerned to ensure:

 That a person is a fit and proper person;
 That the person does not pose a threat to the public;
 That the public are safeguarded from dishonest persons;
 The safeguarding of children and young persons;
 The safeguarding of vulnerable persons;
 That the public have confidence in their use of licensed vehicles.

1.3 This policy aims to provide guidance to any person with an interest in public and private 
hire licensing. In particular, but not exclusively:

 Applicants for driver / operator licences
 Existing licensed drivers / operators whose licences are being reviewed
 Licensing Officers and Police
 Members of the Licensing Committee/ Panel (or other relevant decision making 

body)
 Magistrates and Crown Court hearing appeals against local authority decisions

1.4 Where licensing officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will utilise these 
guidelines when making a decision to grant a licence. In all other cases applications for 
licences will be referred to the licensing committee/panel (or other relevant decision-
making body). Whilst officers and the committee/panel will have regard to the guidelines 
contained in the policy, each case will be considered on its individual merits and, 
where the circumstances demand, the committee/officer may depart from the guidelines. 

1.5 Where applicants fail to disclose any previous convictions; cautions; warnings; penalty 
notices, orders or reprimands on their application form including any pending court 
proceedings or other matters they may be referred to the Licensing Committee for 
determination.

2.0 General policy

2.1 Each case will be decided on its own merits.

2.2 A person with a conviction for a serious offence need not be automatically barred from 
obtaining a licence, but would normally be expected to:

a. Remain free of conviction for an appropriate period (as set out below); and
b. Show evidence that he or she is a fit and proper person to hold a licence (the onus 

is on the applicant to produce such evidence).

2.3 For the purposes of this Policy, “other matters to be considered” may include but are not 
limited to the following: Tudalen 549



a) Criminal / motoring convictions;
b) Court Martial;
c) Cautions;
d) Fixed penalty notices or other penalty notices;
e) Anti-social behaviour orders or other similar orders;
f) Breach of licensing conditions;
g) Formal Warnings or Reprimands;
h) Charges or matters awaiting trial;
i) Fitness and propriety.

2.4 Where an applicant has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered for a criminal 
offence, the council cannot review the merits of the conviction or other matter.

2.5 Where an applicant / licence holder has a conviction or other matter to be considered for 
an offence of aiding, abetting, attempting, conspiring, counselling, procuring, causing, 
permitting or inciting any of the criminal or motoring convictions / matters specified in this 
guidance, they will be considered   relevant for the substantive matter.

3.0 Appeals

3.1 Any applicant who has been refused a driver / operator licence, or a licensed driver / 
operator whose licence has been suspended or revoked has a right to appeal to the 
Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of receipt of the notice.

4.0 Powers

4.1 Powers to grant driver / operator licences are contained within Section 51, Section 55 
and Section 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (the Act). 

4.2 Powers to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a driver’s licence are contained within 
Section 61 of the Act, where the applicant/licence holder has been convicted of an 
offence involving dishonesty, indecency, violence; failure to comply with the provisions of 
the Town Police Clauses Act 1847; failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; or any other reasonable cause.

4.3 Section 61 (2B) allows the Licensing Authority, if it appears that in the interests of public 
safety, to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence with immediate effect.  A Decision Notice 
explaining why this decision has been taken will be issued to the driver and will have 
effect when the notice is given to the driver.  The driver may appeal this decision but may 
not drive during the appeal period.

4.4 Section 62 of the Act allows the Licensing Authority to suspend, revoke or refuse to 
renew an operator’s licence if the applicant/licence holder has been convicted of an 
offence under or non compliance with the provisions of Part II of the Act; or grounds of 
any conduct on the part of the operator which appears to the Council to render him unfit , 
or due to any material change since the licence was granted in any of the circumstances 
of the operator on the basis of which the licence was granted or any other reasonable 
cause.

4.5 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 2002, allows 
the Licensing Authority to take into account all convictions recorded against an applicant 
or the holder of a private hire vehicle or hackney carriage driver’s licence, whether spent 
or not. Therefore the Licensing Authority will have regard to all relevant convictions, 

Tudalen 550



particularly where there is a long history of offending or a recent pattern of repeat 
offending. 

5.0 Consideration of disclosed criminal history

5.1 Under the provisions of Sections 51, 55, and 59, of the Act, the Licensing Authority is 
required to ensure that an applicant for the grant or renewal of a driver / operator licence 
is a ‘fit and proper’ person to hold such a licence. However, if an applicant / licence 
holder has any matters to be considered, the Licensing Authority may take into account:

:
 How relevant the offence(s) are to the licence being applied for;
 How serious the offence(s) were;
 When the offence(s) were committed;
 The date of conviction and age of applicant at time of conviction;
 Sentence imposed by the court;
 Whether they form part of a pattern of offending;
 Any other factors that might be relevant.

6.0 Violence

6.1 Licensed drivers have close regular contact with the public. A serious view will be taken 
with those who have a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered involving 
violence. An application will normally be refused or existing licence suspended or 
revoked if the applicant / licence holder has a conviction for an offence that involved the 
loss of life.

6.2 In other cases anyone of a violent disposition is unlikely to be licensed until at least 3 
years free of such conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered. However, given the 
range of the offences that involve violence, consideration must be given to the nature of 
the offence. 

6.3 Unless there are exceptional circumstances, an application will normally be refused or 
existing licence suspended or revoked where the applicant / licence holder has a 
conviction for an offence such as: 

 Murder;
 Manslaughter;
 Manslaughter or culpable homicide while driving;
 Terrorism offences;
 Or any similar offences or offences which replace the above.

6.4 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered for an offence listed below and the conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered is less than 10 years prior to the date of application:

 Actual bodily harm which is racially / religiously aggravated;
 Arson;
 Assault Police;
 Common assault which is racially / religiously aggravated;
 Criminal damage which is racially / religiously aggravated; 
 Grievous bodily harm with intent; 
 Malicious wounding or grievous bodily harm which is racially aggravated; 

Tudalen 551



 Possession of firearm;
 Resisting arrest;
 Riot;
 Robbery;
 Violent disorder;
 Similar offences or offences which replace the above. 

6.5 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered for an offence listed below and the conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered is less than 3 years prior to the date of application:

 Affray;
 Assault occasioning actual bodily harm; 
 Common assault;
 Criminal damage;
 Obstruction;
 Possession of a weapon (or imitation weapon) or any other weapon related 

offence other than a firearm;
 S5 Public Order Act 1986 offence (harassment, alarm or distress);
 S.4 Public Order Act 1986 offence (fear of provocation of violence);
 S4A Public Order Act 1986 offence (intentional harassment, alarm or distress);
 Similar offences or offences which replace the above.          
     

6.6 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has more than one conviction or 
other matter to be considered in the last 10 years for an offence of a violent nature.

7.0 Sex and indecency offences

7.1 As licensed drivers often carry unaccompanied and vulnerable passengers, a firm line is 
to be taken with those who have convictions or other matters to be considered for sexual 
offences.  An application will normally be refused or existing licence suspended or 
revoked for convictions or other matters to be considered for the more serious sexual 
offences. For other offences, applicants will be expected to show a substantial period 
free of conviction or other matter to be considered for such offences before an application 
will be approved.

7.2 Unless there are exceptional circumstances, an application will normally be refused or an 
existing licence suspended or revoked where the applicant / licence holder has a 
conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered for an offence such as:

 Assault by penetration;
 Exploitation of prostitution;
 Indecent assault;
 Offences involving children or vulnerable adults;
 Possession of indecent photographs, child pornography etc;
 Rape;
 Sexual assault;
 Trafficking for sexual or other exploitation;
 Similar offences or offences that replace the above.

7.3 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 

Tudalen 552



considered for an offence listed below and the conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered is less than 7 years prior to the date of application:

 Indecent exposure;
 Soliciting (kerb crawling);
 Similar offences or offences which replace the above.

7.4 In addition to the above the Licensing Authority is unlikely to grant a licence to any 
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register.

 
7.5 An application will normally be refused if an applicant has more than one conviction or 

other matter to be considered for a sexual offence.

8.0 Dishonesty

8.1 An applicant or existing licence holder is expected to be a trustworthy person. They deal 
with cash transactions and valuable property which may be left in their vehicles.  Licence 
holders are required to deposit such property with police within 24 hours. The widespread 
practice of delivering unaccompanied property is indicative of the trust that business 
people place in licensed drivers. Moreover, it is comparatively easy for a dishonest driver 
to defraud the public by demanding more than the legal or agreed fare, etc. Overseas 
visitors can be confused by our currency and may be vulnerable to an unscrupulous 
driver. For all these reasons, a serious view is taken of any conviction involving 
dishonesty.

8.2 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered for an offence listed below and the conviction or other matter to be 
considered is less than 3 years prior to the date of application:

 Benefit fraud;
 Burglary;
 Conspiracy to defraud;
 Forgery;
 Fraud;
 Handling or receiving stolen goods;
 Obtaining money or property by deception;
 Other deception;
 Taking a vehicle without consent;
 Theft;
 Similar offences or offences which replace the above.

9.0 Drugs

9.1 A serious view is taken of any drug related offence. The Licensing Authority will consider 
the nature and quantity of the drugs involved within the following offences:

 Cultivation of a controlled drug;
 Importation of a controlled drug;
 Production of a controlled drug;
 Supply of a controlled drug;
 Or similar offences.

Tudalen 553



9.2 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be 
considered for any of the above offences and has not been free of conviction(s) or other 
matters to be considered for at least 5 years.

9.3 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant has more than one conviction or other matter to be considered for 
offences related to the possession of drugs and has not been free of conviction or other 
matter to be considered for at least 5 years.

9.4 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has an isolated conviction or other matter to be 
considered for an offence related to the possession of drugs within the last 3 years.  
Consideration should be given to the nature and quantity of the drugs involved.

9.5 If there is evidence of persistent drugs use, misuse or dependency a specialist medical 
examination (in accordance with DVLA Group 2 medical standards) may be required.  If 
the applicant was an addict then they would normally be required to show evidence of 3 
years free from drug taking.

10.0 Driving offences involving the loss of life

10.1 A very serious view is to be taken of any applicant or existing licence holder who has a 
conviction or other matter to be considered for a driving offence that resulted in the loss of 
life.

10.2 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered 
for any of the offences listed below and has not been free of conviction or other matter to be 
considered for 7 years.

 Causing death by careless driving whilst under the influence of drink or drugs;
 Causing death by dangerous driving;
 Or any similar offences.

10.3 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered 
for any of the offences listed below and has not been free of conviction or other matter to be 
considered for 5 years.

 Causing death by careless driving;
 Causing death by driving: unlicensed, disqualified or uninsured drivers.

11.0 Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs

11.1 A serious view will be taken of a conviction(s) or other matter(s) to be considered for 
driving or being in charge of a vehicle while under the influence of alcohol / drugs.  A 
single conviction or other matter to be considered may not result in an application being 
refused or an existing licence being suspended or revoked, provided that at least 3 
years have elapsed since the ending of the disqualification.  A conviction or other matter 
to be considered for ‘refusing or failing to provide a specimen’ will be treated in the same 
way.

Tudalen 554



11.2 Applicants with more than one conviction or other matter to be considered for driving or 
being in charge of a vehicle under the influence of alcohol / drugs or refusing or failing to 
provide a specimen are unlikely to be granted a licence unless a period of 10 years has 
elapsed after the restoration of the driving licence following the last conviction or other 
matter to be considered.

12.0 Motoring Convictions

12.1 Major Traffic Offences

12.2 For the purposes of this Policy the following motoring offences are classed as ‘Major 
Traffic Offences’:

AC10 Failing to stop after an accident

AC20 Failing to give particulars or to report an accident within 24 hours

AC30 Undefined accident offences

BA10 Driving while disqualified by order of Court

BA30 Attempting to drive while disqualified by order of Court

DD40 Dangerous driving

DD90 Furious driving

IN10 Using a vehicle uninsured against third party risks

LC20 Driving otherwise than in accordance with a licence

LC30 Driving after making a false declaration about fitness when applying for 
a licence

LC40 Driving a vehicle having failed to notify a disability

LC50 Driving after a licence has been revoked or refused on medical grounds

MS50 Motor racing on the highway

MS60 Offences not covered by other codes

MS90 Failure to give information as to identity of driver, etc.

UT50 Aggravated taking of a vehicle

12.3 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a conviction or other matter to be considered for 
a major traffic offence and has not been free of the conviction or other matter to be 
considered for at least 6 months.

12.4    An applicant with more than one Major Traffic Offence, within the last 5 
years will normally be refused and no further application should be considered until a 
period of at least 3 years free from such convictions or other matters to be considered 
have elapsed.

12.5 If any conviction or other matter to be considered for a Major Traffic Offence results in a 
disqualification, applicants should refer to the section of these guidelines entitled 
“disqualification”.

Tudalen 555



12.6 Disqualification from driving

12.7 The Licensing Authority will treat a period of a disqualification as being that which a driver 
would have been eligible to serve, and may disregard the decision of a court to waive or 
reduce a disqualification period either on the grounds of exceptional hardship under S.35 
of the Road Traffic Offenders Act 1988 or for "special reasons" under S.34 of the Road 
Traffic Offenders Act 1988. 

12.8 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a recent conviction or other matter to be 
considered resulting in a period of disqualification of less than 56 days unless a period of 
at least 6 months has elapsed from the end of the disqualification period. 

12.9 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or 
revoked where the applicant / licence holder has a recent conviction or other matter to be 
considered resulting in a period of disqualification of up to 12 months unless a period of 
at least 12 months has elapsed from the end of the disqualification period.

12.10 An application will normally be refused or an existing licence suspended or revoked 
where the applicant / licence holder has a recent conviction or other matters to be 
considered resulting in a period of disqualification of 12 months or more, unless a period 
of at least 18 months has elapsed from the end of the disqualification period.

12.11 The Licensing Authority will not normally grant an application for a private hire or hackney 
carriage driver's licence from a person who has been disqualified from driving for a 
period of 5 years or more, unless a period of at least 7 years has elapsed from the end of 
the disqualification period.

13.0 Minor Traffic Offences

13.1 Other Traffic Offences not listed within this policy will be treated as ‘Minor Traffic 
Offences’. A minor driving offence is one that incurs between 1 and 3 penalty points. 

13.2 Where an applicant / licence holder has one conviction or other matter to be considered 
for a minor driving offence, this will not usually result in refusal or suspension / 
revocation.

13.3 More than one minor traffic conviction or other matter to be considered 
may result in a refusal, particularly where there are several convictions or other matters 
to be considered for the same offence e.g. speeding.  A licensed driver may be referred 
to the Licensing Committee where there are more than two offences.

14.0 Outstanding charges or summonses

14.1 If the individual is the subject of an outstanding charge or summons their application can 
continue to be processed, but in the interest of public safety the matter will be considered 
and may be deferred for determination until proceedings are concluded.

15.0 Non-conviction information

15.1 If an applicant or existing licence holder has been arrested or charged, but not convicted, 
for a serious offence which suggests he/she could be a danger to the public, 
consideration should be given to refusing or suspending / revoking the application / 
licence. 

Tudalen 556



16.0 Repeat offending

16.1 While it is possible that an applicant may have a number of convictions or other matters 
to be considered that individually meet the above guidelines, an application will normally 
be refused where an applicant has a record of repeat offending which shows a lack of 
regard for the well being of others or for property, unless a period of at least 10 years 
has elapsed since the most recent conviction or other matters to be considered.

.

17.0 Breach of Legislation, Byelaw or Licence Condition

17.1 An applicant who has a conviction or other matters to be considered for a breach of 
legislation, byelaw or licence condition is unlikely to be granted a licence unless a period 
of at least 12 months has elapsed since the most recent breach.

17.2 An existing licence holder found to be in breach of legislation, byelaw or licence condition 
is on the first occasion, likely to be warned in writing as to future conduct, provided that 
the breach did not compromise the safety of passengers or that the public were not put at 
risk.

17.3 Where an existing holder is found to have more that one breach of licensing legislation, 
byelaw or licence condition, or a single serious breach, the Licensing Committee may 
suspend or revoke the licence. 

17.4 The above is irrespective of any legal proceedings which may be pending or have been 
taken.

Tudalen 557



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol



Guidance on determining the 
suitability of applicants and 

licensees in the hackney and 
private hire trades

April 2018

Produced by the Institute of Licensing in partnership with:

SAFE AND SUITABLE?

Tudalen 559



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

1 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Contents 

Foreword .................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Chapter 1: Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 3 

Chapter 2: Offenders and Offending ‐ An Overview .................................................................................... 5 

Risk of re‐offending: ............................................................................................................................. 7 

Chapter 3: ‘Taxi’ Licensing Overview ............................................................................................................ 9 

Taxi Drivers ............................................................................................................................................... 9 

Private Hire Operators ........................................................................................................................... 13 

Vehicle Proprietors ................................................................................................................................. 15 

Chapter 4: Guidance on Determination ..................................................................................................... 17 

Pre‐application requirements ................................................................................................................ 17 

Vehicles: ............................................................................................................................................. 17 

Drivers: ............................................................................................................................................... 18 

Operators: .......................................................................................................................................... 18 

Drivers .................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Crimes resulting in death ................................................................................................................... 21 

Exploitation ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Offences involving violence ................................................................................................................ 21 

Possession of a weapon ..................................................................................................................... 21 

Sex and indecency offences ............................................................................................................... 21 

Dishonesty .......................................................................................................................................... 22 

Drugs .................................................................................................................................................. 22 

Discrimination .................................................................................................................................... 22 

Motoring convictions ......................................................................................................................... 22 

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand‐held telephone or hand held device 

whilst driving ...................................................................................................................................... 22 

Other motoring offences .................................................................................................................... 23 

Hackney carriage and private hire offences ....................................................................................... 23 

Vehicle use offences ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Private Hire Operators ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Vehicle proprietors ................................................................................................................................. 24 

Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................................... 25 

 

Tudalen 560



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

2 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Foreword 

The function of licensing is the protection of the public.  A member of the public stepping into a motor 

vehicle driven by a stranger must be able to trust the driver.  Are they honest?  Are they competent?  Are 

they safe?  Are they trustworthy?  When we transact with others, we usually have time and opportunity 

to make such assessments.  When we transact with taxi drivers, we don’t.  Therefore, we must, and do, 

rely on the licence as the warranty of the driver’s safety and suitability for the task at hand. 

It follows that a licensing authority has an onerous responsibility.  In making decisions regarding grant and 

renewal of licences it is, in effect, holding out the licensee as someone who can be trusted to convey the 

passenger from A to B in safety.  That passenger may be you, or your elderly mother, or your teenage 

daughter, or a person who has had too much to drink, or who is vulnerable for a whole host of other 

reasons.  

Everybody working in this field should acquaint themselves with the facts of the Rotherham case, which 

stands  as  a  stark  testament  to  what  can  happen  when  licensing  performs  its  safeguarding  role 

inadequately.  But the extremity of that appalling story should not distract us from the job of protecting 

the public from more mundane incompetence, carelessness or dishonesty.  The standards of safety and 

suitability do not have to be set as a base minimum.  To the contrary, they may be set high, to give the 

public the assurance it requires when using a taxi service.  It is good to know that one’s driver is not a 

felon.  It is better to know that he or she is a dedicated professional. 

Crucially, this is not a field in which the licensing authority has to strike a fair balance between the driver’s 

right to work and the public’s right to protection.  The public are entitled to be protected, full stop.  That 

means that the licensing authority is entitled and bound to treat the safety of the public as the paramount 

consideration.  It is, after all, the point of the exercise. 

Therefore, this guidance is to be welcomed.  It rightly emphasises that any circumstance relating to the 

licensee is potentially relevant, provided of course that it is relevant to their safety and suitability to hold 

a licence.  It provides useful and authoritative guidelines to licensing authorities as to how they ought to 

approach their important task of making determinations about the safety and suitability of drivers and 

operators. 

While, of course, licensing is a local function, it seems absurd that precisely the same conduct might result 

in a short period without a licence in one district, and a much longer period in a neighbouring district.  If 

a driver is suitable in district A, they are surely suitable in district B, and vice versa.  If, as is hoped, this 

guidance becomes widely adopted, this will result in a degree of national uniformity, which serves the 

public  interest  in  consistency,  certainty  and  confidence  in  the  system of  licensing.    Adherence  to  the 

guidance may also provide protection to licensing authorities on appeal.  

The guidance is therefore commended to licensing authorities.  It is hoped that, in due course, it will sit 

at the elbow of every councillor and officer working in taxi licensing.  

Philip Kolvin QC 

Cornerstone Barristers 

April 2018  

Tudalen 561



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

3 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Chapter 1: Introduction 

 

1.1 This guidance has been produced by the Institute of Licensing working in partnership with 

the Local Government Association (LGA), Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) and the National 

Association  of  Licensing  and  Enforcement  Officers  (NALEO),  following  widespread 

consultation.  We are grateful to all three organisations for their contributions.  This guidance 

is formally endorsed by all of those organisations. 

  

1.2 The overriding aim of any Licensing Authority when carrying out its functions relating to the 

licensing of Hackney or Private Hire Drivers, Vehicle Proprietors and Operators, must be the 

protection of the public and others who use (or can be affected by) Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire services. 

 

1.3 The relevant legislation provides that any person must satisfy the authority that they are a fit 

and proper person to hold a licence and that is a test to be applied after any applicant has 

gained  any  reasonably  required  qualifications1.    It  is  the  final  part  of  the  process  of  an 

application when the decision is made, whether by a committee, sub‐committee or an officer 

under a Scheme of Delegation.  It involves a detailed examination of their entire character in 

order to make a judgment as to their fitness and propriety. 

 

1.4 If a licence holder falls short of the fit and proper standard at any time, the licence should be 

revoked or not renewed on application to do so. 

 

1.5 There  is  no  recent  Statutory  or Ministerial  guidance  as  to  how  such  decisions  should  be 

approached  or  what  matters  are  relevant  or  material  to  a  decision.    This  guidance 

complements  the  LGA’s  Taxi  and  Private  Hire  Licensing  Councillor’s  Handbook  and  any 

forthcoming  Government  guidance.    Local  authorities  should  also  be  aware  of  the 

forthcoming National Anti Fraud Network database on refusals and revocations of hackney 

carriage and private hire licences.   

 

1.6 This document is intended to provide guidance on determining suitability, taking into account 

the character of the applicant or licensee.  It can then be used by local authorities as a basis 

for their own policies: in particular it considers how regard should be had to the antecedent 

history of the applicant or licence holder and its relevance to their ‘fitness and propriety’ or 

‘character’.  As with any guidance it need not be slavishly followed but it provides a starting 

or reference point from which decisions can be made taking into account the particular merits 

of each case.  

 

1.7 A licensing authority policy can take a 'bright line approach' and say “never” in a policy, but 

it  remains  a  policy,  and  as  such  does  not  amount  to  any  fetter  on  the  discretion  of  the 

                                                            
1 Except vehicle proprietors. In those cases there is no “fit and proper” requirement, but the authority has an absolute 
discretion over granting a licence. Tudalen 562



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

4 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

authority.  Each case will always be considered on its merits having regard to the policy, and 

the  licensing authority can depart  from the policy where  it  considers  it appropriate  to do 

so.   This  will  normally  happen  where  the  licensing  authority  considers  that  there  are 

exceptional circumstances which warrant a different decision. This approach was endorsed 

by the High Court in R (on the application of Nicholds) v Security Industry Authority2. 

 

1.8 In Chapter 2 this Guidance explores the current thinking behind an individual’s tendencies to 

reoffend.    It  is clear  that  this  is not an exact science and that  there  is no meaningful and 

precise  statistical  evidence  that  can  assist  in  the  setting  of  policy.    Given  the  important 

function of licensing to protect the public, any bar should be set at the highest level which is 

reasonable,  albeit  subject  to  the exercise of  discretion as  is  set out  in  paragraph 1.7  and 

Chapters 3 and 4.   

 

1.9 This Guidance contains no detailed list of offences.  All offences are allocated to a general 

category such as ‘dishonesty’ or ‘drugs’.  This prevents it being argued that a specific offence 

is not covered by the Policy as it ‘is not on the list’ and also prevents arguments that a firearm 

is more serious than a knife and should  lead to differentiation.    In each case, appropriate 

weight should be given to the evidence provided.      

 

1.10 This Guidance cannot have the force of legislation, new or amended; the need for which is 

both abundantly clear to, and fully supported by the Institute and the other organisations 

working with it.  It is intended to help local authorities achieve greater consistency so that 

applicants are less able to shop between authorities.  It is acknowledged that this cannot be 

fully achieved without the imposition of national minimum standards.   

 

1.11 In preparing this document the Institute’s Working Party has consulted with and considered 

the  issues  from  all  perspectives  including,  Councillors,  Licensing  Officers,  Lawyers,  the 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trades, Academics, the Probation Service and the Police.  

 

 

   

                                                            
2 [2007] 1 WLR 2067 Tudalen 563



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

5 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Chapter 2: Offenders and Offending ‐ An Overview 

 

2.1 The aim of local authority licensing of the taxi and PHV trades is to protect the public’.3  With 

this in mind, Public Protection must be at the forefront of the decision maker’s mind when 

determining whether an individual is considered a “fit and proper person” to hold a licence. 

 

2.2 This section aims to provide a brief overview of public protection, how to determine risk and 

factors to be considered when an applicant seeks to demonstrate a change in their offending 

behaviour. 

 

2.3 The licensing process places a duty on the local authority to protect the public. Given the 

nature of the role, it is paramount that those seeking a living in the trades meet the required 

standards.    As  the  previous  offending  behaviour  can  be  considered  as  a  predictor  in 

determining future behaviour as well as culpability,  it  is essential that the decision maker 

considers all  relevant  factors  including previous convictions, cautions and complaints and 

the time elapsed since these were committed. 

 

2.4 There has been extensive research into the reasons behind why some individuals commit 

crimes, why some learn from their mistakes and stop offending whilst others find themselves 

in  a  cycle  of  repeat  offending.      Several  theories  have  evolved over many  years  offering 

insight  into the reasons behind offending behaviour.   One common theme is that no two 

crimes are the same and that risk cannot be eliminated, or the future predicted.  What can 

be done, is to examine each case on its individual merits, look at the risks involved along with 

any  change  in  circumstances  since  any offences were  committed  to  assist  in making  the 

decision. 

 

2.5  A  key  factor  when  considering  an  application  from  an  individual  with  any  convictions, 

cautions or complaints recorded is Public Protection.  This includes assessing the risk of re‐

offending  and  harm4.    Risk  assessment  tools  are  regularly  employed  by  those  who  are 

responsible for managing individuals who have committed offences.  Local Authorities are 

not always privy to this information so it is important when they are making decisions around 

suitability that they have an understanding of offending behaviour and risk of re‐offending 

in generic terms. 

                                                            
3 DfT “Taxi and Private Hire Licensing – Best Practice Guide” para 8 
4 Kemshall, H. (2008). Understanding the Management of High Risk Offenders (Crime and Justice).  Open University Press  

 Tudalen 564



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

6 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

2.6 Flaud5  noted that risk is in principle, a matter of fact, but danger is a matter of judgment 

and opinion.   He  goes on  to note  that  risk may be  said  to be  the  likelihood of  an event 

occurring; danger may be the degree of damage (harm) caused should that event take place6. 

 

2.7 The National Offender Management Service refers to risk in two dimensions.  That being the 

likelihood that an offence will occur, and the impact / harm of the offence should it happen.  

Generally,  when  making  a  decision  around  probability  and  likelihood  of  re‐offending, 

consideration is needed towards static and dynamic factors. 

 

2.8 Static factors are historical and do not change such as age, previous convictions and gender.   

They can be used as a basis for actuarial assessments and are fundamental in considering an 

individual’s  potential  to  reoffend  in  future7.    For  example,  recent  published  statistics 

revealed that 44% of adults are reconvicted within one year of release.  For those serving 

sentences of less than twelve months this increased to 59%8.  It is also widely accepted that 

generally persons with a  large number of previous offences have a higher rate of proven 

reoffending than those with fewer previous offences9. 

 

2.9 Dynamic factors are considered changeable and can vary over time.  They include attitudes, 

cognitions and impulsivity10.  It is documented that the greater their unmet need, the more 

likely  an  individual  is  to  re‐offend.    When  considering  whether  an  individual  has  been 

rehabilitated, it is important to have regard towards the motivation behind their offending 

and dynamic risk factors present at the time, against the steps taken to address such factors 

thus reducing the risk of re‐offending. 

 

2.10 It  is  of  note  that  problems  and/or  needs  are  more  frequently  observed  in  offender 

populations  than  in  the  general  population11.   Many of  these  factors  are  interlinked and 

embedded in an individual’s past experiences.  This can impact upon that person’s ability to 

change  their  behaviour,  particularly  if  the  areas  identified  have  not  been  addressed  or 

support has not been sought.  Needs will vary from individual to individual and will rely upon 

their level of motivation and the nature of the offence committed. 

 

                                                            
5 Flaud, R.  (1982). Cited  in, Gendreau, P., Little, T. and Goggin, C.  (1996). A meta‐analysis of  the predictors of adult offender 

recidivism: what works! Criminology, 34, 557‐607. 
6 Gendreau,  P.,  Little,  T.  and Goggin,  C.  (1996).  A meta‐analysis  of  the  predictors  of  adult  offender  recidivism: what works! 

Criminology, 34, 557‐607. 
7 Craig, L. A. and Browne, K. B (2008).  Assessing Risk in Sex Offenders: A Practitioner's Guide Paperback. 
8 Ministry of Justice (2017) Proven reoffending statistics: July 2014 to June 2015, London: Ministry of Justice. 
9 Ministry of Justice (2015): Transforming Rehabilitation: a summary of evidence on reducing reoffending. London: Ministry of 
Justice. 
10 McGuire, J. (2008). A review of effective interventions for reducing aggression and violence. Philosophical Transactions of the 
Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 363(1503), 2577‐2597 
11 Nash, M. (1999) Police, Probation and Protecting the Public. London: Blackwell Press. 

  Tudalen 565



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

7 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Risk of re‐offending: 

2.11 The  issue  of  recidivism  and  increase  in  serious  crime  rates  has  given  rise  to  extensive 

publications, theories and changes in legislation with many focusing upon the need for more 

rehabilitation  projects  as  a  means  of  reducing  re‐offending  rates.    Central  to  the 

rehabilitation of offenders is the concept of criminogenic needs.  This has been described by 

the National Offender Management Service as “any area where the offender has needs or 

deficits, in which a reduction in the need or deficit would lead to a reduction in the risk of 

re‐conviction.  An individual’s ability to address and reduce such needs relies heavily upon 

their motivation to change and desist and often takes place over a period of time”12. 

 

2.12 Kurlychek, 2007 in her study noted that “a person who has offended in the past has been 

found to have a high probability of future offending, but this risk of recidivism is highest in 

the time period immediately after arrest or release from custody and, thereafter, decreases 

rapidly and dramatically with age”13. 

 

2.13 A consistent finding throughout criminological literature is that male offenders tend to desist 

from  crime  aged  30  years  and  over14.    It  is well  documented  that  the  change  occurs  for 

various reasons; for example, as a result of successful treatment, natural maturation or the 

development of positive social relationships15.  Female offenders are also considered more 

likely  to  desist  from  offending  as  they mature.    The  peak  age  of  reported  offending  for 

females was 14 compared to 19 for males16 .   

 

2.14 Desisting from crime for people who have been involved in persistent offending is a difficult 

and  complex  process,  likely  to  involve  lapses  and  relapses.    Some  individuals may  never 

desist17.   As a result,  it  is  important  for  individuals to evidence change  in their behaviour 

before they can be considered to present a low or nil risk of re‐offending.  Often the only 

way of achieving this is through lapse of time.  

 

2.15 The  longer  the  time  elapsed  since  an  offence  has  been  committed,  the more  likely  the 

individual will desist from crime.  It is noted that the more a life is lived crime‐free, the more 

one  comes  to  see  the  benefits  of  desistance18.    Demonstrating  a  change  in  offending 

behaviour  and  an  ability  to  make  effective  choices  takes  time  and  comes  with  some 

                                                            
12 National Offender Management Service (20160. Public Protection Manual Edition.   Proven Reoffending Statistics Quarterly 

Bulletin, October 2015 to December 2015 
13 Kurlychek, M C, Brame, R (2007). Scarlet letters and recidivism: Does an old criminal record predict future offending? University 

of South Carolina. 
14 Serin, R, C. and Lloyd, C.D (2008).  Examining the process of offender change: the transitions to crime desistance.  347‐364. 
15 Nash, M. (1999) Police, Probation and Protecting the Public. London: Blackwell Press. 
16 Trueman, C.N. (2015). Women and Crime. The History Learning Site. Ingatestone: Essex. 
17 Farrell, S (2005). Understanding Desistance from Crime: Emerging Theoretical Directions in Resettlement and Rehabilitation 

(Crime and Justice) Paperback. 
18 Maguire, M., Morgan, R. and Reiner, R. (2002). The Oxford Handbook of Criminology. 3rd Edition. Oxford: Oxford University 
Press.  Tudalen 566



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

8 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

ambiguity for those who have committed offences.  A study in 2007 looking into previous 

convictions and the links to re‐offending concluded that “individuals who have offended in 

the distant past  seem  less  likely  to  recidivate  than  individuals who have offended  in  the 

recent past”19. 

 

2.16 Although it is not possible to determine the future behaviour of an individual, taking steps 

to reduce risk and protect the public can be achieved by following correct processes and 

guidance.  Having regard to an individual’s previous behaviour and their potential to cause 

harm  as  a  result  of  the  choices  they  have made  plays  a  significant  part when making  a 

decision as to whether to grant a licence.  Being able to evidence change in behaviour will 

involve consideration of the circumstances at the time of the offence, steps taken to address 

any  issues  identified and that person’s ability to sustain such change.   This can be a  long 

process that can only be achieved over time.   

 

 

 

 

 

   

                                                            
19 Kurlychek, M C, Brame, R (2007). Scarlet letters and recidivism: Does an old criminal record predict future offending? University 

of South Carolina. 

 Tudalen 567



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

9 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Chapter 3: ‘Taxi’ Licensing Overview 
 

3.1 Taxis are used by almost everyone in our society occasionally, but they are used regularly by 

particularly vulnerable groups:  children;  the elderly; disabled people; and  the  intoxicated, 

and a taxi driver has significant power over a passenger who places themselves, and their 

personal safety, completely in the driver’s hands. 

 

3.2 Local authorities (districts, unitaries and Welsh Councils) and TfL are responsible for hackney 

carriage and private hire licensing.  

 

3.3 The  principal  legislation  is  the  Town  Police  Clauses  Act  1847  and  the  Local  Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. The purpose of taxi licensing is detailed in the DfT “Taxi 

and Private Hire Licensing – Best Practice Guide” para 8 which states: 

“The aim of local authority licensing of the taxi and PHV trades is to protect the public.” 

3.4 Within  the  two  licensing  regimes,  there  are  5  types  of  licence:  hackney  carriage  vehicle; 

private hire vehicle; hackney carriage driver; private hire driver and private hire operator. 

 

3.5 In relation to all these licences, the authority has a discretion over whether to grant.  Whilst 

there is some guidance issued by the DfT, there are no national standards. 

 

3.6 Drivers and operators cannot be granted a licence unless the authority is satisfied that they 

are  a  “fit  and  proper  person”  to  hold  that  licence  (see  Local Government  (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 ss 51 and 59 in respect of drivers; s55 in respect of operators).  

 

3.7 There are no statutory criteria for vehicle licences; therefore, the authority has an absolute 

discretion.  

 

3.8 In each case, the authority has powers to grant a licence, renew it on application and, during 

the currency of the licence, suspend or revoke it. 

 

3.9 What is the role of each of these, and how do authorities determine an application, or take 

action against a licence? 

 

Taxi Drivers 

3.10 The term “taxi driver” encompasses two different occupations: hackney carriage drivers and 

private hire drivers.   “Taxi driver”  is therefore used as a broad, overarching term to cover 

both hackney carriage and private hire drivers.    In each case  there are  identical  statutory 

Tudalen 568



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

10 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

criteria  to  be met  before  a  licence  can  be  granted  and many  authorities  grant  “dual”  or 

“combined” licences to cover driving both types of vehicle. 

 

3.11 An applicant must hold a full DVLA or equivalent driver’s licence, have the right to work in 

the UK, and be a “fit and proper” person20. 

 

3.12 The driving licence element is a question of fact. Although there are some issues with foreign 

driving licences, ultimately a person either has, or does not have a driving licence. 

 

3.13 An applicant must also have the right to remain, and work in the UK21. 

 

3.14 Again, this is ultimately a question of fact and the local authority should follow the guidance 

issued by the Home Office.22 

 

3.15 It is the whole issue of “fit and proper” that causes local authorities the most difficulties. It 

has never been specifically  judicially defined but  it was mentioned  in Leeds City Council  v 

Hussain23. Silber J said:  

“‘... the purpose of the power of suspension is to protect users of licensed vehicles and 

those who are driven by them and members of the public. Its purpose [and], therefore 

[the test of fitness and propriety], is to prevent licences being given to or used by those 

who  are  not  suitable  people  taking  into  account  their  driving  record,  their  driving 

experience, their sobriety, mental and physical fitness, honesty, and that they are people 

who would not take advantage of their employment to abuse or assault passengers.” 

3.16 This is reflected in a test widely used by local authorities: 

‘Would you (as a member of the licensing committee or other person charged with the 

ability to grant a hackney carriage driver’s licence) allow your son or daughter, spouse or 

partner, mother or father, grandson or granddaughter or any other person for whom you 

care, to get into a vehicle with this person alone?’24 

3.17 It is suggested that the expression “safe and suitable” person to hold a driver’s licence is a 

good interpretation which neither adds nor removes anything from the original term of “fit 

and proper” but brings the concept up to date.  

 

                                                            
20 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. Section 51(1) covers private hire drivers, and section 59(1) covers 
hackney carriage drivers. 
21 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 S51(1)(a)(ii) in respect of private hire drivers and S59(1)(a)(ii) in 
respect of hackney carriage drivers. 
22 “Guidance for Licensing Authorities to Prevent Illegal Working in the Taxi and Private Hire Sector in England and Wales” ‐ 
Home Office, 1st December 2016 available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/licensing‐authority‐guide‐to‐right‐
to‐work‐checks  
23 [2002] EWHC 1145 (Admin), [2003] RTR 199 
24 Button on Taxis – Licensing Law and Practice 4th Ed Bloomsbury Professional at para 10.21  Tudalen 569



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

11 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

3.18 How can a local authority assess and then judge whether or not someone is safe and suitable 

to hold a drivers’ licence? 

 

3.19 The local authority has the power to require an applicant to provide:  

“such  information  as  they  may  reasonably  consider  necessary  to  enable  them  to 

determine whether  the  licence  should  be  granted  and whether  conditions  should  be 

attached to any such licence.”25  

 

This “information” can include any pre‐conditions or tests that they consider necessary  

3.20 Some of these are universal, such as medical assessments26.   Others are required by some 

authorities, but not others.  These include:  

 Enhanced DBS certificates and sign‐up to the update service; 

 Knowledge tests;  

 Driving tests; 

 Disability Awareness; 

 Signed Declarations; 

 Spoken English tests. 

3.21 The provision of information in these terms can satisfy the local authority that a person has 

the  skills  and  competencies  to  be  a  professional  driver  to  hold  a  licence.    However,  the 

concepts of safety and suitability go beyond this.  There is the character of the person to be 

considered as well. 

 

3.22 Both  hackney  carriage  and  private  hire  drivers  are  exempt  from  the  provisions  of  the 

Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974.  This means that there are no “spent” convictions and 

that  any  and  all  criminal  convictions  (apart  from  “protected  convictions”  and  “protected 

cautions” where they have been declared27) can be taken into account by the local authority 

in assessing safety and suitability, but only relevant spent convictions should be considered 

by the decision maker28.  

 

3.23 All  Applicants/Licensees  should  be  required  to  obtain  an  Enhanced  DBS  Certificate  with 

Barred Lists checks29 and to provide this to the Licensing Authority.  All Licensees should also 

be required to maintain their Certificates through the DBS Update Service throughout the 

currency of their licence. 

                                                            
25 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 s57(1) 
26 See Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 s57(2) 
27 “Protected convictions” and “protected cautions” are single, minor and elderly matters that do not appear on any DBS 
Certificates. 
28 See Adamson v Waveney District Council [1997] 2 All ER 898 
29 “For Taxi [driver] Licensing purposes the correct level of check is always the Enhanced level check, with the Adults and 
Children’s Barred list check. Other Workforce should always be entered at X61 line 1 and Taxi Licensing should be entered at 
X61 line 2” DBS email 31st August 2017. Tudalen 570



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

12 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

 

3.24 If any applicant has, from the age of 10 years, spent six continuous months or more living 

outside the United Kingdom, evidence of a criminal record check from the country/countries 

covering the relevant period should be required. 

 

3.25 Local authorities should have a policy to provide a baseline for the impact of any convictions, 

cautions or other matters of conduct which concern a person’s safety and suitability30.  

 

3.26 The  character  of  the  driver  in  its  entirety  must  be  the  paramount  consideration  when 

considering  whether  they  should  be  licensed.    It  is  important  to  recognise  that  local 

authorities are not imposing any additional punishment in relation to previous convictions or 

behaviour.  They are using all the information that is available to them to make an informed 

decision  as  to whether  or  not  the  applicant  or  licensee  is  or  remains  a  safe  and  suitable 

person. 

 

3.27 There are occasions where unsuitable people have been given licences by local authorities, 

or if refused by the authority, have had it granted by a court on appeal. 

 

3.28 Often this is because of some perceived hardship.   Case law makes it clear that the impact of 

losing  (or  not  being  granted)  a  driver’s  licence  on  the  applicant  and  his  family  is  not  a 

consideration to be taken  into account31.   This  then  leads to the question of whether  the 

stance taken by local authorities is robust enough to achieve that overriding aim of public 

protection.  

 

3.29 However, all too often local authorities depart from their policies and grant licences (or do 

not  take  action  against  licensees)  without  clear  and  compelling  reasons.    It  is  vital  that 

Councillors recognise that the policy, whilst remaining a policy and therefore the Authority’s 

own guidelines on the matter, is the baseline for acceptability.  It should only be departed 

from in exceptional circumstances and for justifiable reasons which should be recorded.  

 

3.30 One common misunderstanding is that if the offence was not committed when the driver was 

driving a taxi, it is much less serious, or even if it was in a taxi but not when passengers were 

aboard.  This is not relevant: speeding is dangerous, irrespective of the situation; drink driving 

is  dangerous,  irrespective  of  the  situation;  bald  tyres  are  dangerous,  irrespective  of  the 

situation.  All these behaviours put the general public at risk.  Violence is always serious.  The 

argument that it was a domestic dispute, or away from the taxi, is irrelevant.  A person who 

has a propensity to violence has that potential in every situation.  Sexual offences are always 

serious.  A person who has in the past abused their position (whatever that may have been) 

                                                            
30 As recommended by the DfT “Taxi and Private Hire Licensing – Best Practice Guide” para 59 
31 Leeds City Council v Hussain [2002] EWHC 1145 (Admin), [2003] RTR 199 and Cherwell District Council v Anwar[2011] EWHC 
2943 (Admin)  Tudalen 571



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

13 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

to  assault  another  sexually  has  demonstrated  completely  unacceptable  standards  of 

behaviour. 

 

3.31 Applicants may claim that they have sought employment in other fields and been precluded 

as a result of their antecedent history particularly if that contains convictions.  They therefore 

seek to become a licensed driver as an occupation of last resort.  This is unacceptable as the 

granting of a licence would place such a person in a unique position of trust.  The paramount 

responsibility  of  a  licensing  authority  is  to  protect  the  public,  not  provide  employment 

opportunities.   

 

3.32 Licensees are expected to demonstrate appropriate professional conduct at all time, whether 

in  the  context  of  their  work  or  otherwise.    Licensees  should  be  courteous,  avoid 

confrontation, not be abusive or exhibit prejudice in any way.  In no circumstances should 

Licensees take the law into their own hands.  Licensees are expected to act with integrity and 

demonstrate conduct befitting the trust that is placed in them. 

 

3.33 There are those who seek to take advantage of vulnerable people by providing services that 

they are not entitled to provide; for example, by plying for hire in an area where they are not 

entitled to do so.  Licensees are expected to be vigilant of such behaviour and to report any 

concerns to the Police and the relevant licensing authority.  Passengers should feel confident 

to check that the person offering a service  is entitled to do so.   Licensees should willingly 

demonstrate that they are entitled to provide the offered service by, for example, showing 

their badge.  

 

3.34 As a  society, we need  to ask  the question “who  is driving my  taxi?” and be secure  in  the 

knowledge that the answer is “a safe and suitable person”.  The vast majority of drivers are 

decent, law abiding people who work very hard to provide a good service to their customers 

and the community at large.  However poor decisions by local authorities and courts serve to 

undermine the travelling public’s confidence in the trade as a whole.  Unless local authorities 

and the courts are prepared to take robust (and difficult) decisions to maintain the standards 

the  local authority  lays down, and  in some cases  tighten up their own policies,  the public 

cannot have complete confidence in taxi drivers.  This is detrimental to all involved. 

 

Private Hire Operators 

3.35 A private hire operator (“PHO”) is the person who takes a booking for a private hire vehicle 

(“PHV”), and then dispatches a PHV driven by a licensed private hire driver (“PHD”) to fulfil 

that booking.  All three licences (PHO, PHV and PHD) must have been granted by the same 

Tudalen 572



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

14 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

authority32.   A local authority cannot grant a PHO licence unless the applicant has the right 

to work in the UK and is a fit and proper person33.  

 

3.36  As  with  taxi  drivers  the  role  of  the  PHO  goes  far  beyond  simply  taking  bookings  and 

dispatching vehicles.  In the course of making the booking and dispatching the vehicle and 

driver, the PHO will obtain significant amounts of personal information.  It is therefore vital 

that a PHO is as trustworthy and reliable as a driver, notwithstanding their slightly remote 

role.  Hackney carriages can also be pre‐booked, but local authorities should be mindful that 

where that booking is made by anybody other than a hackney carriage driver, there are no 

controls or vetting procedures in place in relation to the person who takes that booking and 

holds that personal information. 

 

3.37 How then does a local authority satisfy itself as to the “fitness and propriety” or “safety and 

suitability” of the applicant or licensee? 

 

3.38 Spent convictions can be taken into account when determining suitability for a licence, but 

the applicant (or licensee on renewal) can only be asked to obtain a Basic Disclosure from the 

Disclosure and Barring Service.  

 

3.39 Although this is by no means a perfect system, it does give local authorities a reasonable basis 

for  making  an  informed  decision  as  to  fitness  and  propriety  of  an  applicant  or  existing 

licensee.  

 

3.40 To enable consistent and informed decisions to be made, it is important to have a working 

test of fitness and propriety for PHOs and a suitable variation on the test for drivers can be 

used:  

“Would  I  be  comfortable  providing  sensitive  information  such  as  holiday  plans, 

movements  of  my  family  or  other  information  to  this  person,  and  feel  safe  in  the 

knowledge  that  such  information  will  not  be  used  or  passed  on  for  criminal  or 

unacceptable purposes?”34 

3.41 There is a further point to consider in relation to PHOs and that concerns the staff used on 

the telephones and radios.  There is no reason why a condition cannot be imposed on a PHO 

licence requiring them to undertake checks on those they employ/use within their company 

to satisfy themselves that they are fit and proper people to undertake that task and retain 

that information to demonstrate that compliance to the local authority.  Any failure on the 

part of the PHO to either comply with this requirement, or act upon information that they 

                                                            
32 See Dittah v Birmingham City Council, Choudhry v Birmingham City Council [1993] RTR 356 QBD 
33 Section 55(1) Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
34 Button on Taxis – Licensing Law and Practice 4th  Ed Bloomsbury Professional at para 12.35 Tudalen 573



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

15 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

obtain  (thereby  allowing  unsuitable  staff  to work  in  positions  of  trust),  would  then  have 

serious implications on the continuing fitness and propriety of the PHO. 

 

3.42 Care should be taken in circumstances where a PHO Licence is sought in the name of a limited 

company, partnership or other business structure that all the requirements applicable to an 

individual  applicant  are made of  each director  or  partner  of  the  applicant  organisation35.   

Only by so doing can a decision be made as  to  the  fitness and propriety of  the operating 

entity. 

 

Vehicle Proprietors 

3.43 Similar considerations apply  to  the vehicle proprietors, both hackney carriage and private 

hire  (referred  to here generically as  “taxis”).   Although  the vehicle proprietor may not be 

driving a vehicle (and if they are they will be subject to their own fitness and propriety test to 

obtain a driver’s licence), they clearly have an interest in the use of the vehicle.  They will also 

be  responsible  for  the  maintenance  of  the  vehicle,  and  vehicles  that  are  not  properly 

maintained have a clear impact on public safety. 

 

3.44  Taxis are used to transport people in many circumstances, and are seen everywhere across 

the United Kingdom, at all times of the day and night, in any location.   Therefore, taxis could 

provide a transportation system for illegal activities or any form of contraband, whether that 

is drugs, guns, illicit alcohol or tobacco, or people who are involved in or are the victims of 

illegal activity, or children who may be at risk of being, or are being, abused or exploited. 

 

3.45 In  relation  to both hackney  carriages and private hire  vehicles,  the  local  authority has an 

absolute discretion over granting the licence36 and should therefore ensure that both their 

enquiries and considerations are robust.  It is much more involved than simply looking at the 

vehicle  itself  and  it  is  equally  applicable  on  applications  to  transfer  a  vehicle  as  on  grant 

applications. 

 

3.46 Again,  this  is not an exempt occupation  for  the purposes of  the 1974 Act, but exactly  the 

same process can be applied as for private hire operators – Basic DBS, statutory declaration 

and consideration of spent convictions.  This can then be used in the light of a similar policy 

in relation to suitability as the authority will already have for drivers and PHOs. 

 

3.47 A suitable test would be: 

“Would I be comfortable allowing this person to have control of a licensed vehicle that 

can travel anywhere, at any time of the day or night without arousing suspicion, and be 

                                                            
35 See s57(1)(c) of the 1976 Act. 
36 S37 of the 1847 Act in relation to hackney carriages; section 48 of the 1976 Act to private hire vehicles. Tudalen 574



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

16 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

satisfied that he/she would not allow  it  to be used for criminal or other unacceptable 

purposes,  and  be  confident  that  he/she would maintain  it  to  an  acceptable  standard 

throughout the period of the licence?”37 

 

                                                            
37 Button on Taxis – Licensing Law and Practice 4th Ed Bloomsbury Professional at para 8.98 Tudalen 575



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

17 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Chapter 4: Guidance on Determination 

 

4.1 As is clear from the overview of Offenders and Offending above, there is no evidence which 

can provide precise periods of time which must elapse after a crime before a person can no 

longer be considered to be at risk of reoffending, but the risk reduces over time.  In light of 

that,  the  suggested  timescales  below are  intended  to  reduce  the  risk  to  the public  to  an 

acceptable level. 

 

4.2 Many members  of  our  society  use,  and  even  rely  on,  hackney  carriages  and  private  hire 

vehicles  to  provide  transportation  services.    This  can  be  on  a  regular  basis,  or  only 

occasionally, but in all cases passengers, other road users and society as a whole must have 

confidence in the safety and suitability of the driver, the vehicle itself and anyone involved 

with the booking process. 

 

4.3 Ideally, all those involved in the hackney carriage and private hire trades (hackney carriage 

and private hire drivers, hackney carriage and private hire vehicle owners and private hire 

operators) would be persons of the highest integrity. In many cases that is true, and the vast 

majority of those involved in these trades are decent, upstanding, honest and hard‐working 

individuals.  Unfortunately, as in any occupation or trade, there are those who fail to conform 

to those standards. 

 

4.4 The purpose of this document is to offer guidance on how licensing authorities can determine 

whether a particular person is safe and suitable either to be granted a licence in the first place 

or to retain such a licence.  As outlined above, a policy can be robust, and if necessary, say 

never, and each case is then considered on its own merits in the light of that policy. 

 

Pre‐application requirements 

4.5 Licensing authorities are entitled to set their own pre‐application requirements. These will 

vary  depending  upon  the  type  of  licence  in  question  but  can  include  some  or  all  of  the 

following (these are not exhaustive lists): 

 

Vehicles: 

 Basic DBS checks; 

 Specifications e.g. minimum number of doors, minimum seat size, headroom, boot space 

etc; 

 Mechanical tests and tests of the maintenance of the vehicle e.g. ripped seats etc; 

 Emission limits/vehicle age limits; 

 Wheelchair accessibility requirements. 

 

Tudalen 576



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

18 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

 

Drivers: 

 Enhanced DBS checks with update service; 

 Checks made to the National Anti Fraud Network database on refusals and revocations of 

hackney carriage and private hire licences (when available); 

 Medical checks; 

 Knowledge of the geographic area; 

 Spoken and written English tests; 

 Disability awareness training; 

 Child sexual exploitation and safeguarding training. 

 

Operators: 

 Basic DBS checks; 

 Details of their vetting procedures for their staff; 

 Knowledge of the licensing area. 

 

4.6 In relation to each of these licences, the licensing authority has discretion as to whether or 

not to grant the licence. 

 

4.7 Drivers and operators cannot be granted a licence unless the authority is satisfied that they 

are  a  “fit  and  proper  person”  to  hold  that  licence  (see  Local Government  (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976 ss 51 and 59 in respect of drivers; s55 in respect of operators).  

 

4.8 There are no statutory criteria for vehicle licences, therefore the authority has an absolute 

discretion over whether to grant either a hackney carriage or private hire proprietor’s licence.  

 

4.9 “Fit and proper” means that the individual (or in the case of a private hire operator’s licence, 

the  limited  company  together  with  its  directors  and  secretary,  or  all  members  of  a 

partnership38) is “safe and suitable” to hold the licence. 

 

4.10 In determining safety and suitability the licensing authority is entitled to take into account all 

matters  concerning  that  applicant  or  licensee.    They  are  not  simply  concerned with  that 

person’s  behaviour  whilst  working  in  the  hackney  carriage  or  private  hire  trade.    This 

consideration is far wider than simply criminal convictions or other evidence of unacceptable 

behaviour, and the entire character of the individual will be considered.  This can include, but 

is not limited to, the individual’s attitude and temperament. 

 

                                                            
38 Section 57(2)(c) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 allows a local authority to consider the 
character of a company director or secretary, or any partner. Tudalen 577



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

19 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

4.11 Convictions  for  attempt or  conspiracy will  be  regarded  as  convictions  for  the  substantive 

crime.  A caution is regarded in exactly the same way as a conviction39.  Fixed penalties and 

community resolutions will also be considered in the same way as a conviction40. 

 

4.12 It  is  important  to  recognise  that matters which have not  resulted  in a criminal  conviction 

(whether  that  is  the  result  of  an  acquittal,  a  conviction  being  quashed,  decision  not  to 

prosecute or an investigation which is continuing where the individual has been bailed) can 

and will be taken into account by the licensing authority.  In addition, complaints where there 

was no police involvement will also be considered.  Within this document, any reference to 

“conviction" will also include matters that amount to criminal behaviour, but which have not 

resulted in a conviction.  

 

4.13 In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is awaiting trial, 

the  determination  will  be  deferred  until  the  trial  has  been  completed  or  the  charges 

withdrawn.   Where an existing  licensee  is charged,  it will be for the  licensing authority to 

decide what action to take in the light of these guidelines. 

 

4.14 In all cases, the licensing authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in question and 

what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be determined on its own 

merits, and in the light of these guidelines. 

 

4.15 Any  offences  committed,  or  unacceptable  behaviour  reported  whilst  driving  a  hackney 

carriage  or  private  hire  vehicle,  concerning  the  use  of  a  hackney  carriage  or  private  hire 

vehicle,  or  in  connection  with  an  operator  of  a  private  hire  vehicle  will  be  viewed  as 

aggravating  features,  and  the  fact  that  any  other  offences were  not  connected with  the 

hackney carriage and private hire trades will not be seen as mitigating factors. 

 

4.16 As the licensing authority will be looking at the entirety of the individual, in many cases safety 

and suitability will not be determined by a specified period of time having elapsed following 

a  conviction  or  the  completion  of  a  sentence.    Time  periods  are  relevant  and  weighty 

considerations, but they are not the only determining factor. 

 

4.17 In addition to the nature of the offence or other behaviour, the quantity of matters and the 

period  over  which  they  were  committed  will  also  be  considered.    Patterns  of  repeated 

unacceptable  or  criminal  behaviour  are  likely  to  cause  greater  concern  than  isolated 

occurrences as such patterns can demonstrate a propensity for such behaviour or offending. 

 

4.18 Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal situation. In 

relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do make mistakes and lapse in their 

conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further accepted that many learn from experience 

and  do  not  go  on  to  commit  further  offences.    Accordingly,  in  many  cases  an  isolated 

                                                            
39 This is because a caution can only be imposed following an admission of guilt, which is equivalent to a guilty plea on 
prosecution. 
40 This is because payment of a fixed penalty indicates acceptance of guilt, and a community resolution can only be imposed 
following an admission of guilt. Tudalen 578



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

20 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

conviction, especially if committed some time ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal of 

a licence. 

 

4.19 It is also important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is a continuing 

requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety and suitability.  The licensing 

authority has powers to take action against the holder of all types of licence (driver’s, vehicle 

and operator’s) and it must be understood that any convictions or other actions on the part 

of  the  licensee  which  would  have  prevented  them  being  granted  a  licence  on  initial 

application will lead to that licence being revoked. 

 

4.20 Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which is discovered 

to have occurred in any part of any application process (e.g. failure to declare convictions, 

false  names  or  addresses,  falsified  references) will  result  in  a  licence  being  refused,  or  if 

already granted, revoked and may result in prosecution. 

 

4.21 As the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of licence applied for or 

held, it is necessary to consider the impact of particular offences on those licences separately.  

However, there are some overriding considerations which will apply in all circumstances. 

 

4.22 Generally, where a person has more  than one conviction,  this will  raise  serious questions 

about  their  safety  and  suitability.    The  licensing  authority  is  looking  for  safe  and  suitable 

individuals, and once a pattern or trend of repeated offending is apparent, a licence will not 

be granted or renewed. 

 

4.23 Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence which is not detailed in this guidance, 

the licensing authority will take that conviction into account and use these guidelines as an 

indication of the approach that should be taken.  

 

4.24 These guidelines do not replace the duty of the licensing authority to refuse to grant a licence 

where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit and proper person.  Where 

a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the authority must consider the matter from 

first principles and determine the fitness and propriety of the individual. 

 

Drivers 

4.25 As the criteria for determining whether an individual should be granted or retain a hackney 

carriage driver’s licence are identical to the criteria for a private hire driver’s licence, the two 

are considered together. 

 

4.26 A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct responsibility for 

the safety of other road users and significant control over passengers who are in the vehicle. 

As those passengers may be alone, and may also be vulnerable, any previous convictions or 

unacceptable behaviour will weigh heavily against a licence being granted or retained. 

 
Tudalen 579



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

21 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

4.27 As  stated above, where  an  applicant has more  than one  conviction  showing  a pattern or 

tendency  irrespective of  time  since  the  convictions,  serious  consideration will  need  to be 

given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person. 

 

4.28 In  relation  to  single  convictions,  the  following  time  periods  should  elapse  following 

completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed) before a licence 

will be granted.  

 

Crimes resulting in death 

4.29 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death of 

another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another person they 

will not be licensed. 

 

Exploitation 

4.30 Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has any 

connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective of 

whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed.  This includes 

slavery, child sexual exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but 

this is not an exhaustive list. 

 

Offences involving violence  

4.31 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected with any offence 

of  violence,  a  licence  will  not  be  granted  until  at  least  10  years  have  elapsed  since  the 

completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

Possession of a weapon 

4.32 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon related 

offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion 

of any sentence imposed. 

 

Sex and indecency offences 

4.33 Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal sexual 

activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be granted. 

 

4.34 In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who 

is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any ‘barred’ list. 

 

 

 
Tudalen 580



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

22 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Dishonesty 

4.35 Where an applicant has a conviction  for any offence of dishonesty, or any offence where 

dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years 

have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

Drugs  

4.36 Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or possession 

with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a licence will not be 

granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

4.37 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the possession of 

drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion 

of any sentence imposed.  In these circumstances, any applicant will also have to undergo 

drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs. 

 

Discrimination 

4.38 Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any form, 

a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any 

sentence imposed. 

 

Motoring convictions 

4.39 Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility 

of carrying the public.  Any motoring conviction demonstrates a lack of professionalism and will 

be considered seriously.  It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a 

single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the grant of a licence or may not 

result in action against an existing licence.  Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the 

licensee does not take their professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and 

suitable person to be granted or retain a licence. 

 

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand‐held telephone 

or hand held device whilst driving 

4.40 Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of drugs, a 

licence will  not  be  granted  until  at  least  7  years  have  elapsed  since  the  completion  of  any 

sentence or driving ban  imposed.    In  these  circumstances,  any  applicant will  also  have  to 

undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled 

drugs. 

 

4.41 Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a hand‐held 

device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since the 

conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed, whichever is the later. 

 

Tudalen 581



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

23 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Other motoring offences 

4.42 A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life, driving under 

the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and has not resulted in injury 

to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles).  Where an applicant has 7 or more 

points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or similar offences, a licence will not be granted 

until at least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

4.43 A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and also any offence 

which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles).  It also 

includes driving without insurance or any offence connected with motor insurance.  Where an 

applicant has a conviction for a major traffic offence or similar offence, a  licence will not be 

granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

Hackney carriage and private hire offences 

4.44 Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected to hackney 

carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be granted until at least 

7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

Vehicle use offences 

4.45 Where  an  applicant  has  a  conviction  for  any  offence  which  involved  the  use  of  a  vehicle 

(including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will not be granted until at least 

7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. 

 

Private Hire Operators 

4.46 A private hire operator  (“an operator”)  does not have direct  responsibility  for  the  safety of 

passengers,  other  road  users  or  direct  contact with  passengers who  are  in  the  private  hire 

vehicle (except where they are also licensed as a private hire driver).  However, in performing 

their duties  they obtain and hold considerable amounts of personal and private  information 

about their passengers which must be treated in confidence and not revealed to others, or used 

by the operator or their staff for criminal or other unacceptable purposes. 

 

4.47 As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious consideration will 

need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person. 

 

4.48 Operators must ensure that any staff that are used within the business (whether employees 

or independent contractors) and are able to access any information as described above are 

subject to the same standards as the operator themselves.  This can be effected by means of 

the individual staff member being required by the operator to obtain a basic DBS certificate.  

If an operator is found not to be applying the required standards and using staff that do not 

meet the licensing authority’s overall criteria, that will lead to the operator’s licence being 

revoked. 
Tudalen 582



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

24 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

 

4.49 As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private hire system is 

vital, the same standards will be applied to operators as those applied to drivers, which are 

outlined above. 

 

Vehicle proprietors 

4.50 Vehicle  proprietors  (both  hackney  carriage  and  private  hire)  have  two  principal 

responsibilities. 

 

4.51 Firstly, they must ensure that the vehicle is maintained to an acceptable standard at all times. 

 

4.52 Secondly, they must ensure that the vehicle is not used for illegal or illicit purposes. 

 

4.53 As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious consideration will 

need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person to be granted or retain a 

vehicle licence. 

 

4.54 As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private hire system is 

vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those applied to drivers, which are 

outlined above. 

 

   

Tudalen 583



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

25 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

Acknowledgements 
 

 

In December 2015, the Institute of Licensing established a working party to look at the creation 

of a model or standard set of guidelines in relation to assessing the suitability of applicants and 

licence holders in relation to taxi drivers, operators and vehicle proprietors, taking into account 

the character of the applicant or licensee.        

 

The core project group comprised:   

 

 Stephen Turner, Solicitor at Hull City Council, Licensing Lead for Lawyers in Local 

Government and Vice Chair of the North East Region IoL (Project Group Chair) 

 Jim Button, Solicitor at James Button & Co and President of IoL 

 Philip Kolvin QC, Cornerstone Barristers and Patron of IoL 

 John Miley, Licensing Manager for Broxtowe Borough Council, National Chair for NALEO 

and Vice Chair of the East Midlands Region IoL 

 Linda Cannon, previously Licensing Manager for Basingstoke & Dean and Hart Councils, 

and now private licensing consultant and Chair of the South East Region IoL 

 Phil Bates, Licensing Manager for Southampton City Council 

 Sue Nelson, Executive Officer of IoL 

 

This  Guidance  is  the  result  of  the  work  of  the  project  team  and  includes  consideration 

of antecedent history of the applicant or licence holder and its relevance to their ‘character’ as 

well as consideration of convictions, cautions and non‐conviction information. 

 

The Institute is delighted to have the Local Government Association, the National Association of 

Licensing  and  Enforcement  Officers  and  Lawyers  in  Local  Government  contributing  to  and 

supporting this project with IoL.  

 

The Institute is also grateful to others who have contributed to the work of the project group, 

including former probation officer Hannah Jones (now Housing Officer at Flintshire Council) who 

has assisted the group in providing the chapter on 'Offenders and Offending'.   

 
Tudalen 584



 
Guidance on determining the suitabil i ty of applicants and licensees in the hackney and private 

hire trades 

26 | P a g e  
Guidance on Suitabi l ity 260418 

 

This project has been further enhanced by invaluable contributions from the following individuals 

and organisations: 

 

 Ellie Greenwood and Rebecca Johnson, Local Government Association 

 Tim Briton, Lawyers in Local Government 

 Ben Atrill 

 Suzy Lamplugh Trust 

 Councillor Richard Wright, North Kesteven District Council 

 Professor of Criminology Fiona Measham, Durham University 

 Councillor Philip Evans, Conwy County Borough Council 

 Councillors Catriona Morris and Mick Legg, Milton Keynes Council 

 Louise Scott Garner 

 Jenna Parker, Institute of Licensing 

 

Finally, grateful thanks go to all those who responded to the initial fact‐finding survey and the 

subsequent consultation on the draft guidance. 

Tudalen 585



The Local Government Association (LGA) is the national voice of local government. 
www.local.gov.uk

The Institute of Licensing (IoL) is the professional body for licensing practitioners across the UK. 
www.instituteoflicensing.org

Lawyers in Local Government (LLG). www.lawyersinlocalgovernment.org

National Association of Licensing and Enforcement Officers (NALEO). www.naleo.org.uk

Institute of Licensing
Egerton House
2 Tower Road
Birkenhead
CH41 1FN
T: 0151 650 6984
E: info@instituteoflicensing.org

Tudalen 586



L - 2007. 

GUIDANCE ON DETERMINING THE SUITABILITY OF 
APPLICANTS AND LICENSEES IN THE HACKNEY AND 

PRIVATE HIRE TRADES

Council Offices Council Offices Council Offices
Neuadd Brycheiniog Y Gwalia Neuadd Maldwyn

Cambrian Way Ithon Road Severn Road
Brecon Llandrindod Wells Welshpool
Powys Powys Powys

LD3 7HR LD1 6AA SY21 7AS

Tudalen 587



Amendment Record

ISSUE DATE APPROVED SUMMARY OF CHANGE

1

2

3

4

5

8th December 
2005

25th June 2007

2nd August 2012

16th July 2014

December 2018

 Licensing 
Committee

Service name updated
Recognition of fixed penalty notices & anti 
social behaviour
Inclusion of simple and conditional cautions 
and charges pending
Minor amendments to text to clarify meaning or 
broaden scope
Inclusion of overseas residents

Significant additions made further to 
consideration of the template policy produced 
by LACORS in September 2010

All Wales Licensing Expert Panel policy 
approved by Full Council

IOL document ‘Guidance on determining the 
suitability of licensees in the hackney and 
private hire trades document used as basis for 
revised document

Prepared by: S. Jones  Approved by: Licensing Committee & Full Council

Issue No 5

Tudalen 588



GUIDANCE ON DETERMINING THE SUITABILITY OF 
APPLICANTS AND LICENSEES IN THE HACKNEY AND 

PRIVATE HIRE TRADES 

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The purpose of this document is to provide guidance on the criteria taken 
into account by the council when determining whether or not an applicant or 
an existing licence holder is a fit and proper or safe and suitable person to 
hold a licence.

1.2 The purpose of hackney carriage and private hire licensing is to protect and
ensure the safety of the travelling public; there are many instances where an
application will be refused, or a licence or revoked or suspended if the person
falls short of the fit and proper test. Case law makes it clear that the impact of
losing (or not being granted) a driver’s licence on the applicant and his family is
not a consideration to be taken into account.

1.3 The Licensing Authority makes decisions on the balance of probabilities rather than 
beyond reasonable doubt.

1.4 It is recognised that these guidelines are not legislation, it is however, the Authority’s
baseline for acceptability. As such, it will only be departed from in exceptional
circumstances and for justifiable reasons which should be recorded.

1.5 Where licensing officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will 
utilise these guidelines when making a decision to grant a licence. In all 
other cases applications for licences will be referred to the licensing 
committee/panel (or other relevant decision-making body). 

2.0 Powers

2.1 Powers to grant driver / operator licences are contained within Section 51, 
Section 55 and Section 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 (the Act). 

2.2 Powers to suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a driver’s licence are 
contained within Section 61 of the Act, where the applicant/licence holder 
has been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty, indecency, violence; 
failure to comply with the provisions of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847; 
failure to comply with the provisions of Part II of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; or any other reasonable cause.

2.3 Section 61 (2B) allows the Licensing Authority, if it appears that in the 
interests of public safety, to suspend or revoke a driver’s licence with 
immediate effect.  A Decision Notice explaining why this decision has been 
taken will be issued to the driver and will have effect when the notice is 

Tudalen 589



given to the driver.  The driver may appeal this decision but may not drive 
during the appeal period.

2.4 Section 62 of the Act allows the Licensing Authority to suspend, revoke or 
refuse to renew an operator’s licence if the applicant/licence holder has 
been convicted of an offence under or non-compliance with the provisions 
of Part II of the Act; or grounds of any conduct on the part of the operator 
which appears to the Council to render him unfit , or due to any material 
change since the licence was granted in any of the circumstances of the 
operator on the basis of which the licence was granted or any other 
reasonable cause.

2.5 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 (Exceptions)(Amendment) Order 
2002, allows the Licensing Authority to take into account all convictions 
recorded against an applicant or the holder of a private hire vehicle or 
hackney carriage driver’s licence, whether spent or not. Therefore the 
Licensing Authority will have regard to all relevant convictions, particularly 
where there is a long history of offending or a recent pattern of repeat 
offending. 

3.0 Appeals

3.1 Any applicant who has been refused a driver / operator licence, or a 
licensed driver / operator whose licence has been suspended or revoked 
has a right to appeal to the Magistrates’ Court within 21 days of receipt of 
the notice.

4.0 Considerations

4.4 One common misunderstanding is that if the offence was not committed when
the driver was driving a taxi, it is much less serious, or even if it was in a taxi
but not when passengers were aboard. This is not relevant: speeding is
dangerous, irrespective of the situation; drink driving is dangerous, irrespective
of the situation; bald tyres are dangerous, irrespective of the situation. All these
behaviours put the general public at risk. Violence is always serious. The
argument that it was a domestic dispute, or away from the taxi, is irrelevant. A
person who has a propensity to violence has that potential in every situation.
Sexual offences are always serious. A person who has in the past abused their
position (whatever that may have been) to assault another sexually has
demonstrated completely unacceptable standards of behaviour.

4.5 Applicants may claim that they have sought employment in other fields and
been precluded as a result of their antecedent history particularly if that contains
convictions. They therefore seek to become a licensed driver as an occupation
of last resort. This is unacceptable as the granting of a licence would place such
a person in a unique position of trust. The paramount responsibility of a
licensing authority is to protect the public, not provide employment
opportunities.

Tudalen 590



4.6 Licensees are expected to demonstrate appropriate professional conduct at
all time, whether in the context of their work or otherwise. Licensees should
be courteous, avoid confrontation, not be abusive or exhibit prejudice in any
way. In no circumstances should Licensees take the law into their own hands.
Licensees are expected to act with integrity and demonstrate conduct befitting
the trust that is placed in them.

5.0 Guidance on Determination

5.1 There are 5 types of licence: hackney carriage vehicle; private hire vehicle;
hackney carriage driver, private hire driver (this authority adopts a dual badge
for drivers that permits them to drive a private hire vehicle and a hackney
carriage vehicle) and private hire operator. In relation to all of these licences,
the authority has the discretion to grant, revoke and suspend a licence.

5.2  Drivers and operators cannot be granted a licence unless the authority is
satisfied that they are a “fit and proper person” to hold that licence (see Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 ss 51 and 59 in respect of
drivers; s55 in respect of operators).

5.3 There are no statutory criteria for vehicle licences, therefore the authority has
an absolute discretion over whether to grant either a hackney carriage or private
hire proprietor’s licence.

5.4 “Fit and proper” means that the individual (or in the case of a private hire
operator’s licence, the limited company together with its directors and secretary,
or all members of a partnership) is “safe and suitable” to hold the licence.

5.5 In determining safety and suitability the licensing authority is entitled to take into
account all matters concerning that applicant or licensee. They are not simply
concerned with that person’s behaviour whilst working in the hackney carriage
or private hire trade. This consideration is far wider than simply criminal
convictions or other evidence of unacceptable behaviour, and the entire
character of the individual will be considered. This can include, but is not limited
to, the individual’s attitude and temperament.

 5.6 Convictions for attempt or conspiracy will be regarded as convictions for the
substantive crime. A caution is regarded in exactly the same way as a
conviction. Fixed penalties and community resolutions will also be considered
in the same way as a conviction.

5.7 It is important to recognise that matters which have not resulted in a criminal
conviction (whether that is the result of an acquittal, a conviction being quashed,
decision not to prosecute or an investigation which is continuing where the
individual has been bailed) can and will be taken into account by the licensing
authority. In addition, complaints where there was no police involvement will
also be considered. Within this document, any reference to “conviction" will also
include matters that amount to criminal behaviour, but which have not resulted

Tudalen 591



in a conviction.

5.8 In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and
is awaiting trial, the determination will be deferred until the trial has been
completed or the charges withdrawn. Where an existing licensee is charged, it
will be for the licensing authority to decide what action to take in the light of
these guidelines.

5.9 In all cases, the licensing authority will consider the conviction or behaviour in
question and what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case
will be determined on its own merits, and in the light of these guidelines.

 5.10 Any offences committed, or unacceptable behaviour reported whilst driving a
hackney carriage or private hire vehicle, concerning the use of a hackney
carriage or private hire vehicle, or in connection with an operator of a private
hire vehicle will be viewed as aggravating features, and the fact that any other
offences were not connected with the hackney carriage and private hire trades
will not be seen as mitigating factors.

5.11 As the licensing authority will be looking at the entirety of the individual, in many
cases safety and suitability will not be determined by a specified period of time
having elapsed following a conviction or the completion of a sentence. Time
periods are relevant and weighty considerations, but they are not the only
determining factor.

5.12 In addition to the nature of the offence or other behaviour, the quantity of
matters and the period over which they were committed will also be considered.
Patterns of repeated unacceptable or criminal behaviour are likely to cause
greater concern than isolated occurrences as such patterns can demonstrate a
propensity for such behaviour or offending.

 5.13 Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal
situation. In relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do make
mistakes and lapse in their conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further
accepted that many learn from experience and do not go on to commit further
offences. Accordingly, in many cases an isolated conviction, especially if
committed some time ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal of a licence.

5.14 It is also important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is
a continuing requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety and
suitability. The licensing authority has powers to take action against the holder
of all types of licence (driver’s, vehicle and operator’s) and it must be
understood that any convictions or other actions on the part of the licensee
which would have prevented them being granted a licence on initial application
will lead to that licence being revoked.

 5.16 Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which
is discovered to have occurred in any part of any application process (e.g.
failure to declare convictions, false names or addresses, falsified references)
will result in a licence being refused, or if already granted, revoked and may

Tudalen 592



result in prosecution.

5.17 As the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of licence
applied for or held, it is necessary to consider the impact of particular offences
on those licences separately. However, there are some overriding
considerations which will apply in all circumstances.

5.18 Generally, where a person has more than one conviction, this will raise serious
questions about their safety and suitability. The licensing authority is looking for
safe and suitable individuals, and once a pattern or trend of repeated offending
is apparent, a licence will not be granted or renewed.

5.19 Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence which is not detailed in
this guidance, the licensing authority will take that conviction into account and
use these guidelines as an indication of the approach that should be taken.

5.20 These guidelines do not replace the duty of the licensing authority to refuse to
grant a licence where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit
and proper person. Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the
authority must consider the matter from first principles and determine the fitness
and propriety of the individual.

5.21 New applications together with reviews of licences will be
determined in line with the principles set out below. New applications will 
either be granted or refused. Reviews of licences can result the issuing of 
a warning, no further action or the suspension/revocation of the licence.

Drivers

5.22 As the criteria for determining whether an individual should be granted or retain
a hackney carriage driver’s licence are identical to the criteria for a private hire
driver’s licence, the two are considered together.

5.23 A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct
responsibility for the safety of other road users and significant control over
passengers who are in the vehicle. As those passengers may be alone, and
may also be vulnerable, any previous convictions or unacceptable behaviour
will weigh heavily against a licence being granted or retained.

5.24 As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction showing a
pattern or tendency irrespective of time since the convictions, serious
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable
person.

5.25 In relation to single convictions, the following time periods should elapse
following completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was
imposed) before a licence will be granted.

5.26 Crimes resulting in death
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime which resulted

Tudalen 593



in the death of another person or was intended to cause the death or serious
injury of another person they will not be licensed.

5.27 Exploitation
Where an applicant or licensee has been convicted of a crime involving, related
to, or has any connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another
individual irrespective of whether the victim or victims were adults or children,
they will not be licensed. This includes slavery, child sexual exploitation,
grooming, psychological, emotional or financial abuse, but this is not an
exhaustive list.

5.28 Offences involving violence
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected
with any offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years
have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

5.29 Possession of a weapon
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other
weapon related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

5.30 Sex and indecency offences
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with
illegal sexual activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be granted.

In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any ‘barred’ list.

5.31 Dishonesty
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty, or any
offence where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any
sentence imposed.

5.32 Drugs
Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to
supply, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since
the completion of any sentence imposed.

Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have
elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these
circumstances, any applicant will also have to undergo drugs testing at their
own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.

5.33 Discrimination
Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination
in any form, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed
since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Tudalen 594



5.34 Motoring convictions
Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with
the responsibility of carrying the public. Any motoring conviction demonstrates
a lack of professionalism and will be considered seriously. It is accepted that
offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor
traffic offence would not prohibit the grant of a licence or may not result in action
against an existing licence. Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the
licensee does not take their professional responsibilities seriously and is
therefore, not a safe and suitable person to be granted or retain a licence.

5.35 Drink driving / driving under the influence of drugs / using a hand-held
telephone or hand held device whilst driving

Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the
influence of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have
elapsed since the completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In these
circumstances, any applicant will also have to undergo drugs testing at their
own expense to demonstrate that they are not using controlled drugs.
Where an applicant has a conviction for using a hand‐held mobile telephone or a 

hand‐held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 5
years have elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or
driving ban imposed, whichever is the later.

5.36 Other motoring offences
 A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of

life, driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile
phone, and has not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property
(including vehicles). Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA
licence for minor traffic or similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at
least 5 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and
also any offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any
property (including vehicles). It also includes driving without insurance or any
offence connected with motor insurance. Where an applicant has a conviction
for a major traffic offence or similar offence, a licence will not be granted until
at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

5.37 Hackney carriage and private hire offences
Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or
connected to hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use),
a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence imposed.

5.38 Vehicle use offences
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of
a vehicle (including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will
not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any

Tudalen 595



sentence imposed.

5.39 Private Hire Operators
A private hire operator (“an operator”) does not have direct responsibility for the
safety of passengers, other road users or direct contact with passengers who
are in the private hire vehicle (except where they are also licensed as a private
hire driver). However, in performing their duties they obtain and hold
considerable amounts of personal and private information about their
passengers which must be treated in confidence and not revealed to others, or
used by the operator or their staff for criminal or other unacceptable purposes.

As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable
person.

Operators must ensure that any staff that are used within the business (whether
employees or independent contractors) and are able to access any information
as described above are subject to the same standards as the operator
themselves. This can be effected by means of the individual staff member being
required by the operator to obtain a basic DBS certificate. If an operator is
found not to be applying the required standards and using staff that do not meet
the licensing authority’s overall criteria, that will lead to the operator’s licence
being revoked.

As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private
hire system is vital, the same standards will be applied to operators as those
applied to drivers, which are outlined above.

5.40 Vehicle Proprietors
Vehicle proprietors (both hackney carriage and private hire) have two principal
responsibilities.

Firstly, they must ensure that the vehicle is maintained to an acceptable
standard at all times.
Secondly, they must ensure that the vehicle is not used for illegal or illicit
purposes.

As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable
person to be granted or retain a vehicle licence.

As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private
hire system is vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those
applied to drivers, which are outlined above.

Tudalen 596



CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL

PLANNING, TAXI LICENSING & RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Date: 6TH December 2018

REPORT AUTHOR:  Senior Licensing Officer

SUBJECT: Hackney carriage and Private Hire Licensing – Vehicle 
Conditions

REPORT FOR: Decision 

1. Summary 

1.1 To review proposed revisions to the vehicle licence conditions that apply 
to licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles, specifically 
introducing an age policy to licensed vehicles with a view to raising 
reliability, safety and overall standard of the licensed fleet in Powys

2. Proposal

2.1 The authority administers the licensing regime for Hackney Carriages 
(taxis) and Private Hire Vehicles, currently licences are issued subject to 
locally set conditions, the power to do this is contained in The Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Sections 47 (Hackney 
Carriages) and 48 (Private Hire Vehicles). The authority may attach such 
conditions they consider reasonably necessary; the overriding purpose 
of the taxi licensing regime is public safety. 

2.2 The conditions were last updated in October 2017 when a number of 
measures were introduced including:

 Requiring Wheelchair accessible vehicles to meet appropriate 
European Type Approval standards

 Stricter controls on the display of the vehicle licence plate 
 Stricter controls on exemptions to display the vehicle licence plate

2.3 It is proposed that in order to raise standards further an age condition to 
licensed vehicles be introduced. Such a policy is in recognition that 
licensed vehicles are working much of the time and have mileages far in 
excess than vehicles used for domestic purposes only. In line with many 
other authority’s age policies the condition would be twofold:

 A maximum age of either 6 years or 8 years (depending on the option 
taken by committee) for any application presented after 1.419 in 
respect of a vehicle that has not previously had a licence A maximum 
age for licensed vehicles of 12 years.

Tudalen 597

12



Hence a 5-year-old vehicle would be eligible for licensing, and if licensed 
could remain so until it reached 13 years, subject to no break in the 
annual renewal process.

It is further proposed that a lead in time of 12 months be approved for 
existing licensed vehicles, so for a proprietor with a vehicle approaching 
an age in excess of 12 years they will be permitted to renew the licence 
on that vehicle for a further 12 months from the date of commencement 
of the revised conditions. Allowing adequate notice to make 
arrangements to replace older vehicles

2.4 The age profile of our current licensed fleet is illustrated below (figures 
as of 01/10/2018):

16

32 32 33

31 30

37

35

30 30 29

34

29

27

14

11 10

2

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 1 0 1 1 1 2 1 3 1 4 1 5 1 6 1 7 1 8

N
O

 O
F 

VE
H

IC
LE

S

AGE

AGE PROF I LE OF  L I CENSED VEHI CLES 
I N POWYS

This policy would affect vehicles over 12 years old of which there are 
currently a total of 93 (21% of fleet); 29 of these would benefit from the 
12-month lead in period and would be eligible for licensing for a further 
year.

2.5 The chart below shows the age of all new vehicles licensed in the last 3 
years:

Tudalen 598



A large proportion of vehicles first presented for licensing are older 
vehicles, an age limit for vehicles for newly licensed vehicle will have a 
significant impact on the age of the fleet whether it be a six-year limit or 
an eight-year limit.

2.6 Age policies are a common feature of vehicle licence conditions and it is 
not uncommon for out of area vehicle proprietors to licence their vehicles 
with neighbouring authorities to avoid age conditions in their home 
authority. The introduction of an intended use policy for Hackney 
Carriages (that required Hackney Carriages proprietors to predominantly 
operate their vehicles in Powys) and a driver knowledge test in 2014 
assisted in tackling an influx of out of area applications in Powys at the 
time, but it is still perceived amongst those in the trade and by our 
Licensing staff that some Private Hire Operators who are able to mainly 
operate their vehicles outside of Powys will try and avoid age conditions 
in their own authorities.

2.6 Historically licensed vehicle conditions do vary from authority to 
authority. Taxi licensing legislation was delegated to Welsh Government 
this year and they have announced their intentions to reform the current 
outdated legislation https://gov.wales/newsroom/transport/2017/170613-
welsh-government-look-to-update-200-year-old-taxi-licensing/?lang=en . 
Their proposals for reform include national standards for both vehicles 
and drivers, which would be very welcome. Unfortunately, it is not likely 
that such reforms will be implemented for several years yet. It is not 
known at this stage whether these standards will include an age policy 
for vehicles, but by bringing our conditions in line with the majority of 
authorities in Wales it will assist in consistency in the interim

2.7 In Wales, of the 22 authorities all but 10, including Powys do not have an 
age policy. All of the policies vary but most use the two-fold approach 
with a maximum age anywhere between licensing new vehicles only up 

Tudalen 599

https://gov.wales/newsroom/transport/2017/170613-welsh-government-look-to-update-200-year-old-taxi-licensing/?lang=en
https://gov.wales/newsroom/transport/2017/170613-welsh-government-look-to-update-200-year-old-taxi-licensing/?lang=en


to 5 years old and a maximum age for vehicles currently licensed from 8 
to 12 years.

2.8 The table below illustrates the position in relation to vehicle age policies 
for all of our neighbouring authorities; out of 13 authorities all but 4 have 
a restriction:

County Age Policy Notes
Blaenau Gwent √ 4 years on application /  max age of 10 

years
Caerphilly √ 4 years on application / max age of 10 

years
Carmarthenshire √ Max 8 years across board
Ceredigion √ 5 years on application / max age of 10 

years
Denbighshire X
Gwynedd √ 6 years on application / max  age of 12 

years
Herefordshire √ 5 years on application / nothing 

registered before 2000 licensed

Merthyr √ 4 years on application
Monmouthshire X
Neath Port Talbot X

Rhonnda Cynon 
Taff

√ 3 years on application / max  age of 10 
years

Shropshire X Have Euro emission standard instead – 
currently would bar any vehicle 
registered prior to 2006

Wrexham X

2.9 Powys has separate vehicle licensing conditions for stretch limousines, 
these vehicles are imported, usually from the US and do not comply with 
our general vehicle licence conditions as they are left hand drive. There 
are only 2 vehicles currently licensed where these conditions apply, they 
are both in excess of 12 years old, however they are not vehicles that 
are working on a daily basis, they have lower mileage than other 
vehicles of the same age and are usually only used by their operators for 
special events. It is not intended that the age policy be extended to these 
vehicle conditions.

2.10 Finally, many of the licensed vehicles in Powys operate on home to 
school transport contracts. As part of the contract with the Council’s 
Passenger Transport Service vehicles used on such contracts should be 
no older than 10 years. If a consistent policy were to be applied for 
licensing then 43% or 186 out of a total of 429 vehicles would be 

Tudalen 600



affected, having a lower age limit for existing licenced vehicles will have 
less impact on these, whilst the higher age limit for new vehicles 
presented for licensing will promote a newer fleet overall.

3. Options Considered / Available

3.1 Revised conditions must strike a balance between:

 Providing consistency with other authorities (especially our 
neighbours)

 Providing consistency with the policy of our Passenger 
Transport Service

 Protecting the public by raising the reliability, safety and 
standard of the licensed fleet in Powys 

 Not detrimenting vehicle proprietors in Powys with older licensed 
vehicles who maintain them to a high standard.

3.2 An age limit is a simple means by which to raise the standard of the 
licensed fleet in Powys and is consistent with the majority of other 
authorities in Wales.

3.3 A two tier approach is being considered with 2 different options:

Option 1
Vehicles first presented for licensing must be less than 6 years 
old from the date of first registration (admission age)

Vehicles currently licensed must be less than 12 years old from 
the date of first registration provided each subsequent licence 
takes place immediately on expiry of the current licence. (i.e. no 
breaks in between renewal of the licence).

Option 2
Vehicles first presented for licensing must be less than 8 years 
old from the date of first registration (admission age)

Vehicles currently licensed must be less than 12 years old from 
the date of first registration provided each subsequent licence 
takes place immediately on expiry of the current licence. (i.e. no 
breaks in between renewal of the licence).

4. Preferred Choice and Reasons

4.1 Option 2 is the preferred choice whereby the following condition is 
proposed:

Vehicles first presented for licensing must be less than 8 years 
old from the date of first registration (admission age)

Tudalen 601



Vehicles currently licensed must be less than 12 years old from 
the date of first registration provided each subsequent licence 
takes place immediately on expiry of the current licence. (i.e. no 
breaks in between renewal of the licence).

This condition will effect existing vehicle licences from [insert 
date 12 months from implementation] 

The reason for the eight year recommendation is that the data from the 
last three years indicates that a large proportion of vehicles presented 
for first time licensing are older; an eight year limit will have a big 
impact on reducing the age of the fleet whilst at the same time being 
slightly less onerous for the trade to bear; the difference between the 
six year and eight limit is not particularly significant. A future six year 
limit should not be ruled out, although it is hoped that Nationally set 
licence conditions bringing a consistent vehicle age across Wales 
might come into force in due course.

4.2 Implementing the above will reduce the age of the fleet of licensed 
vehicles, in turn raising the standard and increasing public safety. It will 
be more consistent with our neighbouring authorities and our passenger 
transport section and reduce the number of applications we receive from 
private hire operators presenting very old vehicles and avoiding age 
conditions in other neighbouring authorities.

4.3 Any age policy in the licence conditions could be departed from in 
exceptional circumstances, should a vehicle in exceptional condition be 
presented for licensing, in this instance the application would be 
considered by a sub-committee based on the merits of the case. To 
depart form the policy would be exceptional though.

4.4 Prior to implementation of an age policy a consultation will take place 
with the trade via a Taxi Newsletter to be communicated to all licensed 
taxi drivers in Powys. Responses in respect of the proposals will be 
sought over a four-week period and any valid, reasoned opposition 
raised by the trade will be brought back to committee for consideration

4.5 Should there be no reasoned opposition then the licence conditions will 
be revised to reflect the new policy immediately following the four-week 
consultation period.

5. Impact Assessment 

5.1 Is an impact assessment required? No
 

6. Corporate Improvement Plan  

6.1 Licensing contributes to various aspects of the ‘Vision 2025’ document 
- ‘Change for Powys – delivering an open, pro-active and engaging council for 

Tudalen 602



2025’. This proposal supports the priority areas of developing a vibrant 
economy whilst supporting and protecting our residents and communities.

7. Local Member(s)

7.1   This report has no particular significance on one or some electoral 
        divisions.

8. Other Front Line Services 

8.1      Does the recommendation impact on other services run by the Council 
           or on behalf of the Council? No

9. Communications 

 9.1     The taxi trade will be consulted in relation to the proposals via a 
          Taxi Newsletter.

10. Support Services (Legal, Finance, Corporate Property, HR, ICT, 
Business Services)

10.1 Legal comment not yet received, will be updated if comment received.

10.2 Finance  - The contents of the report have been noted by the Finance 
           Business Partner and there are no financial implications.

11. Scrutiny 

11.1    Has this report been scrutinised? No

12. Statutory Officers 
(The views of both the Strategic Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) and 
the Monitoring Officer must be set out below
The Head of Financial Services (Deputy Section 151 Officer) notes the 
comment from Finance.

Monitoring Officer comment not yet received, will be updated if comment 
received.

Tudalen 603



13. Members’ Interests
(To be completed by the Monitoring Officer) comment not yet received, will be 
updated if comment received.

The Monitoring Officer advises that Members may have an interest in 
this item if …..
or 
The Monitoring Officer is not aware of any specific interests that may 
arise in relation to this report. If Members have an interest they should 
declare it at the start of the meeting and complete the relevant 
notification form. 

Recommendation: Reason for Recommendation:
To approve an age policy as set out 
below for licensed Hackney Carriages 
and Private Hire Vehicles to be 
consulted on with the trade for a four 
week period, any valid and reasoned 
opposition to the policy will be 
brought back to committee, otherwise 
the policy will be implemented after 
the four week period

The age policy proposed as part of the 
consultation will be:

Vehicles first presented for 
licensing must be less than 8 
years old from the date of first 
registration (admission age)

Vehicles currently licensed when 
presented for renewal must be 
less than 12 years old from the 
date of first registration provided 
each subsequent licence takes 
place immediately on expiry of the 
current licence. (i.e. no breaks in 
between renewal of the licence).

This condition will effect existing 
vehicle licences (excluding stretch 
limos) from [12 months from the 

Implementing the above will 
reduce the age of the fleet of 
licensed vehicles in Powys, in 
turn raising the reliability, safety 
and overall standard of licensed 
vehicles.

Tudalen 604



implementation date of 1/4/2019]

Relevant Policy (ies): None
Within Policy: Y Within Budget: Y 

Relevant Local Member(s): N/A
Relevant Portfolio Holder Cllr James Evans

Person(s) To Implement Decision: Senior Licensing Officer
Date By When Decision To Be Implemented: Consultation with taxi trade to 

commence as soon as possible.

Contact Officer: Sue Jones
Tel: 01597 827389
Email: susan.jones@powys.gov.uk

Background Papers used to prepare Report:

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 Sections 47 
(Hackney Carriages) and 48 (Private Hire Vehicles).

Tudalen 605



Mae'r dudalen hon wedi'i gadael yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	2 Cofnodion y cyfarfod blaeorol
	Cofnodion, 25/10/2018 Pwyllgor Cynllunio, Trwyddedu Tacsis a Hawliau Tramwy

	4 CAIS GORCHYMYN ADDASU MAPIAU DIFFINIOL (DMMO)
	Atodiad 1a - Ffurflen gais
	Atodiad 1b - Cynllun y cais
	Atodiad 1c - Cynllun llwybr y cais
	Atodiad 2a - Rheswm am y Cais
	Atodiad 2b - Braslun o Gaeaugleision
	Atodiad 2c - arolwg RWA 1932 rhanfap, lliw
	Atodiad 2d - arolwg RWA 1932 rhanfap, du a gwyn
	Atodiad 2e - arolwg RWA 1932 dyfyniad o ddisgrifiad ysgrifenedig
	Atodiad 2f - ffotograff o'r awyr 1948
	Atodiad 2g - ffotograff o'r awyr 1969
	Atodiad 2h - waliau gogleddol a gorllewinol yr Ysgubor
	Atodiad 2i - waliau deheuol a dwyreiniol yr Ysgubor
	Atodiad 2j - waliau deheuol a gorllewinol yr Ysgubor
	Atodiad 3a - Argraffiad 1af, map llawn 1 modfedd
	Atodiad 3b - Argraffiad 1af, rhanfap 1 modfedd
	Atodiad 3c - Epoch 1 (1887) graddfa 1-2500
	Atodiad 3d - Epoch 1 (1890) graddfa 1-10560
	Atodiad 3e - Epoch 2 (1901) graddfa 1-2500
	Atodiad 3f - Epoch 2 (1902) graddfa 1-10560
	Atodiad 3g - Epoch 4 (1953) graddfa 1-10560
	Atodiad 3h - rhanfap Bartholomews
	Atodiad 5a - Mont XX 11 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 4a - sgrîn-lun o fap degwm Llanbrynmair
	Atodiad 5b - Mont XX 11 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 5c - Mont XX 11 (3).JPG
	Atodiad 5d - Mont XX 11 (4).JPG
	Atodiad 5e - Mont XX 14 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5f - Mont XX 14 (3).JPG
	Atodiad 5g - Mont XX 14 (4).JPG
	Atodiad 5h - Mont XX 14 (7).JPG
	Atodiad 5i - Hereditament 103 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5j - Hereditament 103 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 5k - Hereditament 104 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5l - Hereditament 104 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 5m - Hereditament 105 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5n - Hereditament 105 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 5o - Hereditament 108 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5p - Hereditament 108 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 5q - Hereditament 109 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5r - Hereditament 109 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 5s - Hereditament 72 (1).JPG
	Atodiad 5t - Hereditament 72 (2).JPG
	Atodiad 6a - Caeaugleision
	Atodiad 6b - Caeaugleision_testun
	Atodiad 6c - Fferm Cwm Ffynnon
	Atodiad 6d - CwmFfynnon_testun
	Atodiad 6e - RhiwsaesonMap
	Atodiad 7a - map RWA 1932 Mont XX SE
	Atodiad 7b - map RWA 1932 Mont XX SW
	Atodiad 7c - RWA 1932 testun (1)
	Atodiad 7d - RWA 1932 testun (2)
	Atodiad 7e - RWA 1932 testun (3)
	Atodiad 7f - RWA 1932 testun (4)
	Atodiad 7g - RWA 1932 testun (5)
	Atodiad 7h - RWA 1932 testun (6)
	Atodiad 8a - NPACA49 cerdyn arolwg Llanbrynmair 6
	Atodiad 8b - map drafft 20SW,E
	Atodiad 8c - map drafft 20SE,W
	Atodiad 8d - Map dros dro SH90NW
	Atodiad 8e - map diffiniol cyntaf SH90NW
	Atodiad 9a - Dyfyniad o Restr o Strydoedd data GIS
	Atodiad 9b - Llyfr gwyrdd Priffyrdd 1941
	Atodiad 9c - Map dalen gist 1
	Atodiad 9d - Llyfr gwyrdd Priffyrdd - dim dyddiad
	Atodiad 10 - dyfyniadau o gofnodion Cyngor Plwyf Llanbrynmair
	Atodiad 11a - Cynllun ffotograff allwedd
	Atodiad 11b - Ffotograffau o'r safle dyddiedig 30 Awst 2017
	Atodiad 12a - Ffurflen tyst defnyddiwr, Mr Henry Hughes
	Atodiad 12b - Ffurflen tyst defnyddiwr, Mrs Helen Hughes
	Atodiad 12c - nodiadau cyfweliad Mr a Mrs Hughes
	Atodiad 12d - Ffurflen tyst defnyddiwr, Mr RG Ashton
	Atodiad 13a - datganiad Tyst Ymgeisydd
	Atodiad 13b - Ffurflen tyst defnyddiwr, Mr Ashton
	Atodiad 13c - Ffurflen tyst defnyddiwr, Mr RI Owen_Redacted
	Atodiad 13d - Ffurflen tyst defnyddiwr, Mrs Ashton
	Atodiad 13e - nodiadau cyfweliad Mr Owen a Mrs Ashton
	Atodiad 13f - nodiadau cyfweliad Mr Catterall
	Atodiad 13g - Ffotograff o rod Melin Cwm Pen Llydan
	Atodiad 13h - Rhanfap Degwm Cwm Pen Llydan
	Atodiad 13i - Dosrannu tir degwm Cwm Pen Llydan
	Atodiad 13j - Dosrannu tir degwm Cwm Pen Llydan
	Atodiad 13k - taflen Cymdeithas Melinau Cymru
	Atodiad 14a -  Sylwadau ar Ymgynghoriad 30 Awst 2018
	Atodiad 14b - ymateb Mr Catterall
	Atodiad 14c - ymateb Cymdeithas y Cerddwyr
	Atodiad 14d - ymateb BHS
	Atodiad 14e - ymateb y Gymdeithas Mannau Agored

	6 Ceisiadau cynllunio i'w hystyried gan y Pwyllgor.
	6.2 P/2018/0392 Tir gyferbyn â Byngalo Rhysgog Bungalow, Llanafanfawr, Llanfair-ym-Muallt, Powys, LD2 3LY
	P 2018 0392 map

	6.3 18/1019/DIS Parc Busnes Abermiwl, Abermiwl, Trefaldwyn, Powys
	18 1019 DIS map
	Sheets and Views
	001



	6.4 18/0339/REM Craignant, Castell-paen, Llanfair-ym-Muallt, LD2 3JQ
	18 0339 REM map

	6.5 18/0200/FUL Ysgol Gynradd Wirfoddol Llanelwedd
	18 0200 FUL map
	Sheets and Views
	Location plan
	PS_LIMITS
	OLE1




	6.6 P/2018/0514 Cae Ysgiog, Llanfair-ym-Muallt, Powys, LD2 3YP
	P 2018 0514 map

	6.7 18/0712/DIS Tir yn Nol Y Garreg, Llanwrthwl, Llandrindod, Powys, LD1 6NU
	18 0712 DIS map
	Sheets and Views
	Loc



	6.8 18/0940/NMA Ysgol Gynradd Carreghofa, Llanymynech, SY22 6PA
	18 0940 NMA map

	8 Penderfyniad ar yr apêl
	Adroddiad yr Arolygydd

	10 Ffioedd diwygiedig ar gyfer tacsis  2019/20
	11 Dogfen Ganllaw Ddiwygiedig ar bennu addasrwydd ymgeiswyr /deiliaid trwydded ar gyfer tacsis
	Atodiad A - Polisi Diwygiedig ar Euogfarnau Mehefin 2014
	Atodiad B - Canllawiau ar Addasrwydd PDF AR-LEIN (2)
	Front and Back Cover - A4 Guidelines of applicant suitability.pdf
	Guidance on Suitability 260418 ONLINE PDF.pdf
	Front Cover - Guidelines of applicant suitability WEB.pdf
	Guidance on Suitability 260418.pdf
	Back Cover - Guidelines of applicant suitability WEB.pdf


	Atodiad C - Polisi Diwygiedig ar Euogfarnau Hydref 2018 drafft

	12 Cerbyd Hacni a Cherbydau i'w Llogi'n Breifat - Amodau Cerbydau



